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Definitions 

The following is a glossary of certain definitions used in this Annual Listing Statement. Terms and abbreviations 
used in this Annual Listing Statement and also appearing in the documents attached as schedules to the Annual 
Listing Statement (including the financial statements) are defined separately if the terms and abbreviations defined 
below are not used therein, except where otherwise indicated. Any capitalized term used but not defined in this 
Annual Listing Statement have the meanings ascribed thereon in the CSE’s policies. Words below importing the 
singular, where the context requires, include the plural and vice versa, and words importing any gender include all 
genders. All dollar amounts herein are in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise stated. 

“Affiliate” means a company that is affiliated with another company as described below. A company is an Affiliate 
of another company if (a) one of them is the subsidiary of the other, or (b) each of them is controlled by the same 
person. A company is “controlled” by a person if (a) voting securities of the company are held, other than by way 
of security only, by or for the benefit of that person, and (b) the voting securities, if voted, entitle the person to 
elect a majority of the directors of the company. A person beneficially owns securities that are beneficially owned 
by (a) a company controlled by that person, or (b) an Affiliate of that person or an Affiliate of any company 
controlled by that person. 

“Ag” means the chemical element Silver. 

“AGAT” means Agat Laboratories Ltd. 

“ALS” means Australian Laboratory Services Pty. Ltd. 

“AMIS” means the Ontario Abandoned Mines Information System. 

 “APEX” means APEX Geoscience Ltd., headquartered at 110-8429 24 ST NW Edmonton, Alberta, Canada, T6P 1L3  

 “Associate” when used to indicate a relationship with a person or company, means (a) an issuer of which the 
person or company beneficially owns or controls, directly or indirectly, voting securities entitling him to more than 
10% of the voting rights attached to outstanding securities of the issuer, (b) any partner of the person or company, 
(c) any trust or estate in which the person or company has a substantial beneficial interest or in respect of which a 
person or company serves as trustee or in a similar capacity, (d) in the case of a person, a relative of that person, 
including (i) that person’s spouse or child, or (ii) any relative of the person or of his spouse who has the same 
residence as that person; but (e) where the Exchange determines that two persons shall, or shall not, be deemed 
to be associates with respect to a Member firm, Member corporation or holding company of a Member 
corporation, then such determination shall be determinative of their relationships in the application of Rule D with 
respect to that Member firm, Member corporation or holding company. 

“Au” means the chemical element Gold. 

“Author” means Kristopher J. Raffle, B.Sc., P. Geo., principal and consulting geologist of APEX and the author of the 
Technical Report. 

“BCBCA” means the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia). 

“CEO” means Chief Executive Officer. 

“CFO” means Chief Financial Officer. 

“Co” means the chemical element Cobalt. 

“Cobalt Locaters” means Cobalt Locaters Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company 
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“Cruz Capital” means Cruz Capital (US) corp., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. 

“CSE” or “Exchange” means the Canadian Securities Exchange, operated by CNSX Markets Inc. 

 “Cu” means the chemical element Copper. 

“Hector Property” or "Hector Cobalt Prospect" means the Hector Property consisting of 126 contiguous 
unpatented mining claims totalling 2,243 hectares located within the Coleman and Gillies Limit Townships, Larder 
Lake Mining Division, Timiskaming District, Ontario, Canada  

“Li” means the chemical element lithium. 

“MDI” means the Ontario Mineral Deposit Inventory.  

“MLAS” means the online Mining Lands Administration System, being used to acquire and manage mineral claims 
in Ontario, Canada. 

“MNDM” means the Ontario Ministry of Northern Development and Mines.  

“Ni” means the chemical element Nickel. 

“NI 43-101” means National Instrument 43-101 – Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects. 

“OAFD” means the Ontario Assessment Files Database. 

“Related Person” means an “Insider”, which has the meaning set forth in the Securities Act (British Columbia) 
being: 

(a) a director or senior officer of the company that is an insider or subsidiary of the issuer; 

(b) a director or senior officer of the issuer; 

(c) a person that beneficially owns or controls, directly or indirectly, voting share carrying more than 
10% of the voting rights attached to all outstanding voting shares of the issuer; or 

(d) the issuer itself if it holds any of its own securities. 

“Reporting Issuer” has the meaning ascribed to it in the Securities Act (British Columbia), as amended. 

“SEDAR” means the System for Electronic Document Analysis. 

“Share” means a Share without par value in the capital of the Company. 

“Technical Report” means the technical report of the Author dated April 25, 2019 entitled “NI 43-101 Report on 
the Hector Property” prepared in accordance with the requirements of NI 43-101.  

“TSXV” means the TSX Venture Exchange. 

“U.S.A” or “United States” means the United States of America, its territories and possessions, and any state of 
the United States and the District of Columbia. 

“we”, “us”, “our” “the Company” or “Cruz” means Cruz Battery Metals Corp. 



5 
 

Forward-Looking Statements 

The information provided in this Annual Listing Statement, including information incorporated by reference, may 
contain “forward-looking statements” about us. In addition, we may make or approve certain statements in future 
filings with Canadian securities regulatory authorities, in press releases, or in oral or written presentations that are 
not statements of historical fact and may also constitute forward-looking statements. All statements, other than 
statements of historical fact, made by us that address activities, events or developments that we expect or 
anticipate will or may occur in the future are forward-looking statements, including, but not limited to, statements 
preceded by, followed by or that include words such as “may”, “will”, “would”, “could”, “should”, “believes”, 
“estimates”, “projects”, “potential”, “expects”, “plans”, “intends”, “anticipates”, “targeted”, “continues”, 
“forecasts”, “designed”, “goal”, or the negative of those words or other similar or comparable words. Forward-
looking statements may relate to future financial conditions, results of operations, plans, objectives, performance 
or business developments. These statements speak only as at the date they are made and are based on 
information currently available and on our then current expectations and assumptions concerning future events, 
which are subject to a number of known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual 
results, performance or achievements to be materially different from that which was expressed or implied by such 
forward-looking statements, including, but not limited to, risks and uncertainties related to: 

 the speculative and competitive nature of resource exploration, development and operations; 

 Aboriginal land claims, title risks, and the obtaining and renewing of material licences and permits; 

 the availability of financing opportunities, risks associated with economic conditions, dependence on 
management and conflicts of interests; and 

 other risks described in this Annual Listing Statement and described from time to time in our documents 
filed with Canadian securities regulatory authorities. 

Consequently, all forward-looking statements made in this Annual Listing Statement and our other documents are 
qualified by such cautionary statements and there can be no assurance that the anticipated results or 
developments will actually be realized or, even if realized, that they will have the expected consequences or 
effects. The cautionary statements contained or referred to in this section should be considered in connection with 
any subsequent written or oral forward-looking statements that we and/or persons acting on our behalf may issue. 
We undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new 
information, future events or otherwise, other than as required under securities legislation. See Item 17 – Risk 
Factors. 

Market and Industry Data 

This Annual Listing Statement includes market and industry data that has been obtained from third party sources, 
including industry publications. We believe that this industry data is accurate and that the estimates and 
assumptions are reasonable, but there is no assurance as to the accuracy or completeness of this data. Third party 
sources generally state that the information contained therein has been obtained from sources believed to be 
reliable, but there is no assurance as to the accuracy or completeness of included information. Although the data is 
believed to be reliable, we have not independently verified any of the data from third party sources referred to in 
this Annual Listing Statement or ascertained the underlying economic assumptions relied upon by such sources. 
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2.  CORPORATE STRUCTURE 

2.1  Corporate Name and Head and Registered Office 

The corporate name of the Company is Cruz Battery Metals Corp. (formerly Cruz Cobalt Corp.). The Company’s 
head office is located at Suite 2905 – 700 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V7Y 1K8. The 
Company’s registered records office is located at 800 – 885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 
3H1. 

2.2  Jurisdiction of Incorporation 

The Company was incorporated on March 28, 2007 under the BCBCA.  

2.3  Inter-corporate Relationships 

The principal subsidiaries of the Company are as follows: 

 
Name of subsidiary 

 
Principal activity 

Place of 
Incorporation 

Ownership 
Interest 

Cruz Capital (US) Corp. Mining U.S.A. 100% 

Idaho Cobalt Discoveries Corp. Mining U.S.A. 100% 

Las Vegas Lithium Locaters Corp. Mining U.S.A. 100% 

Cobalt Locaters Inc. Mining Canada 100% 

1205011 B.C. Ltd. Mining Canada 100% 

Cruz Solar Lithium Corp. Mining Canada 100% 

2.4  Fundamental Change 

The Company is not re-qualifying following a fundamental change and it is not proposing an acquisition, 
amalgamation, merger, reorganization or arrangement. 

2.5  Incorporation Outside Canada 

This is not applicable to the Company.  

3.  GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE BUSINESS 

3.1  General Development of the Business 

The Company’s principal business activities include acquiring, exploring and evaluating mineral properties. As of 
the date of this Annual Listing Statement, the Company has exploration and evaluation assets located in Canada 
and the United States as further described below. 

The Company is a Reporting Issuer in the Provinces of British Columbia, Alberta and Ontario, and trades on the CSE 
under the stock symbol “CRUZ”. 

Mineral Properties 

Management anticipates to use its available working capital to fund the work programs on the following mineral 
properties. Additional funds may need to be raised, through equity financings, shareholder loans, or otherwise. In 
March 2020 the World Health Organization declared coronavirus COVID-19 a global pandemic. This contagious 
disease outbreak, which has continued to spread, and any related adverse public health developments, has 
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adversely affected workforces, economies, and financial markets globally, potentially leading to an economic 
downturn. It is not possible for the Company to predict the duration or magnitude of the adverse results of the 
outbreak and its effects on the Company’s business or ability to raise funds. Although the Company has secured 
financings in the past, there is no assurance that the Company will be able to do so in the future on terms that are 
favorable or at all. 

Ontario Cobalt Prospects 

In July 2016, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement (the “Cobalt Locaters SPA”) with four arm’s 
length vendors to purchase all of the issued and outstanding shares of Cobalt Locaters Inc., which holds a 100% 
interest in two cobalt prospects in B.C. and a 50% interest in four cobalt prospects in Ontario consisting of the 
Coleman Cobalt Prospect, the Bucke Cobalt Prospect, the Hector Cobalt Prospect, and the Johnson Cobalt 
Prospect. The acquisition has been accounted for as an asset acquisition. In August 2016, the Company paid 
$20,000 cash and issued 4,800,000 shares (issued at a value of $816,000) pursuant to the Cobalt Locaters SPA. 
Cobalt Locaters became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The acquisition costs had been split evenly 
between these six cobalt properties. In March 2019, the Company acquired the remaining 50% interest in the 
above four Ontario cobalt prospects from an arm's length vendor at no costs. As of the date of this Annual Listing 
Statement, the Company holds a 100% interest in the above four Ontario cobalt prospects. 

In September 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in: 22 additional claim units for staking costs of $2,200 
to increase the acreage of the Johnson Cobalt Prospect to approximately 988 acres; 36 claim units for staking costs 
of $3,600 to increase the acreage of Bucke Cobalt Prospect to approximately 1,458 acres; and 137 claim units for 
staking costs of $13,700 to increase the acreage of the Hector Cobalt Prospect to approximately 6,146 acres. 

In June 2017, the Company acquired a 100% interest in additional mineral claims in Ontario to increase the 
holdings in its Coleman Cobalt Prospect to approximately 1,525 acres for staking costs of $1,268.  

In January 2018, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in Ontario to increase the 
holdings in its Lorraine Cobalt Prospect for staking costs of $5,600. 

In April 2018, the Company acquired a 100% interest in additional mineral claims in Ontario to increase the 
holdings in its Lorraine Cobalt Prospect for staking costs of $15,290. During the year ended July 31, 2020, the 
Company decided to drop these claims and allowed them to lapse when they became due. Accordingly, prior 
staking costs of $15,290 were written off. 

On November 6, 2019, the Company entered into an agreement with RJK Explorations Ltd. (“RJK”), an arm’s length 
party. Pursuant to the agreement, RJK paid $5,000 to the Company in exchange for the exclusive right for a period 
of 30 days from the date of such payment, at RJK’s own risk and expense, to enter on the Lorraine claims to 
conduct mineral sampling activities and geophysical surveys. Accordingly, $5,000 were used to offset prior 
acquisition costs of the Lorraine claims. The agreement had been mutually terminated by the Company and RJK on 
December 21, 2020 with no liability or remaining obligation of any of the parties to the other except for the 
confidentiality obligations. 

Subsequent to July 31, 2021, the Company decided to drop certain mineral claims for the Coleman Cobalt Prospect 
and fully wrote off prior acquisition and exploration costs on the Coleman Cobalt Prospect totaling $151,065 as of 
July 31, 2021. 

The Company engaged Apex Geoscience Ltd., based out of Edmonton, Alberta, to assist in the 2021 drill/work 
programs and hired Vital Drilling Services of Val Caron, Ontario, to conduct the drill program. As disclosed in a 
news release dated June 24, 2021, the Company announced that it has received a drill permit from the Ministry of 
Energy, Northern Development & Mines (MNDM). As disclosed in a news release dated July 20, 2021, the drill 
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program was completed. On September 13, 2021, the Company announced that the 2021 drilling targeted the 
prospective lower contact of Nipissing diabase sills and Archean volcanic basement rocks at depth. 

Drill holes 21HC01 and 21HC02 drilled from the same collar intersected the base of the Nipissing diabase at 248 
and 231 metres downhole respectively. Hole 21HC01 cut a broad zone of anomalous silver-copper mineralized 
mafic volcanic rocks returning assays of 0.87 gram per tonne silver and 0.01 per cent copper over 32.3 metres from 
a depth of 279.7 metres, including a higher-grade interval of 1.06 g/t Ag over 19.5 metres from a depth of 286.5 
metres yielding individual assays of up to 3.2 g/t Ag. The silver-copper zone within 21HC021 is characterized by the 
presence of moderate chlorite alteration and silica flooding accompanied by fine-grained disseminated 
chalcopyrite-pyrite mineralization. 

In addition to the volcanic hosted silver-copper zone, several cobalt-copper intervals occur within drill holes 
21HC01 and 21HC02 that are comparable with values returned during Cruz's initial 2018 drill campaign including: 
0.03 per cent cobalt and 0.088 per cent Cu over one metre at a depth of 143 metres; 0.01 per cent Co and 0.12 per 
cent Cu over one metre at 74 metres downhole within 21HC02; and 0.012 per cent Co and 0.07 per cent copper 
over one metre at 153.5 metres downhole within 21HC01. 

The true width of mineralization is estimated to be 80 to 90 per cent of the drilled interval. 

Drill hole 21HC03 targeting a north-northwest-striking fault structure that juxtaposes Nipissing diabase and 
Archean basement rocks to the north remained in diabase to an end-of-hole at a depth of 249 metres. Textural 
variation within Nipissing diabase, and variation in the observed mineralization and magnetic susceptibility, 
confirm the presence of a west-dipping, multiphase sill complex. 

In the last 36 months, the Company did not perform exploration work on any Ontario properties except for the 
Hector Cobalt Prospect; the Company has incurred a total of $463,332 in exploration costs on the Hector Cobalt 
Prospect. As of the date of the Annual Listing Statement, the Company has incurred a total of $558,016 in 
exploration costs on the Hector Cobalt Prospect, comprised of consulting geologist, a magnetic geophysical survey, 
sampling, assaying, and an exploration diamond drill program expenses. 

Nevada Clayton Valley West Lithium Prospect 

During the year ended July 31, 2016, the Company entered into an agreement with an arm's-length vendor to 
acquire a 100% interest in twelve claim blocks in the Clayton Valley in Nevada, USA prospective for lithium. In 
consideration, the Company issued 900,000 common shares (issued at a value of $30,000). 

Nevada Solar Lithium Project 

On July 16, 2021, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement (the “Solar SPA”) with two arm’s length 
vendors to purchase 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of Cruz Solar Lithium Corp. (“Cruz Solar”), which 
through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Las Vegas Lithium Locators Corp. (“LVLLC”), holds a 100% interest in one 
lithium prospect in Nevada, U.S.A. (the “Nevada Solar Lithium Project”). The acquisition has been accounted for as 
an asset acquisition. In July 2021, the Company issued 7,000,000 shares (issued at a value of $630,000) to the 
vendors pursuant to the Solar SPA. Cruz Solar became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. 

Subsequent to July 31, 2021, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims (the “Nevada Helios 
Claims”) for staking costs of $83,966 to expand the size of the Nevada Solar Lithium Project; and the Company 
acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims (the “Nevada Sun Claims”) for staking costs of $7,908 to further 
expand the size of the Nevada Solar Lithium Project to 6,215 acres. 

BC War Eagle Cobalt Prospect 
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In June 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in British Columbia for staking costs 
of $3,496.   

During the year ended July 31, 2019, the Company decided to reduce the size of certain War Eagle claims from 
4,936 acres to 1,542 acres. Accordingly, prior acquisition costs of $2,404 and exploration costs of $18,705 were 
written off. 

BC Diamond Projects 

On September 1, 2020, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement (the “SPA”) with two arm’s length 
vendors to purchase 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of 1205011 B.C. Ltd. (“1205011”), which through 
its wholly-owned subsidiary, Idaho Cobalt Discoveries Corp., holds a 100% interest in one cobalt prospect in Idaho, 
U.S.A. (the “Idaho Cobalt Belt Project”) and three diamond projects in B.C. (the “BC Diamond Projects”). The 
acquisition has been accounted for as an asset acquisition. In September 2020, the Company issued 9,000,000 
shares (issued at a value of $495,000) to the vendors pursuant to the SPA. 1205011 became a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of the Company. The acquisition costs had been split evenly between the BC and Idaho properties. 

Yukon Quartz Claims 

During the year ended July 31, 2010, the Company acquired a 100% interest in ninety five load quartz mineral 
claims covering an area of approximately 4,836 acres, located in the Yukon Territory. 

During the years ended July 31, 2013, 2015 and 2016, the Company decided not to continue with certain claims 
and allowed these claims to lapse when they became due. Accordingly, prior acquisition costs of $670,862 and 
exploration costs of $34,838 associated with these lapsed claims were written off. 

As of the date of the Annual Listing Statement, the remaining claims cover an area of approximately 100 acres. 

Idaho Cobalt Belt Project 

On September 1, 2020, under the SPA, the Company indirectly acquired a 100% interest in one cobalt prospect in 

Idaho, U.S.A. 

Idaho Star Cobalt Prospect 

In October 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in the Idaho Star Cobalt Prospect in Idaho, U.S.A. for 
staking costs of $39,964. This prospect is located approximately 9 miles southwest of Saltese, Montana and 19 
miles southeast of Wallace, Idaho. This prospect consisted of 44 contiguous claims within the Idaho Cobalt Belt. 

In August 2018, the Company decided to drop 40 Idaho claims and allowed them to lapse when they became due. 
Prior acquisition costs of $36,330 and exploration costs of $32,122 were written down as of July 31, 2018. 

As of the date of the Annual Listing Statement, the Company holds a 100% interest in 4 contiguous claims covering 
an area of approximately 80 acres. 

Private Placements 

During the year ended July 31, 2021, the Company did not close any private placements. 

3.2 Significant Acquisition and Disposition 

The response in Item 3.1 is responsive to this Item 3.2. 
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3.3  Trends, Commitments, Events or Uncertainties 

In March 2020 the World Health Organization declared coronavirus COVID-19 a global pandemic. This contagious 
disease outbreak, which has continued to spread, and any related adverse public health developments, has 
adversely affected workforces, economies, and financial markets globally, potentially leading to an economic 
downturn. It is not possible for the Company to predict the duration or magnitude of the adverse results of the 
outbreak and its effects on the Company’s business or ability to raise funds. There are no other trends, 
commitments, events or uncertainties known to management which could reasonably be expected to have a 
material effect on the Company’s business, the Company’s financial condition or results of operations. However, 
there are significant risks associated with the Company’s business, as described in Item 17 – Risk Factors. 

4. NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS 

4.1 Narrative Description of the Company’s Business 

(1) Business of the Company 

The Company is a mineral exploration issuer engaged in the exploration of the Hector Property. The 
Company operates in a single business segment focusing on mineral exploration in Canada and the United 
States. To date, the Company has not generated any revenue from its mineral exploration activities and 
has met its cash requirements primarily through share issuances. Until the Company attains profitability, 
it will be necessary to raise additional financings for general working capital and for exploration costs on 
its material property. If the Company is unable to obtain financing in the amounts and on terms deemed 
acceptable, the future success of the business could be adversely affected. There is no assurance that the 
Company will be able to obtain adequate financing in the future or that such financing will be on terms 
advantageous to the Company. 

(a) Business Objectives 

The Company’s principal business activities include acquiring and exploring exploration and evaluation 
assets. The Company has exploration and evaluation assets located in Canada and the United States. 

The Company expects to use its available working capital to finance exploration and development on the 
mineral properties located in both the U.S.A. and Canada, and for general working capital, including 
complementary acquisitions if so deemed to be in the best interest of the Company. 

 (b) Significant Events or Milestones 

The Company’s immediate short-term objective is to actively evaluate current and new mineral 
exploration properties. 

The Company’s long-term objectives will be to explore the Company’s existing mineral exploration claims 
as well as seeking additional mineral exploration opportunities. 

 (c) Funds Available and Use of Available Funds 

As at July 31, 2021, the Company had working capital of approximately $1,093,052 and had an 
accumulated deficit of $18,933,796 since incorporation. 

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents may not be sufficient to meet the current working capital 
requirements, including the existing commitments relating to the Company's mineral properties. The 
Company expects to raise additional capital as the needs arise. The Company’s ability to continue 
operations is dependent upon successfully raising the necessary financing to complete future exploration 
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and development. These pursuits may be delayed given the current challenges faced by exploration stage 
companies seeking to raise exploration funds through the issuance of shares. 

 (2) Principal Products or Services 

The Company is a mineral exploration issuer engaged in the business of the acquisition, exploration and, if 
warranted, development of mineral properties. The Company does not currently generate any revenues 
nor does it expect to generate consistent revenues from production of its properties in the foreseeable 
future. The Company expects to continue to incur expenses as work is conducted to further explore and 
develop its mineral properties. 

 (3) Production and Sales 

This is not applicable to the Company. 

 (4) Competitive Conditions and Position 

The Company’s competition includes large established mining companies with substantial capabilities and 
with greater financial and technical resources than it has. As a result of this competition, the Company 
may have to compete for financing and be unable to acquire financing on terms it considers acceptable.  
The Company may also have to compete with the other mining companies for the recruitment and 
retention of qualified managerial and technical employees. If the Company is unable to successfully 
compete for financing or for qualified employees, its exploration programs may be slowed down or 
suspended, which may cause it to cease operations as a company. 

 (5) Lending and Investment Policies and Restrictions 

 This is not applicable to the Company. 

 (6) Bankruptcy and Receivership 

The Company has not been the subject of any bankruptcy or any receivership or similar proceedings 
against the Company or any voluntary bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings by the Company, 
within the three most recently completed financial years or the current financial year. 

 (7) Material Restructuring 

This is not applicable to the Company. 

 (8) Social and Environmental Policies 

 This is not applicable to the Company. 

4.2 Asset Backed Securities 

The Company does not have any asset backed securities. 

4.3 Mineral Properties 

The Company’s qualifying property is the Hector Property. The claims comprising the Hector Property are located 
within the Coleman and Gillies Limit Townships, Larder Lake Mining Division, Timiskaming District, Ontario, 
Canada.  
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The Company’s secondary properties are as follows: 

(a) Other Ontario Cobalt Prospects, being the Coleman Cobalt Prospect, the Bucke Cobalt Prospect, the 
Johnson Cobalt Prospect and the Lorraine Cobalt Prospect - The prospective mineral claims, which the 
Company holds a 100% interest in, are located within the Coleman, Bucke, Firstbrook, Lorraine and Gillies 
Limit Townships, Larder Lake Mining Division, Timiskaming District, Ontario, Canada. These cobalt 
prospects are not discussed in the Technical Report and may be evaluated on a future date; 
 

(b) Nevada Clayton Valley West Lithium Prospect - The lithium claims, which the Company, through its 
wholly-owned subsidiary Cruz Capital, holds a 100% interest in, are located within the Clayton Valley of 
Esmeralda County, Nevada and encompass 240 acres; 
 

(c) Nevada Solar Lithium Project - The lithium claims, which the Company, through its wholly-owned 
subsidiaries, Cruz Capital and LVLLC, holds a 100% interest in, are located in Nevada and encompass 6,215 
acres; 
 

(d) BC War Eagle Cobalt Prospect – The prospective mineral claims, which the Company holds a 100% interest 

in, are located near the town of Cranbrook,  British Columbia and total approximately 1,542 acres;  

 

(e) Yukon Quartz Claims – The mineral claims, which the Company holds a 100% interest in, are located in the 

Whitehorse mining district, Yukon and comprise two claim blocks totalling 100 acres; 

 

(f) Idaho Star Cobalt Prospect – The prospective mineral claims, which the Company holds a 100% interest in, 

are located approximately nine miles southwest of Saltese, Montana, and 19 miles southeast of Wallace, 

Idaho. This 80 acre prospect consists of 4 contiguous claims within the prolific Idaho Cobalt Belt. 

 

(g) Idaho Cobalt Belt Project - The prospective mineral claims, which the Company, through its wholly-owned 
subsidiary Idaho Cobalt Discoveries, holds a 100% interest in, consist of approximately 2,211 acres and are 
located within the Idaho Cobalt Belt; and 
 

(h) BC Diamond Projects – The prospective mineral claims comprising of the 687-acre Larry diamond project, 

the 2,120-acre Jax diamond project and the 691-acre Mark diamond project, which the Company, through 

its wholly-owned subsidiary 1205011, holds a 100% interest in, are all located within the Golden Mining 

Division of British Columbia. 

The Hector Property 

Hector Property Description and Location 

The Hector Property is located approximately 500 km north of Toronto, 150 km north of North Bay and 10 km 

southwest of the town of Cobalt, located southeast of the intersection between local highways 11 and 11B. The 

town of Cobalt is in northeastern Ontario, Canada, approximately 10 km and a 15 minute drive south of 

Temiskaming Shores, immediately west of the Ontario-Quebec border. The approximate location in UTM 

coordinates is 595,000 Easting, 5,245,000 Northing, NAD 1983, Zone 17.  

The Hector Property is comprised of 126 unpatented mining claims totaling 2,243 ha. Cruz holds 100% ownership 
of the 126 mining claims, which are active and in good standing. The Hector Property mining claims are located 
within the Coleman and Gillies Limit townships, Larder Lake Mining Division, Timiskaming District, northeastern 
Ontario, covering 1:50,000 NTS Sheet 031M05.  

Ontario’s Mining Act (R.S.O. 1990, Chapter M. 14) is the provincial legislation that governs and regulates 
prospecting, mineral exploration, mine development and rehabilitation. The purpose of the Act is to encourage 
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prospecting, online mining claim registration and exploration for the development of mineral resources, in a 
manner consistent with the recognition and affirmation of existing Aboriginal and treaty rights in Section 35 of the 
Constitution Act, 1982.  

Before undertaking certain early exploration activities, an exploration plan or permit must be submitted, and 
notification provided to any surface rights owner(s). Information on surface rights owners is on file as paper 
copies, with data obtained from the regional Land Registry Office in Haileybury.  

Aboriginal communities potentially affected by activities proposed in an exploration plan are notified by the 
Ministry of Energy, Northern Development and Mines (ENDM) and have an opportunity to provide feedback 
before the proposed activities can be carried out. No issues have been raised by nearby aboriginal communities.  

Cruz had an exploration permit in place issued on September 5, 2017 and expired on September 5, 2020.  The 
permit allowed for the completion of limited electrical geophysical surveys, line cutting, mechanized striping, and 
construction of 6 to 10 diamond drill pads. Planned activities detailed in the approved permit application cover the 
majority of prospective areas on the Property including Bass Lake, Kelvin Lake, and South Keora shaft areas. Notice 
of Intent for exploration was provided to the surface rights owners associated with the Hector Property; including 
two separate Property owners in the Bass Lake area, and a single owner in the Gilles Depot area of the Montreal 
River.  This notification included a complete Notice of Intent to Submit an Exploration Permit Application (Notice of 
Intent), a copy of a proposed Exploration Permit Application, and a map showing the location of the proposed 
exploration activities. No exploration work has been completed or planned for any of these areas. As of the 
effective date of the Report, the only work requiring a permit that has been completed on the Property was the 
2018 diamond drilling of 10 drill holes in the Bass Lake area.  

Royalties and agreements 

The Property is not currently subject to terms of any royalties, back-in rights, payments, or other agreements and 
encumbrances.  

Environmental Liabilities, Permitting and Significant Factors 

The author is not aware of any environmental liabilities to which the Property is subject. MNDM maintains the 
Abandoned Mines Information System (AMIS), which includes information on abandoned and inactive mines 
throughout Ontario. Cruz Cobalt is not liable for any pre-existing environmental issues associated with the 
Property related to these historic mine features.   

Local Resources and Infrastructure 

Temiskaming Shores provides a variety of necessary amenities, such as bus and rail access, service contractors, 
large retailers, power and water infrastructure, and hospital services. The major regional mining centres of 
Sudbury and Timmins, Ontario lie 200 km to the north and southwest of the Property, respectively, and offer a 
host of exploration and mining related services including analytical laboratories and numerous diamond drill 
contractors.    

Accessibility 

Access to the Hector property can be achieved from multiple points.  From the north, the Property can be accessed 
via Bass Lake Road off Highway 11B.  From the east, access is gained via Silverfields Road, and from the south on 
Roosevelt Forest Road, south of Latchford.  

The town of Cobalt (population ~1,100) is located approximately 5 to 10 km to the northeast of the Hector 
property. The closest major centre, Temiskaming Shores (population 9,900), is located 15 minutes north along the 
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Trans-Canada Highway. Temiskaming Shores was created by the amalgamation of the town of New Liskeard, 
Haileybury and Dymond in 2004, towns that are still often referred to interchangeably.  

Climate 

The area experiences four distinct seasons. Spring and autumn comprise a mix of warm sunny days and cool nights. 
Summers are warm, with dry air and average temperatures from 10 into the mid-20 degree Celsius (C) range. 
Winter temperatures average temperatures from -25 to -5 degrees C, but high winds and high humidity are rare. 
Average annual snowfall totals 294 cm, and average total rainfall 590 mm.  

The operating season can continue year-round but typical periods to avoid are the spring melt and the 
establishment of ice during the early winter months.  

Physiography 

The physiography is typical of the Precambrian Shield in northeastern Ontario, with rocky rolling bedrock hills, 
locally steep ledges and cliffs, separated by valleys filled with clay, glacial materials, swamps, streams, small kettle 
lakes and larger bodies of water. These features support a diversity of animal and bird species such as moose, 
beaver, black bear, wolf, heron, duck, geese and the common loon.   

The topography of the Property varies from 300 to 360 metres above sea level, and notable landmarks within the 
Property include the Montreal River running southeast through the Property, Bass Lake at the northeastern corner 
of the Property and Hound Chute Lake at the southern end of the Property.  

Vegetation includes trees such as black and white spruce, jack pine, balsam poplar, white birch and balsam fir. 

History 

Silver was first discovered at Cobalt in 1903 by J. McKinley, E. Darragh and F. Larose during the construction of the 
Temiskaming and Northern Ontario Railway. In 1904, a load of silver mineralized rock was shipped by rail, marking 
the beginning of the mining boom in Cobalt. It was the largest silver producing area in Canada for a time (Ruzicka 
and Thorpe, 1996). Production of silver from the Cobalt camp reached its peak in 1911 when 31,507,792 ounces of 
silver were shipped (Goodwin, 1988). From 1904 and until 1989, the Cobalt mining camp produced 458,830,085 
ounces silver, 19,392,037 pounds cobalt, 3,407,495 pounds nickel and 1,964,728 pounds copper (Guindon et al., 
2016). The author has been unable to verify the Cobalt area historic production records, and the historic 
production is not necessarily indicative of mineralization within the present day Hector Property that is the subject 
of the Technical Report. 

Mineralization was later discovered in additional areas with similar geology within the Cobalt Embayment of the 
Southern Province, from Gowganda in the west to southeast of Cobalt. In the early 1920s, a decrease in the price 
of silver and exhaustion of the high grade veins caused most of the mines to close. Between 1929 and 1950, small 
operations were undertaken in a number of mines. In the mid 1950s, the demand for cobalt increased and many 
mines reopened for a short time. An increase in the price of silver in 1960 brought new interest to the camp and 
10 mines continued operation (Goodwin, 1988).  

Renewed interest in the area in the 1980s-1990s resulted in further early exploration activities. Sporadic 
exploration in the form of geological, geochemical, and geophysical surveys were completed during the 2000’s.   

Exploration and Development Work Conducted by Previous Owners 

The exploration history of the present day Hector Property is divided below geographically between mineral 
occurrences located in the Bass Lake and Marsh Bay area in the north; and prospects located within the southern 
and eastern parts of the Property near the Montreal River and extending west to Kelvin Lake. 
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Bass Lake and Marsh Bay Areas 

Waldman Silver Mines Ltd. was active between 1909 and 1920 near Marsh Bay at what later became known as 
Brewster Silver and Lead Syndicate Ltd. occurrence. At the Brewster occurrence, a northeast striking subvertical 
chalcopyrite-cobalt mineralized calcite (±quartz) vein occurs upon which a 30 foot (9 m) shaft was sunk. During 
1947 three diamond drill holes totalling 344 m were completed by the Brewster Syndicate near the shaft but did 
not intersect significant mineralization (Thomson, 1960). AMIS data indicates the presence of four shafts, two 
surface trenches, and a waste rock pile distributed over an approximately 400 m northeast trend. A distance of 800 
m to the south at Marsh Bay shallowly south dipping 15 cm wide quartz veins containing pyrite-chalcopyrite 
mineralization exposed in a small shaft are documented (Thomson, 1960). 

The historic Hector Silver Mines Ltd. shaft occurs approximately 30 m east outside the Hector Property claims 
boundary on private patent mineral claim at the southwest end of Bass Lake.  The surrounding area was explored 
for silver-cobalt veins prior to 1924 the year shaft sinking began, however silver-cobalt veins were reportedly 
worked only on the C-1243 and C-1101 claims covering the Hector Shaft and James Dolan occurrence 300 m to the 
northwest within the present day Hector Property.  

At the Hector Shaft, a diabase-hosted, locally high grade silver-cobalt vein is exposed at surface. The vein strikes 
approximately east, dips to the south; and is thought not to persist below the 60 foot (18 m) level of the mine. It is 
not known if mineralization continued below the base of the diabase sill intersected at a vertical depth of 480 feet 
(146 m), below which occurs a 50 to 90 foot (15 to 27 m) thick succession of Coleman conglomerate. The Hector 
shaft was developed to a depth of 500 feet (152 m) with levels at 60, 150, 250 and 490 feet (18, 46, 76, and 149 
m). Based on historic plan maps it is likely that the western portions of the 18 m level extend into the present day 
Hector Property claims (Thomson, 1960). 

During the 1930’s, James Dolan reportedly mined approximately 5 tons (4.5 tonnes) of cobalt mineralized rock 
from the James Dolan occurrence via a 15 foot (4.5 m) deep open cut (Thomson, 1960). Grab samples are reported 
to have returned assays of “up to” 1.7% cobalt (Wilson, 2017a). The near vertical vein reportedly strikes northeast 
and contained niccolite, native bismuth, in addition to cobalt-bearing minerals. Sterling Engineering later tested 
the James Dolan occurrence with a single 38 m inclined drill hole on a 310o azimuth. The drill hole intersected 
narrow clay gouge zones, calcite veining, and minor chalcopyrite mineralization; however no assays were reported 
(Plaskett, 1961). 

Prior to 1948, James Dolan put down several test pits west of Bass Lake.  The trenched area corresponds to the 
area tested by 2018 Cruz drill holes 18HC08, 09 and 10. They were described as cobalt mineralized calcite (±quartz) 
veins associated with aplite dykes, in addition to some silver mineralization at the southeast end of the vein trend; 
likely in close proximity to 2018 Cruz drill holes 18HC05, 06 and 07. On the west side of Gillies Creek west-
northwest striking, steeply north dipping cobalt mineralized vein was traced over 60 m by in shallow trenches 
(Thomson, 1960). The trenched areas correspond to what are presently referred to as the Gillies West and East 
occurrences. 

Before 1960, a 60 foot (18 m) adit was driven along a northwest trending, steeply south dipping aplite-dyke hosted 
cobalt mineralized vein on the west side of Gillies Creek within claim C-1107 located just outside the present day 
Hector Property (Thomson, 1960). The earliest records of claim C-1107 go back to 1924, with the most recent 
reference being to the Gilbert Interests Limited during 1968 (Wilson, 2017b). 

During 1961, St Mary’s Exploration Ltd. completed ground resistivity and magnetic geophysical surveys 
immediately south of the Gilbert Interests occurrence and Hector Shaft. The surveys outlined a number of north-
northwest trending short strike length conductive anomalies (Burton, 1962).  

J. Neilson, on behalf of the Nial Mining Syndicate drilled 3 short diamond drill holes along west and northwest 
azimuths located approximately 150 m west of the Hector Shaft and within the present day Hector Property. Drill 
holes 1, 2 and 3 each intersected 7.6 cm (3 inch) pink aplite veins containing silver-bismuth-nickel mineralization 
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that assayed 5.8, 7.8, and 0.4 ounces/ton (oz/t) silver, or 199, 267, and 14 grams-per-tonne (g/t) silver, respectively 
(Neilson, 1970). 

Montreal River, and Kelvin Lake Areas 

South Keora Mines Ltd. acquired the C-1220 claim in 1924 located along the eastern claim boundary of the Hector 
Property. The company commenced shaft sinking on a cobalt-bearing vein that was originally discovered in 1913 
however disappointing results led to suspension of activates by 1928. The shaft was driven to a depth of 33, and 43 
m of drifting was completed to the northeast from the 30 m level. The northeast striking steeply northwest dipping 
10 cm vein was mapped over a 100 m strike length on surface, and returned select assays of 12 to 15% cobalt and 
1,000 oz/t silver. The vein was tested via four shallow diamond drill holes (A-1 through 4) in 1951 by Audley Gold 
Mines Ltd. did not return encouraging results.  

K. Home completed a single 60 m drill hole targeting a 13 cm chalcopyrite mineralized aplite-calcite vein exposed 
in a shallow prospect pit located 550 m southeast of the South Keora shaft. The drill hole intersected a narrow 
aplite-calcite vein similar to the surface zone however no assays were reported (Home, 1979). 

A distance of 1 km northwest from the South Keora occurrence, just outside the present day Hector Property lies 
the T.J. Newton prospect. Shaft sinking occurred during 1927 by the Newton Limit Syndicate targeting a northwest 
striking subvertical vein traced by surface trenching over a distance of 30 m southeast of the shaft. The vein is up 
to 18 cm in width on surface and contains a small amount of cobalt mineralization within a quartz-calcite gangue. 
The vein reportedly left the shaft at a depth of 15 m where it had pinched to less than 1 cm in width. A second sub-
parallel vein lies 75 m to the northeast. The shaft reportedly extends to a depth of 48 m, with 43 m of crosscut 
development on the 46 m level; in addition to 11 m of crosscuts on the 15 m level completed later in 1956. A total 
of 9 diamond drill holes were completed in 1953 and 1955 by Quebec Metallurgical Industries Ltd. (QM-1 through 
9) with holes 1 through 7 targeting the shaft vein, and 8 and 9 targeting a second occurrence 150 m northwest of 
the shaft. Drill hole QM-6 collared adjacent to the shaft reportedly intersected high grade silver which led to 1956 
shaft dewatering and development on the 15 m level, though it was abandoned before reaching the drilled 
intercept (Thomson, 1960). No drill hole assays were reported. 

Partridge Canadian Explorations Ltd. completed 8 diamond drill holes (P-1 through 8) along the Montreal River 
within their JS-32 claim located 600 m west of the South Keora shaft. The drilling targeted a northwest striking, 
steeply northeast dipping 1 m wide pyrite “band” originally discovered in 1907. The drilling intersected the pyrite 
band over a strike of 140 m and to a maximum vertical depth of 240 m. Assays for gold and silver returned only 
trace values (Thomson, 1960). 

A distance of 1.5 km to the west of the JS-32 occurrence, three north-northeast trending cobalt mineralized veins 
in aplite occurring on the east shore of Kelvin Lake were tested by several small surface pits (Thomson, 1960).  

At the Williamson occurrence, located 2 km southeast of Kelvin Lake, a 28 m vertical shaft and 5 m pit was put 
down on a narrow 18 cm southeast striking calcite vein, in addition to a pit 45 m to the northwest centred on a 
narrow 2.5 cm chalcopyrite mineralized vein  (Thomson, 1960). Approximately 550 m to the southwest occur 
north-northwest striking, steeply west dipping, 5 to 10 cm quartz-calcite-aplite veins, one containing cobalt-
niccolite mineralization, exposed in surface pits.  During 1965, L.J. Cunningham tested the Williamson occurrences 
via 465 m of diamond drilling in 5 holes. Drill hole W65-1 targeting the northeast showing returned 10 g/t silver 
over 0.60 m from a downhole depth of 61 m hosted within sheared calcite veined Archean volcanic rocks that were 
intersected beneath diabase. Drill hole W65-3 drilled under the southwest showing, intersected a 8.6 g/t Ag over 
0.6 m in diabase from a downhole depth of 34 m (Cunningham, 1966). 

Ragged Chutes Silver Mines Ltd. completed geologic mapping and a small 44 sample humus soil survey on the 
claims immediately to the south of the Williamson occurrence during 1967; however the soils, analyzed for silver, 
cobalt or nickel, did not return anomalous values and no mineral occurrences were located (Fowler, 1967). 
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During 1971, Silverfields Mining Corp. Ltd., then owned by Teck Corporation Ltd. (Teck), completed a large humus 
soil geochemical survey at their Gillies Limit Property over a 2 x 2 km area east and south of Bass Lake.  Samples 
were collected along a series of 60 m spaced north-south oriented gridlines at 30 m sample spacing.  The majority 
of the grid occurred east of the present day Hector Property. However, samples collected within the Property 
returned anomalous cobalt values of 35, 45 and 180 parts-per-million (ppm) over a 200 m distance 600 m south 
from the T.J Newton shaft, and 55 ppm cobalt along the westernmost survey line directly south of Bass Lake 
(Moore, 1971).  

The following year Teck completed infill sampling of anomalies and surveying of newly acquired claims along the 
Montreal River immediately south of the Gilbert Interests occurrence, and 800 m south of the T.J. Newton 
prospect. Significant silver anomalies, with a peak value of 25 ppm silver, occur in the area south of the Gilbert 
Interests occurrence. Infill sampling south of the T.J. Newton shaft defined an approximately 100 x 100 m greater 
than 10 ppm silver anomaly. The “Teck Block 9” anomaly was subsequently tested via 4 inclined diamond core 
holes totalling 387 m drilled along southwest and northeast azimuths (GL-6 through GL-9). All holes reportedly 
intersected carbonate stringers and veinlets, locally containing pyrite, chalcopyrite and galena mineralization. GL-7 
returned the highest silver values of 9.51 oz/t (326 g/t) silver over 10 cm from 43 m downhole, results which were 
not replicated within flanking drill holes GL8 and GL-9 (Blecha, 1972). 

During 1974 Teck acquired claims west of the Montreal River and completed geologic mapping, ground magnetic, 
electromagnetic (EM) and self-potential surveys (SP). The claims were found to be underlain by Archean volcanic 
rocks, similar to the Gillies Limit claims east of the river.  Magnetic surveys identified northwest trending 
lineaments; however EM and SP surveys did not return significant anomalies (Lalonde and Neelands, 1974). The 
work was followed up in 1976 by a 360 B-horizon soil sample survey. Survey lines were oriented northeast-
southwest at 100 m spacing, with samples collected at 15 and 30 m intervals depending on the terrain. Soils were 
analyzed for copper, lead, zinc, nickel, manganese, silver and gold. The results define and approximately 500 x 200 
m northwest oriented copper-lead-zinc (defined as greater than 35 ppm copper and lead, and 75 ppm zinc) 
geochemical anomaly centred 500 m southwest of the JS-32 occurrence (Neel and McLeod, 1976).  

During 1997, Wabana Explorations Inc. completed a total of 26 line-km of magnetic and Very Low Frequency (VLF) 
EM surveys on their Montreal River claims covering much of the historic Teck Gillies Limit and Montreal River claim 
groups south of the T.J. Newton shaft and west of the Montreal River.  The survey outlined, similar to the previous 
Teck surveys, northwest trending magnetic and VLF anomalies on the west side of the Montreal River, in addition 
to east-west trending magnetic and VLF anomalies in area south of the T.J. Newton shaft drilled by Teck. Outcrop 
stripping of the historic JS-32 pyrite occurrence was also completed however no assay results were reported 
(Laronde, 1997).  

During 2004, Cabo Mining Enterprises Corp. completed a 26 soil sample reconnaissance of a weak 1999 Ontario 
Geological Survey (OGS) airborne EM anomaly located on the south side of the Montreal River, opposite Gillies 
Creek via two parallel north-south oriented survey lines. Gold values up to 12 parts-per-billion (ppb) were 
associated with the anomaly, in addition to weak nickel and copper values. No further follow-up was 
recommended (Sears, 2004). The results are not considered significant. 

Outcrop Explorations Ltd. completed 2012 ground magnetic and VLF-EM surveys again over the area of the historic 
Teck Gillies Limit claims covering the T.J Newton and South Keora shaft areas. Surveys were conducted along 100 
m spaced east-west oriented lines at 12.5 m station spacing and revealed several north-northwest magnetic 
lineaments, in addition to an east-west magnetic low anomaly in the area of the 1972 Teck. The VLF-EM data 
returned predominantly cultural anomalies (Ploeger, 2012).  

The following year the magnetic survey grid was extended by Outcrop Explorations Ltd. northwest to Gillies Creek 
in the area south of the Bass Lake and east to the T.J. Newton shaft. While magnetic data does not appear to have 
been diurnally corrected, the results show a northwest trending magnetic lineament extension to a similar that 
that occurring within the 2012 grid to the south likely reflective of the underlying Archean volcanic sequence (Kon, 
2013a). In addition, 13 rock grab samples from the historic T.J. Newton, South Keora, and JS-32 areas were 
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collected. Sample BL-03 from South Keora returned 13 g/t silver, 0.15% copper, and 0.10% lead.   Samples BL-06, 
08, and BL-10 through BL-13 were collected from base metal mineralized Archean volcanic rocks located about 350 
m southwest of the 1972 Teck drilled area.  The samples returned anomalous values ranging from 0.028% to 0.35% 
lead, and 0.14% to 1.04% zinc. Soil samples collected at the same time, included 10 samples from overburden-filled 
prospect pits in the area of Teck’s Gillies Creek silver-cobalt soil anomalies; and 10 samples collected at 25 m 
spacing over a 2012 magnetic low anomaly 400 m west of the Teck drilled area. The Gillies Creek base of prospect 
pit soils returned elevated (>10 ppm) copper-cobalt-lead-zinc values, while the magnetic low target soils were 
locally elevated with respect to lead and zinc (Kon, 2013b).  

Additional rock sampling of the historic JS-32 occurrence totalling 19 samples was completed by Outcrop 
Explorations Ltd. during 2014. Samples BL-14-05, 11, and 16 collected over an approximate 200 m northwest trend 
were described as sheared and pyrite bearing, or quartz-pyrite vein material; and returned assays ranging from 1.0 
to 5.5 g/t silver, 0.20% lead , and 0.0045 to 1.39% zinc (Kon, 2014).  

Historical Resources at the Hector Property 

No historical mineral resource or mineral reserve estimates have been reported on the Property.   

Historical Production at the Hector Property 

Approximately 4.5 tonnes of cobalt mineralized rock was reportedly produced from the James Dolan occurrence 
circa 1935. Grab samples are reported to have returned assays of “up to” 1.7% cobalt. During 2018, the James 
Dolan occurrence was subject to surface rock sampling and subsequent diamond drill testing by Cruz Cobalt and is 
described in Section 9 Exploration, and Section 10 Drilling of the technical report. 

Regional Geology 

The Cobalt-Gowganda silver-cobalt mining camps of northeastern Ontario occur within the Cobalt Embayment, 
part of the Proterozoic Huronian Supergroup. The historic mining area occurs within the northeastern part of the 
Southern geological province, close to the boundary of the Superior and Grenville provinces. Extending for 
approximately 200 km from Gowganda to the area southeast of Cobalt, an arc of mineral occurrences are present 
along the northern and eastern boundaries of the Cobalt Embayment and the boundary with the Superior 
geological province.  

Steeply dipping Archean basement metavolcanics and metasedimentary rocks are unconformabley overlain by 
relatively flat-lying Proterozoic sedimentary rocks of the Huronian Supergroup. The Archean and Proterozoic rocks 
were intruded by undulating sill-like sheets of the regionally distributed Proterozoic Nipissing diabase. All of the 
past producing silver-cobalt deposits of the Cobalt Embayment are hosted within or adjacent to the diabase sills, 
near the Huronian-Archean unconformity. In the northeastern corner of the embayment, outliers of Paleozoic 
limestones, dolostones and sandstones unconformabley overlie the Huronian sedimentary rocks followed by 
Pleistocene and Recent sediments (Jambor, 1971a).  

(a) Archean Basement 

The oldest rocks are found in the Archean basement and are exposed in parts of the north and northeastern 
margin of the Cobalt Embayment. The Archean basement in this area is primarily made up of metavolcanics rocks 
and associated interflow sedimentary rocks of the Abitibi Sub-province, Felsic intrusive and metamorphic rock 
types predominate along the western margin. Unconformabley overlying the volcanic rocks are syn-orogenic 
Timiskaming-type lithic and feldspathic arenites, wackes and conglomerates (Jambor, 1971a).  

These rocks were intruded by Archean granites followed by mafic, ultramafic and lamprophyric dikes and sills. 
Subsequently, metamorphism to greenschist facies and isoclinal folding deformation occurred during the Kenoran 
Orogeny (ca 2,676-2,660 Ma). 
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(b) Proterozoic Huronian Supergroup 

The Cobalt Embayment is a large (~10,000 km2), somewhat circular, 120-km diameter north-trending graben within 
which a flat-lying, or gently undulating succession of dominantly siliciclastic sedimentary rocks belonging to the 
Huronian Supergroup was deposited. In the Property area, the Cobalt Embayment is mostly comprised of the 
Cobalt Group.  

The Cobalt group includes the Gowganda, Lorrain, and the Gordon Lake Formations (Sims et al. 1981). The 
Gowganda Formation is divided into the Firstbrook and Coleman Members. The overall tectonic setting of the 
Cobalt Embayment is that of a continental rift system, reflecting the original configuration of the sedimentary 
basin. The Proterozoic succession unconformabley overlies steeply dipping Archean rocks of the Abitibi greenstone 
belt. The embayment is bound in most directions by Archean rocks, and is interpreted as a continental rift system 
reflecting the original configuration of a paleo basin.  To the south, the basin is truncated by the Grenville Front 
tectonic zone; the remnants of a mountain building event that terminated at ca. 1.0 Ga.  

(c) Proterozoic Nipissing Diabase sills 

Both Archean and Proterozoic rocks have been largely intruded by gabbroic rocks of the Nipissing Intrusive event 
(2219 Ma), forming regionally-distributed sills, dykes and sheets up to a few hundred meters thick (Bennett et al. 
1991). The diabase is the most abundant and widespread igneous rocks intruding the Archean metavolcanics and 
Huronian sedimentary rocks and comprise a range of rock types from fine-grained border facies to coarser-grained 
inner-facies; the most common is pyroxene gabbro but olivine gabbro, hornblende gabbro, leucogabbro, 
granophyric gabbro, feldspathic pyroxenite, and late-stage granophyres are also common. 

These are interpreted to originate from a radiating dike swarm related to a magmatic event located under the 
Labrador Trough (Ernst, 2007), which locally appears to be controlled by Archean and Huronian structures.  In 
general, the sills are horizontal to shallowly dipping and form regional basin and dome like undulations, which 
often mirror pre-existing basement topography. The sills maintain a relatively uniform thickness of 300-350 m 
(Jambor, 1971b). The contact with the intruded country rocks is marked by a narrow chill margin.  

(d) Regional Structural Geology 

Deformation within the Cobalt Embayment is dominated by three separate fault sets.  

A major southeast-trending fault system is manifested by the Montreal River, Cross Lake, and Timiskaming Fault 
(from west to east). This regional-scale fault system is part of the Lake Timiskaming Structural Zone, a northwest-
southeast trending graben structure that trends from the Grenville Front at the southern extent of the embayment 
northward well beyond the Cobalt area. Geological and geophysical evidence indicates that these major fault 
systems were probably initiated in the late Archean, prior to Huronian sedimentation, and were reactivated during 
and after Huronian sedimentation and intrusion of the Nipissing diabase (Andrews et al. 1986).  

A second fault set trends northeast, resulting in offsets of the Nipissing diabase prior to silver mineralization 
(Thomson, 1964). These faults and the southeast-trending system are generally veined with carbonate and silicate 
minerals and exhibit no apparent control over the occurrence of the silver veins, as most are barren (Jambor, 
1971a).  

The third set of faults, trending east-southeast, are generally smaller, subvertical normal faults that show 
displacements of up to 7.5 m, and locally host silver veins (Wilson, 1986).  
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Property Geology 

The Property area and surrounding was mapped over the course of several decades by various government 
geologists. The property geology is best represented by ODM Map 2051 covering the northern two-thirds of the 
Property (Thomson, 1964b); and ODM Map 2551 covering the southern third of the Property (Born et al., 1990). 

The northernmost claims on the Property are underlain by Nipissing diabase that intrudes the Archean volcanic 
sequence in the east, and Coleman Member sediments in the west.  In the western section of claims, the diabase 
has a moderate to steep dip to the west along with Coleman Member sediments.  In the southeast and east, 
Archean volcanics and Cobalt Member sediments underlie the sill, where it is interpreted to be more eroded than 
in the centre-western and northern areas.  The thickness of the Nipissing diabase is variable over the Property, 
from 150 to 300 m.   

Archean basement rocks area exposed on both sides of the Montrell River within the central portion of the 
Property, extending south to the Williamson occurrence along what was likely a paleo-topographic high where 
Archean rocks occur in direct contact with overlying diabase. West of the Montreal River, the sediments have a 
gentle dip to the west and considerable thickening towards Highway 11, where they are unconformabley overlain 
by Firstbrook and Lorrain formation strata (Thomson, 1964b; Hughes, 2017).   

Hector Property Mineralization 

Mineralization present within the Hector Property displays characteristics of the silver-cobalt arsenide subtype of 
epigenetic vein deposits. In general, the metallic minerals occur in fracture filling lenses or veinlets, or as 
disseminations within wall rocks in association with carbonate and/or quartz gangue.  Wall rocks adjacent to the 
veins are commonly hydrothermally altered.  

Regionally, veins of the Cobalt Camp are commonly steeply dipping to vertical.  Individual veins occur over strike 
lengths of up to 1 km and 100 m vertical extent, and pinch and swell from hair-line thickness and up to 
approximately 1 m in width. They may occur as single or multiple veins that branch and join, which are may be 
grouped into vein networks separated by zones of barren rock (Petruk, 1971a). Simple dilatant, shear-hosted, and 
less common replacement-type veins are recognized. Mineralization is typically discontinuous along any given vein 
structure, with the highest grade zones generally occurring near vein intersection, lithological contacts, and abrupt 
changes in Archean basement topography (Andrews et al., 1986). Metallic mineralogy comprises arsenides and 
sulph-arsenides of cobalt, nickel, iron, native silver and bismuth, and lesser antimonides, and sulphides of lead, 
zinc and copper (Petruk, 1971b). 

The majority of mineral occurrences with the Hector Property consist of narrow fracture controlled northwest-
southeast, or northeast-southwest striking, sub-vertical to steeply dipping,  quartz-carbonate-potassium feldspar 
veins containing variable percentages of disseminated to clotty pyrite, chalcopyrite, pyrrhotite, and erythrite 
(hydrous cobalt arsenate) mineralization.  Veins range in width from less than 5 cm up to 25 cm in width. The 
majority of historically reported mineral occurrences are represented by one or more shallow prospect pits and 
trenches, or water-filled shafts. Due to presence of limited outcrop, and overburden cover, the approximately 
strike length of historic mineral occurrences was determined largely based on the detailed geologic mapping of 
Thomson (1960); in adding to the spatial distribution of historic AMIS excavations recorded on the ground. At the 
Gillies East occurrence the Author observed a northwest trending, sub-vertical potassium feldspar-quartz-
carbonate vein zone intermittently exposed on surface over a 100 m strike length.  

Rock grab sampling of the historic James Dolan occurrences at Bass Lake (now referred to as the Gillies East, West 
and Hector anomalies) by Cruz Cobalt returned cobalt values in excess of 0.1% and up to 2.02% cobalt from 
outcrop and historic prospect pit float. Subsequent diamond drilling completed by Cruz intersected mineralization 
comprising disseminated to clotty pyrite-chalcopyrite at the Hector anomaly associated with moderate to intense 
chlorite-silica and potassic alteration of diabase host-rocks and narrow quartz-carbonate-potassium feldspar veins 
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zones. Diamond drill intersected mineralization at the Gillies East occurrence is characterized by moderate 
chlorite-potassic alteration and disseminate pyrite-chalcopyrite mineralization. 

The distribution of mineral occurrences throughout the Hector Property is coincident with interpreted structural 
lineaments within the Nipissing Diabase sill, for example between the Williamson to Brewster occurrences, and in 
the case of the Bass Lake area showings they appear to be spatially associated with the margins of a relatively 
more magnetic phase of the diabase. Archean basement hosted mineral occurrences on the east side of the 
Montreal River are generally coincident with relative magnetic low regions. The majority of document mineral 
showing occur within the Nipissing Diabase, however within Bass Lake, and east of the Montreal River there is a 
close spatial association of Archean volcanic, basal Coleman Member sediments and diabase rocks, which is 
considered highly prospective within the context of the silver-cobalt arsenide vein deposit model.  

Bass Lake and Marsh Bay Areas 

At the Brewster occurrence, a northeast striking subvertical chalcopyrite-cobalt mineralized calcite (±quartz) vein 
occurs. During 1947 three diamond drill holes totalling 344 m were completed by the Brewster Syndicate near the 
shaft but did not intersect significant mineralization (Thomson, 1960). AMIS data indicates the presence of four 
shafts, two surface trenches, and a waste rock pile distributed over an approximately 400 m northeast trend. A 
distance of 800 m to the south at Marsh Bay shallowly south dipping 15 cm wide quartz veins containing pyrite-
chalcopyrite mineralization exposed in a small shaft are documented (Thomson, 1960). 

During the 1930’s, James Dolan reportedly mined approximately 5 tons (4.5 tonnes) of cobalt mineralized rock 
from the James Dolan occurrence (Thomson, 1960). Grab samples are reported to have returned assays of “up to” 
1.7% cobalt (Wilson, 2017a). The near vertical vein reportedly strikes northeast and contained niccolite, native 
bismuth, in addition to cobalt-bearing minerals. Sterling Engineering later tested the James Dolan occurrence with 
a single 38 m inclined drill hole on a 310o azimuth. The drill hole intersected narrow clay gouge zones, calcite 
veining, and minor chalcopyrite mineralization; however no assays were reported (Plaskett, 1961). 

Prior to 1948, James Dolan put down several test pits west of Bass Lake.  The trenched area corresponds to the 
area tested by 2018 Cruz drill holes 18HC08, 09 and 10. They were described as cobalt mineralized calcite (±quartz) 
veins associated with aplite dykes, in addition to some silver mineralization at the southeast end of the vein trend; 
likely in close proximity to 2018 Cruz drill holes 18HC05, 06 and 07. On the west side of Gillies Creek west-
northwest striking, steeply north dipping cobalt mineralized vein was traced over 60 m by in shallow trenches 
(Thomson, 1960). The trenched areas correspond to what are presently referred to as the Gillies West and East 
occurrences. 

Nial Mining Syndicate drilled 3 short diamond drill holes approximately 150 m west of the Hector Shaft and within 
the present day Hector Property. Drill holes 1, 2 and 3 each intersected 7.6 cm (3 inch) pink aplite (potassium 
feldspar) veins containing silver-bismuth-nickel mineralization that assayed 5.8, 7.8, and 0.4 ounces/ton (oz/t) 
silver, or 199, 267, and 14 grams-per-tonne (g/t) silver, respectively (Neilson, 1970). 

Montreal River and Kelvin Lake Areas 

The northeast striking steeply northwest dipping 10 cm South Keroa shaft vein was mapped over a 100 m strike 
length on surface, and returned select assays of 12 to 15% cobalt and 1,000 oz/t silver. More recent rock grab 
sampling by Outcrop Explorations Ltd. returned 13 g/t silver, 0.15% copper, and 0.10% lead (Sample BL-03, Kon, 
2013b).    

The JS-32 occurrence comprises a northwest striking, steeply northeast dipping 1 m wide pyrite “band” that has be 
intersected by diamond drilling  over a strike of 140 m and to a maximum vertical depth of 240 m, which did not 
return significant gold or silver values. More recent rock grab sampling of the JS-32 occurrence was completed by 
Outcrop Explorations Ltd. Samples BL-14-05, 11, and 16 collected over an approximate 200 m northwest trend 
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were described as sheared and pyrite bearing, or quartz-pyrite vein material; and returned assays ranging from 1.0 
to 5.5 g/t silver, 0.20% lead , and 0.0045 to 1.39% zinc (Kon, 2014) 

The Williamson occurrences comprise two individual showing separated by 550 m. The northeast occurrence 
comprises an 18 cm southeast striking calcite vein, and narrow 2.5 cm chalcopyrite mineralized vein. At the 
southwest showing there occurs north-northwest striking, steeply west dipping, 5 to 10 cm quartz-calcite-aplite 
veins, and one containing cobalt-niccolite mineralization. Drill hole W65-1 targeting the northeast showing 
returned 10 g/t silver over 0.60 m from a downhole depth of 61 m hosted within sheared calcite veined Archean 
volcanic rocks that were intersected beneath diabase. Drill hole W65-3 drilled under the southwest showing, 
intersected a 8.6 g/t Ag over 0.6 m in diabase from a downhole depth of 34 m (Cunningham, 1966). 

The “Teck Block 9” anomaly was tested via 4 inclined diamond core holes totalling 387 m drilled along southwest 
and northeast azimuths (GL-6 through GL-9). All holes reportedly intersected carbonate stringers and veinlets, 
locally containing pyrite, chalcopyrite and galena mineralization. GL-7 returned the highest silver values of 9.51 
oz/t (326 g/t) silver over 10 cm from 43 m downhole, results which were not replicated within flanking drill holes 
GL8 and GL-9 (Blecha, 1972). 

Deposit Type 

The principal deposit type of interest within the Hector Property is arsenide silver-cobalt vein deposits.  The Cobalt 
Camp of Ontario was once the largest silver-producing area in Canada. In addition to silver, the Camp produced 
significant cobalt, copper, nickel, arsenic and bismuth (see Section 6 “History” of the technical report). The 
following arsenide silver-cobalt vein deposit model description was extracted and modified from Ruzicka and 
Thorpe (1996), unless specified otherwise.  

Geologic Characteristics - Arsenide Silver-Cobalt Vein Deposits 

The arsenide silver-cobalt subtype are epigenetic vein deposits. Metallic minerals occur in fracture filling lenses or 
veinlets, or as disseminations within wall rocks in association with carbonate and/or quartz gangue.  Wall rocks 
adjacent to the veins are commonly hydrothermally altered. Arsenide silver-cobalt deposits are concentrated in 
areas affected by basinal subsidence and rifting and are generally spatially related to regional fault systems and 
intrusions of mafic rocks.   

The deposits in the Cobalt Camp are associated with Paleoproterozoic conglomerate, quartzite, and greywacke 
rocks of the Cobalt Member, as well as the major sill-like bodies of the Nipissing Diabase and the Archean mafic 
and intermediate lavas, and intercalated pyroclastic and sedimentary rocks. The majority of historic past producing 
deposits occur in close proximity to the Archean-Huronian unconformity, at or near the contacts between the 
Nipissing Diabase and the sedimentary rocks of the Cobalt Group, and to a lesser extend along contacts between 
the diabase and the Archean rocks. All three major lithologies are present within Hector Property. No economically 
significant deposits occur above and remote from the Archean-Huronian unconformity, and irrespective of host 
lithology all known deposits of economic grade are spatially associated with Nipissing diabase; either within the 
diabase itself, or within 200 m of its upper and lower contacts. Where diabase sills cut Coleman Member 
sediments just above the Archean unconformity vein systems typically occur as strong, relatively continuous 
structures with mineralization of potential economic significance generally concentrated within the Coleman 
sediments. When Nipissing Diabase has intruded Archean volcanic rocks vein systems tend to be discontinuous 
with mineralization of potential economic significance generally occurring near the upper and lower contacts of 
the diabase. Approximately two-thirds of early Cobalt Camp historic production was from Coleman Member-
hosted vein deposits; with a transition to dominantly Archean associated deposits in later years. 

The veins are commonly steeply dipping to vertical.  Individual veins occur over strike lengths of up to 1 km and 
100 m vertical extent, and pinch and swell from hair-line thickness and up to approximately 1 m in width. They 
may occur as single or multiple veins that branch and join, which are may be grouped into vein networks separated 
by zones of barren rock (Petruk, 1971a). Simple dilatant, shear-hosted, and less common replacement-type veins 
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are recognized. Mineralization is typically discontinuous along any given vein structure, with the highest grade 
zones generally occurring near vein intersection, lithological contacts, and abrupt changes in Archean basement 
topography (Andrews et al., 1986). Metallic mineralogy comprises arsenides and sulph-arsenides of cobalt, nickel, 
iron, native silver and bismuth, and lesser antimonides, and sulphides of lead, zinc and copper (Petruk, 1971b). 

The approximate age of the arsenide silver-cobalt veins has been established from dating of the diabase sheets 
and geological evidence.  The arsenide silver-cobalt veins cut the Nipissing Diabase but are displaced by post-
mineralization reverse faults, which are contemporaneous with the intrusion of the quartz diabase dykes. This 
places mineralization between 2.22 Ga and 1.45 Ga, however it is believed that the bulk of mineralization formed 
shortly after intrusion of the Nipissing Diabase (2.22 Ga; Jambor, 1971a). 

Intrusion of the diabase sheets was accompanied by contact metasomatic alteration of the country rocks and by 
deuteric alteration of the diabase itself.  Certain areas display spotted chloritic contact alteration, which developed 
near the Nipissing Diabase prior to mineralization. Propylitic alteration associated with the silver-cobalt veins is 
more intense, though typically only developed within narrow zones along the veins a few centimetres in width, 
and comprises chlorite replacement of mafic minerals, and retrogression of plagioclase to and assemblage of 
muscovite, epidote, and albite (Jambor, 1971b; Andrews et al., 1986). 

Genetic Model – Arsenide Silver-Cobalt Vein Deposits 

Various genetic models for the origin of the Cobalt Camp deposits have been proposed that vary with respect to 
the theorized origin of metal depositing hydrothermal fluids; specifically if metal-rich hydrothermal fluids were 
derived during: i.) late-stage differentiation during intrusion of the Nipissing Diabase sills; ii.) Convectively 
circulating fluids mobilized from country rocks during cooling of the diabase; or iii.) Hydrothermal fluids originating 
from an unidentified external source (Andrews et al., 1986). 

Studies indicate solutions that deposited silver-cobalt arsenide mineralization were initially as hot as 400oC, 
although a wide range of fluid inclusion temperatures and salinities have been reported (Kerrich et al., 1986; 
Kissin, 1992).  The fluids may have been variable mixtures of basinal brines and meteoric waters, and Kissin (1992) 
suggests that the deposits were formed in an environment characterized by incipient rifting of continental crust.   

The generally accepted genetic model for the silver-cobalt arsenide veins involve derivation of the silver, nickel, 
cobalt, arsenic, antimony, bismuth, copper, and mercury from either the Archean sedimentary beds (Boyle and 
Dass, 1971) or the formational brines of the Archean carbonaceous, pyritic tuffs or their clastic derivatives in the 
Proterozoic sedimentary sequence (Watkinson, 1986).  The latter hypothesis is supported by fluid inclusion and 
oxygen isotopic data.  

More recently, Potter and Taylor (2010) proposed a genetic model for the silver-cobalt arsenide veins and the 
other polymetallic (iron, copper, nickel, cobalt, arsenic, gold, silver, and bismuth, ± uranium) calcite-quartz vein 
systems in the Cobalt Embayment. The model proposes regional flow of oxidized, hydrothermal fluids focused 
along the Huronian-Archean unconformity, driven by sedimentary loading and heat released by the Nipissing 
Diabase intrusive event ca. 2.2 Ga; followed by genesis of regionally-distributed, discordant, polymetallic vein 
mineralization through the interaction of the oxidized basin fluids with both fluid- and solid-reducing components 
of the basement, facilitated by localized displacement of the Huronian-Archean unconformity along reactivated 
faults; and finally hydrothermal remobilization of at least some of the vein components, notably Pb, in association 
with regional Na- and K- metasomatic events ca. 1.7 Ga.   

EXPLORATION INFORMATION 

During 2017 and 2018, Cruz Cobalt conducted early exploration activities at the Hector Property. The work 
completed comprised data compilation and review, an airborne geophysical survey, ground magnetic geophysical 
surveys, prospecting, rock and soil geochemical surveys, and diamond drilling. This section summarizes results 
from the geophysical surveys and surface exploration completed by Cruz Cobalt.  
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During June 2017, Antediluvial Consulting Inc. (“Antediluvial”) was engaged by Cruz Cobalt to compile and review 
historical data, and carry out prospecting and site visits at the Property ahead of the airborne geophysical survey. 
Eagle Geophysics Ltd. (“Eagle”) was retained by Cruz Cobalt to complete the 522.9 line-km helicopter-borne 
geophysical magnetometer and very low frequency electromagnetic (VLF-EM) survey over the Hector Property 
during August 2017. Simcoe Geoscience Limited (“Simcoe”) processed, compiled, levelled, inverted and 
summarized the airborne geophysical survey results in September 2017. In addition, Campbell & Walker 
Geophysics Limited carried out additional geophysical inversion modelling on the dataset in September 2017. 
Antediluvial compiled and summarized the 2017 exploration results for the Property during October 2017. 

Following the 2017 airborne survey, Cruz Cobalt retained Jean Marc Gaudreau to complete a soil geochemical 
survey in the northeast corner of the Property. A total of 428 soil samples were collected between October 25th 
and November 3rd, 2017. 

In 2018, APEX Geoscience Ltd. (“APEX”) was retained by Cruz Cobalt to further compile and review historical data, 
complete a soil and rock geochemical survey, a ground geophysical survey, and an exploration diamond drilling 
program at the Hector Property. The 2018 exploration program was designed to evaluate and follow up on 2017 
and historical results, and to generate targets for future exploration. The 2018 exploration program was completed 
in three phases: (Phase 1) a soil (203 samples) and rock (31 samples) geochemical survey from July 31st to August 
10th, 2018, and a 23 line-km ground magnetometer geophysical survey from July 25th to August 2nd; (Phase 2) 
follow up rock sampling (12 samples) on October 2nd and 3rd, 2018; and (Phase 3) a 10 hole (843 m) diamond 
drilling program from October 29th to December 19th, 2018. 

2017 Airborne Geophysical Survey 

A helicopter-borne magnetometic and very low frequency electromagnetic (VLF-EM) survey was completed over 
the Hector Property during August 2017. A total of 522.9 line kilometres (line-km) were completed at the Hector 
Property. 

Survey Parameters and Instrumentation 

Total field and measured gradient data was collected along 50 m spaced east-west oriented traverse lines, and 500 
m spaced north-south oriented control lines at an approximate 40 m sensor height.  

Survey Results 

Geophysical data was provided in a Geosoft Geodatabase (GDB) format. Digital grid and map products included 
Total Magnetic Intensity and associated derivatives including measured vertical magnetic gradient (VGRAD), 
measured cross-line magnetic gradient (CGRAD), calculated in-line magnetic gradient (IGRAD), magnetic tilt 
derivative (TDR), horizontal magnetic gradient (HGRAD). Very Low Frequency products associated with the 
Magnetic Analytical Signal (ASIG), which serve to enhance trends within the gridded data.  

The TMI results and to a greater extent the tilt derivative and vertical gradient products reveal dominantly 
northwest tending magnetic high domains and magnetic low lineaments across the survey area. A major magnetic 
low lineament coincident is coincident with a narrow topographic depression trending northwest through the 
Williamson, Kelvin Lake, and Brewster occurrences, with a second less prominent magnetic low lineament 
paralleling the trace of the Montreal River.  

The magnetic response of diabase, Coleman Member sediments, and Archean volcanics is difficult to resolve, as it 
is often unclear the extent to which the observed magnetic response is representative diabase or Archean 
basement. However, a correlation of mapped diabase, which generally forms topographic high regions, reveals 
relatively stronger and subparallel linear and sinuous positive magnetic anomalies suggesting that the wide 
diabase sill trending northwest through the claims is a multi-phase composite intrusion. The mapped region of 
Archean basement interpreted to form the core of a broad southeast trending anticline, or basement uplift zone, 
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exhibits a relatively subdued magnetic response compared to the diabase, and little indication of a dominant 
structural lineament trend. 

The Total Magnetic Intensity (TMI), inverted Very Low Frequency (VLF) and MVI inversion products were used by 
Simcoe to establish five geologic domains defined by their variable geophysical response (zones A to E) at the 
Property. The interpretation by Simcoe reinforces dominantly northwest trending, and locally late northeast 
trending, structural style of the Hector Property.  

The distribution of historic mineral occurrences throughout the Hector Property is coincident with interpreted 
structural lineaments within the Nipissing Diabase sill, for example between the Williamson to Brewster 
occurrences, and in the case of the Bass Lake area showings they appear to be spatially associated with the 
margins of a relatively more magnetic phase of the diabase. Archean basement hosted mineral occurrences on the 
east side of the Montreal River are generally coincident with relative magnetic low regions. 

2017 and 2018 Soil Geochemical Surveys 

The 2017 soil geochemical survey was completed west of Bass Lake, covering an area containing historical shafts 
and pits. The survey grid covered an area of approximately 1.14 ha. Samples were collected along east-west or 
north-south oriented lines with a line spacing of 100 m and a sample spacing of 25 m. A total of 428 samples were 
collected from B horizon soils. Summary statistics for cobalt (Co), copper (Cu), silver (Ag), arsenic (As) and nickel 
(Ni) are presented in Table 1.  

The 2018 survey was also west of Bass Lake, covering an area of approximately 1.6 ha. Samples were collected 
along east-west or north-south oriented lines with a line spacing of 100 m and a sample spacing of 50 m. Some 
samples could not be collected due to surface disturbance (logging activities, trails, swampy areas, ponds, 
undeveloped soil profile). A total of 203 samples were collected from Ah horizon soils (humus). Summary statistics 
for cobalt (Co), copper (Cu), silver (Ag), arsenic (As), nickel (Ni) and lead (Pb) are presented in Table 2.  

Table 1. 2017 Soil Sample Geochemistry Summary Statistics 
 

Statistics Co (ppm) Cu (ppm) Ag (ppm) As (ppm) Ni (ppm) 

Mean  13.61 15.06 0.27 4.02 32.00 

Median  12.25 10.05 0.24 3.10 30.50 

Minimum  4.28 0.90 0.09 0.40 10.90 

Maximum  43.10 180.00 2.23 78.20 95.90 

70th Percentile  14.90 16.18 0.29 4.20 35.29 

90th Percentile  20.29 30.65 0.39 6.80 44.49 

95th percentile  23.47 43.93 0.48 8.60 50.26 
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Table 2. 2018 Soil Sample Geochemistry Summary Statistics 
 

Statistics Co (ppm) Cu (ppm) Ag (ppm) As (ppm) Ni (ppm) Pb (ppm) 

Mean  6.24 36.44 1.17 18.05 25.50 63.00 

Median  4.40 32.10 0.93 13.40 23.20 59.80 

Minimum  1.40 4.40 0.06 1.30 6.40 6.00 

Maximum  98.20 240.00 5.48 290.00 88.70 199.00 

70th Percentile  5.70 42.58 1.48 18.68 29.46 82.68 

90th 
Percentile  

10.12 64.58 2.46 30.52 40.44 122.80 

95th 
percentile  

13.06 83.50 2.97 39.34 50.84 144.10 

A total of 631 soil samples were collected during the 2017 and 2018 surveys. Soil geochemical results have defined 
several north-northwest trending geochemical anomalies within the Nipissing diabase in and/or near historical 
pits, shafts and mineralized veins. Cobalt, copper, silver anomalies are observed at the Gillies West, Gillies East and 
Hector. The Hector Anomaly is a 200 by 200 m soil anomaly occurring approximately 300 m northwest of the 
historic Hector silver mine shaft, and returned 4 samples with values greater than 25 ppm cobalt. The Gillies East 
Anomaly is approximately 600 m northwest of the Hector Anomaly, and returned 6 samples with values greater 
than 25 ppm cobalt. The Gillies West Anomaly is proximal to Gillies Creek, at the western margin of the survey 
area, and returned the highest cobalt value of 98 ppm.  

2018 Rock Geochemical Survey 

A total of 43 rock grab samples were collected during 2018 in the vicinity of Bass Lake, in the northeast part of the 
Hector Property. Rock samples tested historical occurrences, known pits, shafts and mineralized veins, and new 
sites of interest. Collected rock samples were representative of the mineralized vein systems within the property 
and typically found in outcrops, talus and floats. 

Seven rock grab samples returned values greater than 0.1% cobalt, and up to 2.02% cobalt from the Gillies East, 
Gillies West and Hector anomalies. Anomalous silver (up to 13.1 ppm) and gold (up to 0.37 ppm) values were also 
returned (Table 3). Summary statistics for cobalt (Co), copper (Cu), silver (Ag), arsenic (As), gold (Au) and nickel (Ni) 
are presented in Table 4.  

Table 3. 2018 Anomalous Rock Sample Results 
 

Sample ID Prospect Sample Type Co (%) Ag (g/t) Au (g/t) Cu (g/t) 

2018KBP040 
Gillies East 

Prospect Pit Float 2.02 13.1 - - 

2018KBP042 Outcrop 0.61 4.1 - - 

2018KBP034 
Gillies West 

Outcrop 0.82 - - - 

2018KBP033 Outcrop 0.42 - - - 

18MAP075 
Hector 

Prospect Pit Float 0.4 0.4  -  - 

18KRP601 Prospect Pit Float 0.19  -  - -  

2018KBP037 
Gillies West 

Prospect Pit Float 0.19 - - - 

2018KBP061 Outcrop - - 0.37 - 

18KRP604 Gillies East Prospect Pit Float - 0.5  - 0.107 
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Table 4. 2018 Rock Sample Geochemistry Summary Statistics 

Statistics Co (%) Cu (%) Ag (g/t) Au (g/t) Ni (%) 

Mean  0.12 0.02 0.61 0.01 0.01 

Median  0.01 0.01 0.10 0.00 0.01 

Minimum  0.00 0.00 0.10 0.00 0.00 

Maximum  2.02 0.11 13.10 0.37 0.16 

70th Percentile  0.03 0.02 0.20 0.00 0.01 

90th Percentile  0.41 0.05 0.94 0.03 0.04 

95th percentile  0.78 0.06 3.54 0.04 0.09 

The Gillies East anomaly returned the highest assay values for cobalt, silver and copper while the Gillies West 
anomaly have returned the highest assay value for gold. The Hector anomaly returned a moderate assay value for 
both cobalt and silver. 

2018 Ground Magnetometer Survey 

A 23 line-km ground magnetic (magnetometer) survey was completed at the Hector Property as part of the 2018 
exploration program between July 25th, 2018 and August 2nd, 2018. The ground magnetic survey was conducted to 
augment the soil sampling survey and to map the extents of the Nipissing diabase in the northwest area of the 
Property. The survey grid was composed of 33 traverse lines, with lines ranging in length from 215 m to 1030 m, 
spaced at 50 m, and oriented east-west. 

Equipment and Procedures 

The ground magnetic survey was conducted on foot using a “walking” magnetometer capable of acquiring nearly 
continuous data. No line-cutting or grid making was required for the survey work to be completed, rather, the 
traverse lines were established on-the-go using handheld GPS receivers that were pre-loaded with the proposed 
survey line paths. The GPS operator did not use flagging tape to mark the traverse lines as the magnetometer 
operator was always within view of the GPS operator.  

The survey was completed using a Gem Systems Inc. GSM-19W CDGPS magnetometer collecting readings of the 
total magnetic field in walking mode at a 1 Hz frequency. A Gem Systems GSM-19 magnetometer was set up at a 
fixed location near the grid to record the diurnal variation at a fixed location (base station). The base station was 
positioned at approximately 596699E, 5244799N. 

The GSM-19W walking magnetometers have a built-in GPS receiver which is used to affix a GPS location to each 
magnetic intensity measurement. The station locations were recorded using NAD27 datum UTM Zone 17 
projection, then immediately re-projected to NAD 83 datum UTM Zone 17 projection. 

Equipment and software used: 

Base Magnetometer:   GemSystem Overhauser GSM-19 
Rover Magnetometer:   GemSystem Overhauser GSM-19W 
Handheld GPS Receiver:   Garmin GPSmap 64 
QA/QC and Processing:   Geosoft Oasis montaj 

  



28 
 

GSM-19W magnetometer specifications: 

Sensitivity:    0.022 nT @ 1 Hz, (0.015 nT option) 
Resolution:    0.01 nT 
Absolute Accuracy:   +/- 0.1 nT 
Dynamic Range:    20,000 to 120,000 nT 
Gradient Tolerance:   Over 10,000 nT/m 
Sampling Intervals:   60+, 5, 3, 2, 1, 0.5, 0.2 sec 

Metal cultural features (cabins, metal drums, pipelines, power lines, etc.) were rarely observed in the field during 
the survey. A power line near traverse lines in the southern part of the block had no effect on geophysical results. 

During the survey, small lakes / ponds, streams and marshy areas within the grid area were avoided and as a 
result, traverse lines were adjusted accordingly. The majority of traverse lines did not significantly deviate from the 
proposed lines, except where topography or private properties were a factor. 

Data Processing and QA/QC 

The quality of the data collected by both the base and walking magnetometers were assessed for excessive noise 
based on the recorded signal quality, the 4th difference noise levels, and the presence of high-frequency and high-
amplitude signals in the magnetic intensity survey readings. The base magnetometer data was additionally 
reviewed for excessive space weather noise (due to solar events such as mass coronal ejections, etc.). The data 
collected by the base magnetometer was found to be sufficient for all diurnal corrections. The quality of the 
station coordinates recorded by the walking magnetometer was assessed for low confidence (less than 4 satellites 
visible to the GPS antenna) and unlikely positions (jumps in position that were not humanly possible). Poor quality 
data was then either removed from the database or filtered to assign more realistic station locations.  

Diurnal corrections were performed by subtracting the magnetic field intensity readings recorded by the base 
magnetometer from the coincident magnetic field intensity readings recorded by the walking magnetometer – 
linear interpolation of the base magnetometer data was carried out to match the cycling rate of the walking 
magnetometer.  

The survey was completed over multiple days, therefore an overlap line of more than 100 metres was traversed at 
the start and end of each day to facilitate levelling of the survey data to a common datum. To perform the 
levelling, the average magnetic intensity was calculated from each traverse of the overlap line, and then this value 
was subtracted from each corresponding dataset.  

The diurnally corrected and leveled survey data was then merged into a single database; corrected and leveled 
data is labelled residual magnetic intensity (RMI). A simple moving window mean filter was also applied to the 
dataset to help smooth out high frequency noise; ideal window size was subjectively determined to be 5 to 7 
readings. 

Data was processed and gridded using Geosoft Oasis Montaj. The grids were created using the minimum curvature 
method, also called RANGRID, with 15 m cell size. GeoTIFF images of the grids was exported from Geosoft and 
imported into ArcGIS 10.3 to generate the geophysical survey figures for this Report. 
 
Survey Results 

Residual magnetic intensity (RMI) and RMI first vertical derivative (1VD) data show laterally persistent linear highs 
and corresponding lows paralleling the structural trend at the Property. The high anomalies may represent 
stronger magnetic phases within the diabase complex; the magnetic lows are interpreted as structural jointing 
and/or localized offsets (faults). 



29 
 

The magnetic survey results provide a significant improvement in resolution versus the existing airborne magnetic 
data, defining local structural features and magnetic anomalies that may have exploration potential. Two primary 
anomalies of interest were identified west of Bass Lake: 

1) A strong, arcuate, NNW-trending magnetic high anomaly at the center of the Nipissing diabase. The 
anomaly is most pronounced near the lower contact of the Nipissing diabase to the southeast and covers 
the historical Hector Silver Mine shaft (Hector Anomaly) and Gillies East. 
 

2) A smaller NNW-trending anomaly to the west, proximal to the top of the sill and covering the northern 
part of the Gillies West anomaly. 

 

Both anomalies are coincident with cobalt in soil anomalies from the 2017 and 2018 geochemical surveys and/or 

historical workings or mineral occurrences. 

Drilling 

In 2018, Cruz Cobalt completed a diamond drilling program at the Hector Property comprising ten NQ diameter 
diamond drill holes, totalling 843 m. The drilling program tested historical cobalt results, in addition to 2017 and 
2018 surface geochemical anomalies and ground magnetic anomalies at the Hector and Gillies East targets. Four 
drill holes totalling 395 m tested the Hector anomaly, 3 holes totalling 264 m tested the Gillies East 1 anomaly, and 
3 holes totalling 185 m targeted the Gillies East 2 anomaly. 

The drilling program was executed by APEX personnel and Vital Drilling Services of Sudbury, Ontario. Drill core 
logging and sampling was completed by APEX geological staff. For each drill hole, geological observations were 
recorded comprising lithology, mineralization, alteration, veining and structural measurements. Geotechnical data 
were recorded comprising core recovery, rock quality designation (RQD) and magnetic susceptibility. The drilling 
program was completed between October 29th and December 19th, 2018. 

Hector Anomaly Results 

Drill holes 18HC01 through 18HC04 targeted historical trenches and cobalt in rock and soil geochemical anomalies. 
All holes drilled through variable phases of the Nipissing diabase without reaching the lower contact with the 
Archean rocks. The holes intersected moderate to strong alteration and near surface anomalous cobalt (Co) and 
copper (Cu) values beneath the vertical projection of the historical trench. Mineralization was present as 
disseminated to clotty pyrite-chalcopyrite and is associated with moderate to intense chlorite-silica and potassic 
alteration of diabase host-rocks and narrow carbonate-quartz-potassium feldspar vein zones. 

Drill hole 18HC01 returned 66 ppm Co and 132 ppm Cu over 10.88 m core length from a depth of 5.12 m. Drill 
holes 18HC02, 18HC03, and 18HC04 intersected a second zone of mineralization from 80 to 95 m depth. Drill hole 
18HC02 returned 310 ppm Co over 1 m core length starting at a depth of 83.45 m down hole. Hole 18HC03 
returned 300 ppm Cu and 90 ppm Co over 2.1 m core length starting at 93.4 m down hole, and 410 ppm Cu and 80 
ppm Co over 1 m core length starting at 92 m down hole.  

Gillies East 1 Anomaly Results 

The Gillies East 1 target is a northwest trending, sub-vertical vein zone intermittently exposed on the surface over 
a 100 m strike length. It is associated with anomalous cobalt in rock and soil values. Hole 18HC06 drilled across the 
projected strike of the vein at a -60° dip. The drill hole intersected a broad zone of anomalous copper returning 162 
ppm Cu and 42 ppm Co over 5 m core length starting at a depth of 10.5 m down hole. The zone is associated with 
moderate chlorite-potassic alteration and disseminated pyrite-chalcopyrite mineralization. A deeper, narrow zone 
of pyrite-chalcopyrite vein mineralization, coincident with the vertical projection of surface mineralization, 
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returned 650 ppm Cu over 1 m core length starting at a depth of 50 m down hole. Drill hole 18HC05 returned 230 
ppm Cu over 0.5 m starting at 30.8 m down hole.  

Gillies East 2 Anomaly Results 

The Gillies East 2 target is centred over an area of historic prospect pits and shallow vertical shafts. The previous 
exploration was driven by a series of narrow, northwest trending fracture-controlled pyrite-chalcopyrite-erythrite 
(hydrous cobalt-arsenite) mineralized potassic altered quartz veins that returned cobalt values of 2.02% and 0.61% 
in float and rock outcrop. Mineralization intersected in 18HC08, 18HC09 and 18HC10 is coincident with the vertical 
projection of the vein system and is strongly associated with moderate to intense alteration haloes surrounding 
carbonate-potassium feldspar-silica (±chlorite) veins, and clotty pyrite-chalcopyrite. 

Hole 18HC08 drilled oblique across the area of the historic trenches at a -45° dip. The hole returned 97 ppm Co 
over 3 m core length starting at a depth of 18 m down hole, coincident with the vertical projection of surface 
mineralization. Hole 18HC09 drilled at a -60° dip intersected a broader zone of copper mineralization, returning 
472 ppm Cu over 5 m core starting at a depth of 18 m down hole, including 0.14% Cu over 1 m. Hole 18HC10 
drilled to the north at a -45° dip, and intersected the same zone returning 283 ppm Cu over 3.0 m; including 560 
ppm Cu over 1 m core length starting at a depth of 18.00 m down hole.  

SAMPLE PREPARATION, ANALYSES AND SECURITY 

2017 Soil Samples 

Sample Collection and Shipping 

A total of 428 soil samples were collected by Jean Marc Gaudreau at the Hector Property in 2017, primarily 
targeting the B horizon. A shovel or auger was used to dig a small hole to reach the B horizon. Depending on 
ground conditions and vegetation, the hole depth ranged from a few centimetres (cm) up to 61 cm, but was 
typically 10 to 12 cm. Samples weighing approximately 50 to 100 grams (g) were placed in labelled sample bags 
and sealed. Sample locations were recorded with a handheld GPS device and written in a notebook along with the 
matching sample number and a description of the sample, and later transcribed to an Excel spreadsheet. Handheld 
GPS devices are accurate to ± 5 m. 

From the field, samples were transported to AGAT laboratories in Mississauga, Ontario for analysis. The authors of 
this Report consider the measures employed in the chain of custody of the samples to be sufficient for this stage of 
exploration. 

Sample Preparation and Analysis 

Once received by AGAT, the soil samples were dried and screened to -180 microns (80 mesh). The prepared 
samples were analyzed by AGAT method number 201-071 (Metals Package by 4 Acid Digest, ICP/ICP-MS Finish). A 
prepared sample is digested with hydrochloric, perchloric, nitric and hydrofluoric acids. The final solution is then 
analyzed by inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS). 

Quality Assurance and Quality Control 

For the 2017 soil sampling program, Cruz Cobalt relied on the internal quality assurance and quality control 
(QA/QC) measures employed by AGAT laboratories. QA/QC measures at AGAT include routine screen tests to 
verify crushing and pulverizing efficiency, sample preparation duplicates, and analytical quality controls (blanks, 
standards, and duplicates). AGAT Mississauga is certified with ISO/IEC 17025:2005 and ISO 9001:2008 
accreditation from the Standards Council of Canada. 
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It is the authors’ opinion that the sample collection, preparation, security, analytical and QA/QC measures used 
during the 2017 soil sampling program were adequate for this stage of exploration at the Hector Property. 

2018 Soil Samples 

Sample Collection and Shipping 

A total of 203 soil samples were collected by APEX personnel at the Hector Property in 2018, primarily targeting 
the Ah horizon (humus). A shovel was used to clear the sample area of surface material and dig a small hole to 
reach the Ah horizon. Depending on ground conditions and vegetation, the hole depth ranged from a few 
centimetres (cm) up to 30 cm, but was typically 4 to 6 cm. Samples weighing approximately 50 to 100 grams (g) 
were placed in labelled sample bags along with a sample tag inscribed with the unique sample number, and sealed. 
Sample locations were recorded with a handheld GPS device and on a tablet device along with the matching 
sample number, the date, the sampler’s name and a description of the sample. Additional details, such as site 
disturbance, ground cover, vegetation and landform were also recorded on the tablet device. All data recorded on 
the tablet was later copied into an Excel spreadsheet. Handheld GPS and tablet devices are accurate to ± 5 m and ± 
7 m respectively. 

Soil samples were placed into woven poly (rice) bags for shipment to the analyzing laboratory. Cable ties were 
used to securely close the rice bags. Samples were transported by APEX personnel to the ALS geochemistry 
laboratory in Sudbury, Ontario for preparation. From there, the samples were transported within the ALS network 
to the ALS geochemistry laboratory in North Vancouver, British Columbia for analysis. 

Sample Preparation and Analysis 

Once received by ALS, the soil samples were logged in to the ALS computerized tracking system, assigned bar code 
labels and weighed. The samples were then dried at 60°C and weighed again. Each sample was screened to -180 
micron (80 mesh). The plus fraction was retained for storage and the minus fraction was split to obtain a 0.5 gram 
sample for analysis. All rejects were retained for storage. 

The prepared samples were analyzed by ALS Geochemistry Method ME-MS41 (Ultra Trace Analysis by Aqua Regia 
Digestion and ICP-MS). A prepared sample (nominal 0.5 g) is digested with 75% aqua regia (3:1 ratio of HCl:HNO3) 
in a graphite heating block. The solution is then analyzed by inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-
MS) with results corrected for spectral inter-element interferences. 

Quality Assurance and Quality Control 

Quality assurance and quality control (QA/QC) measures at ALS include routine screen tests to verify crushing and 
pulverizing efficiency, sample preparation duplicates (every 50 samples), and analytical quality controls (blanks, 
standards, and duplicates). Quality control samples are inserted with each analytical run, with the minimum 
number of QC samples dependant on the rack size specific to the chosen analytical method. Results for quality 
control samples that fall beyond the established limits are automatically red-flagged for serious failures and 
yellow-flagged for borderline results. Every batch of samples is subject to a dual approval and review process, both 
by the individual analyst and the Department Manager, before final approval and certification. ALS Sudbury is 
certified with ISO/IEC 17025:2017 and ISO 9001:2015 accreditation from the Standards Council of Canada. 

The QA/QC measures employed by APEX in the field during the 2018 soil sampling program comprised inserting 
field duplicate samples at a rate of approximately 1 duplicate per 20 samples. Duplicate sample were collected to 
assess the repeatability of individual analytical values. A total of 11 duplicate samples were collected and analyzed. 
No significant QA/QC issues were detected during review of the soil sampling data. 

It is the authors’ opinion that the sample collection, preparation, security, analytical and QA/QC measures used 
during the 2018 soil sampling program were adequate for this stage of exploration at the Hector Property. 
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2018 Rock Samples 

Sample Collection and Shipping 

A total of 43 rock samples were collected by APEX personnel at the Hector Property in 2018. One representative 
rock sample, weighing no more than 2.5 kg, was collected from each sample site. Samples were placed in labelled 
sample bags along with a sample tag inscribed with the unique sample number and sealed. Sample locations were 
recorded with a handheld GPS device and written on a sample card bearing the matching sample number, the date 
and the sampler’s name. Rock samples were described in terms of lithology, mineralization, alteration, mineralogy, 
grain size and texture. These observations were recorded on the sample card and later transcribed to an Excel 
spreadsheet. Handheld GPS devices are accurate to ± 5 m. 

Rock samples were placed into woven poly (rice) bags for shipment to the analyzing laboratory. Cable ties were 
used to securely close the rice bags. Samples were transported by APEX personnel to the ALS geochemistry 
laboratory in Sudbury, Ontario for preparation. From there, the samples were transported within the ALS network 
to the ALS geochemistry laboratory in North Vancouver, British Columbia for analysis. 

The authors did not have control over the rock samples at all times during transport, and therefore cannot 
personally verify what happened to the samples from shipping up to the time they were received by ALS. However, 
the authors have no reason to believe that the security of the samples was compromised in any way during 
transport or once they entered the ALS chain of custody. 

Sample Preparation and Analysis 

Once received by ALS, the rock samples were logged in to the ALS computerized tracking system, assigned bar 
code labels and weighed. The samples were then dried and crushed to pass a U.S. Standard No. 10 mesh, or 2 mm 
screen (70% minimum pass). A 500 g split is taken and pulverized to pass a U.S. Standard No. 200 mesh, or 75 
micron screen (85% minimum pass). All rejects were retained for storage. 

The prepared samples were analyzed by ALS Geochemistry Methods ME-ICP81 (Cobalt, Copper and Nickel by 
Sodium Peroxide Fusion and ICP-AES), PGM-ICP23 (Platinum, Paladium and Gold by Fire Assay and ICP-AES, and Ag-
AA45 (Silver by Aqua Regia Digestion and AAS). For ME-ICP81, a prepared sample (nominal 0.2 g) is subject to 
sodium peroxide fusion and analysis by inductively coupled plasma atomic emission spectroscopy (ICP-AES). For 
PGM-ICP23, a prepared sample (nominal 30 g) is subject to standard lead oxide collection fire assay and analysis by 
ICP-AES. For Ag-AA45, a prepared sample (nominal 0.5 g) is digested with 75% aqua regia (3:1 ratio of HCl:HNO3) in 
a graphite heating block. The solution is then analyzed atomic absorption spectroscopy. 

Quality Assurance and Quality Control 

For the 2018 rock sampling program, Cruz Cobalt and APEX relied on the internal quality assurance and quality 
control (QA/QC) measures employed by AGAT laboratories. Quality assurance and quality control (QA/QC) 
measures at ALS include routine screen tests to verify crushing and pulverizing efficiency, sample preparation 
duplicates (every 50 samples), and analytical quality controls (blanks, standards, and duplicates). Quality control 
samples are inserted with each analytical run, with the minimum number of QC samples dependant on the rack 
size specific to the chosen analytical method. Results for quality control samples that fall beyond the established 
limits are automatically red-flagged for serious failures and yellow-flagged for borderline results. Every batch of 
samples is subject to a dual approval and review process, both by the individual analyst and the Department 
Manager, before final approval and certification. ALS Sudbury is certified with ISO/IEC 17025:2017 and ISO 
9001:2015 accreditation from the Standards Council of Canada. 

It is the authors’ opinion that the sample collection, preparation, security, analytical and QA/QC measures used 
during the 2018 soil sampling program were adequate for this stage of exploration at the Hector Property. 
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2018 Diamond Drilling 

Sample Collection and Shipping 

Ten NQ diameter diamond drill holes, totalling 843 m, were completed during the 2018 program. Once extracted, 
drill core was placed in wooden core boxes, sealed with wooden lids and transported to a core logging tent. For 
each drill hole, geological observations were recorded comprising lithology, mineralization, alteration, veining and 
structural measurements. Geotechnical data were recorded comprising core recovery, rock quality designation 
(RQD) and magnetic susceptibility. Down-hole survey directional data was collected using a Reflex EZ-Shot 
instrument. 

A total of 292 drill core intervals were selected and sent for analysis, totalling 320.57 metres of core length. Sample 
lengths ranged from 0.5 m to 2.0 m, depending on the intensity of visual mineralization and alteration. The 
average sample length was 1.0 m. The sample intervals were marked out and tagged by APEX geologists, and the 
core was then photographed. Samples were sawed in half longitudinally using a core saw. For each sample, one 
half core was sent for analysis and the other was left in the box. Duplicate samples were cut into quarters, where 
one quarter of the core was used as the “original” sample and the other quarter was used as the “duplicate” 
sample. The remaining half core was left in the box. 

Drill core samples were placed into labelled plastic sample bags along with a sample tag inscribed with the unique 
sample number. The samples were placed into woven poly (rice) bags for shipment to the analyzing laboratory. 
Cable ties were used to securely close the rice bags. Samples were transported by APEX personnel to the ALS 
geochemistry laboratory in Sudbury, Ontario for preparation. From there, the samples were transported within the 
ALS network to the ALS geochemistry laboratory in North Vancouver, British Columbia for analysis. 

Sample Preparation and Analysis 

Once received by ALS, the drill core samples were logged in to the ALS computerized tracking system, assigned bar 
code labels and weighed. The samples were then dried and crushed to pass a U.S. Standard No. 10 mesh, or 2 mm 
screen (70% minimum pass). A 500 g split is taken and pulverized to pass a U.S. Standard No. 200 mesh, or 75 
micron screen (85% minimum pass). All rejects were retained for storage. 

The prepared samples were analyzed by ALS Geochemistry Methods ME-ICP81 (Cobalt, Copper and Nickel by 
Sodium Peroxide Fusion and ICP-AES), PGM-ICP23 (Platinum, Paladium and Gold by Fire Assay and ICP-AES, and Ag-
AA45 (Silver by Aqua Regia Digestion and AAS). For ME-ICP81, a prepared sample (nominal 0.2 g) is subject to 
sodium peroxide fusion and analysis by inductively coupled plasma atomic emission spectroscopy (ICP-AES). For 
PGM-ICP23, a prepared sample (nominal 30 g) is subject to standard lead oxide collection fire assay and analysis by 
ICP-AES. For Ag-AA45, a prepared sample (nominal 0.5 g) is digested with 75% aqua regia (3:1 ratio of HCl:HNO3) in 
a graphite heating block. The solution is then analyzed atomic absorption spectroscopy. 

Quality Assurance and Quality Control 

Quality assurance and quality control (QA/QC) measures at ALS include routine screen tests to verify crushing and 
pulverizing efficiency, sample preparation duplicates (every 50 samples), and analytical quality controls (blanks, 
standards, and duplicates). Quality control samples are inserted with each analytical run, with the minimum 
number of QC samples dependant on the rack size specific to the chosen analytical method. Results for quality 
control samples that fall beyond the established limits are automatically red-flagged for serious failures and 
yellow-flagged for borderline results. Every batch of samples is subject to a dual approval and review process, both 
by the individual analyst and the Department Manager, before final approval and certification. ALS Sudbury is 
certified with ISO/IEC 17025:2017 and ISO 9001:2015 accreditation from the Standards Council of Canada. 

The QA/QC measures employed in the field by APEX during the 2018 diamond drilling programs comprised 
inserting analytical standards, blanks and duplicate samples into the sample stream, each at an approximate rate 
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of 1 QA/QC sample per 20 samples. Standards and blanks are compared to expected values to ensure the lab 
results fall within the acceptable margin of error. Similarly, duplicate sample results are compared to originals to 
test the repeatability of lab results. 

In the author’s opinion, the QA/QC procedures are reasonable for this type of deposit and the current level  of 
exploration. Based on the results of the QA/QC sampling summarized below, the analytical data is considered to be 
accurate; the analytical sampling is considered to be representative of the drill sample, and the analytical data to 
be free from contamination. 

Standards 

Analytical standards were inserted into the sample stream to verify the accuracy of the laboratory analysis. OREAS 
902 Certified Reference Materials (CRMs) were selected for the diamond drilling program. QA/QC summary charts 
for cobalt and copper indicate the measured values for each standard in addition to the certified value, and the 
second and third “between laboratory” standard deviation for cobalt (Co) and copper (Cu). 

Standards are assigned a “pass” or “reviewable” status. A “reviewable” standard is defined as any standard 
occurring anywhere in the sample sequence returning a value greater than three standard deviations (>3SD) above 
or below the accepted value. QA/QC samples falling outside the established limits are flagged and subject to 
review and possible re-analysis, along with the 10 preceding and succeeding samples. 

A total of 18 standards were inserted into the sample stream of 292 drill core samples. Two samples were 
considered reviewable for returning values >3SD above the certified value for Co.  

Blanks 

Barren coarse material was used for coarse “blank” samples to monitor potential contamination during the sample 
preparation procedure. Analytical Solutions Ltd. (ASL) coarse silica blanks were used, sourced from Carboniferous 
sedimentary rocks of the Maritimes Basin in New Brunswick. QA/QC summary charts indicate the measured values 
for each blank in addition to the analytical method detection limit, 2x the detection, and 3x the detection limit for 
cobalt (Co) and copper (Cu). A blank is considered “reviewable” if it returns a value greater than 3x the detection 
limit of the analytical method. 
 

A total of 16 blanks were inserted into the sample stream of 292 drill core samples. Two samples were initially 
considered reviewable for returning values greater than 3x the detection limit for Cu. Upon review, the results 
were deemed to be acceptable. All other blanks were assigned a “pass” status according to the criteria outlined 
above. 

Duplicates 

Duplicate (quartered drill core) samples were collected to assess the repeatability of individual analytical values. A 
total of 17 duplicate samples were collected and analyzed. The results indicate a good overall repeatability of the 
copper values. This is interpreted to indicate a low “nugget” effect with respect to copper analysis. Excluding 
primary geological heterogeneity (quarter-core), the data show a homogenous distribution of copper values within 
the Hector drill core. There is a higher variability of the cobalt values, which is amplified by the generally low values 
returned for duplicate analysis. 

As part of their internal QA/QC program, ALS completed routine re-analysis of prep (coarse reject) and pulp 
duplicates to monitor precision. Only the prep and pulp duplicates for the 2018 soil sampling program are 
available. ALS analyzed a total of 6 prep duplicates and 9 pulp duplicates for cobalt, for a total of 15 prep/pulp 
duplicates analyzed.  
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DATA VERIFICATION 

A site visit to the Property was completed by Mr. Raffle during October 2018. During the site visit Mr. Raffle 
completed traverses within the Hector Property, and visited historically documented silver-cobalt mineral 
occurrences throughout the Bass Lake area, collected surface rock grab samples designed to confirm the 
historically reported mineralization, completed ground checks of significant 2018 cobalt in soil geochemical 
anomalies, and reviewed and observed the proposed diamond drill sites.    

Based on the results of the traverse, the author has no reason to doubt the reported exploration results.  Slight 
variation in assays is expected however the analytical data are considered to be representative. The level of data 
verification adequately reflects the early stage exploration status of the Hector Property. 

MINERAL PROCESSING AND METALLURGICAL TESTING 

No metallurgical testing analysis has been carried out on the Property as of the Effective Date.   

MINERAL RESOURCE ESTIMATES 

No mineral resource estimates are available for the Property as of the Effective Date.   

ADJACENT PROPERTIES 

Cruz Cobalt holds 100% interest in additional claims, located north of the Hector Property within a distance of 10 
km. The claims are located in the Bucke, Coleman, Firstbrook, Gillies Limit, and Lorrain townships. Cruz Cobalt has 
focused its early exploration activities on the Hector Property since 2017 and as such, these additional claims do 
not currently represent a Property of material interest to Cruz Cobalt, in accordance to the guidelines set out by 
the NI 43-101 guidelines. 

The Author has been unable to verify the following information and the information is not necessarily indicative to 
the mineralization on the Hector Property that is the subject of the Technical Report. 

First Cobalt Corp.  

First Cobalt Corp. (“First Cobalt”) assembled a property package to facilitate an exploration program in 2018 across 
approximately 10,000 ha. The property package is divided into three exploration properties: the Cobalt North, 
Cobalt Central and Cobalt South Properties. First Cobalt carried out a drilling program on its properties in 2017, 
completing 61 diamond drill holes, totaling 6,361m (Faure et al., 2017).  

Cobalt North Property  

The Cobalt North Property is located 2 km to the east of the Hector Property, made up of 49 mining claims and 8 
leases held by First Cobalt.  Past producing mines are present in the Cobalt North area, the Silverfields, Ophir, Kerr 
Lake, and Lawson mines.  The Silverfields mine was owned by Teck Resources Ltd., at was shutdown in 1983.  
Guindon et at. (2016) reported total production from 1964 to 1983 at 1,200,035 tonnes with 17,793,862 ounces of 
Ag, 357,501 pounds of Co, 493,255 pounds of Ni, and 238,893 pounds of Cu.  Full details of the Ophir Mine are 
unknown.  Guindon et al (2016) reported Ophir Mine production of 69 ounces of Ag in 1921. The Kerr Lake deposit 
was discovered in 1904 and production from the Kerr Lake Mine commenced in 1905.  The mine operated 
intermittently until closure in 1964.  From 1905 to 1956, the deposit produced 28,502,037 ounces of Ag 
(Cunningham, 1963).  The Lawson deposit was discovered in 1905 and production commenced in 1909.  At closure 
in 1919, a total of 4,213,553 ounces of Ag had been produced (Cunningham, 1963).  Between 1922 and 1944, the 
Lawson Mine was operated under several leases.  The mine was later re-opened in 1953 and operated through 
1960 by Silver Miller Mines Ltd., however records of silver production are not available.   
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Cobalt Central Property 

The Cobalt Central Property is located 8 km to the southeast of the Hector Property.  The Cobalt Central Property 
consists of 42 unpatented mining claims held by First Cobalt.  One mine was operational in the Cobalt Central 
property, the Lang-Caswell mine.  Guindon et al. (2016) reported minor production of 46.8 kg Ag and 2,237 kg Co 
from the mine in 1936.   

Cobalt South Property 

The Cobalt South Property is located 20 km to the southeast of the Hector Property and consists of a total of 38 
unpatented mining claims, 5 patented surface and mining rights, and 12 mining leases.   

Three mines were historically operational on the Cobalt South Property: the Keeley Mine, Frontier Mine, and 
Bellellen Mine.  The Keeley Mine, operated by Keeley Silver Mines, produced intermittently from 1908 to 1942.  
Total reported production was 12,154,353 oz Ag and 1,617,684 lbs Co.  The Frontier Mine was operated by Mining 
Corporation of Canada Ltd. From 1921 to 1943 and produced 6,695,415 oz Ag, 1,683,796 lb Co and 12,158 lb Ni.  
Keeley Frontier Mines Ltd./ Canadian Keeley Mines Ltd. operated the combined Keeley and Frontier Mines from 
1963 to 1965 and produced 347,645 oz Ag, 9,003 lb Co and 14,358 lb Ni.  The Bellellen Mine operated between 
1910 and 1943 intermittently, producing 1,182,772 g Ag, 12,930 kg Co and 6,085 kg Ni (Guindon et al., 2016).   

Cobalt Power Group 

Cobalt Power Group (“CPG”) has two properties in the area of the Hector Property: The Smith Cobalt Property and 
the Canadian Cobalt Property. These properties were acquired prior to Ontario’s conversion to an online system 
for claim registration using the cell-based provincial grid.   

Smith Cobalt Property 

The Smith Cobalt Property comprises 13 unpatented claims (56 units totalling approximately 880 ha) and 19 patent 
claims (approximately 234.3 ha), in addition to two surface rights-only patents which overlie the Smith Cobalt 
unpatented mining claims.  

The historic Smith Mine is located within the CPG’s Smith Cobalt Property, with development beginning in 1927. 
Approximately 4,350 km (9,570 lbs) of cobalt-mineralized rock was extracted in 1935 and additional production in 
1939 and 1940 was reported to be 126 and 331 lbs, respectively (Trinder, 2018). 

Canadian Cobalt Property 

The Canadian Cobalt Property comprises 57 unpatented claims (674 units totalling approximately 10,784 ha), and 
one mining lease (approximately 15 ha).  

The Wettlaufer mine lies partially outside CPG’s mining lease. A total production of 7,989 oz of silver was reported 
in 1918 (Trinder, 2018).  

OTHER RELEVANT DATA AND INFORMATION 

The author has not identified any other relevant data or information that is required to summarize the exploration 
status of the Hector Property. All relevant data and information regarding the Property have been disclosed under 
the relevant sections of the Technical Report. 
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INTERPRETATION AND CONCLUSIONS 

Results and Interpretations 

This Technical Report was prepared by APEX to present the Hector Property for Cruz Cobalt, the issuer. Cruz Cobalt 
acquired the project in August 2016 and currently holds 100% ownership of the 126 mining claims, totalling 2,243 
ha, which are active and in good standing. 

The Hector Property is an early stage exploration project with historical development and small-scale production in 
the 1920s and early 1930s that yielded mineralized rock containing silver and cobalt. The Property is located within 
the Cobalt Embayment, associated with the structurally significant Montreal River fault system. The Cobalt 
Embayment is recognized for its occurrence of and potential to host arsenide silver-cobalt vein deposits.   

The majority of mineral occurrences with the Hector Property consist of narrow fracture controlled northwest-
southeast, or northeast-southwest striking, sub-vertical to steeply dipping,  quartz-carbonate-potassium feldspar 
veins containing variable percentages of disseminated to clotty pyrite, chalcopyrite, pyrrhotite, and erythrite 
(hydrous cobalt arsenate) mineralization.  Veins range in width from less than 5 cm up to 25 cm in width. The 
majority of historically reported mineral occurrences are represented by one or more shallow prospect pits and 
trenches, or water-filled shafts. 

The results of the 2017 and 2018 soil and rock geochemical campaigns have defined cobalt in soil and rock 
anomalies west of Gillies Creek that warrant follow-up exploration. Airborne and ground magnetic geophysical 
surveys reveal diabase sills present strong positive magnetic anomalies in comparison to Archean basement. 
Internal magnetic variation of the diabase sill, which comprises one or more parallel linear of sinuous magnetic 
trends, indicates it is a multi-phase composite intrusion.   

The results of 2018 diamond drill testing of the Hector and Gillies east targets were disappointing, however the 
area tested represents only approximately 10% of the total Hector Property. Importantly, given the reconnaissance 
nature of the 2018 diamond drill program, no drill hole pierced lower contact of the diabase into the underlying 
Coleman Member and/or Archean basement. Surface soil and rock geochemical anomalies and cobalt in diamond 
drill intercepts returned from the Bass Lake area are interpreted to represent high-level expressions of potential 
Archean unconformity-associated silver-cobalt vein mineralization; the geologic setting from which the majority of 
historic Cobalt Camp silver production occurred. 

The distribution of historic mineral occurrences throughout the Hector Property is coincident with interpreted 
structural lineaments within the Nipissing Diabase sill, for example between the Williamson to Brewster 
occurrences, and in the case of the Bass Lake area showings they appear to be locally spatially associated with the 
margins of a relatively more magnetic phase of the diabase. The majority of historic silver-cobalt vein showings 
within the Hector Property occur within the Nipissing Diabase, and are spatially related to one of two parallel 
northwest trending structural lineaments coincident with the trace of the Kelvin Lake fault, and an interpreted 
Archean basement topographic high and anticlinal fold axis subparallel to the Montreal River fault. In the area east 
of the Montreal River there is a close spatial relationship between Archean volcanic, basal Coleman Member 
sediments and diabase rocks, which is considered highly prospective within the context of the silver-cobalt 
arsenide vein deposit model.  

Additional follow-up exploration within the both the Kelvin Lake and Montreal River fault and anticline areas are 
warranted where a close spatial relationship between the Archean-Huronian unconformity and diabase sill is 
predicted by prior geologic mapping. 



38 
 

Risks and Uncertainties 

The Property is subject to the typical external risks that apply to all mining projects, such as changes in metal 
prices, availability of investment capital, changes in government regulations, community engagement and general 
environmental concerns.  

There is no guarantee that further diamond drilling of soil, rock, and geophysical anomalies will result in the 
discovery of additional silver-cobalt mineralization, definition of a mineral resource, or an economic mineral 
deposit.  However, in the Author’s opinion there are no significant risks or uncertainties that could reasonably be 
expected to affect the reliability or confidence in the presently available exploration information with respect to 
the Hector Property.   

RECOMMENDATIONS 

Based on the presence of silver-cobalt arsenide vein intersects in drill  core and numerous historic occurrences, 
airborne and ground magnetic geophysical anomalies, cobalt and silver in rock and soil geochemical anomalies, 
and favourable geology; the Hector Property is of a high priority for follow-up exploration. 

The exploration program should include but not be limited to: 

Phase 1: A surface exploration program of rock and soil geochemical sampling, ground magnetic surveys, and 
geologic mapping designed to evaluate the silver-cobalt arsenide vein potential of the Kelvin Lake and Montreal 
River fault zones. Geologic mapping should focus on defining the geometry of the Nipissing Diabase sills, and on 
identifying areas with the potential to host Coleman Member sediments overlain by diabase; in particular in 
proximity to exposed Archean basement and the Huronian unconformity in the Montreal River area. The results of 
geologic mapping should be used to prioritize rock, soil and ground magnetic surveys over geologically perspective 
targets.  

Phase 2: The Phase 2 exploration is contingent on the results of the Phase 1 exploration. Diamond drilling of 
approximately 10 holes totaling 2,000 m designed to test priority targets defined by the Phase 1 exploration.  The 
estimated cost to complete the Phase 2 exploration is $500,000.00 (Table 5). 
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Table 5.  Recommended Budget for Hector Property 

 

Budget Item Estimated Cost 

      

Soil and Rock Geochemical Sampling, Ground Magnetic Survey, 

Geologic Mapping (4 weeks) 
  

PHASE 1:    

Salaries Field - Senior Supervision, 2 Project Geologists and 2 Field 

Assistants for 30 days  
$55,000.00 

      

Flights/Accommodations and Meals $10,000.00 

      

Fuel (gas, diesel) $1,000.00 

      

Field Rentals – magnetometer, laptop/software, GPS, sample bags, etc. $5,000.00 

      

Truck rental $4,000.00 

      

Analytical (50 rocks, 500 soils)   

  

Rock Samples - ALS (PREP-31, ME-MS61) 

Soil Samples - ALS (PREP-41, ME-MS41L) 

$20,000.00 

      

Miscellaneous Field Supplies - fuel, field supplies, freight $2,000.00 

      

Office and Logistics   $3,000.00 

    

TOTAL PHASE 1: $100,000.00 

PHASE 2: : (Contingent on the results of Phase 1) Diamond drilling of 

priority targets (2000 metres @ $250/metre all up)  
$500,000.00 

Total Project Costs, Excluding GST $600,000.00 
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Exploration Costs 

In the last 36 months, the Company has incurred a total of $463,332 in exploration costs on the Hector Property, 
comprising of consulting geologist, a magnetic geophysical survey, sampling, assaying, and an exploration diamond 
drill program expenses. 

While the Author has prepared this estimate with care, he does not guarantee that the program can be completed 
for the costs estimated above. Budgeting should be reviewed when contracts are let. 

4.4 Companies with Oil and Gas Operations 

The Company does not have oil and gas operations. 

5. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

5.1 Consolidated Financial Information - Annual Information 

The following selected financial information is subject to the detailed information contained in the financial 
statements of the Company and related notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this Annual Listing Statement. This 
information should only be read in conjunction with the financial statements, and accompanying notes, included 
elsewhere in this Annual Listing Statement. The selected financial information is derived from the audited financial 
statements for the Company for the years ended July 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, and can be found by accessing the 
Company’s public documents filed on SEDAR at http://www.SEDAR.com/. This information should only be read in 
conjunction with the audited financial statements, and accompanying notes, included on SEDAR. 
 

 For the Year Ended 
July 31 

(audited) 

 
Operating Data: 

 
2021 

 
2020 

 
2019 

Total Revenue $Nil $Nil $Nil 

Income (Loss) From 
Operations (before 
tax) 

$(740,419) $(555,873) $(723,964) 

Net Income (Loss) for 
the period 

$(887,156) $(714,368) $(1,456,898) 

Income (Loss) per 
share – Basic and 
diluted 

$(0.01) $(0.01) $(0.02) 

Cash Dividends $Nil $Nil $Nil 

Balance Sheet Data:       

Total Assets $4,210,767 $3,034,663 $3,397,603 

Total Long-term 
Liabilities 

$Nil $Nil $Nil 

Shareholders’ Equity $3,635,040 $2,830,019 $3,336,849 

 
  

http://www.sedar.com/
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5.2  Consolidated Financial Information – Quarterly Information 

The results for each of the eight most recently completed quarters ending at the end of the most recently 
competed fiscal year, namely July 31, 2021, are summarized below: 

 2021 
Fourth 

2021 
Third 

2021 
Second 

2021 
First 

2020 
Fourth 

2020 
Third 

2020 
Second 

2020 
First 

Revenues $Nil $Nil $Nil $Nil $Nil $Nil $Nil $Nil 

Net 
comprehensive 
loss  

 

$(329,843) 

 

$(135,090) 

 

$(316,829) 

 

$(105,394) 

 

$(283,982) 

 

$(126,660) 

 

$(203,672) 

 

$(100,054) 

Basic and 
diluted loss per 
share 

$(0.00) $(0.00) $(0.00) $(0.00) $(0.01) $(0.00) $(0.00) $(0.00) 

5.3  Dividends 

The Company does not have a dividend policy and does not pay dividends to its shareholders. 

5.4 Foreign Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) 

Section 5.4 is not applicable to the Company. 

6. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Management’s discussion and analysis of our financial statements for the years ended July 31, 2021, 2020 and 
2019, are incorporated into the Listing Agreement by reference and are attached in Appendix 2 to the Annual 
Listing Statement and can be found by accessing the Company’s public documents filed on SEDAR at 
http://www.SEDAR.com/. 

7. MARKET FOR SECURITIES 

The Shares of the Company are listed and post for trading on the Exchange under the symbol “CRUZ”. 

8. CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION 

The following table summarizes our consolidated capitalization as at the date of this Annual Listing Statement: 

Designation of 
Security 

Number of 
Authorized 

Number of Shares 
Issued and Outstanding 

Shares Unlimited number 
without par value 

107,742,052(1) 

Warrants N/A 2,506,452 

Stock Options N/A 9,500,000 

(1) Does not include Shares reserved for issuance pursuant to outstanding warrants or options. 

There have been no changes in the number of issued and outstanding shares of the Company as of the date of this 
Annual Listing Statement. 

http://www.sedar.com/
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9. OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES 

The following table summarizes the outstanding incentive stock options to purchase Shares in our authorized 
capital as of the date of this Annual Listing Statement: 

Group 

Number 
of 

Options 

Securities 
Under 
Option 

Grant 
Date 

Expiry 
Date 

Exercise 
Price Per 

Share 
 

Market 
Value 

of the Shares 
on the 

Date of Grant  

Market 
Value 

of the Shares 
at Year End 

Current 
Executive 
Officers  

(2 persons) 

1,600,000 

 

2,000,000 

1,600,000 

 

2,000,000 

January 14, 
2021 

November 2, 
2021 

January 14, 
2022 

November 2, 
2021 

$0.075 

 

$0.30 

$0.075 

 

$0.30 

$0.095 

 

N/A 

Current 
Directors 

(2 Persons) 

600,000 

 

2,000,000 

600,000 

 

2,000,000 

January 14, 
2021 

November 2, 
2021 

January 14, 
2022 

November 2, 
2021 

$0.075 

 

$0.30 

$0.075 

 

$0.30 

$0.095 

 

N/A 

Consultant 

(4 Persons) 

300,000 

 

3,000,000 

 

300,000 

 

3,000,000 

January 14, 
2021 

November 2, 
2021 

January 14, 
2022 

November 2, 
2021 

$0.075 

 

$0.30 

$0.075 

 

$0.30 

$0.095 

 

N/A 

10.  DESCRIPTION OF THE SECURITIES 

10.1  Description of the Company’s Securities 

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Shares without par value. As at the date of this Annual 
Listing Statement, there are 107,742,052 Shares issued and outstanding as fully paid and non-assessable. A further 
12,006,452 Shares have been reserved and allotted for issuance upon the due and proper exercise of the 
Company’s currently outstanding stock options and warrants.  

The holders of Shares are entitled to dividends if, as and when declared by the Board. The holders of the Shares 
are also entitled to one vote per Share at meetings of the shareholders and, upon liquidation, to share equally in 
such assets of the Company as are distributable to the holders of Shares. 

In the event of liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, whether voluntary or involuntary, or other 
distribution of assets or property of the Company amongst its Shareholders for the purpose of winding up its 
affairs, Shareholders shall be entitled to receive all property and assets of the Company properly distributable to 
the Shareholders. 

The holders of the Shares shall be entitled to vote at all meetings of the Shareholders of the Company and at all 
such meetings each such holder has one (1) vote for each Share held. 

There are no pre-emptive rights, no conversion or exchange rights, no redemption, retraction, purchase for 
cancellation or surrender provisions. There are no sinking or purchase fund provisions, no provisions permitting or 
restricting the issuance of additional securities or any other material restrictions, and there are no provisions 
which are capable of requiring a security holder to contribute additional capital. 
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10.2 – 10.6  Miscellaneous Securities Provisions 

None of the matters set out in sections 10.2 to 10.6 of CSE Form 2A are applicable to the share structure of the 
Company. 

10.7  Prior Sales of Shares 

During the year ended July 31, 2021, the Company did not close any private placements. 

10.8  Stock Exchange Price 

The Company’s Shares are trading on CSE under the stock symbol “CRUZ”. The following table sets out the price 
ranges and trading volume of the Company’s Shares for the periods indicated:  

Period High ($) Low ($) Trading Volume 

Period from November 1 – November 4 0.325 0.165 46,546,705 

Quarter ended October 31, 2021 0.16 0.085 55,172,817 

Quarter ended July 31, 2021 0.11 0.08 23,468,750 

Quarter ended April 30, 2021 0.155 0.085 49,345,632 

Quarter ended January 31, 2021 0.175 0.04 61,989,149 

Quarter ended October 31, 2020 0.07 0.045 6,040,691 

Quarter ended July 31, 2020 0.06 0.03 6,278,737 

Quarter ended April 30, 2020 0.055 0.025 3,749,810 

Quarter ended January 31, 2020 0.055 0.03 8,081,540 

11.  ESCROWED SECURITIES  

11.1 Escrowed Securities 

To the knowledge of the Company, none of the Company’s Shares are currently held in escrow or under any 

escrow agreement.  

12.  PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS  

12.1  Principal Shareholders 

To the knowledge of the directors and senior officers of the Company, no person or company will beneficially own, 

directly or indirectly, or exercise control or direction over, shares of the Company carrying more than 10% of the 

voting rights attached to all outstanding shares of the Company. 
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13.  DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS  

13.1 – 13.5 Directors and Officers  

The following table sets out the names, municipalities of residence, the number of voting securities beneficially 

owned, directly or indirectly, or over which each exercises control or direction, the offices held in the Company 

and the principal occupation of the directors and senior officers during the past five years:  

Name & Municipality of 
Residence and Position(1) 

Present Occupation and 
Positions Held During the 

Last Five Years(1) 

Period served as 
Director/ Officer 

and when his/her 
term with the 
Company will 

expire 

Number of 
Shares of the 

Company 
Owned(2) 

Percentage of 
Issued and 

Outstanding 
Shares of the 
Company(4) 

James Nelson(3) 
Coquitlam, BC 
 
CEO, Secretary and 
Director 

Self-employed businessman 
from 1996 to present 
offering consulting services 
to public companies; current 
CEO, Secretary and Director 
of Spearmint Resources Inc.;  
former Secretary and 
Director of YDX Innovation 
Corp. from July 18, 2013 to 
February 18, 2020; and 
former Director of Halio 
Energy Inc. from February 9, 
2010 to March 3, 2017.  

Director from 
May 17, 2010 

to present. 
 

CEO and 
Secretary from 

April 24, 2015 to 
present. 

3,750 0.00% 

George Franklin Bain(3) 
Arizona, U.S.A 
 
Director 

Private geological consultant October 28, 2021 
to present. 

Nil N/A 
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Seth Kay(3) 
Vancouver, BC 
 
Director 

Self-employed businessman 
from 2009 to present 
offering consulting services 
to public companies; current 
Chief Operating Officer 
(“COO”) of Spearmint 
Resources Inc. from October 
11, 2018; current CEO and 
Director of Aphelion Capital 
Corp. from January 10, 2019; 
former CEO and Secretary of 
Willow Biosciences Inc. from 
March 10, 2017 to 
November 15, 2017; and 
former Director of Willow 
Biosciences Inc. from May 7, 
2015 to November 15, 2017. 

April 24, 2015 to 
present. 

150,000 0.14% 

Yangping (Cindy) Cai 
Vancouver, BC 
 
CFO 

Current CFO of Spearmint 
Resources Inc. from October 
8, 2013 and Sienna 
Resources Inc. from August 
18, 2010; former CFO and 
Secretary of YDX Innovation 
Corp. from July 15, 2016 to 
September 30, 2017; and 
former CFO of Willow 
Biosciences Inc. from January 
6, 2010 to April 3, 2018. 

September 13, 
2010 to present. 

500,000 0.46% 

TOTAL    653,750 0.60% 
(1) The information as to province or state and country of residence and principal occupation, not being within the 

knowledge of the Company, has been furnished by the respective directors and officers individually. 
(2) The information as to shares beneficially owned or over which a director or officer exercises control or direction, not 

being within the knowledge of the Company, has been furnished by the respective directors and officers individually. 
(3) Member of the Audit Committee. 
(4) Percentage of Shares outstanding is based on 107,742,052 shares issued and outstanding as of the date of this Annual 

Listing Statement, on an undiluted basis. 

13.4 Committees 

The Company has an audit committee that is comprised of three members consisting of James Nelson, Gregory 

Thomson and Seth Kay. James Nelson is the Audit Committee Chair. Gregory Thomson and Seth Kay are 

independent members of the audit committee and James Nelson is not independent because he is the CEO and 

Secretary of the Company.  

13.6 Corporate Cease Trade Orders or Bankruptcies 

No proposed director of the Company is, or within the ten years before the date of this Annual Listing Statement 
has been, a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer of any company that: 

(a) was subject to an order that was issued while the proposed director was acting in the capacity as 
director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer; or 
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(b) was subject to an order that was issued after the proposed director ceased to be a director, chief 
executive officer or chief financial officer and which resulted from an event that occurred while 
that person was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer. 

No proposed director of the Company is, or within ten years before the date of this Annual Listing Statement, has 
been a director or an executive officer of any company that, while the person was acting in that capacity, or within 
a year of that person ceasing to act in the capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation 
relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise 
with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets. 

13.7, 13.8 Penalties or Sanctions 

No proposed director of the Company has been subject to:  

(a) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities legislation or by a securities 
regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a securities regulatory 
authority; or  

(b) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would likely be 
considered important to a reasonable securityholder in deciding whether to vote for a proposed 
director.  

13.9 Personal Bankruptcies 

No proposed director of the Company has, or within ten years before the date of this Annual Listing Statement, 
become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcies or insolvency, or become subject 
to or instituted proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or 
trustee appointed to hold the assets of the proposed director. 

13.10  Conflicts of Interest 

Conflicts of interest may arise as a result of the directors, officers and promoters of the Company also holding 
positions as directors or officers of other companies. Some of the individuals who will be directors and officers of 
the Company have been and will continue to be engaged in the identification and evaluation of assets, businesses 
and companies on their own behalf and on behalf of other companies, and situations may arise where the 
directors and officers of the Company will be in direct competition with the Company. Conflicts, if any, will be 
subject to the procedures and remedies provided under BCBCA. 

13.11 Management 

James Nelson, age 44, CEO, Secretary and Director 

Mr. Nelson has been the CEO and Secretary of the Company since April 24, 2015 and a director of the Company 
since May 17, 2010. Mr. Nelson has been a director of Spearmint Resources Inc., a mineral exploration company 
listed on the CSE, from May 22, 2014 and as President and Corporate Secretary from November 18, 2016 to 
present. From July 18, 2013 and October 3, 2017 respectively, Mr. Nelson has also served as director and 
Corporate Secretary of YDX Innovation Corp., a technology company listed on TSXV. From February 9, 2010 to 
March 3, 2017, Mr. Nelson also served as director of Halio Energy Inc., a junior mining company listed on the TSXV. 
Mr. Nelson has been a self-employed businessman from 1996 to present offering consulting services to public 
companies. 
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Mr. Nelson will devote approximately 50% of his time to perform the work required in connection with acting as 
the CEO, Secretary and as a director of the Company. Mr. Nelson is not a party to any employment, non-
competition or confidentiality agreement with the Company. 
 

George Franklin Bain, age 68, Director 

Mr. Bain has been a consulting mineral exploration geologist for 12 years. He has been a director of the Company 
from October 28, 2021 to present and Spearmint Resources Inc. from October 28, 2021 to present. Mr. Bain holds 
a Bachelor of Science degree in Geology from the Northern Arizona University and has been a Registered 
Professional Geoscientist for 25 years. 

Mr. Bain will devote approximately 50% of his time to perform the work required in connection with acting as a 
director of the Company. Mr. Bain is not a party to any employment, non-competition or confidentiality agreement 
with the Company. 

Seth Kay, age 38, Director 
 

Mr. Kay has been a director of the Company since April 24, 2015 and a director of Aphelion Capital Corp. from 

January 10, 2019. He has been the COO of Spearmint Resources Inc. since October 11, 2018. From May 7, 2015 to 

November 15, 2017 and March 10, 2017 to November 15, 2017 respectively, Mr. Kay also served as director, and 

CEO and Corporate Secretary of Willow Bioscience Inc.  

Mr. Kay will devote approximately 33% of his time to perform the work required in connection with acting as a 
director of the Company. Mr. Kay is not a party to any employment, non-competition or confidentiality agreement 
with the Company. 
 

Yangping (Cindy) Cai, age 50, CFO 
 
Ms. Cai has been the CFO of the Company since September 13, 2010. Ms. Cai is currently CFO of both Sienna 
Resources Inc., since August 18, 2010, and Spearmint Resources Inc., since October 8, 2013. From January 6, 2010 
to April 3, 2018, Ms. Cai served as CFO of Willow Bioscience Inc. Ms. Cai also served as CFO and Secretary of YDX 
Innovation Corp. from July 15, 2016 to September 30, 2017. Ms. Cai graduated with a Bachelor Degree in Electrical 
Engineering from Zhongshan University of China and she holds a diploma in Accounting from the University of 
British Columbia. She is a designated CPA in the United States.  

Ms. Cai will devote approximately 40% of her time to perform the work required in connection with acting as the 
CFO of the Company. Ms. Cai is not a party to any employment, non-competition or confidentiality agreement with 
the Company.  
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14. CAPITALIZATION  

14.1 Issued Capital 

As of October 28, 2021, the share capital of the Company on a non-diluted and fully-diluted basis will be as follows: 

Issued Capital  

Number of 
Securities (non-

diluted) 

Number of 
Securities 

(fully-diluted) 
% (non-
diluted) 

% (fully 
diluted) 

Public Float     

Total Outstanding (A)  106,742,052 112,748,504 100% 100% 

Held by Related Persons or employees of the 
Issuer or Related Person of the Issuer, or by 
persons or companies who beneficially own 
or control, directly or indirectly, more than a 
5% voting position in the Issuer (or who 
would beneficially own or control, directly or 
indirectly, more than a 5% voting position in 
the Issuer upon exercise or conversion of 
other securities held) (B) 653,750 2,853,750 0.6% 2.5% 

Total Public Float (A-B) 106,088,302 109,894,754 99.4% 97.5% 

Freely Tradable Float      

Number of outstanding securities subject to 
resale restrictions, including restrictions 
imposed by pooling or other arrangements 
or in a shareholder agreement and securities 
held by control block holders (C) Nil Nil 0% 0% 

Total Tradable Float (A-C) 106,088,302 109,894,754 100% 100% 

*Figures are reported to the best of the knowledge of management of the Company. 
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Public Securityholders (Registered) – as of October 28, 2021 

For the purposes of this table, “public securityholders” does not include persons enumerated in section (B) the 
Issued Capital table above: 

Shares    

Size of Holdings  Number of Holders  Total number of securities  

1 – 99 securities - - 

100 – 499 securities  1 300 

500 – 999 securities  - - 

1,000 – 1,999 securities  - - 

2,000 – 2,999 securities  - - 

3,000 – 3,999 securities  - - 

4,000 – 4,999 securities  - - 

5,000 or more securities  5 106,088,002 

TOTAL 6 106,088,302 

 

*Information determined to the best of the Company’s knowledge from information provided by its registrar and 

transfer agent. 
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Public Securityholders (Beneficial) – as of October 28, 2021   

For the purposes of this table, “public securityholders” does not include persons enumerated in section (B) the 
Issued Capital table above: 

Shares    

Size of Holdings  Number of Holders  Total number of securities 

1 – 99 securities 150 6,383 

100 – 499 securities  494 118,603 

500 – 999 securities  358 237,628 

1,000 – 1,999 securities  592 710,180 

2,000 – 2,999 securities  411 913,890 

3,000 – 3,999 securities  239 775,623 

4,000 – 4,999 securities  153 652,519 

5,000 or more securities  1,896 100,040,936 

TOTAL 4,293 103,455,762 

*Information determined to the best of the Company’s knowledge from information provided by its registrar and 
transfer agent and from previously obtained information from Broadridge. 
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Non-Public Securityholders (Registered and Beneficial) – as of October 28, 2021 

For the purposes of this chart, “non-public securityholders” are persons enumerated under (B) in the Issued Capital 
table above. 

Shares    

Size of Holdings  Number of Holders  Total number of securities  

1 – 99 securities - - 

100 – 499 securities  - - 

500 – 999 securities  - - 

1,000 – 1,999 securities  - - 

2,000 – 2,999 securities  - - 

3,000 – 3,999 securities  1 3,750 

4,000 – 4,999 securities  - - 

5,000 or more securities  2 650,000 

TOTAL 3 653,750 

14.2 Convertible / Exchangeable Securities 

As at the date of the Annual Listing Statement, the following table sets out information regarding any securities 

convertible or exchangeable into any class of listed securities: 

Description of Security 
Number of Convertible / Exchangeable 

Securities Outstanding 
Number of Listed Securities Issuable 

Upon Conversion / Exercise 

Stock Options 9,500,000 9,500,000 

Warrants 2,506,452 2,506,452 

14.3 Other Listed Securities 

The Company has no other listed securities reserved for issuance that are not included in section 14.1 or 14.2. 

15. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION  

15.1 Compensation of Executive Officers and Directors 

General  

For the purpose of this Statement of Executive Compensation:  



52 
 

“compensation securities” includes stock options, convertible securities, exchangeable securities and similar 
instruments including stock appreciation rights, deferred share units and restricted stock units granted or issued by 
the Company or one of its subsidiaries (if any) for services provided or to be provided, directly or indirectly to the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries (if any);  

“NEO” or “named executive officer” means:  

(a) each individual who served as CEO of the Company, or who performed functions similar to a CEO, 
during any part of the most recently completed financial year,  

(b) each individual who served as CFO of the Company, or who performed functions similar to a CFO, 
during any part of the most recently completed financial year,  

(c) the most highly compensated executive officer of the Company or any of its subsidiaries (if any) 
other than individuals identified in paragraphs (a) and (b) at the end of the most recently 
completed financial year whose total compensation was more than $150,000 for that financial 
year, and  

(d) each individual who would be an NEO under paragraph (c) but for the fact that the individual was 
neither an executive officer of the Company or its subsidiaries (if any), nor acting in a similar 
capacity, at the end of that financial year;  

“plan” includes any plan, contract, authorization or arrangement, whether or not set out in any formal document, 
where cash, compensation securities or any other property may be received, whether for one or more persons; 
and  

“underlying securities” means any securities issuable on conversion, exchange or exercise of compensation 
securities.  

Director and Named Executive Officer Compensation, excluding Compensation Securities  

The following table sets forth all direct and indirect compensation paid, payable, awarded, granted, given or 
otherwise provided, directly or indirectly, by the Company or any subsidiary thereof to each NEO and each director 
of the Company, in any capacity, including, for greater certainty, all plan and non-plan compensation, direct and 
indirect pay, remuneration, economic or financial award, reward, benefit, gift or perquisite paid, payable, 
awarded, granted, given or otherwise provided to the NEO or director for services provided and for services to be 
provided, directly or indirectly, to the Company or any subsidiary thereof:  
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Name 
and 

Position 

Year 

Ended 
July 

31st 

Salary, 
Consulting 

Fee, 
Retainer or 
Commission  

($) 

Bonus 

($) 

Committee 
or Meeting 

Fees 

($) 

Value of 
Perquisites(1)  

($) 

Value of All 
Other 

Compensation  

($) 

Total 
Compensation 

($) 

James Nelson(2) 
President, CEO, 
Secretary and 
Director 

2021 
2020 

66,300(3) 
65,300(3) 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

66,300 

65,300 

Cindy Cai(4) 
CFO  

2021 
2020 

73,800(5) 
73,300(5) 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

73,800 
73,300 

Gregory 
Thomson(6) 
Former Director 

2021 
2020 

$2,500(3) 
$2,500(3) 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

2,500 
2,500 

Seth Kay (7) 
Director 

2021 
2020 

65,300(3) 
65,300(3) 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

65,300 

65,300 

(1) “Perquisites” include perquisites provided to an NEO or director that are not generally available to all 
employees and that, in aggregate, are: (a) $15,000, if the NEO or director’s total salary for the financial year is 
$150,000 or less, (b) 10% of the NEO or director’s salary for the financial year if the NEO or director’s total 
salary for the financial year is greater than $150,000 but less than $500,000, or (c) $50,000 if the NEO or 
director’s total salary for the financial year is $500,000 or greater. 

(2) James Nelson was appointed a director on May 17, 2010. Mr. Nelson was appointed as the President, CEO and 
Secretary on April 24, 2015.   

(3) Management and director’s fees.  
(4) Cindy Cai was appointed as the CFO on September 13, 2010. 
(5) Accounting fees.  
(6) Gregory Thomson was appointed a director on July 8, 2013. Mr. Thomson resigned on October 28, 2021.  
(7) Seth Kay was appointed a director on April 24, 2015. 

Stock Options and Other Compensation Securities  
 
The following table sets out all compensation securities granted or issued to each director and NEO by the 
Company or any subsidiary thereof in the year ended July 31, 2021 for services provided, or to be provided, 
directly or indirectly, to the Company or any subsidiary thereof: 
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Name and 
Position 

Type of 
Compensation 

Security 

Number of 
Compensation 

Securities, 
Number of 
Underlying 

Securities and 
Percentage of 

Class 
Date of Issue 

or Grant 

Issue, 
Conversion 
or Exercise 

Price 

Closing Price 
of Security or 

Underlying 
Security on 

Date of 
Grant 

Closing Price 
of Security or 

Underlying 
Security at 
Year End 

Expiry 
Date 

James 
Nelson(1) 
CEO, 
Secretary, 
and 
Director 

Stock Options 600,000 / * 
January 14, 

2021 
$0.075 $0.075 $0.055 

January 
14, 2022 

Cindy Cai(2) 
CFO  Stock Options 1,000,000 / * 

January 14, 
2021 

$0.075 $0.075 $0.055 
January 
14, 2022 

Gregory 
Thomson(3) 
Former 
Director  

Stock Options 
 

500,000 / * 
January 14, 

2021 
$0.075 $0.075 $0.055 

January 
14, 2022 

Seth Kay(4) 

Director Stock Options 
 

600,000 / * 
January 14, 

2021 
$0.075 $0.075 $0.055 

January 
14, 2022 

 

* Represents less than 1% of the issued and outstanding common shares.  

(1) As of July 31, 2021, James Nelson held 600,000 stock options which are exercisable at $0.075 per Share until 
expiry on January 14, 2022. 

(2) As of July 31, 2021, Cindy Cai held 1,000,000 stock options which are exercisable at $0.075 per Share until 
expiry on January 14, 2022. 

(3) As of July 31, 2021, Gregory Thomson held 500,000 stock options which are exercisable at $0.075 per Share 
until expiry on January 14, 2022. 

(4) As of July 31, 2021, Seth Kay held 600,000 stock options which are exercisable at $0.075 per Share until expiry 
on January 14, 2022. 

Exercise of Compensation Securities by Directors and NEOs  

The following table sets out all compensation securities exercised by directors and NEOs in the year ended July 31, 
2021: 

Name and 

Position 

Type of 

Compensation 

Security 

Number of Underlying 

Securities Exercised 

Exercise 

Price Per 

Security 

($) Date of Exercise 

Closing 

Price per 

Security on 

Date of 

Exercise 

($) 

Difference 

Between 

Exercise Price 

and Closing 

Price on the 

Date of 

Exercise 

($) 

Total Value 

on Exercise 

Date 

($) 

Cindy Cai 

CFO 
Stock Options 1,250,000 0.07 January 19, 2021 0.10 0.03 37,500 
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Stock Option Plans and Other Incentive Plans  

The Company has in effect a 10% rolling stock option plan (the “10% Rolling Option Plan”) in order to provide 
effective incentives to directors, officers, senior management personnel and employees of the Company and to 
enable the Company to attract and retain experienced and qualified individuals in those positions by permitting 
such individuals to directly participate in an increase in per share value created for the Company’s shareholders. As 
at the date of the Annual Listing Statement, there are 9,500,000 options outstanding under the 10% Rolling Option 
Plan.  

A copy of the 10% Rolling Option Plan is available under the Company’s profile on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and at 
the office of the Company at Suite 2905 – 700 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V7Y 1K8 or at the 
registered records offices of the Company, at 800 – 885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 
3H1 during normal business hours. 

Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements  

The Company does not have any employment, consulting or management agreements or arrangements with any 
of the Company’s current NEOs or directors.  

Oversight and Description of Director and NEO Compensation  

The Company’s compensation program is intended to attract, motivate, reward and retain the management talent 
needed to achieve the Company’s business objectives of improving overall corporate performance and creating 
long-term value for the Company’s shareholders. The compensation program is intended to reward executive 
officers on the basis of individual performance and achievement of corporate objectives, including the 
advancement of the exploration and development goals of the Company. The Company’s current compensation 
program is comprised of base salary or fees, short term incentives such as discretionary bonuses and long term 
incentives such as stock options. 

The Company’s board of directors has not created or appointed a compensation committee given the Company’s 
current size and stage of development. All tasks related to developing and monitoring the Company’s approach to 
the compensation of the Company’s NEOs and directors are performed by the members of the board of directors. 
The compensation of the NEOs, directors and the Company’s employees or consultants, if any, is reviewed, 
recommended and approved by the board of directors without reference to any specific formula or criteria. NEOs 
that are also directors of the Company are involved in discussion relating to compensation, and disclose their 
interest in and abstain from voting on compensation decisions relating to them, as applicable, in accordance with 
the applicable corporate legislation.  

Pension Plan Benefits  

The Company does not have any pension, defined benefit, defined contribution, or deferred compensation plans in 
place.  

16. INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS  

No director or officer of the Company, or person who acted in such capacity in the last financial year, or any other 
individual who at any time during the most recently completed financial year of the Company was a director of the 
Company or any associate of the Company, is indebted to the Company, nor is any indebtedness of any such 
person to another entity the subject of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or other similar 
arrangement or understanding provided by the Company.  

file://///cwapp/vol1/home/AJF/NRPortbl/Client/AJF/www.sedar.com%20
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17. RISK FACTORS  

17.1 Description of Risk Factors 

An investment in the Company involves a number of risks. You should carefully consider the following risks and 
uncertainties in addition to other information in this report in evaluating the Company and our business before 
making any investment decision in regards to the shares of the Company’s Shares. The Company’s business, 
operating and financial condition could be harmed due to any of the following risks. The risks described below are 
not the only ones facing the Company. Additional risks not presently known to us may also impair its business 
operations. 

Risks Relating to our Financial Condition 

The Company has had a history of losses and minimal revenue to date, which trend may continue and may 
negatively impact its ability to achieve its business objectives. 

The Company has experienced net losses since inception, and expects to continue to incur substantial losses for 
the foreseeable future. As of July 31, 2021, the Company had accumulated losses of $18,933,796 since inception. 
Management expects the business to continue to experience negative cash flow for the foreseeable future and 
cannot predict when, if ever, the Company’s business might become profitable. The Company will require 
additional financing in order to conduct its future work programs on the exploration and evaluation assets, meet 
its ongoing levels of corporate overhead and discharge its liabilities as they come due. If the Company is unable to 
raise funds on acceptable terms, the Company may not be able to execute its business plan, take advantage of 
future opportunities, or respond to competitive pressures or unanticipated requirements. This may seriously harm 
our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

The Company’s proposed operations require significant capital expenditures for which the Company may not have 
sufficient funding and if the Company does obtain additional financing, its existing shareholders may suffer 
substantial dilution. 

The Company intends to make capital expenditures far in excess of its existing capital resources to acquire and 
explore its mineral properties. The Company intends to rely on external sources of financing to meet its capital 
requirements to continue acquiring, exploring and developing mineral properties and to otherwise implement its 
business plan. The Company plans to obtain such funding through the debt and equity markets, but the Company 
can offer no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain additional funding when it is required or that it will 
be available to the Company on commercially acceptable terms, if at all. In addition, any additional equity 
financing may involve substantial dilution to our then existing shareholders. 

Risk Factors Associated with the Business of the Company 

Because of the unique difficulties and uncertainties inherent in mineral exploration ventures, the Company faces a 

high risk of business failure. 

 

Potential investors should be aware of the difficulties normally encountered by mineral exploration companies and 

the high rate of failure of such enterprises. The likelihood of success must be considered in light of the problems, 

expenses, difficulties, complications and delays encountered in connection with the exploration program that the 

Company intends to undertake on its properties and any additional properties that may be acquired. These 

potential problems include unanticipated problems relating to exploration, and additional costs and expenses that 

may exceed current estimates. The expenditures to be made by the Company in the exploration of its properties 

may not result in the discovery of mineral deposits. Any expenditure that the Company may make in the 

exploration of any other mineral property that it may acquire may not result in the discovery of any commercially 

exploitable mineral deposits. Problems such as unusual or unexpected geological formations and other conditions 

are involved in all mineral exploration and often result in unsuccessful exploration efforts. If the results of the 
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Company’s exploration do not reveal viable commercial mineralization, the Company may decide to abandon some 

or all of its property interests. 

 

Because of the speculative nature of the exploration of mineral properties, there is no assurance that exploration 

activities will result in the discovery of any quantities of mineral deposits on the Company’s current properties or 

any other additional properties it may acquire. 

 

The Company intends to continue exploration on its current properties and it may or may not acquire additional 

interests in other mineral properties. The search for mineral deposits as a business is extremely risky. The 

Company can provide investors with no assurance that exploration on its current properties, or any other property 

that it may acquire, will establish that any commercially exploitable quantities of mineral deposits exist. Additional 

potential problems may prevent the Company from discovering any mineral deposits. These potential problems 

include unanticipated problems relating to exploration and additional costs and expenses that may exceed current 

estimates. If the Company is unable to establish the presence of mineral deposits on its properties, its ability to 

fund future exploration activities will be impeded, the Company will not be able to operate profitably and investors 

may lose all of their investment in the Company. 

 

Because of the inherent dangers involved in mineral exploration and exploitation, there is a risk that the Company 

may incur liability or damages as it conducts business. 

 

The search for mineral deposits involves numerous hazards. As a result, the Company may become subject to 

liability for such hazards, including pollution, cave-ins and other hazards against which the Company cannot insure 

or against which it may elect not to insure. At the present time the Company has no coverage to insure against 

these hazards. The payment of such liabilities may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial 

position. 

 

The potential profitability of mineral ventures depends in part upon factors beyond the control of the Company and 

even if it discovers and exploits mineral deposits, the Company may never become commercially viable and it may 

be forced to cease operations. 

 

The commercial feasibility of an exploration program on a mineral property is dependent upon many factors 

beyond the Company’s control, including the existence and size of mineral deposits in the properties the Company 

explore, the proximity and capacity of processing equipment, market fluctuations of prices, taxes, royalties, land 

tenure, allowable production and environmental regulation. These factors cannot be accurately predicted and any 

one or a combination of these factors may result in the Company not receiving an adequate return on invested 

capital.  These factors may have material and negative effects on financial performance and the Company’s ability 

to continue operations. 

 

Exploration and exploitation activities are subject to comprehensive regulation which may cause substantial delays 

or require capital outlays in excess of those anticipated causing an adverse effect on the Company. 

 

Exploration and exploitation activities are subject to federal, state/provincial, and local laws, regulations and 

policies, including laws regulating the removal of natural resources from the ground and the discharge of materials 

into the environment. Exploration and exploitation activities are also subject to federal, state/provincial, and local 

laws and regulations which seek to maintain health and safety standards by regulating the design and use of 

drilling methods and equipment.  

 

Environmental and other legal standards imposed by federal, state/provincial, or local authorities may be changed 

and any such changes may prevent the Company from conducting planned activities or may increase its costs of 
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doing so, which would have material adverse effects on its business. Moreover, compliance with such laws may 

cause substantial delays or require capital outlays in excess of those anticipated, thus causing an adverse effect on 

the Company. Additionally, the Company may be subject to liability for pollution or other environmental damages 

that it may not be able to or elect not to insure against due to prohibitive premium costs and other reasons. Any 

laws, regulations or policies of any government body or regulatory agency may be changed, applied or interpreted 

in a manner which will alter and negatively affect the Company’s ability to carry on its business. 

Title to mineral properties is a complex process and the Company may suffer a material adverse effect in the event 
one or more of its property interests are determined to have title deficiencies. 

Acquisition of title to mineral properties is a very detailed and time-consuming process. Title to, and the area of, 

mineral properties may be disputed. The Company cannot give an assurance that title to its properties will not be 

challenged or impugned. Mineral properties sometimes contain claims or transfer histories that examiners cannot 

verify. A successful claim that the Company does not have title to one or more of its properties could cause the 

Company to lose any rights to explore, develop and mine any minerals on that property, without compensation for 

its prior expenditures relating to such property. 

Aboriginal Land Claims 

Some of the Company’s properties, located in Canada, may now or in the future be the subject of Aboriginal land 

claims. The legal nature of Aboriginal land claims is a matter of considerable complexity. The impact of any such 

claim on the Company’s material interest in its Canadian properties and/or potential ownership interest in those 

properties in the future, cannot be predicted with any degree of certainty and no assurance can be given that a 

broad recognition of Aboriginal rights in the area in which its Canadian properties are located, by way of a 

negotiated settlement or judicial pronouncement, would not have an adverse effect on the Company’s activities. 

Even in the absence of such recognition, the Company may at some point be required to negotiate with and seek 

the approval of holders of Aboriginal interests in order to facilitate exploration and development work on such 

properties, there is no assurance that the Company will be able to establish a practical working relationship with 

the First Nations in the area which would allow it to ultimately develop the said properties. 

Many lands in Canada and elsewhere are or could become subject to Aboriginal land claim to title, which could 

adversely affect the Company’s title to its properties. 

 

The Company has a very small management team and the loss of any member of the team may prevent the 

Company from implementing its business plan in a timely manner. 

 

The Company has two executive officers and a limited number of additional consultants upon whom its success 

largely depends. The Company does not maintain key person life insurance policies on its executive officers or 

consultants, the loss of which could seriously harm its business, financial condition and results of operations. In 

such an event, the Company may not be able to recruit personnel to replace its executive officers or consultants in 

a timely manner, or at all, on acceptable terms. 

 

Because the Company’s property interests may not contain mineral deposits and the Company has never made a 

profit from operations, its securities are highly speculative and investors may lose all of their investment in the 

Company. 

 

The Company’s securities must be considered highly speculative, generally because of the nature of its business 

and the stage of operations. The Company currently has exploration stage property interests which may not 

contain mineral deposits. The Company may or may not acquire additional interests in other mineral properties 

but it does not have plans to acquire rights in any specific mineral properties as of the date of this report. 
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Accordingly, the Company has not generated significant revenues nor has it realized a profit from its operations to 

date and there is little likelihood that it will generate any revenues or realize any profits in the short term. Any 

profitability in the future from its business will be dependent upon locating and exploiting mineral deposits on its 

current properties or mineral deposits on any additional properties that it may acquire. The likelihood that any 

mineral properties that it may acquire or have an interest in will contain commercially exploitable mineral deposits 

is extremely remote. The Company may never discover mineral deposits in respect to its current properties or any 

other area, or it may do so and still not be commercially successful if it is unable to exploit those mineral deposits 

profitably. 

 

As the Company faces intense competition in the mineral exploration and exploitation industry, it will have to 

compete with its competitors for financing and for qualified managerial and technical employees. 

 

The Company’s competition includes large established mining companies with substantial capabilities and with 

greater financial and technical resources than it has. As a result of this competition, the Company may have to 

compete for financing and be unable to acquire financing on terms it considers acceptable. The Company may also 

have to compete with the other mining companies for the recruitment and retention of qualified managerial and 

technical employees. If the Company is unable to successfully compete for financing or for qualified employees, its 

exploration programs may be slowed down or suspended, which may cause it to cease operations as a company. 

 

The Company’s future is dependent upon its ability to obtain financing and if it does not obtain such financing, it 

may have to cease exploration activities and investors could lose their entire investment. 

 

There is no assurance that the Company will operate profitably or will generate positive cash flow in the future.  

The Company will require additional financing in order to proceed with the exploration and development of its 

properties. The Company will also require additional financing for the fees it must pay to maintain its status in 

relation to the rights to its properties and to pay the fees and expenses necessary to operate as a public company. 

The Company will also need more funds if the costs of the exploration of its mineral claims are greater than it has 

anticipated. The Company will require additional financing to sustain its business operations if it is not successful in 

earning revenues. The Company will also need further financing if it decides to obtain additional mineral 

properties. The Company currently does not have any arrangements for further financing and it may not be able to 

obtain financing when required. The Company’s future is dependent upon its ability to obtain financing. If the 

Company does not obtain such financing, its business could fail and investors could lose their entire investment. 

 

Complying with environmental and other government regulations could be costly and could negatively impact the 

Company’s production. 

 

The Company’s business is governed by numerous laws and regulations at various levels of government in both 

Canada and the United States. These laws and regulations govern the operation and maintenance of our mineral 

claims and mineral properties, the discharge of materials into the environment and other environmental 

protection issues. Such laws and regulations may, among other potential consequences, require that the Company 

acquire permits before commencing mining operations and restrict the substances that can be released into the 

environment. 

 

Under these laws and regulations, the Company could be liable for personal injury, clean-up costs and other 

environmental and property damages, as well as administrative, civil and criminal penalties. Prior to 

commencement of mining operations, the Company may secure limited insurance coverage for sudden and 

accidental environmental damages as well as environmental damage that occurs over time. However, the 

Company does not believe that insurance coverage for the full potential liability of environmental damages is 

available at a reasonable cost. 
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Accordingly, the Company could be liable, or could be required to cease production on properties, if environmental 

damage occurs. 

 

The costs of complying with environmental laws and regulations in the future may harm its business. Furthermore, 

future changes in environmental laws and regulations could result in stricter standards and enforcement, larger 

fines and liability, and increased capital expenditures and operating costs, any of which could have a material 

adverse effect on its financial condition or results of operations. 

 

Risks Related to its Shares 

Because the Company does not intend to pay any cash dividends on its Shares in the near future, its shareholders 

will not be able to receive a return on their shares unless they sell them. 

 

The Company intends to retain any future earnings to finance the development and expansion of its business. The 

Company does not anticipate paying any cash dividends on its Shares in the near future. The declaration, payment 

and amount of any future dividends will be made at the discretion of the board of directors, and will depend upon, 

among other things, the results of operations, cash flows and financial condition, operating and capital 

requirements, and other factors as the board of directors considers relevant. There is no assurance that future 

dividends will be paid, and if dividends are paid, there is no assurance with respect to the amount of any such 

dividend. Unless the Company pays dividends, its shareholders will not be able to receive a return on their shares 

unless they sell them. 

 

A decline in the price of the Company’s Shares could affect its ability to raise further working capital and adversely 

impact its ability to continue operations. 

 

A prolonged decline in the price of the Company’s Shares could result in a reduction in the liquidity of its Shares 

and a reduction in its ability to raise capital. Because a significant portion of its operations have been and will be 

financed through the sale of equity securities, a decline in the price of its Shares could be especially detrimental to 

its liquidity and its operations. Such reductions may force the Company to reallocate funds from other planned 

uses and may have a significant negative effect on its business plan and operations, including its ability to develop 

new products and continue its current operations. If its stock price declines, the Company can offer no assurance 

that the Company will be able to raise additional capital or generate funds from operations sufficient to meet its 

obligations. If the Company is unable to raise sufficient capital in the future, the Company may not be able to have 

the resources to continue its normal operations. 

 

The market price for its Shares may also be affected by its ability to meet or exceed expectations of analysts or 

investors. Any failure to meet these expectations, even if minor, may have a material adverse effect on the market 

price of its Shares. 

17.2 Additional Securityholder Risk 

There is no risk that securityholders of the Company may become liable to make an additional contribution beyond 
the price of the security. 

17.3 Other Risks 

Subject to the risk factors set out under Part 17.1 above, there are no other material risk factors that a reasonable 
investor would consider relevant to an investment in the Company’s Shares. 
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18. PROMOTER 

18.1 – 18.2 Promoter Consideration  

The Company is not aware of any person who could be characterized as a promoter of the Company within the 
two years immediately preceding the date of this Annual Listing Statement.  

19. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS  

19.1  Legal Proceedings 

There are no legal proceedings material to the Company to which the Company is a party or of which any of its 
property is the subject matter, and there are no such proceedings known to the Company to be contemplated.  

19.2  Regulatory Actions 

The Company is not subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by any court or regulatory authority relating to 
securities legislation or by a securities regulatory authority, nor has the Company entered into a settlement 
agreement with a securities regulatory authority or been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a 
court or regulatory body or self-regulatory authority that are necessary to provide full, true and plain disclosure of 
all material facts relating to the Company’s securities or would be likely to be considered important to a 
reasonable investor making an investment decision.  

20. INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS  

Other than as disclosed in this Annual Listing Statement, no director, officer, proposed management nominee for 
director or person who, to the knowledge of the directors or officers of the Company, beneficially owns, directly or 
indirectly, or exercises control or direction over more than 10% of the votes attached to all outstanding Shares of 
the Company, informed person or any Associate or Affiliate of the foregoing has any material interest, direct or 
indirect, in any transaction since the Company’s inception or in any proposed transaction, which, in either case, 
has materially affected or will materially affect the Company. See Item 12 – Principal Shareholders.  

21. AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENTS AND REGISTRARS  

21.1 Auditor 

The auditor for the Company is Davidson & Company LLP (the “Auditor”), at its office located at Suite 1200 – 609 
Granville Street, Vancouver, British Columbia. The Auditor is the independent registered certified auditor of the 
Company and was appointed on July 5, 2011. 

21.2  Transfer Agent and Registrar 

The registrar and transfer agent of the Company’s Shares is Computershare Investor Services Inc., at its Vancouver 
office located at 510 Burrard Street, 3rd Floor, Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 3B9. 

22. MATERIAL CONTRACTS 

22.1 Material Agreements 

The Company has not entered into any material contracts within the two years before the date of this Annual 
Listing Statement, other than contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business and disclosed in this Annual 
Listing Statement. 
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22.2 Special Agreements 

This section is not applicable to the Company.  

23. INTEREST OF EXPERTS  

23.1 Interest of Experts 

No person or company whose profession or business gives authority to a statement made by the person or 
company and who is named as having prepared or certified a part of this Annual Listing Statement or as having 
prepared or certified a report or valuation described or included in this Annual Listing Statement holds any 
beneficial interest, direct or indirect, in any securities or property of the Company or of an Associate or Affiliate of 
the Company and no such person is expected to be elected, appointed or employed as a director, senior officer or 
employee of the Company or of an Associate or Affiliate of the Company and no such person is a promoter of the 
Company or an Associate or Affiliate of the Company. The Auditor is independent of the Company in accordance 
with the rules of professional conduct of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of British Columbia. The Author of 
the Technical Report is independent of the Company in accordance with the requirements of NI 43-101. 

24. OTHER MATERIAL FACTS  

Other than as set out elsewhere in this Annual Listing Statement, there are no other material facts about the 
Company and its securities which are necessary in order for this Annual Listing Statement to contain full, true and 
plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the Company and its respective securities. 

25. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

25.1 Financial Statements of the Company 

The Company’s financial statements for the years ended July 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, are attached in Appendix 1 
to the Annual Listing Statement and are also available on the SEDAR website under the Company’s profile at 
www.sedar.com. 
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SCHEDULE A - CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER 

CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER 

Pursuant to a resolution duly passed by its Board of Directors, Cruz Battery Metals Corp. hereby applies for the 
listing of the above mentioned securities on the CSE. The foregoing contains full, true and plain disclosure of all 
material information relating to Cruz Battery Metals Corp. It contains no untrue statement of a material fact and 
does not omit to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to prevent a statement that 
is made from being false or misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made.  

Dated at Vancouver, British Columbia this 5th day of November, 2021. 

 

 

 

 “James Nelson”                                                      

JAMES NELSON 

Chief Executive Officer, Secretary and Director 

 

 

 

“Cindy Cai”                                                

CINDY CAI 

Chief Financial Officer 

 

 

 

“George Franklin Bain”                                                

GEORGE FRANKLIN BAIN 

Director 

 

 

 

“Seth Kay”                                                  

SETH KAY 

Director 
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CRUZ BATTERY METALS CORP.  

 

(formerly Cruz Cobalt Corp.) 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

July 31, 2021 and 2020 

 
 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 

 

 

To the Shareholders of 

Cruz Battery Metals Corp. (formerly Cruz Cobalt Corp.) 

 

 
Opinion 

 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Cruz Battery Metals Corp. (formerly Cruz Cobalt 

Corp.) (the “Company”), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at July 31, 2021 and 2020, and 

the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss, cash flows, and changes in shareholders’ equity for the years then 

ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

 

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 

Company as at July 31, 2021 and 2020, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 

 

Basis for Opinion 

 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section 

of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 

the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 

these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audit is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our opinion. 

 

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 

 

We draw attention to Note 1 of the consolidated financial statements, which indicates that the Company incurred a net loss of 

$887,156 during the year ended July 31, 2021 and has an accumulated  deficit of $18,933,796 since its inception. As stated in 

Note 1, these events and conditions indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s 

ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

 

Other Information 

 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information obtained at the date of this auditor's report includes 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis. 

 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 

assurance conclusion thereon. 

 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 

doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 

knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

  



 

 

 

We obtained Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, based on the work we have 

performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We 

have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with 

IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to continue 

as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 

unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process. 

 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 

assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally 

accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 

error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and 

maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud 

is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal 

control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 

audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 

doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 

are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements 

or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 

up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue 

as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 

manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 

within the Company to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 

direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.  

  



 

 

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 

audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 

bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Carmen Newnham. 

 

 

 
 

 

Vancouver, Canada Chartered Professional Accountants 

 

November 5, 2021 

 

 

 
 



The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

CRUZ BATTERY METALS CORP.  

(formerly Cruz Cobalt Corp.) 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 

 ASSETS July 31, 

 2021 

July 31, 

 2020 

   

Current assets   

 Cash and cash equivalents – Note 4 $ 1,359,131 $ 1,671,731 

 Receivables – Note 5  15,014  47,605 

 Rent deposit  -  29,620 

 Prepaid expenses – Note 6  13,072  37,151 

Total current assets  1,387,217  1,786,107 

   

Non-current assets   

 Property and equipment – Note 7  35,023  - 

 Rent deposit  24,590  - 

 Right-of-use asset – Note 8  307,799  - 

 Exploration and evaluation assets – Note 9  2,456,138  1,248,556 

   

Total assets $ 4,210,767 $ 3,034,663 

   

LIABILITIES   

Current liabilities   

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities – Notes 10 and 13 $ 247,126 $ 204,644 

 Interest payable  8,350  - 

 Lease liability – Note 8  38,689  - 

 294,165 204,644 

   

Non-current liabilities   

     Lease liability – Note 8  281,562  - 

 

Total liabilities  

 

$ 575,727 

 

$ 204,644 

   

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY   

   

Share capital – Note 11  20,795,366  19,235,578 

Reserves – Note 11  1,773,470  1,641,081 

Accumulated deficit  (18,933,796)  (18,046,640) 

   

Total shareholders’ equity   3,635,040  2,830,019 

   

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  $ 4,210,767 $ 3,034,663 

   

Nature and Continuance of Operations (Note 1) 

Subsequent Events (Notes 1, 9 and 19) 

 

APPROVED BY THE DIRECTORS:   

   

“Seth Kay” Director  “James Nelson” Director 

Seth Kay   James Nelson  

   



The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

CRUZ BATTERY METALS CORP.  

(formerly Cruz Cobalt Corp.) 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 

 

   

     

     

     

     

 

  

 Years ended July 31, 

 2021 2020 

   

Operating expenses   

 Consulting $ 84,000 $ 91,750 

 Corporate branding  41,413  33,554 

 Depreciation – Notes 7 and 8   47,464  - 

 Management and directors’ fees – Note 13  134,100  133,100 

 Office and miscellaneous   89,112  101,648 

 Professional fees – Note 13  126,187  99,723 

 Shareholder information  17,024  7,930 

 Share-based payments – Notes 11 and 13  167,709  59,832 

 Transfer agent and filing fees  22,480  16,834 

 Travel  10,930  11,502 

   

  (740,419)  (555,873) 

   

 Interest income  12,678  23,795 

 Interest expense   (8,350)  - 

 Flow-through indemnification provision  -  (135,000) 

 Part XII.6 tax  -  (32,000) 

 Write-down of exploration and evaluation assets – Note 9  (151,065)  (15,290) 

   

   (146,737)  (158,495) 

   

Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year $ (887,156) $ (714,368) 

   

Loss per share – basic and diluted – Note 12 $           (0.01) $           (0.01) 

   

Weighted average number of shares outstanding – basic and diluted 

– Note 12  94,014,890  81,191,646 



The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

CRUZ BATTERY METALS CORP.  

(formerly Cruz Cobalt Corp.) 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 
 Year ended 

July 31, 
 2021 2020 
   

Operating Activities   

 Loss for the year $ (887,156) $ (714,368) 

 Adjustments for non-cash items:   

  Depreciation 47,464 - 

  Accrued interest on flow-through tax 8,350 - 

        Interest expense 25,235  

  Share-based payments  167,709  59,832 

  Write-down of exploration and evaluation assets  151,065  15,290 

   

 Changes in non-cash working capital items:   

  Receivables  32,591  (22,265) 

  Prepaid expenses  24,079  (19,379) 

  Rent deposit 5,030 - 

  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  30,219  155,344 

   

Cash used in operating activities  (395,414)  (525,546) 

   

Investing Activities   

 Acquisition of property and equipment (40,893) - 

 Exploration and evaluation assets  (221,384)  (17,976) 

 Recovery of exploration and evaluation assets  -  5,000 

   

Cash used in investing activities  (262,277)  (12,976) 

   

Financing Activities   

 Proceeds from issuance of share capital  399,468  149,600 

 Share issue costs  -  (1,894) 

 Repayment of lease liability  (54,377)  - 

   

Cash provided by financing activities  345,091  147,706 

   

Decrease in cash during the year  (312,600)  (390,816) 

   

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year  1,671,731  2,062,547 

   

Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year $      1,359,131 $      1,671,731 

 

 

 

 

Supplemental Disclosure with Respect to Cash Flows (Note 18) 

 

 

 



The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

CRUZ BATTERY METALS CORP.  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 
 Share Capital  Accumulated  

 Number of shares Amount Reserves Deficit Total 

      

Balance, July 31, 2019  78,646,890 $ 19,087,872 $ 1,581,249 $ (17,332,272) $ 3,336,849 

 Shares issued for private placement  4,825,807  149,600  -  -  149,600 

 Share issue costs  -  (1,894)  -  -  (1,894) 

 Stock options issued  -  -  59,832  -  59,832 

 Loss for the year  -  -  -  (714,368)  (714,368) 

Balance, July 31, 2020  83,472,697  19,235,578  1,641,081  (18,046,640)  2,830,019 

 For exploration and evaluation assets  16,000,000  1,125,000  -  -  1,125,000 

 Share purchase warrants exercised  5,219,355  260,968  -  -  260,968 

 Stock options exercised  1,950,000  138,500  -  -  138,500 

 Stock options issued  -  -  167,709  -  167,709 

 Transfer of reserves on options exercised  -  35,320  (35,320)  -  - 

 Loss for the year  -  -  -  (887,156)  (887,156) 

Balance, July 31, 2021  106,642,052 $ 20,795,366 $ 1,773,470 $ (18,933,796) $ 3,635,040 

      



 

CRUZ BATTERY METALS CORP. (formerly Cruz Cobalt Corp.) 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

July 31, 2021 and 2020 – Page 1 

 

1. NATURE AND CONTINUANCE OF OPERATIONS  

 

Cruz Battery Metals Corp. (the “Company”; formerly Cruz Cobalt Corp.) is an exploration 

stage public company and is listed on the Canadian Securities Exchange (the “CSE ") under 

the symbol "CRUZ". The Company’s principal business activities include acquiring and 

exploring exploration and evaluation assets.  At July 31, 2021, the Company had exploration 

and evaluation assets located in Canada and the U.S.A. Subsequent to July 31, 2021, the 

Company changed its name to Cruz Battery Metals Corp. 

 

The Company’s head office and principal business address is Suite 2905, 700 West Georgia 

Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V7Y 1K8. The Company’s registered and records office 

is located at 900 – 885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 3H1. 

 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which 

contemplates continuity of normal business activities and the realization of assets and discharge 

of liabilities in the normal course of business. At July 31, 2021, the Company had not yet 

achieved profitable operations, incurred a loss of $887,156 during the year ended July 31, 2021 

and had an accumulated deficit of $18,933,796 since its inception. The Company expects to 

incur further losses in the development of its business. These material uncertainties may cast 

significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Company may 

require additional financing in order to conduct the planned work programs on its exploration 

and evaluation assets, meet its ongoing levels of corporate overhead and discharge its liabilities 

as they come due. While the Company has been successful in securing financings in the past, 

there is no assurance that it will be able to do so in the future. Accordingly, these consolidated 

financial statements do not give effect to adjustments, if any, that would be necessary should 

the Company be unable to continue as a going concern.  If the going concern assumption was 

not used, then the adjustments required to report the Company’s assets and liabilities on a 

liquidation basis could be material to these consolidated financial statements. 

 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION  

 

a) Statement of Compliance 

 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards 

Board (“IASB”) and interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting 

Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).   

 

These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 

November 5, 2021.   

 

b) Basis of Measurement 

 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and are based 

on historical costs, except for certain financial instruments measured at fair value. 

  



Cruz Battery Metals Corp. (formerly Cruz Cobalt Corp.) 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

July 31, 2021 and 2020 – Page 2 
 

 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 

 

b) Basis of Measurement (continued) 

 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is also the 

Company’s and its subsidiaries’ functional currency. 

 

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires 

management to make estimates, judgements and assumptions that affect the reported amount 

of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 

financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the period.  

Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

 

These consolidated financial statements include estimates which, by their nature, are uncertain.  

The impact of such estimates is pervasive throughout these consolidated financial statements, 

and may require accounting adjustments based on future occurrences.  Revisions to accounting 

estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and future periods if the 

revision affects both current and future periods.  These estimates are based on historical 

experience, current and future economic conditions and other factors, including expectations 

of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

 

Critical accounting estimates 

 

Significant assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that 

management has made at the financial position reporting date, that could result in a material 

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, in the event that actual results differ 

from assumptions made, relate to, but are not limited to, the following: 

 

 Whether or not an impairment has occurred in its exploration and evaluation assets; 

 The inputs used in the accounting for share-based payments expense; and 

 The inputs used in the accounting for finders’ warrants and compensation options in share 

capital and equity reserves. 

 

Judgments 

 

In March 2020 the World Health Organization declared coronavirus COVID-19 a global 

pandemic. This contagious disease outbreak, which has continued to spread, and any related 

adverse public health developments, has adversely affected workforces, economies, and 

financial markets globally, potentially leading to an economic downturn. It is not possible for 

the Company to predict the duration or magnitude of the adverse results of the outbreak and its 

effects on the Company’s business or ability to raise funds. The preparation of these 

consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements regarding the 

going concern of the Company, as discussed in Note 1. 

 

c) Basis of Consolidation 

 

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-

owned subsidiaries. All inter-company balances, transactions, income and expenses have been 

eliminated upon consolidation. 

  



Cruz Battery Metals Corp. (formerly Cruz Cobalt Corp.) 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 

 

d) Subsidiaries  

 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has 

power over an investee, when the Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from 

the investee and when the Company has the ability to affect those returns through its power 

over the investee. Subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial results of the 

Company from the effective date of acquisition up to the effective date of disposition or loss 

of control. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries 

to bring their accounting policies into line with those used by the Company. 

 

The principal subsidiaries of the Company as of July 31, 2021 are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

Name of subsidiary 

 

 

 

Principal activity 

 

 

Place of 

Incorporation 

Ownership 

Interest 

July 31, 

2021 

Ownership 

Interest 

July 31, 

2020 

     

Cobalt Locaters Inc. Holding company Canada 100% 100% 

1205011 B.C. Ltd. Holding company Canada 100% - 

Cruz Solar Lithium Corp. Holding company Canada 100% - 

Las Vegas Lithium Locators Corp. Holding company USA 100% - 

Idaho Cobalt Discoveries Corp. Holding company USA 100% - 

Cruz Capital (US) Corp. Holding company USA 100% 100% 

     

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented 

in these consolidated financial statements, unless otherwise indicated. 

 

a) Foreign currency transactions 

 

Foreign currency accounts are translated into Canadian dollars, the presentation and 

functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries, as follows:  

 

At the transaction date, each asset, liability, revenue and expense denominated in a foreign 

currency is translated into Canadian dollars using the exchange rate in effect at that date.  

At the reporting period end date, unsettled monetary assets and liabilities are translated into 

Canadian dollars using the exchange rate in effect at that date and the related translation 

differences are recognized in net income.  Exchange gains and losses arising on the 

retranslation of monetary financial assets are treated as a separate component of the change 

in fair value and recognized in net income.  Exchange gains and losses on non-monetary 

financial assets form part of the overall gain or loss recognized in respect of that financial 

instrument. 

 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at historical cost are translated into 

Canadian dollars by using the exchange rate in effect at the date of the initial transaction 

and are not subsequently restated.   
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

b) Exploration and evaluation assets 

 

Pre-exploration costs 

 

Costs incurred prior to acquiring the right to explore an area of interest are expensed as 

incurred. 

 

Exploration and evaluation expenditures 

 

Once the legal right to explore a property has been acquired, costs directly related to 

exploration and evaluation expenditures are recognized and capitalized, in addition to the 

acquisition costs.  These direct expenditures include such costs as materials used, surveying 

costs, drilling costs, and payments made to contractors during the exploration phase.  Costs 

not directly attributable to exploration and evaluation activities, including general 

administrative overhead costs, are expensed as incurred. 

 

When a project is deemed to no longer have commercially viable prospects to the 

Company, exploration and evaluation expenditures in respect of that project are deemed to 

be impaired.  As a result, those exploration and evaluation expenditure costs, in excess of 

estimated recoveries, are written off to the statement of loss and comprehensive loss. 

 

The Company assesses exploration and evaluation assets for impairment when facts and 

circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of an asset may exceed its recoverable 

amount. 

 

Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource 

has been determined, the property is considered to be a mine under development and is 

classified as “mines under construction”.  Exploration and evaluation assets are also tested 

for impairment before the assets are transferred to development properties. 

 

As the Company currently has no operational income, any incidental revenues earned in 

connection with exploration activities are applied as a reduction to capitalized exploration 

costs. 

 

c) Impairment of tangible and intangible assets 

 

Tangible and intangible assets with finite useful lives are subject to impairment tests 

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not 

be recoverable.  Where the carrying value of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, 

which is the higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell, the asset is written down 

accordingly. 

 

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the 

impairment test is carried out on the assets’ cash-generating unit, which is the lowest group 

of assets in which the asset belongs for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows 

that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets.   
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

c) Impairment of tangible and intangible assets (continued) 

 

An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss except to the extent it reverses gains 

previously recognized in other comprehensive loss/income.  Where an impairment loss 

subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is 

increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but to an amount that does not 

exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 

recognized for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior periods.  A reversal of an 

impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss. 

 

d) Rehabilitation provision 

 

The Company is subject to various government laws and regulations relating to 

environmental disturbances caused by exploration and evaluation activities.  The Company 

records the present value of the estimated costs of legal and constructive obligations 

required to restore the exploration sites in the period in which the obligation is incurred.  

The nature of the rehabilitation activities includes restoration, reclamation and re-

vegetation of the affected exploration sites. 

 

The rehabilitation provision generally arises when the environmental disturbance is subject 

to government laws and regulations.  When the liability is recognized, the present value of 

the estimated costs is capitalized by increasing the carrying amount of the related mining 

assets.  Over time, the discounted liability is increased for the changes in present value 

based on current market discount rates and liability specific risks. 

 

Additional environment disturbances or changes in rehabilitation costs will be recognized 

as additions to the corresponding assets and rehabilitation liability in the period in which 

they occur.    

 

The Company does not have any significant rehabilitation obligations. 

  

e) Financial instruments 

 

Classification 

 

The Company determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial 

recognition. Upon initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: 

amortized cost, fair value through profit and loss (“FVTPL”), or fair value through other 

comprehensive income ("FVOCI"). The classification of financial assets is generally based 

on the business model in which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow 

characteristics. A financial liability is classified as measured at amortized cost or FVTPL. 

 

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following conditions 

and is not designated as FVTPL: 

 

 it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual 

cash flows; and 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

e) Financial instruments (continued) 

 

 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 

of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and 

is not designated as FVTPL: 

 

 it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 

contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and 

 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 

of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 

An equity investment that is held for trading is measured at FVTPL. For other equity 

instruments that are held for trading, the Company may irrevocably elect to designate them 

as FVOCI. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis. 

 

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortized cost or FVOCI as described 

above are measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial 

recognition, the Company may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets 

the requirements to be measured at amortized cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so 

eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. 

 

Financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost, unless they are required to be measured 

at FVTPL (such as instruments held for trading or derivatives) or the Company has elected 

to measure them at FVTPL. 

 

Under IFRS 9, the Company classifies its financial instruments as follows: 

 

Cash and cash equivalents FVTPL 

Receivables Amortized cost 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Amortized cost 

 

Measurement 

 

Initial measurement 

 

On initial recognition, all financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value 

adjusted for directly attributable transaction costs except for financial assets and liabilities 

classified as FVTPL, in which case the transaction costs are expensed as incurred. 

 

Subsequent measurement 

 

The following accounting policies apply to the subsequent measurement of financial 

instruments: 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

e) Financial instruments (continued) 

 

Financial assets at FVTPL 
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including 

any interest or dividend income, are recognized in profit or loss. 

 

Financial assets at amortized cost 
These assets are subsequently measured at amortized costs using the effective interest 

method. The amortized cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign 

exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain 

or loss on derecognition is recognized in profit or loss. 

 

Equity investments at FVOCI 
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognized as 

income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the 

cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses are recognized in other 

comprehensive income and are never reclassified to profit or loss 
 

Debt investments at FVOCI 

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income is calculated 

using the effective interest rate method, foreign exchange gains and losses and 

impairment are recognized in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognized 

in other comprehensive income. On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in 

other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.  

 

Impairment of financial instruments 

 

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an objective evidence that a 

financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. 

 

For financial assets measured at amortized cost, and debt investments at FVOCI, the 

Company applies the expected credit loss impairment model. On adoption of the expected 

credit loss model there was no material adjustment. 

 

An expected credit loss impairment model applies which requires a loss allowance to be 

recognized based on expected credit losses. The estimated present value of future cash 

flows associated with the asset is determined and an impairment loss is recognized for the 

difference between this amount and the carrying amount as follows: the carrying amount 

of the asset is reduced to estimated present value of the future cash flows associated with 

the asset, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate, either directly 

or through the use of an allowance account and the resulting loss is recognized in profit or 

loss for the period.  
 

In a subsequent period, if the amount of the impairment loss related to financial assets 

measured at amortized cost decreases, the previously recognized impairment loss is 

reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at 

the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortized cost would have 

been had the impairment not been recognized. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

f) Income taxes 

 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.  Current tax and deferred tax are 

recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or 

items recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income. 

 

Current income tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss 

for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any 

adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 

 

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for 

taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized for the following temporary differences: 

the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business 

combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and differences 

relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is 

probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. In addition, deferred tax is not 

recognized for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary 

differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively 

enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a 

legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income 

taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, 

but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets 

and liabilities will be realized simultaneously. 

 

A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 

profits will be available against which the asset can be utilized.  Deferred tax assets are 

reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 

that the related tax benefit will be realized. 

 

g) Valuation of equity units issued in private placements 

 

The Company has adopted a residual value method with respect to the measurement of 

shares and warrants issued as private placement units. The residual value method first 

allocates value to the most easily measured component based on fair value and then the 

residual value, if any, to the less easily measurable component.  

 

The fair value of the common shares issued in a private placement was determined to be 

the more easily measurable component and were valued at their fair value, as determined 

by the closing quoted bid price on the announcement date. The balance, if any, was 

allocated to the attached warrants. Any fair value attributed to the warrants is recorded as 

a warrant reserve. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

h) Flow-through shares 

 

The Company will from time to time, issue flow-through common shares to finance a 

significant portion of its exploration program.  Pursuant to the terms of the flow-through 

share agreements, these shares transfer the tax deductibility of qualifying resource 

expenditures to investors.  On issuance, the Company bifurcates the flow-through share 

into i) a flow-through share premium, equal to the estimated premium, if any, investors pay 

for the flow-through feature, which is recognized as a liability; and ii) share capital.   

 

Upon expenses being renounced and incurred, the Company derecognizes the liability and 

the premium is recognized as other income.  

 

Proceeds received from the issuance of flow-through shares are restricted to be used only 

for Canadian resource property exploration expenditures within a two-year period.   

 

The Company may also be subject to a Part XII.6 tax on flow-through proceeds renounced 

under the Look-back Rule, in accordance with Government of Canada flow-through 

regulations.  When applicable, this tax is accrued as a financial expense until paid. 

 

i) Property and equipment 

 

Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment losses, if any. The cost of an item of property and equipment consists of the 

purchase price and any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and 

condition necessary for its intended use and an estimate of the costs of dismantling and 

removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located. Depreciation is provided at 

rates calculated to expense the cost of equipment, less its estimated residual value, over the 

following expected useful lives: 

 
     Computer and office equipment  Straight-line over 3 years 

     Leasehold improvements  Straight-line over life of underlying contract 

 

Items of property and equipment are derecognized upon disposal or when no future 

economic benefits are expected from their use or disposal.  Any gain or loss arising on 

derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds 

and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss when the asset is  

derecognized. The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are 

reviewed at each reporting period and adjusted prospectively if appropriate. 

 

j) Investment tax credit 

 

Investment tax credits are recorded as either a reduction of the cost of applicable assets or 

credited in the statement of loss and comprehensive loss depending on the nature of the 

expenditures which gave rise to the credits.  Claims for tax credits are accrued upon the 

Company attaining reasonable assurance of collections from the Canada Revenue Agency. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

k) Leases 

 

Lease definition 

 

At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a 

lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if it conveys the right to control the use of an 

identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. An identified asset may 

be implicitly specified in a contract, but must be physically distinct, and must not have the 

ability for substitution by a lessor. The Company has the right to control an identified asset 

if it obtains substantially all of its economic benefits and either pre-determines or directs 

how and for what purpose the asset is used.  

 

Measure of right-of-use (“ROU”) assets and lease obligations  

 

At lease commencement, the Company recognizes a ROU asset and a lease obligation. The 

ROU asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease 

obligation adjusted for any lease payments made at, or before, the commencement date, 

plus any initial direct costs incurred, less any lease incentives received.  

 

The ROU asset is subsequently amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the 

term of the lease, or the useful life of the asset determined on the same basis as the 

Company’s property and equipment. The ROU asset is periodically reduced by impairment 

losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease obligation.  

 

The lease obligation is initially measured at the present value of lease payments remaining 

at the lease commencement date, discounted at either the rate implicit in the lease or using 

the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments included in the measurement 

of the lease obligation, when applicable, may comprise fixed payments, variable payments 

that depend on an index or rate, amounts expected to be payable under a residual value 

guarantee and the exercise price under a purchase, extension or termination option that the 

Company is reasonably certain to exercise.  

 

The lease obligation is subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 

method. It is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a 

change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Company’s estimate of the amount 

expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the Company changes its 

assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option. When 

the lease obligation is remeasured, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying 

amount of the ROU asset.  

 

Recognition exemptions  

 

The Company has elected not to recognize ROU assets and lease obligations for short-term 

leases that have a lease term of twelve months or less or for leases of low-value assets. 

Payments associated with these leases are recognized as an operating expense on a straight-

line basis over the lease term within costs and expenses on the consolidated statement of 

loss and comprehensive loss. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

l) Earnings (loss) per share 

 

Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the net income or loss attributable 

to the common shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of common 

shares outstanding during the reporting period. Diluted earnings (loss) per share is 

calculated by dividing the net income or loss applicable to common shares by the sum of 

the weighted average number of common shares issued and outstanding and all additional 

common shares that would have been outstanding if potentially dilutive instruments were 

converted. 

 

m) Share-based payments 

 

The Company grants stock options to buy common shares of the Company to directors, 

officers, employees and consultants.  An individual is classified as an employee when the 

individual is an employee for legal or tax purposes, or provides services similar to those 

performed by an employee. 

 

The fair value of stock options is measured on the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes 

option pricing model and is recognized over the vesting period.  Consideration paid for the 

shares on the exercise of stock options is credited to share capital.   

 

In situations where equity instruments are issued to non-employees and some or all of the 

goods or services received by the entity as consideration cannot be specifically identified, 

they are measured at the fair value of the share-based payment, using the Black-Scholes 

option pricing model. 

 

4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  

  

 The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are denominated in Canadian Dollars and  include 

 the following components: 

 

 July 31, 

2021 

July 31,  

2020 

   

Cash at bank  $     1,324,631 $          17,231 

Short-term deposits           34,500            1,654,500   

 $     1,359,131 $     1,671,731 
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5. RECEIVABLES 

  

The Company’s receivables comprise of goods and services tax (“GST”) receivable due from 

Canadian government taxation authorities, accrued interest on short-term deposits, and 

reimbursements from two public companies with directors in common for recoverable office 

expenses. 

 

 July 31, 

2021 

July 31, 

2020 

   

Related party receivable (Note 12) $ 2,295 $ 20,608 

Other receivable  -  8,580 

Accrued interest on short-term deposits  -  13,377 

GST recoverable  12,719  5,040 

   

Total receivables $ 15,014 $ 47,605 

 

All amounts are short-term and the net carrying value of receivables is considered a reasonable 

approximation of fair value.  The Company anticipates full recovery of these amounts and 

therefore no impairment has been recorded against receivables.  The Company’s receivables 

are all considered current and are not past due or impaired.  The Company does not possess 

any collateral related to these assets. 

 

6. PREPAIDS 

 

The Company’s prepaids are comprised of fees prepaid to vendors of the Company and include 

the following components: 

 July 31, 

2021 

July 31, 

2020 

   

Corporate branding $ 9,068 $ 7,619 

Other prepaids  4,004  29,532 

Total prepaids $ 13,072 $ 37,151 

 

7. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

  

 

Leasehold 

improvements 

Computer & 

office equipment 

Total 

         $              $  $ 

Cost, July 31, 2020 and 2019 - - - 

Additions 34,599 6,294 40,893 

Cost, July 31, 2021 34,599 6,294 40,893 

Accumulated depreciation, July 31, 2020 and 2019 - - - 

Depreciation for the year 4,120 1,750 5,870 

Accumulated depreciation, July 31, 2021 4,120 1,750 5,870 

Net book value, July 31, 2020 and 2019 - - - 

Net book value, July 31, 2021 30,479 4,544 35,023 
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8. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSET AND LEASE LIABILITY 

  

Right-of-Use Assets 

 

 Office Leases 

Cost:     $       

At July 31, 2020 and 2019 - 

Additions 349,393 

At July 31, 2021 349,393 

Depreciation:  

At July 31, 2020 and 2019 - 

Charge for the year 41,594 

At July 31, 2021 41,594 

Net book value:  

At July 31, 2020 and 2019 - 

At July 31, 2021  307,799 

 

Lease Liability 

 

  $   

Lease liability recognized as of July 31, 2020 and 2019 - 

Lease liability recognized for the year 349,393 

Lease payments made (54,377) 

Interest expense on lease liability 25,235 

At July 31, 2021 320,251 

Less: current portion (38,689) 

Lease liability – long term  281,562 

 

The remaining minimum future lease payments, excluding estimated operating costs, for the 

terms of the lease including assumed renewal periods are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

          $    

Fiscal 2022 65,947 

Fiscal 2023 66,781  

Fiscal 2024 67,615  

Fiscal 2025 68,449  

Fiscal 2026 69,283  

Fiscal 2027 70,117  

Fiscal 2028 11,709  
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9. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 

 

The Company’s exploration and evaluation assets consist of the following mineral properties: 
 

 

BC War 

Eagle 

Cobalt 

 

BC  

Diamond 

Projects 

ON Cobalt 

Prospects 

 

 

Yukon 

Quartz 

Claims 

Idaho 

Cobalt 

Belt  

Project 

Idaho Star 

Cobalt 

Prospect 

Nevada Clayton 

Valley W. 

Lithium Property 

Nevada Solar 

Lithium 

Project 

 

 

 

Total 

Balance, July 31, 2019 $    9,950 $                  - $   1,188,507 $  16,553 $               - $        7,678 $         39,996 $                   - $  1,262,324 

Acquisition costs          

 Recovery of acquisition costs - - (5,000) - - - - - (5,000) 

Deferred exploration expenditures          

 Geological report 2,500 - - - - - - - 2,500 

 Claim maintenance fees - - - 210 - 903 2,909 - 4,022 

Write-down of exploration and 

evaluation assets 

- - (15,290) - - - - - (15,290) 

Balance, July 31, 2020 12,090 - 1,168,217 16,763 - 8,581 42,905 - 1,248,556 

Acquisition costs          

 Share issuance - 247,500 - - 247,500 - - 630,000 1,125,000 

Deferred exploration expenditures          

 Geological expenses - - 30,581 - - - - - 30,581 

 Claim maintenance fees - 14,165 - - 26,225 894 2,889 - 44,173 

 Drilling - - 134,927 - - - - - 134,927 

 Travel and misc - - 23,966 - - - - - 23,966 

Write-down of exploration and 

evaluation assets 

- - (151,065) - - - - - (151,065) 

Balance, July 31, 2021 $    12,090 $      261,665 $  1,206,626 $  16,763 $    273,725 $        9,475 $         45,794 $        630,000 $  2,456,138 
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9. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (continued) 

 

Title to Interests in Exploration and Evaluation Assets 

 

Title to exploration and evaluation asset interests involves certain inherent risks due to the 

difficulties of determining the validity of certain claims as well as the potential for problems 

arising from the frequently ambiguous conveyancing history characteristic of many exploration 

and evaluation assets.  The Company has investigated title to all of its exploration and 

evaluation assets and, to the best of its knowledge, title to all of its interests are in good 

standing.  However, this should not be construed as a guarantee of title.  The concessions may 

be subject to prior claims, agreements or transfers, and rights of ownership may be affected by 

undetected defects. 

 

BC War Eagle Cobalt Prospect – Staking 

 

In June 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in British 

Columbia for staking costs of $3,496. 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2019, the Company decided to reduce the size of certain War 

Eagle claims. Accordingly, prior acquisition costs of $2,404 and exploration costs of $18,705 

were written off. 

 

As at July 31, 2021, the Company had spent a total of $10,998 in exploration expenditures on 

this prospect. 

 

BC Diamonds Projects – Share Purchase Agreement 

 

On September 1, 2020, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement (the “SPA”) with 

two arm’s length vendors to purchase 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of 1205011 

B.C. Ltd. (“1205011”), which through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Idaho Cobalt Discoveries 

Corp., holds a 100% interest in one cobalt prospect in Idaho, U.S.A. (the “Idaho Cobalt Belt 

Project”) and three diamond projects in B.C. (the “BC Diamond Projects”). The acquisition has 

been accounted for as an asset acquisition. In September 2020, the Company issued 9,000,000 

shares (issued at a value of $495,000) to the vendors pursuant to the SPA. 1205011 became a 

wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The acquisition costs had been split evenly between 

the BC and Idaho properties. 

 

As of July 31, 2021, the Company had incurred a total of $14,165 in claim maintenance fees 

on this project. 

 

ON Cobalt Prospects – Share Purchase Agreement and Staking 

 

On July 22, 2016, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement (the “Cobalt Locaters 

SPA”) with four arm’s length vendors (the “Vendors”) to purchase 100% of the issued and 

outstanding shares of Cobalt Locaters Inc., which holds a 100% interest in two cobalt prospects 

in B.C. (the "Purcell Cobalt Prospect") and a 50% interest in four cobalt prospects in Ontario 

(the "Coleman Cobalt Prospect", the "Bucke Cobalt Prospect", the "Hector Cobalt Prospect", 

and the "Johnson Cobalt Prospect"). The acquisition was accounted for as an asset acquisition. 

In August 2016, the Company paid $20,000 cash and issued 4,800,000 shares (issued at a value 

of $816,000) to the Vendors pursuant to the Cobalt Locaters SPA. Cobalt Locaters Inc. became 

a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The acquisition costs had been split evenly 

between these six cobalt properties. During the year ended July 31, 2019, the Company 

acquired the remaining 50% interest in the above four Ontario cobalt prospects from an arm's  
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9. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (continued) 

 

ON Cobalt Prospects – Share Purchase Agreement and Staking (continued) 

 

length vendor at no costs. As of today, the Company holds a 100% interest in the above four 

Ontario cobalt prospects. 

 

In September 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in Ontario 

to increase the holdings in its Johnson Cobalt Prospect, Bucke Cobalt Prospect and Hector 

Cobalt Prospect for staking costs of $19,500. 

 

In June 2017, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in Ontario to 

increase the holdings in its Coleman Cobalt Prospect for staking costs of $1,268. 

 

In January 2018, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in Ontario to 

increase the holdings in its Lorraine Cobalt Prospect for staking costs of $5,600.  

 

In April 2018, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in Ontario to 

increase the holdings in its Lorraine Cobalt Prospect for staking costs of $15,290. During the 

year ended July 31, 2020, the Company decided to drop these claims and allowed them to lapse 

when they became due. Accordingly, prior staking costs of $15,290 were written off. 

 

On November 6, 2019, the Company entered into an agreement with RJK Explorations Ltd. 

(“RJK”), an arm’s length party. Pursuant to the agreement, RJK paid $5,000 to the Company 

in exchange for the exclusive right for a period of 30 days from the date of such payment, at 

RJK’s own risk and expense, to enter on the Lorraine claims to conduct mineral sampling 

activities and geophysical surveys. Accordingly, $5,000 were used to offset prior acquisition 

costs of the Lorraine claims. The agreement had been mutually terminated by the Company 

and RJK on December 21, 2020 with no liability or remaining obligation of any of the parties 

to the other except for the confidentiality obligations. 

 

Subsequent to July 31, 2021, the Company decided to drop certain mineral claims for the 

Coleman Cobalt Prospect and fully wrote off prior acquisition and exploration costs on the 

Coleman Cobalt Prospect totaling $151,065 as of July 31, 2021. 

 

As at July 31, 2021, the Company had spent a total of $778,989 in exploration expenditures on 

the ON Cobalt Prospects. 

 

Yukon Quartz Claims – Purchase Agreement 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2010, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain quartz 

mineral claims located in the Yukon Territory.   

 

During the years ended July 31, 2013, 2015 and 2016, the Company decided not to continue 

with certain claims and allowed these claims to lapse when they became due. Accordingly, 

prior acquisition costs of $670,862 and exploration costs of $34,838 associated with these 

lapsed claims were written off.  

 

As at July 31, 2021, the Company had spent a total of $2,127 in exploration expenditures on 

the remaining Yukon Quartz claims. 
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9. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (continued) 

 

Idaho Cobalt Belt Project – Share Purchase Agreement 

 

On September 1, 2020, under the SPA, the Company indirectly acquired a 100% interest in one 

cobalt prospect in Idaho, U.S.A.  

 

As of July 31, 2021, the Company had incurred a total of $26,225 in claim maintenance fees 

on the Idaho Cobalt Belt project. 

 

Idaho Star Cobalt Prospect – Staking 

 

In October 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in the Idaho Star Cobalt Prospect in 

Idaho, U.S.A. for staking costs of $39,964. 

 

In August 2018, the Company decided to drop certain Idaho claims and allowed them to lapse 

when they became due. Prior acquisition costs of $36,330 and exploration costs of $32,122 

were written down as of July 31, 2018. 

 

As at July 31, 2021, the Company had spent a total of $5,842 in exploration expenditures on 

this prospect. 

 

Nevada Clayton Valley West Lithium Prospect – Purchase Agreement 

 

On September 15, 2015, the Company entered into a purchase agreement with an arm’s length 

vendor (the “Vendor”) to acquire a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in the Clayton 

Valley in Nevada, U.S.A. In consideration, the Company was to issue 1,200,000 common 

shares to the Vendor.  

 

On October 7, 2015, the Company amended the purchase agreement with the Vendor at no 

additional cost or share issuance, to acquire a 100% interest in additional mineral claims. 

  

On October 21, 2015, the Company further amended the purchase agreement and the 

amendment dated October 7, 2015 with the Vender. The new terms are for the Company to 

issue 900,000 common shares to the Vendor. During the year ended July 31, 2016, these shares 

were issued to the Vendor valued at $30,000. 

 

As of July 31, 2021, the Company had incurred a total of $13,794 in claim maintenance fees 

on this prospect. 

 

Nevada Solar Lithium Project – Share Purchase Agreement 

 

On July 16, 2021, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement (the “Solar SPA”) 

with two arm’s length vendors to purchase 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of Cruz 

Solar Lithium Corp. (“Cruz Solar”), which through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Las Vegas 

Lithium Locators Corp., holds a 100% interest in one lithium prospect in Nevada, U.S.A. (the 

“Nevada Solar Lithium Project”). The acquisition has been accounted for as an asset 

acquisition. In July 2021, the Company issued 7,000,000 shares (issued at a value of $630,000) 

to the vendors pursuant to the Solar SPA. Cruz Solar became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 

Company. 
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10. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES 

 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities recognized in the statement of financial position can 

be analyzed as follows: 

  

 July 31, 

2021 

July 31, 

2020 

   

Trade payables $   52,426 $   15,344 

Accrued liabilities 194,700 189,300 

Total accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 247,126 $ 204,644 

 

All amounts are short-term. 

 

11. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

 

Authorized:  An unlimited number of common shares, without par value 

 

(a) Private placements 

 

Year ended July 31, 2021 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2021, the Company did not close any private placements.  

 

Year ended July 31, 2020 

 

In January 2020, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement consisting of 

4,825,807 units at $0.031 per share for gross proceeds of $149,600. Each unit consisted of 

one common share and one share purchase warrant which entitles the holder to purchase 

one additional common share of the Company at a price of $0.05 per share until January 

17, 2025. The Company incurred filing and legal fees totalling $1,894 in connection with 

the financing. 

 

(b) Share purchase warrants 

 

The following is a summary of changes in share purchase warrants from July 31, 2019 to 

July 31, 2021: 

  Weighted Average 

 Number Exercise Price 

Balance, July 31, 2019  17,171,848 $0.20 

Issued  4,825,807 $0.05 

Expired  (12,483,515) $0.26 

Balance, July 31, 2020  9,514,140 $0.05 

Exercised (5,219,355) $0.05 

Expired  (1,288,333) $0.07 
   

Balance, July 31, 2021  3,006,452 $0.05 
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11. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued) 

 

(b) Share purchase warrants (continued) 

 

At July 31, 2021, the Company had 3,006,452 share purchase warrants outstanding.  Each 

warrant entitles the holder the right to purchase one common share as follows: 

 

    Exercise    

Number  Price  Expiry Date  

  3,006,452  $0.05   January 17, 2025  

 

 (c) Share-based payments 

 

The Company has a stock option plan whereby the maximum number of shares reserved 

for issue under the plan shall not exceed 10% of the outstanding common shares of the 

Company, as at the date of grant.  The exercise price of each option granted under the plan 

may not be less than the market price of the Company's stock as calculated on the date of 

grant less the applicable discount, subject to a minimum exercise price of $0.05.  Options 

may be granted for a maximum term of five years and vesting periods are determined by 

the Board of Directors. Pursuant to the regulations of the CSE, stock options may be 

granted outside of the stock option plan.   

 

The following is a summary of changes in share purchase options from July 31, 2019 to 

July 31, 2021: 

 

  Weighted Average 

 Number Exercise Price 

   

Outstanding and exercisable, July 31, 2019   - $Nil 

Granted  5,000,000 $0.07 

Outstanding and exercisable, July 31, 2020  5,000,000   $0.07 

Granted  4,000,000   $0.075 

Exercised  (1,950,000)   $0.07 

Expired  (3,450,000)   $0.07 

Outstanding and exercisable, July 31, 2021  3,600,000   $0.075 

 

As of July 31, 2021, 3,600,000 share purchase options were outstanding and exercisable 

entitling the holders thereof the right to purchase one common share for each option held 

at an exercise price of $0.075 per share until January 14, 2022. 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2021, 1,550,000 stock options were exercised at a price of 

$0.07 per share and 400,000 stock options were exercised at a price of $0.075 per share for 

total proceeds of $138,500. The previously recognized share-based payment expense 

relating to these stock options were reclassified from share-based payment reserve to share 

capital in the amount of $35,320. 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2020, Nil stock options were exercised. 
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11. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued) 

 

 (c) Share-based payments (continued) 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2021, the Company granted 4,000,000 stock options with 

an exercise price of $0.075 per share and an expiry date of January 14, 2022 (year ended 

July 31, 2020: 5,000,000 stock options were granted with an exercise price of $0.07 per 

share and an expiry date of January 20, 2021). The weighted average fair value of the 

options issued in the year ended July 31, 2021 was estimated at $0.04 (year ended July 31, 

2020: $0.01) per option at the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with 

the following assumptions: 

 

 Year ended 

July 31, 2021 

Year ended 

July 31, 2020 

   

Weighted average expected dividend yield                  0.0%                  0.0% 

Weighted average expected volatility *  153.99%  118.05% 

Weighted average risk-free interest rate                 0.16%                 1.67% 

Weighted average expected term  1 year  1 year 

 

* Expected volatility has been based on historical volatility of the Company’s  

   publicly traded shares. 

 

Total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognized during the year 

ended July 31, 2021 were $167,709 (year ended July 31, 2020: $59,832). 

 

12. LOSS PER SHARE 

 

 The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share was based on the following data:  

 

 Year ended July 31,  

 2021 2020 

   

Loss $ (887,156) $ (714,368) 

   

Weighted average number of common shares for the    

purpose of basic and diluted loss per share  94,014,890  81,191,646 

 

Basic loss per share is computed by dividing loss by the weighted average number of common 

shares outstanding during the period.  Diluted loss per share reflects the potential dilution of 

common share equivalents, such as stock options and share purchase warrants, in the weighted 

average number of common shares outstanding during the period, if dilutive.  All of the stock 

options and share purchase warrants currently issued (see Note 11) were anti-dilutive for the 

year ended July 31, 2021 and 2020. 

 

Basic and diluted loss per share for the year ended July 31, 2021 was $(0.01) (year ended July 

31, 2020: $(0.01)). 
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13. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

  

 Key management personnel compensation 

 

Key management of the Company are directors and officers of the Company and their 

remuneration includes the following: 

 

 Year ended July 31, 

 2021 2020 
   

Management and directors’ fees $ 134,100 $ 133,100 

Professional fees  73,800  73,300 

Share-based payments *  113,203  53,848 
   

 $ 321,103 $ 260,248 

 

 * Share-based payments are the fair value of options granted to key management personnel 

as at the grant date. 

 

 Related party balances 

 

At July 31, 2021, accounts payable and accrued liabilities include $10,000 (July 31, 2020: 

$7,500) payable to three directors and one officer of the Company for unpaid fees. These 

amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and payable on demand. 

 

At July 31, 2021, receivables include $2,295 (July 31, 2020: $20,608) due from two public 

companies with common directors for recoverable office expenses. 

 

14. SEGMENTAL REPORTING 

  

The Company operates in one business segment, being the acquisition and exploration of 

mineral properties.  The Company’s exploration and evaluation assets are distributed by 

geographic location as follows: 

 

 July 31, 

2021 

July 31,  

2020 

   

                    Canada $ 1,497,144 $ 1,197,070 

                    U.S.A.  958,994  51,486 

   

                     $ 2,456,138 $ 1,248,556 
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15. INCOME TAXES 

 

A reconciliation of income taxes at statutory rates with the reported taxes is as follows:  

 

    Years ended July 31, 

    2021 2020 

Loss before income taxes $ (887,156) $ (714,368) 

Expected income tax (recovery) $  (239,000) $  (193,000) 

Change in statutory rate and other - (1,000) 

Permanent difference 47,000 63,000 

Share issue costs - (1,000) 

Adjustment to prior year provision versus statutory tax returns (55,000) (18,000) 

Change in unrecognized deductible temporary differences 247,000  150,000  

Total income tax expense (recovery) $                   - $                  - 

 

The significant components of the Company's unrecognized deferred tax assets are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No net deferred tax asset has been recognized in respect of the above for the years ended July 

31, 2021 and 2020 because the amount of future taxable profit that will be available to realize 

such assets is not probable. 

 

The Company has non-capital losses for Canadian income tax purposes of approximately 

$9,563,821 (2020: $8,969,000) which may be carried forward and applied against taxable 

income in future years. These losses, if not utilized, will expire through to 2041. 

 

16. CAPITAL DISCLOSURE 

 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a 

going concern to pursue the development of its exploration and evaluation assets and to 

maintain a flexible capital structure which optimizes the cost of capital within a framework of 

acceptable risk. In the management of capital, the Company includes the components of 

shareholders’ equity, which at July 31, 2021 was $3,635,040 (July 31, 2020: $2,830,019). 

 

The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in 

economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.  To maintain or adjust 

its capital structure, the Company may issue new shares, issue new debt and acquire or dispose 

of assets.  As at July 31, 2021, the Company has not entered into any debt financing with any 

financial institution. 

 

 

    2021 2020 

Exploration and evaluation assets $     1,379,000  $     1,306,000  

Property and equipment  3,000  3,000  

Share issue costs  11,000  12,000  

Non-capital losses 2,767,000  2,592,000  

Net unrecognized deferred tax assets  $     4,160,000  $     3,913,000  



Cruz Battery Metals Corp. (formerly Cruz Cobalt Corp.) 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

July 31, 2021 and 2020 – Page 23 
 

 

16. CAPITAL DISCLOSURE (continued) 

 

The Company is dependent on the capital markets as its sole source of operating capital and 

the Company’s capital resources are largely determined by the strength of the junior resource 

markets and by the status of the Company’s projects in relation to these markets, and its ability 

to compete for investor support of its projects.  The Company is not subject to any externally 

imposed capital requirements. There has been no change in the Company’s approach to capital 

management during the year ended July 31, 2021. 

 

17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK 

 

Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of three levels in the fair 

value hierarchy according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values. 

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are: 

 

Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either  

           directly or indirectly; and 

Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market data. 

 

The fair value of the Company’s receivables, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

approximates their carrying values due to the short-term nature of the financial instruments. 

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair value using Level 1 inputs. 

 

The Company is exposed to varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks: 

 

Foreign Exchange Risk 

  

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows will fluctuate as a result 

of changes in foreign exchange rates.  As at July 31, 2021, the Company has a minimal 

exposure to the US$ that is subject to fluctuations as a result of exchange rate variations to the 

extent that transactions are made in this currency.  The Company considers this risk to be 

insignificant and therefore does not hedge its foreign exchange risk. 

 

Credit Risk 

 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the 

other party by failing to discharge an obligation.  The Company’s cash and cash equivalents, 

and receivables are exposed to credit risk.  The Company reduces its credit risk on cash and 

cash equivalents by placing these instruments with institutions of high credit worthiness. As at 

July 31, 2021, the Company is not exposed to any significant credit risk. 

 

Interest Rate Risk 

 

 Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 

fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Company has non-interest bearing 

debt instruments and is therefore not exposed to risk in the event of interest rate fluctuations. 

As at July 31, 2021, the Company is not exposed to any significant interest rate risk. 
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17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK (continued) 

 

Liquidity Risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 

associated with financial liabilities.  The Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining 

sufficient cash balances to enable settlement of transactions on the due date.  The Company 

addresses its liquidity through equity financing obtained through the sale of common shares 

and the exercise of warrants and options. While the Company has been successful in securing 

financings in the past, there is no assurance that it will be able to do so in the future.   

 

Price Risk 

 

The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. Commodity price risk 

is defined as the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic value due to commodity 

price movements and volatilities. The Company closely monitors the commodity prices of 

precious metals and the stock market to determine the appropriate course of action to be taken 

by the Company.  

 

Based on management’s knowledge and experience of the financial markets, management does 

not believe that the Company’s current financial instruments will be affected by foreign 

exchange risk, credit risk, interest rate risk and price risk. 

 

18. SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE WITH RESPECT TO CASH FLOWS 

 

Investing and financing activities that do not have a direct impact on cash flows are excluded 

from the statement of cash flows. The following transactions were excluded from the 

statements of cash flows: 

 

Year ended July 31, 2021: 

 

a) The Company issued 9,000,000 common shares valued at $495,000 pursuant to the SPA 

for the acquisition of the BC Diamond Projects and the Idaho Cobalt Belt Project. 

 

b) The Company issued 7,000,000 common shares valued at $630,000 pursuant to the Solar 

SPA for the acquisition of the Nevada Solar Lithium Project. 
 

c) Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities was $12,263 for exploration and 

evaluation assets. 

 

Year ended July 31, 2020: 

 

a) There were no significant non-cash investing and financing activities. 
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19. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 

 Subsequent to July 31, 2021, the following occurred: 

 

a) The Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims (the “Nevada Helios 

Claims”) for staking costs of $83,966 to expand the size of the Nevada Solar Lithium 

Project; 

 

b) The Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims (the “Nevada Sun 

Claims”) for staking costs of $7,908 to further expand the size of the Nevada Solar Lithium 

Project; 
 

c) The Company granted 7,000,000 stock options to its directors, officers and consultants  at 

an exercise price of $0.30 per share for a period of 12 months; 
 

d) 500,000 share purchase warrants were exercised into common shares at an exercise price 

of $0.05 per share;  
 

e) 600,000 stock options were exercised into common shares at an exercise price of $0.075 

per share; and 
 

f) 500,000 stock options were forfeited due to resignation of one director. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 

 

 

To the Shareholders of 

Cruz Cobalt Corp. 

 

 
Opinion 

 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Cruz Cobalt Corp. (the “Company”), which comprise 

the consolidated statements of financial position as at July 31, 2020 and 2019, and the consolidated statements of loss and 

comprehensive loss, cash flows, and changes in shareholders’ equity for the years then ended, and notes to the consolidated 

financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

 

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 

Company as at July 31, 2020 and 2019, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 

 

Basis for Opinion 

 

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section 

of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 

the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 

these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide 

a basis for our opinion. 

 

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 

 

We draw attention to Note 1 of the consolidated financial statements, which indicates that the Company incurred a loss of 

$714,368 during the year ended July 31, 2020 and has an accumulated deficit of $18,046,640 since its inception. As stated in 

Note 1, these events and conditions indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s 

ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

 

Other Information 

 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information obtained at the date of this auditor's report includes 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis. 

 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 

assurance conclusion thereon. 

 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 

doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 

knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

  



 

 

 

We obtained Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, based on the work we have 

performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We 

have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with 

IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to continue 

as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 

unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process. 

 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 

assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally 

accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 

error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and 

maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud 

is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal 

control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 

audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 

doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 

are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements 

or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 

up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue 

as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 

manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 

within the Company to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 

direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.  

  



 

 

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 

audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 

bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is David Harris. 

 

 

“DAVIDSON & COMPANY LLP” 
 

 

Vancouver, Canada Chartered Professional Accountants 

 

November 26, 2020 
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CRUZ COBALT CORP.  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 

 ASSETS July 31, 

 2020 

July 31, 

 2019 

   

Current assets   

 Cash and cash equivalents – Note 4 $ 1,671,731 $ 2,062,547 

 Receivables – Note 5  47,605  25,340 

 Rent deposit  29,620  29,620 

 Prepaid expenses – Note 6  37,151  17,772 

Total current assets  1,786,107  2,135,279 

   

Non-current assets   

 Exploration and evaluation assets – Note 7  1,248,556  1,262,324 

   

Total assets $ 3,034,663 $ 3,397,603 

   

LIABILITIES   

   

Current liabilities   

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities – Notes 8 and 11 $ 204,644 $ 60,754 

   

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY   

   

Share capital – Note 9  19,235,578  19,087,872 

Reserves – Note 9  1,641,081  1,581,249 

Accumulated deficit  (18,046,640)  (17,332,272) 

   

Total shareholders’ equity   2,830,019  3,336,849 

   

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  $ 3,034,663 $ 3,397,603 

   

 

Nature and Continuance of Operations (Note 1) 

Subsequent Events (Note 17) 

 

 

 

 

APPROVED BY THE DIRECTORS:   

   

“Seth Kay” Director  “James Nelson” Director 

Seth Kay   James Nelson  
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CRUZ COBALT CORP.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 

    

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

 

 Years ended July 31, 

 2020 2019 

   

Operating expenses   

 Consulting $ 91,750 $ 88,230 

 Corporate branding  33,554  31,072 

 Investor relations  -  250,000 

 Management and directors’ fees – Note 11  133,100  125,100 

 Office and miscellaneous   101,648  81,082 

 Professional fees – Note 11  99,723  100,803 

 Shareholder information  7,930  7,118 

 Share-based payments – Notes 9 and 11  59,832  - 

 Transfer agent and filing fees  16,834  34,952 

 Travel  11,502  5,607 

   

  (555,873)  (723,964) 

   

 Interest income  23,795  32,481 

 Flow-through indemnification provision  (135,000)  - 

 Part XII.6 tax  (32,000)  - 

 Write-down of exploration and evaluation assets – Note 7  (15,290)  (765,415) 

   

   (158,495)  (732,934) 

   

Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year $ (714,368) $ (1,456,898) 

   

Loss per share – basic and diluted – Note 10 $           (0.01) $           (0.02) 

   

Weighted average number of shares outstanding – basic and diluted 

– Note 10  81,191,646  78,646,890 
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CRUZ COBALT CORP.  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 
 Years ended July 31, 
 2020 2019 
   

Operating Activities   

 Loss for the year $ (714,368) $ (1,456,898) 

 Adjustments for non-cash items:   

  Share-based payments  59,832  - 

  Write-down of exploration and evaluation assets  15,290  765,415 

   

 Changes in non-cash working capital items:   

  Receivables  (22,265)  9,762 

  Prepaid expenses  (19,379)  246,283 

  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  155,344  6,146 

   

Cash used in operating activities  (525,546)  (429,292) 

   

Investing Activities   

 Exploration and evaluation assets  (17,976)  (315,188) 

 Recovery of exploration and evaluation assets  5,000  - 

   

Cash used in investing activities  (12,976)  (315,188) 

   

Financing Activities   

 Proceeds from issuance of share capital  149,600  - 

 Share issue costs  (1,894)  - 

   

Cash provided by financing activities  147,706  - 

   

Decrease in cash during the year  (390,816)  (744,480) 

   

Cash, beginning of the year  2,062,547  2,807,027 

   

Cash, end of the year $      1,671,731 $      2,062,547 

   

 

 

 

 

Supplemental Disclosure with Respect to Cash Flows (Note 16)
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CRUZ COBALT CORP.  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 
 Share Capital  Accumulated  

 Number of shares Amount Reserves Deficit Total 

      

Balance, July 31, 2018  78,646,890 $ 19,087,872 $ 1,581,249 $ (15,875,374) $ 4,793,747 

 Loss for the year  -  -  -  (1,456,898)  (1,456,898) 

Balance, July 31, 2019  78,646,890  19,087,872  1,581,249  (17,332,272)  3,336,849 

 Shares issued for private placement  4,825,807  149,600  -  -  149,600 

 Share issue costs  -  (1,894)  -  -  (1,894) 

 Stock options issued  -  -  59,832  -  59,832 

 Loss for the year  -  -  -  (714,368)  (714,368) 

Balance, July 31, 2020  83,472,697 $ 19,235,578 $ 1,641,081 $ (18,046,640) $ 2,830,019 
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1. NATURE AND CONTINUANCE OF OPERATIONS 

 

Cruz Cobalt Corp. (the “Company”) is an exploration stage public company and is listed on 

the Canadian Securities Exchange (the “CSE ") under the symbol "CRUZ". The Company’s 

principal business activities include acquiring and exploring exploration and evaluation assets.  

At July 31, 2020, the Company had exploration and evaluation assets located in Canada and 

the U.S.A.  

 

The Company’s head office and principal business address is Suite 2905, 700 West Georgia 

Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V7Y 1K8. The Company’s registered and records office 

is located at 900 – 885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 3H1. 

 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which 

contemplates continuity of normal business activities and the realization of assets and discharge 

of liabilities in the normal course of business.  At July 31, 2020, the Company had not yet 

achieved profitable operations, incurred a loss of $714,368 during the year ended July 31, 2020 

and had an accumulated deficit of $18,046,640 since its inception. The Company expects to 

incur further losses in the development of its business. These material uncertainties may cast 

significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Company may 

require additional financing in order to conduct the planned work programs on its exploration 

and evaluation assets, meet its ongoing levels of corporate overhead and discharge its liabilities 

as they come due. In March 2020 the World Health Organization declared coronavirus COVID-

19 a global pandemic. This contagious disease outbreak, which has continued to spread, and 

any related adverse public health developments, has adversely affected workforces, economies, 

and financial markets globally, potentially leading to an economic downturn. It is not possible 

for the Company to predict the duration or magnitude of the adverse results of the outbreak and 

its effects on the Company’s business or ability to raise funds. While the Company has been 

successful in securing financings in the past, there is no assurance that it will be able to do so 

in the future. Accordingly, these consolidated financial statements do not give effect to 

adjustments, if any, that would be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a 

going concern.  If the going concern assumption was not used, then the adjustments required 

to report the Company’s assets and liabilities on a liquidation basis could be material to these 

consolidated financial statements. 

 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION  

 

a) Statement of Compliance 

 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards 

Board (“IASB”) and interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting 

Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).   

 

These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 

November 26, 2020.   
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 

 

b) Basis of Measurement 

 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and are based 

on historical costs, except for certain financial instruments measured at fair value. 

 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is also the 

Company’s and its subsidiaries’ functional currency. 

 

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires 

management to make estimates, judgements and assumptions that affect the reported amount 

of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 

financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the period.  

Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

 

These consolidated financial statements include estimates which, by their nature, are uncertain.  

The impact of such estimates is pervasive throughout these consolidated financial statements, 

and may require accounting adjustments based on future occurrences.  Revisions to accounting 

estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and future periods if the 

revision affects both current and future periods.  These estimates are based on historical 

experience, current and future economic conditions and other factors, including expectations 

of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

 

Critical accounting estimates 

 

Significant assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that 

management has made at the financial position reporting date, that could result in a material 

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, in the event that actual results differ 

from assumptions made, relate to, but are not limited to, the following: 

 

 Whether or not an impairment has occurred in its exploration and evaluation assets; 

 The inputs used in the accounting for share-based payments expense; and 

 The inputs used in the accounting for finders’ warrants and compensation options in share 

capital and equity reserves. 

 

Judgments 

 

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make 

judgements regarding the going concern of the Company, as discussed in Note 1. 

 

c) Basis of Consolidation 

 

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-

owned subsidiaries. All inter-company balances, transactions, income and expenses have been 

eliminated upon consolidation. 
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 

 

d) Subsidiaries  

 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has 

power over an investee, when the Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from 

the investee and when the Company has the ability to affect those returns through its power 

over the investee. Subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial results of the 

Company from the effective date of acquisition up to the effective date of disposition or loss 

of control. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries 

to bring their accounting policies into line with those used by the Company. 

 

The principal subsidiaries of the Company as of July 31, 2020 are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

Name of subsidiary 

 

 

 

Principal activity 

 

 

Place of 

Incorporation 

Ownership 

Interest 

July 31, 

2020 

Ownership 

Interest 

July 31, 

2019 

     

Cobalt Locaters Inc. Holding company Canada 100% 100% 

Cruz Capital (US) Corp. Holding company USA 100% 100% 

     

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented 

in these consolidated financial statements, unless otherwise indicated. 

 

a) Foreign currency transactions 

 

Foreign currency accounts are translated into Canadian dollars, the presentation and 

functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries, as follows:  

 

At the transaction date, each asset, liability, revenue and expense denominated in a foreign 

currency is translated into Canadian dollars using the exchange rate in effect at that date.  

At the reporting period end date, unsettled monetary assets and liabilities are translated into 

Canadian dollars using the exchange rate in effect at that date and the related translation 

differences are recognized in net income.  Exchange gains and losses arising on the 

retranslation of monetary financial assets are treated as a separate component of the change 

in fair value and recognized in net income.  Exchange gains and losses on non-monetary 

financial assets form part of the overall gain or loss recognized in respect of that financial 

instrument. 

 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at historical cost are translated into 

Canadian dollars by using the exchange rate in effect at the date of the initial transaction 

and are not subsequently restated.   
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

b) Exploration and evaluation assets 

 

Pre-exploration costs 

 

Costs incurred prior to acquiring the right to explore an area of interest are expensed as 

incurred. 

 

Exploration and evaluation expenditures 

 

Once the legal right to explore a property has been acquired, costs directly related to 

exploration and evaluation expenditures are recognized and capitalized, in addition to the 

acquisition costs.  These direct expenditures include such costs as materials used, surveying 

costs, drilling costs, and payments made to contractors during the exploration phase.  Costs 

not directly attributable to exploration and evaluation activities, including general 

administrative overhead costs, are expensed as incurred. 

 

When a project is deemed to no longer have commercially viable prospects to the 

Company, exploration and evaluation expenditures in respect of that project are deemed to 

be impaired.  As a result, those exploration and evaluation expenditure costs, in excess of 

estimated recoveries, are written off to the statement of loss and comprehensive loss. 

 

The Company assesses exploration and evaluation assets for impairment when facts and 

circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of an asset may exceed its recoverable 

amount. 

 

Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource 

has been determined, the property is considered to be a mine under development and is 

classified as “mines under construction”.  Exploration and evaluation assets are also tested 

for impairment before the assets are transferred to development properties. 

 

As the Company currently has no operational income, any incidental revenues earned in 

connection with exploration activities are applied as a reduction to capitalized exploration 

costs. 

 

c) Impairment of tangible and intangible assets 

 

Tangible and intangible assets with finite useful lives are subject to impairment tests 

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not 

be recoverable.  Where the carrying value of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, 

which is the higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell, the asset is written down 

accordingly. 

 

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the 

impairment test is carried out on the assets’ cash-generating unit, which is the lowest group 

of assets in which the asset belongs for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows 

that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets.   
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

c) Impairment of tangible and intangible assets (continued) 

 

An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss except to the extent it reverses gains 

previously recognized in other comprehensive loss/income.  Where an impairment loss 

subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is 

increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but to an amount that does not 

exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 

recognized for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior periods.  A reversal of an 

impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss. 

 

d) Rehabilitation provision 

 

The Company is subject to various government laws and regulations relating to 

environmental disturbances caused by exploration and evaluation activities.  The Company 

records the present value of the estimated costs of legal and constructive obligations 

required to restore the exploration sites in the period in which the obligation is incurred.  

The nature of the rehabilitation activities includes restoration, reclamation and re-

vegetation of the affected exploration sites. 

 

The rehabilitation provision generally arises when the environmental disturbance is subject 

to government laws and regulations.  When the liability is recognized, the present value of 

the estimated costs is capitalized by increasing the carrying amount of the related mining 

assets.  Over time, the discounted liability is increased for the changes in present value 

based on current market discount rates and liability specific risks. 

 

Additional environment disturbances or changes in rehabilitation costs will be recognized 

as additions to the corresponding assets and rehabilitation liability in the period in which 

they occur.    

 

The Company does not have any significant rehabilitation obligations. 

  

e) Financial instruments 

 

Classification 

 

The Company determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial 

recognition. Upon initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: 

amortized cost, fair value through profit and loss (“FVTPL”), or fair value through other 

comprehensive income ("FVOCI"). The classification of financial assets is generally based 

on the business model in which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow 

characteristics. A financial liability is classified as measured at amortized cost or FVTPL. 

 

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following conditions 

and is not designated as FVTPL: 

 

 it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual 

cash flows; and 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

e) Financial instruments (continued) 

 

 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 

of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and 

is not designated as FVTPL: 

 

 it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 

contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and 

 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 

of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 

An equity investment that is held for trading is measured at FVTPL. For other equity 

instruments that are held for trading, the Company may irrevocably elect to designate them 

as FVOCI. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis. 

 

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortized cost or FVOCI as described 

above are measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial 

recognition, the Company may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets 

the requirements to be measured at amortized cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so 

eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. 

 

Financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost, unless they are required to be measured 

at FVTPL (such as instruments held for trading or derivatives) or the Company has elected 

to measure them at FVTPL. 

 

Under IFRS 9, the Company classifies its financial instruments as follows: 

 

Cash and cash equivalents FVTPL 

Receivables Amortized cost 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Amortized cost 

 

Measurement 

 

Initial measurement 

 

On initial recognition, all financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value 

adjusted for directly attributable transaction costs except for financial assets and liabilities 

classified as FVTPL, in which case the transaction costs are expensed as incurred. 

 

Subsequent measurement 

 

The following accounting policies apply to the subsequent measurement of financial 

instruments: 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

e) Financial instruments (continued) 

 

Financial assets at FVTPL 
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including 

any interest or dividend income, are recognized in profit or loss. 

 

Financial assets at amortized cost 
These assets are subsequently measured at amortized costs using the effective interest 

method. The amortized cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign 

exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain 

or loss on derecognition is recognized in profit or loss. 

 

Equity investments at FVOCI 
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognized as 

income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the 

cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses are recognized in other 

comprehensive income and are never reclassified to profit or loss 
 

Debt investments at FVOCI 

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income is calculated 

using the effective interest rate method, foreign exchange gains and losses and 

impairment are recognized in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognized 

in other comprehensive income. On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in 

other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.  

 

Impairment of financial instruments 

 

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an objective evidence that a 

financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. 

 

For financial assets measured at amortized cost, and debt investments at FVOCI, the 

Company applies the expected credit loss impairment model. On adoption of the expected 

credit loss model there was no material adjustment. 

 

An expected credit loss impairment model applies which requires a loss allowance to be 

recognized based on expected credit losses. The estimated present value of future cash 

flows associated with the asset is determined and an impairment loss is recognized for the 

difference between this amount and the carrying amount as follows: the carrying amount 

of the asset is reduced to estimated present value of the future cash flows associated with 

the asset, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate, either directly 

or through the use of an allowance account and the resulting loss is recognized in profit or 

loss for the period.  
 

In a subsequent period, if the amount of the impairment loss related to financial assets 

measured at amortized cost decreases, the previously recognized impairment loss is 

reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at 

the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortized cost would have 

been had the impairment not been recognized. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

f) Income taxes 

 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.  Current tax and deferred tax are 

recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or 

items recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income. 

 

Current income tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss 

for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any 

adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 

 

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for 

taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized for the following temporary differences: 

the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business 

combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and differences 

relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is 

probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. In addition, deferred tax is not 

recognized for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary 

differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively 

enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a 

legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income 

taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, 

but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets 

and liabilities will be realized simultaneously. 

 

A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 

profits will be available against which the asset can be utilized.  Deferred tax assets are 

reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 

that the related tax benefit will be realized. 

 

g) Flow-through shares 

 

The Company will from time to time, issue flow-through common shares to finance a 

significant portion of its exploration program.  Pursuant to the terms of the flow-through 

share agreements, these shares transfer the tax deductibility of qualifying resource 

expenditures to investors.  On issuance, the Company bifurcates the flow-through share 

into i) a flow-through share premium, equal to the estimated premium, if any, investors pay 

for the flow-through feature, which is recognized as a liability; and ii) share capital.   

 

Upon expenses being renounced and incurred, the Company derecognizes the liability and 

the premium is recognized as other income.  

 

Proceeds received from the issuance of flow-through shares are restricted to be used only 

for Canadian resource property exploration expenditures within a two-year period.   

 

The Company may also be subject to a Part XII.6 tax on flow-through proceeds renounced 

under the Look-back Rule, in accordance with Government of Canada flow-through 

regulations.  When applicable, this tax is accrued as a financial expense until paid. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

h) Valuation of equity units issued in private placements 

 

The Company has adopted a residual value method with respect to the measurement of 

shares and warrants issued as private placement units. The residual value method first 

allocates value to the most easily measured component based on fair value and then the 

residual value, if any, to the less easily measurable component.  

 

The fair value of the common shares issued in a private placement was determined to be 

the more easily measurable component and were valued at their fair value, as determined 

by the closing quoted bid price on the announcement date. The balance, if any, was 

allocated to the attached warrants. Any fair value attributed to the warrants is recorded as 

a warrant reserve. 

 

i) Investment tax credit 

 

Investment tax credits are recorded as either a reduction of the cost of applicable assets or 

credited in the statement of loss and comprehensive loss depending on the nature of the 

expenditures which gave rise to the credits.  Claims for tax credits are accrued upon the 

Company attaining reasonable assurance of collections from the Canada Revenue Agency. 

 

j) Earnings (loss) per share 

 

Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the net income or loss attributable 

to the common shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of common 

shares outstanding during the reporting period. Diluted earnings (loss) per share is 

calculated by dividing the net income or loss applicable to common shares by the sum of 

the weighted average number of common shares issued and outstanding and all additional 

common shares that would have been outstanding if potentially dilutive instruments were 

converted. 

 

k) Share-based payments 

 

The Company grants stock options to buy common shares of the Company to directors, 

officers, employees and consultants.  An individual is classified as an employee when the 

individual is an employee for legal or tax purposes, or provides services similar to those 

performed by an employee. 

 

The fair value of stock options is measured on the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes 

option pricing model and is recognized over the vesting period.  Consideration paid for the 

shares on the exercise of stock options is credited to share capital.   

 

In situations where equity instruments are issued to non-employees and some or all of the 

goods or services received by the entity as consideration cannot be specifically identified, 

they are measured at the fair value of the share-based payment, using the Black-Scholes 

option pricing model. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

l) New accounting standards adopted 

 

The Company has adopted new accounting standards IFRS 16 - Leases.  

 

IFRS 16 – Leases (“IFRS 16”)  

 

New standard to establish principles for recognition, measurement, presentation and 

disclosure of leases with an impact on lessee accounting. The Company adopted this new 

standard on August 1, 2019. The adoption of this new standard has no impact on the 

Company's consolidated financial statements as the existing office lease is under short-

term and therefore has been expensed through profit and loss. 

 

4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  

  

 The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are denominated in Canadian Dollars and  include 

 the following components: 

 July 31, 

2020 

July 31,  

2019 

   

Cash at bank  $          17,231 $          58,047 

Short-term deposits           1,654,500            2,004,500   

 $     1,671,731 $     2,062,547 

 

5. RECEIVABLES 

  

The Company’s receivables comprise of goods and services tax (“GST”) receivable due from 

Canadian government taxation authorities, accrued interest on short-term deposits, and 

reimbursements from two public companies with directors in common for recoverable office 

expenses. 

 

 July 31, 

2020 

July 31, 

2019 

   

Related party receivable (Note 11) $ 20,608 $ 1,804 

Other receivable  8,580  - 

Accrued interest on short-term deposits  13,377  18,025 

GST recoverable  5,040  5,511 

   

Total receivables $ 47,605 $ 25,340 

 

All amounts are short-term and the net carrying value of receivables is considered a reasonable 

approximation of fair value.  The Company anticipates full recovery of these amounts and 

therefore no impairment has been recorded against receivables.  The Company’s receivables 

are all considered current and are not past due or impaired.  The Company does not possess 

any collateral related to these assets. 
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6. PREPAIDS 

  

The Company’s prepaids are comprised of fees prepaid to vendors of the Company and include 

the following components: 

 

 July 31, 

2020 

July 31, 

2019 

   

Corporate branding $ 7,619 $ 7,500 

Other prepaids  29,532  10,272 

Total prepaids $ 37,151 $ 17,772 
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7. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 

 

The Company’s exploration and evaluation assets consist of the following mineral properties: 
 

 

BC War 

Eagle 

Cobalt 

ON Cobalt 

Prospects 

 

 

Yukon 

Quartz 

Claims 

Idaho Star 

Cobalt 

Prospect 

Montana 

Chicken 

Hawk 

Cobalt 

Prospect 

Nevada Clayton 

Valley W. 

Lithium Property 

 

 

 

Total 

Balance, July 31, 2018 $    19,615 $     930,108 $  16,343 $        6,846 $  690,881 $         37,304 $  1,791,097 

Deferred exploration expenditures        

 Geological expenses 3,000 89,756 - - - - 92,756 

 Geological report - 32,143 - - - - 32,143 

 Claim maintenance fees - - 210 832 13,425 2,692 17,159 

 Drilling - 115,147 - - - - 115,147 

 Field supplies and equipment - 9,547 - - - - 9,547 

 Lab and assay 636 25,733 - - - - 26,369 

 Travel & miscellaneous 7,448 37,486 - - - - 44,934 

 Prior year advance for exploration - (11,413) - - - - (11,413) 

Write-down of exploration and 

evaluation assets 

(21,109) (40,000) - - (704,306) - (765,415) 

Balance, July 31, 2019 9,950 1,188,507 16,553 7,678 - 39,996 1,262,324 

Acquisition costs        

 Recovery of acquisition costs - (5,000) - - - - (5,000) 

Deferred exploration expenditures        

 Geological report 2,500 - - - - - 2,500 

 Claim maintenance fees - - 210 903 - 2,909 4,022 

Write-down of exploration and 

evaluation assets 

- (15,290) - - - - (15,290) 

Balance, July 31, 2020 $    12,090 $  1,168,217 $  16,763 $        8,581 $               - $         42,905 $  1,248,556 
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7. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (continued) 

 

Title to Interests in Exploration and Evaluation Assets 

 

Title to exploration and evaluation asset interests involves certain inherent risks due to the 

difficulties of determining the validity of certain claims as well as the potential for problems 

arising from the frequently ambiguous conveyancing history characteristic of many exploration 

and evaluation assets.  The Company has investigated title to all of its exploration and 

evaluation assets and, to the best of its knowledge, title to all of its interests are in good 

standing.  However, this should not be construed as a guarantee of title.  The concessions may 

be subject to prior claims, agreements or transfers, and rights of ownership may be affected by 

undetected defects. 

 

BC War Eagle Cobalt Prospect – Staking 

 

In June 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in British 

Columbia for staking costs of $3,496. 

 

In January 2018, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in British 

Columbia for staking costs of $7,283. 

 

In October 2018, the Company decided to drop certain War Eagle claims and allowed them to 

lapse when they became due. Accordingly, prior acquisition costs of $7,283 and exploration 

costs of $12,716 associated with these lapsed claims were written off as of July 31, 2018. 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2019, the Company decided to further reduce the size of certain 

War Eagle claims. Accordingly, prior acquisition costs of $2,404 and exploration costs of 

$18,705 were written off. 

 

As at July 31, 2020, the Company had spent a total of $10,998 in exploration expenditures on 

this prospect. 

 

BC and ON Cobalt Prospects – Share Purchase Agreement and Staking 

 

On July 22, 2016, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement (the “Cobalt Locaters 

SPA”) with four arm’s length vendors (the “Vendors”) to purchase 100% of the issued and 

outstanding shares of Cobalt Locaters Inc., which holds a 100% interest in two cobalt prospects 

in B.C. (the "Purcell Cobalt Prospect") and a 50% interest in four cobalt prospects in Ontario 

(the "Coleman Cobalt Prospect", the "Bucke Cobalt Prospect", the "Hector Cobalt Prospect", 

and the "Johnson Cobalt Prospect"). The acquisition has been accounted for as an asset 

acquisition. In August 2016, the Company paid $20,000 cash and issued 4,800,000 shares 

(issued at a value of $816,000) to the Vendors pursuant to the Cobalt Locaters SPA. Cobalt 

Locaters Inc. became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The acquisition costs had 

been split evenly between these six cobalt properties. During the year ended July 31, 2019, the 

Company acquired the remaining 50% interest in the above four Ontario cobalt prospects from 

an arm's length vendor at no costs. As of today, the Company holds a 100% interest in the 

above four Ontario cobalt prospects. 

 

In September 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in Ontario 

to increase the holdings in its Johnson Cobalt Prospect, Bucke Cobalt Prospect and Hector 

Cobalt Prospect for staking costs of $19,500. 
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7. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (continued) 

 

BC and ON Cobalt Prospects – Share Purchase Agreement and Staking (continued) 

 

In December 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in Ontario 

to increase the holdings in its Coleman Cobalt Prospect for staking costs of $2,300.In 

November 2018, the Company decided to drop these claims. Prior acquisition costs of $2,300 

were written off as of July 31, 2018. 

 

In June 2017, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in Ontario to 

increase the holdings in its Coleman Cobalt Prospect for staking costs of $1,268. 

 

In December 2017, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in Ontario 

referred to as the Lorraine Cobalt Prospect for staking costs of $40,000. In August 2019, the 

Company decided to drop these claims and allowed them to lapse when they became due. 

Accordingly, prior staking costs of $40,000 were written off as of July 31, 2019. 

 

In January and April 2018, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in 

Ontario to increase the holdings in its Lorraine Cobalt Prospect for staking costs of $20,890.  

 

During the year ended July 31, 2020, the Company decided to drop certain claims and allowed 

them to lapse when they became due. Accordingly, prior staking costs of $15,290 were written 

off. 

 

On November 6, 2019, the Company entered into an agreement with RJK Explorations Ltd. 

(“RJK”), an arm’s length party. Pursuant to the agreement, RJK paid $5,000 to the Company 

in exchange for the exclusive right for a period of 30 days from the date of such payment, at 

RJK’s own risk and expense, to enter on the Lorraine claims to conduct mineral sampling 

activities and geophysical surveys. Accordingly, $5,000 were used to offset prior acquisition 

costs of the Lorraine claims. 

 

As at July 31, 2020, the Company had spent a total of $589,515 in exploration expenditures on 

the ON Cobalt Prospects. 

 

Yukon Quartz Claims – Purchase Agreement 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2010, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain quartz 

mineral claims located in the Yukon Territory.   

 

During the years ended July 31, 2013, 2015 and 2016, the Company decided not to continue 

with certain claims and allowed these claims to lapse when they became due. Accordingly, 

prior acquisition costs of $670,862 and exploration costs of $34,838 associated with these 

lapsed claims were written off.  

 

As at July 31, 2020, the Company had spent a total of $2,127 in exploration expenditures on 

the remaining Yukon Quartz claims. 
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7. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (continued) 

 

Idaho Star Cobalt Prospect – Staking 

 

In October 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in the Idaho Star Cobalt Prospect in 

Idaho, U.S.A. for staking costs of $39,964. 

 

In August 2018, the Company decided to drop certain Idaho claims and allowed them to lapse 

when they became due. Prior acquisition costs of $36,330 and exploration costs of $32,122 

were written down as of July 31, 2018. 

 

As at July 31, 2020, the Company had spent a total of $4,948 in exploration expenditures on 

this prospect. 

 

Nevada Clayton Valley West Lithium Prospect – Purchase Agreement 

 

On September 15, 2015, the Company entered into a purchase agreement with an arm’s length 

vendor (the “Vendor”) to acquire a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in the Clayton 

Valley in Nevada, U.S.A. In consideration, the Company was to issue 1,200,000 common 

shares to the Vendor.  

 

On October 7, 2015, the Company amended the purchase agreement with the Vendor at no 

additional cost or share issuance, to acquire a 100% interest in additional mineral claims. 

  

On October 21, 2015, the Company further amended the purchase agreement and the 

amendment dated October 7, 2015 with the Vender. The new terms are for the Company to 

issue 900,000 common shares to the Vendor. During the year ended July 31, 2016, these shares 

were issued to the Vendor valued at $30,000. 

 

As of July 31, 2020, the Company had incurred a total of $10,905 in claim maintenance fees 

on this prospect. 

 

Montana Chicken Hawk Cobalt Prospect – Agreement and Staking 

 

On February 27, 2017, the Company entered into an agreement with an arm's length vendor 

(the "Montana Vendor") to acquire a 100% interest in the Chicken Hawk Cobalt Prospect 

located in Deer Lodge County, Montana, U.S.A. In consideration, the Company issued 

3,000,000 common shares (issued at a value of $600,000) to the Montana Vendor. 

 

In July 2017, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in Montana to 

increase the holdings in its Chicken Hawk Cobalt Prospect for staking costs of $25,426. 

 

In August 2018, the Company decided to drop certain Montana Chicken Hawk claims and 

allowed them to lapse when they became due. Prior acquisition costs of $24,578 and 

exploration costs of $34,457 were written down as of July 31, 2018. 

 

In August 2019, the Company decided to drop the entire Chicken Hawk property. Accordingly, 

prior acquisition costs of $600,848 and exploration costs of $103,458 were written off as of 

July 31, 2019. 
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8. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES 

 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities recognized in the statement of financial position can 

be analyzed as follows: 

  

 July 31, 

2020 

July 31, 

2019 

   

Trade payables $   15,344 $   38,154 

Accrued liabilities 189,300 22,600 

Total accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 204,644 $   60,754 

 

All amounts are short-term.  The carrying value of trade payables and accrued liabilities is 

considered a reasonable approximation of fair value due to the short-term nature of these 

instruments. 

 

9. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

 

Authorized:  An unlimited number of common shares, without par value 

 

(a) Private placements 

 

Year ended July 31, 2020 

 

In January 2020, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement consisting of 

4,825,807 units at $0.031 per share for gross proceeds of $149,600. Each unit consisted of 

one common share and one share purchase warrant which entitles the holder to purchase 

one additional common share of the Company at a price of $0.05 per share until January 

17, 2025. The Company incurred filing and legal fees totalling $1,894 in connection with 

the financing. 

 

Year ended July 31, 2019 

 

The Company did not close any private placements during the year ended July 31, 2019.  

 

(b) Share purchase warrants 

 

The following is a summary of changes in share purchase warrants from July 31, 2018 to 

July 31, 2020: 

  Weighted Average 

 Number Exercise Price 

   

Balance, July 31, 2018 and 2019  17,171,848 $0.20 

Issued  4,825,807 $0.05 

Expired  (12,483,515) $0.26 
   

Balance, July 31, 2020  9,514,140 $0.05 
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9. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued) 

 

(b) Share purchase warrants (continued) 

 

At July 31, 2020, the Company had 9,514,140 share purchase warrants outstanding.  Each 

warrant entitles the holder the right to purchase one common share as follows: 

 

    Exercise    

Number  Price  Expiry Date  

  183,333  $0.21   August 11, 2020 (Note 17) 

  4,505,000  $0.05   June 13, 2021  

  4,825,807  $0.05   January 17, 2025  

  9,514,140       

 

 (c) Share-based payments 

 

The Company has a stock option plan whereby the maximum number of shares reserved 

for issue under the plan shall not exceed 10% of the outstanding common shares of the 

Company, as at the date of grant.  The exercise price of each option granted under the plan 

may not be less than the market price of the Company's stock as calculated on the date of 

grant less the applicable discount, subject to a minimum exercise price of $0.05.  Options 

may be granted for a maximum term of five years and vesting periods are determined by 

the Board of Directors. Pursuant to the regulations of the CSE, stock options may be 

granted outside of the stock option plan.   

 

The following is a summary of changes in share purchase options from July 31, 2018 to 

July 31, 2020: 

 

  Weighted Average 

 Number Exercise Price 

   

Outstanding and exercisable, July 31, 2018  2,329,775  $0.27 

Expired  (2,329,775)  $0.27 

Outstanding and exercisable, July 31, 2019   - $Nil 

Granted  5,000,000   $0.07 

Outstanding and exercisable, July 31, 2020  5,000,000   $0.07 

 

As of July 31, 2020, 5,000,000 share purchase options were outstanding and exercisable 

entitling the holders thereof the right to purchase one common share for each option held 

at an exercise price of $0.07 per share until January 20, 2021. 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2020, the Company granted 5,000,000 stock options with 

an exercise price of $0.07 per share and an expiry date of January 20, 2021 (year ended 

July 31, 2019: Nil stock options were granted). The weighted average fair value of the 

options issued in the year ended July 31, 2020 was estimated at $0.01 per option at the 

grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: 
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9. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued) 

 

(c) Share-based payments (continued) 

 

 Year ended 

July 31, 2020 

Year ended 

July 31, 2019 

   

Weighted average expected dividend yield                  0.0% N/A 

Weighted average expected volatility *  118.05% N/A 

Weighted average risk-free interest rate                 1.67% N/A 

Weighted average expected term  1 year N/A 

 

* Expected volatility has been based on historical volatility of the Company’s  

   publicly traded shares. 

 

Total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognized during the year 

ended July 31, 2020 were $59,832 (year ended July 31, 2019: $Nil). 

 

10. LOSS PER SHARE 

 

 The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share was based on the following data:  

 

 Year ended July 31,  

 2020 2019 

   

Loss $ (714,368) $ (1,456,898) 

   

Weighted average number of common shares for the    

purpose of basic and diluted loss per share  81,191,646  78,646,890 

 

Basic loss per share is computed by dividing loss by the weighted average number of common 

shares outstanding during the period.  Diluted loss per share reflects the potential dilution of 

common share equivalents, such as stock options and share purchase warrants, in the weighted 

average number of common shares outstanding during the period, if dilutive.  All of the stock 

options and share purchase warrants currently issued (see Note 9) were anti-dilutive for the 

year ended July 31, 2020 and 2019. 

 

Basic and diluted loss per share for the year ended July 31, 2020 was $(0.01) (year ended July 

31, 2019: $(0.02)). 
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11. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

  

 Key management personnel compensation 

 

Key management of the Company are directors and officers of the Company and their 

remuneration includes the following: 

 

 Year ended July 31, 

 2020 2019 
   

Management and directors’ fees $ 133,100 $ 125,100 

Professional fees  73,300  66,800 

Share-based payments *  53,848  - 
   

 $ 260,248 $ 191,900 

 

 * Share-based payments are the fair value of options granted to key management personnel 

as at the grant date. 

  

 Related party balances 

 

At July 31, 2020, accounts payable and accrued liabilities include $7,500 (July 31, 2019: 

$8,167) payable to three directors of the Company for unpaid director’s fees. These amounts 

are unsecured, non-interest bearing and payable on demand. 

 

At July 31, 2020, related party receivables include $20,608 (July 31, 2019: $1,804) due from 

two public companies with common directors for recoverable office expenses. 

 

12. SEGMENTAL REPORTING 

  

The Company operates in one business segment, being the acquisition and exploration of 

mineral properties.  The Company’s exploration and evaluation assets are distributed by 

geographic location as follows: 

 

 July 31, 

2020 

July 31,  

2019 

   

                    Canada $ 1,197,070 $ 1,214,650 

                    U.S.A.  51,486  47,674 

   

                     $ 1,248,556 $ 1,262,324 
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13. INCOME TAXES 

 

A reconciliation of income taxes at statutory rates with the reported taxes is as follows:  

 

    Years ended July 31, 

    2020 2019 

Loss before income taxes $ (714,368) $ (1,456,898) 

Expected income tax (recovery) $  (193,000) $  (393,000) 

Change in statutory rate and other (1,000) 43,000 

Permanent difference 63,000 1,000 

Impact of flow through shares - 84,000 

Share issue costs (1,000) - 

Adjustment to prior year provision versus statutory tax returns (18,000) 13,000 

Change in unrecognized deductible temporary differences 150,000  252,000  

Total income tax expense (recovery) $                   - $                  - 

 

The significant components of the Company's unrecognized deferred tax assets are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No net deferred tax asset has been recognized in respect of the above for the years ended July 

31, 2020 and 2019 because the amount of future taxable profit that will be available to realize 

such assets is not probable. 

 

The Company has non-capital losses for Canadian income tax purposes of approximately 

$8,969,000 (209: $8,472,000) which may be carried forward and applied against taxable 

income in future years. These losses, if not utilized, will expire through to 2040. 

 

14. CAPITAL DISCLOSURE 

 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a 

going concern to pursue the development of its exploration and evaluation assets and to 

maintain a flexible capital structure which optimizes the cost of capital within a framework of 

acceptable risk.  In the management of capital, the Company includes the components of 

shareholders’ equity, which at July 31, 2020 was $2,830,019 (July 31, 2019: $3,336,849). 

 

The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in 

economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.  To maintain or adjust 

its capital structure, the Company may issue new shares, issue new debt and acquire or dispose 

of assets.  As at July 31, 2020, the Company has not entered into any debt financing with any 

financial institution. 

 

    2020 2019 

Exploration and evaluation assets $     1,306,000  $     1,450,000  

Property and equipment  3,000  3,000  

Share issue costs  12,000  20,000  

Non-capital losses 2,592,000  2,290,000  

Net unrecognized deferred tax assets  $     3,913,000  $     3,763,000  
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14. CAPITAL DISCLOSURE (continued) 

 

The Company is dependent on the capital markets as its sole source of operating capital and 

the Company’s capital resources are largely determined by the strength of the junior resource 

markets and by the status of the Company’s projects in relation to these markets, and its ability 

to compete for investor support of its projects.  The Company is not subject to any externally 

imposed capital requirements. There has been no change in the Company’s approach to capital 

management during the year ended July 31, 2020. 

 

15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK 

 

Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of three levels in the fair 

value hierarchy according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values. 

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are: 

 

Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either  

           directly or indirectly; and 

Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market data. 

 

The fair value of the Company’s receivables, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

approximates their carrying values due to the short-term nature of the financial instruments. 

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair value using Level 1 inputs. 

 

The Company is exposed to varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks: 

 

Foreign Exchange Risk 

  

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows will fluctuate as a result 

of changes in foreign exchange rates.  As at July 31, 2020, the Company has a minimal 

exposure to the US$ that is subject to fluctuations as a result of exchange rate variations to the 

extent that transactions are made in this currency.  The Company considers this risk to be 

insignificant and therefore does not hedge its foreign exchange risk. 

 

Credit Risk 

 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the 

other party by failing to discharge an obligation.  The Company’s cash and cash equivalents, 

and receivables are exposed to credit risk.  The Company reduces its credit risk on cash and 

cash equivalents by placing these instruments with institutions of high credit worthiness. As at 

July 31, 2020, the Company is not exposed to any significant credit risk. 

 

Interest Rate Risk 

 

 Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 

fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Company has non-interest bearing 

debt instruments and is therefore not exposed to risk in the event of interest rate fluctuations. 

As at July 31, 2020, the Company is not exposed to any significant interest rate risk. 
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15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK (continued) 

 

Liquidity Risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 

associated with financial liabilities.  The Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining 

sufficient cash balances to enable settlement of transactions on the due date.  The Company 

addresses its liquidity through equity financing obtained through the sale of common shares 

and the exercise of warrants and options.  While the Company has been successful in securing 

financings in the past, there is no assurance that it will be able to do so in the future.   

 

Price Risk 

 

The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. Commodity price risk 

is defined as the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic value due to commodity 

price movements and volatilities. The Company closely monitors the commodity prices of 

precious metals and the stock market to determine the appropriate course of action to be taken 

by the Company.  

 

Based on management’s knowledge and experience of the financial markets, management does 

not believe that the Company’s current financial instruments will be affected by foreign 

exchange risk, credit risk, interest rate risk and price risk. 

 

16. SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE WITH RESPECT TO CASH FLOWS 

 

 Investing and financing activities that do not have a direct impact on cash flows are excluded 

from the statement of cash flows.  The following transactions were excluded from the 

statements of cash flows: 

 

Year ended July 31, 2020: 

 

a) There were no significant non-cash investing and financing activities. 

 

Year ended July 31, 2019: 

 

b) Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities was $11,454 for exploration and 

evaluation assets. 
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17. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 

 Subsequent to July 31, 2020, the following occurred: 

 

a) 183,333 share purchase warrants at an exercise price of $0.21 expired unexercised; and 

 

b) On September 1, 2020, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement (the “SPA”) 

with two arm’s length vendors (the “Vendors”) to purchase 100% of the issued and 

outstanding shares of 1205011 B.C. Ltd. (“1205011”), which through its wholly-owned 

subsidiary, Idaho Cobalt Discoveries Corp., holds a 100% interest in one cobalt prospect 

in Idaho, U.S.A. and three diamond projects in B.C. The acquisition has been accounted 

for as an asset acquisition. In September 2020, the Company issued 9,000,000 shares to the 

Vendors pursuant to the SPA. 1205011 became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 

Company.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
 
To the Shareholders of 
Cruz Cobalt Corp. 
 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Cruz Cobalt Corp. (the “Company”), which comprise 
the consolidated statements of financial position as at July 31, 2019 and 2018, and the consolidated statements of loss and 
comprehensive loss, cash flows, and changes in shareholders’ equity for the years then ended, and notes to the consolidated 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  
 
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Company as at July 31, 2019 and 2018, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section 
of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 
 
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 
 
We draw attention to Note 1 of the consolidated financial statements, which indicates that the Company incurred a loss of 
$1,456,898 during the year ended July 31, 2019. As stated in Note 1, these events and conditions indicate that a material 
uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not 
modified in respect of this matter. 
 
Other Information 
 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information obtained at the date of this auditor's report includes 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis. 
 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
  



 

 
 
We obtained Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We 
have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process. 
 
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud 
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal 
control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 
are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue 
as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Company to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

  



 

 
 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is David Harris. 
 
 

“DAVIDSON & COMPANY LLP” 
 
 
Vancouver, Canada Chartered Professional Accountants 
 
November 6, 2019 
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CRUZ COBALT CORP.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 
 ASSETS July 31, 

 2019 
July 31, 

 2018
  
Current assets  
 Cash and cash equivalents – Note 4 $ 2,062,547 $ 2,807,027
 Receivables – Note 5  25,340  35,102
 Rent deposit  29,620  -
 Prepaid expenses – Note 6  17,772  264,055
Total current assets  2,135,279  3,106,184
  
Non-current assets  
 Rent deposit  -  29,620
 Exploration and evaluation assets – Note 7  1,262,324  1,701,097
  
Total assets $ 3,397,603 $ 4,836,901

  
LIABILITIES  

  
Current liabilities  
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities – Notes 8 and 12 $ 60,754 $ 43,154

  
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  

  
Share capital – Note 10  19,087,872  19,087,872
Reserves – Note 10  1,581,249  1,581,249
Accumulated deficit  (17,332,272)  (15,875,374)
  
Total shareholders’ equity   3,336,849  4,793,747
  
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  $ 3,397,603 $ 4,836,901
   

 
Nature and Continuance of Operations (Note 1) 
Subsequent events (Note 18) 
 
 
 
 
APPROVED BY THE DIRECTORS:   
   

“Seth Kay” Director  “James Nelson” Director 
Seth Kay   James Nelson  
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CRUZ COBALT CORP.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 

 
 

 Years ended July 31,
 2019 2018
   
Operating expenses   
 Consulting $ 88,230 $ 129,625
 Corporate branding  31,072  500,832
 Investor relations  250,000  200,000
 Management and directors’ fees – Note 12  125,100  125,000
 Office and miscellaneous   81,082  81,832
 Professional fees – Note 12  100,803  143,795
 Shareholder information  7,118  28,936
 Share-based payments – Notes 10 and 12  -  364,182
 Transfer agent and filing fees  34,952  35,495
 Travel and misc  5,607  14,401
  
  (723,964)  (1,624,098)
  
 Interest income  32,481  26,599
 Other income on settlement of flow-through share premium  
     liability – Note 9  -  48,508
 Gain on extinguishment of accounts payable  -  16,660
 Write-down of exploration and evaluation assets – Note 7  (765,415)  (456,000)
  
   (732,934)  (364,233)
  
Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year $ (1,456,898) $ (1,988,331)
  
Loss per share – basic and diluted – Note 11 $           (0.02) $           (0.03)
  
Weighted average number of shares outstanding – basic and diluted 
– Note 11  78,646,890  72,173,422
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CRUZ COBALT CORP.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 

 Years ended July 31,
 2019 2018
   
Operating Activities   
 Loss for the year $ (1,456,898) $ (1,988,331)
 Adjustments for non-cash items: 
  Other income on settlement of flow-through share  
        premium liability 

 -  (48,508)

  Share-based payments  -  364,182
  Gain on extinguishment of accounts payable  -  (16,660)
  Write-down of exploration and evaluation assets  765,415  456,000
 
 Changes in non-cash working capital items: 
  Receivables  9,762  (9,770)
  Prepaid expenses  246,283  (209,590)
  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  6,146  (585,360)
 
Cash used in operating activities  (429,292)  (2,038,037)
 
Investing Activities 
 Exploration and evaluation assets  (315,188)  (384,745)
 
Cash used in investing activities  (315,188)  (384,745)
 
Financing Activities 
 Proceeds from issuance of share capital  -  3,356,268
 Share issue costs  -  (52,770)
 
Cash provided by financing activities  -  3,303,498
 
Change in cash during the year  (744,480)  880,716
 
Cash, beginning of the year  2,807,027  1,926,311
 
Cash, end of the year $      2,062,547 $      2,807,027
   

 
 
 
 

Supplemental Disclosure with Respect to Cash Flows (Note 17)
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CRUZ COBALT CORP.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 

 Share Capital  Accumulated  
 Number of shares Amount Reserves Deficit Total 
      
Balance, July 31, 2017  60,341,046 $ 15,544,490 $ 1,456,951 $ (13,887,043) $ 3,114,398 
 Shares issued for private placement  4,619,047  1,000,000  -  -  1,000,000 
 Share issue costs  -  (52,770)  -  -  (52,770) 
 Shares purchase warrants exercised  9,686,797  1,556,268  -  -  1,556,268 
 Stock options exercised  4,000,000  800,000  -  -  800,000 
 Broker warrants issued for private placement  -  (37,781)  37,781  -  - 
 Stock options issued  -  -  364,182  -  364,182 
 Transfer of reserves on options exercised  -  242,788  (242,788)  -  - 
 Transfer of reserves on warrants exercised  -  34,877  (34,877)  -  - 
 Loss for the year  -  -  -  (1,988,331)  (1,988,331) 
Balance, July 31, 2018  78,646,890  19,087,872  1,581,249  (15,875,374)  4,793,747 
 Loss for the year  -  -  -  (1,456,898)  (1,456,898) 
Balance, July 31, 2019  78,646,890 $ 19,087,872 $ 1,581,249 $ (17,332,272) $ 3,336,849 
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1. NATURE AND CONTINUANCE OF OPERATIONS 
 

Cruz Cobalt Corp. (the “Company”) is an exploration stage public company and was listed on 
the TSX Venture Exchange ("TSXV"). The Company’s principal business activities include 
acquiring and exploring exploration and evaluation assets.  At July 31, 2019, the Company had 
exploration and evaluation assets located in Canada and the U.S.A.  
 
Subsequent to July 31, 2019, the Company's common shares commenced trading on the 
Canadian Securities Exchange (the “CSE”) under the symbol "CRUZ" and the Company  
delisted its common shares from TSXV. 
 
The Company’s head office and principal business address is Suite 1470, 701 West Georgia 
Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V7Y 1C6. The Company’s registered and records office 
is located at 900 – 885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 3H1. 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which 
contemplates continuity of normal business activities and the realization of assets and discharge 
of liabilities in the normal course of business.  At July 31, 2019, the Company had not yet 
achieved profitable operations, incurred a loss of $1,456,898 during the year ended July 31, 
2019 and had an accumulated deficit of $17,332,272 since its inception. The Company expects 
to incur further losses in the development of its business, all of which may cast substantial 
doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  The Company may require 
additional financing in order to conduct the planned work programs on its exploration and 
evaluation assets, meet its ongoing levels of corporate overhead and discharge its liabilities as 
they come due.  While the Company has been successful in securing financings in the past, 
there is no assurance that it will be able to do so in the future. Accordingly, these consolidated 
financial statements do not give effect to adjustments, if any, that would be necessary should 
the Company be unable to continue as a going concern.  If the going concern assumption was 
not used then the adjustments required to report the Company’s assets and liabilities on a 
liquidation basis could be material to these consolidated financial statements. 
 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION  
 

a) Statement of Compliance 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”) and interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).   
 
These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 
November 6, 2019. 
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 
 
b) Basis of Measurement 

 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and are based 
on historical costs, except for certain financial instruments measured at fair value. 
 
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is also the 
Company’s and its subsidiaries’ functional currency. 
 
The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires 
management to make estimates, judgements and assumptions that affect the reported amount 
of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the period.  
Actual results could differ from these estimates. 
 
These consolidated financial statements include estimates which, by their nature, are uncertain.  
The impact of such estimates is pervasive throughout these consolidated financial statements, 
and may require accounting adjustments based on future occurrences.  Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and future periods if the 
revision affects both current and future periods.  These estimates are based on historical 
experience, current and future economic conditions and other factors, including expectations 
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
 
Critical accounting estimates 
 
Significant assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that 
management has made at the financial position reporting date, that could result in a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, in the event that actual results differ 
from assumptions made, relate to, but are not limited to, the following: 

 
 Whether or not an impairment has occurred in its exploration and evaluation assets; 
 The inputs used in the accounting for share-based payments expense; and 
 The inputs used in the accounting for finders’ warrants and compensation options in share 

capital and equity reserves. 
 

Judgments 
 

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make 
judgements regarding the going concern of the Company, as discussed in Note 1. 

 
c) Basis of Consolidation 

 
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-
owned subsidiaries. All inter-company balances, transactions, income and expenses have been 
eliminated upon consolidation. 
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 
 

d) Subsidiaries  
 
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has 
power over an investee, when the Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from 
the investee and when the Company has the ability to affect those returns through its power 
over the investee. Subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial results of the 
Company from the effective date of acquisition up to the effective date of disposition or loss 
of control. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries 
to bring their accounting policies into line with those used by the Company. 
 
The principal subsidiaries of the Company as of July 31, 2019 are as follows: 

 
 
 
 
Name of subsidiary 

 
 
 

Principal activity 

 
 
Place of 
Incorporation

Ownership 
Interest 
July 31, 

2019 

Ownership
Interest 
July 31, 

2018 
     
Cobalt Locaters Inc. Holding company Canada 100% 100% 
Cruz Capital (US) Corp. Holding company USA 100% 100% 
     

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented 
in these consolidated financial statements, unless otherwise indicated. 

 
a) Foreign currency transactions 

 
Foreign currency accounts are translated into Canadian dollars, the presentation and 
functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries, as follows:  
 
At the transaction date, each asset, liability, revenue and expense denominated in a foreign 
currency is translated into Canadian dollars using the exchange rate in effect at that date.  
At the reporting period end date, unsettled monetary assets and liabilities are translated into 
Canadian dollars using the exchange rate in effect at that date and the related translation 
differences are recognized in net income.  Exchange gains and losses arising on the 
retranslation of monetary financial assets are treated as a separate component of the change 
in fair value and recognized in net income.  Exchange gains and losses on non-monetary 
financial assets form part of the overall gain or loss recognized in respect of that financial 
instrument. 
 
Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at historical cost are translated into 
Canadian dollars by using the exchange rate in effect at the date of the initial transaction 
and are not subsequently restated.   
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

b) Exploration and evaluation assets 
 
Pre-exploration costs 
 
Costs incurred prior to acquiring the right to explore an area of interest are expensed as 
incurred. 
 
Exploration and evaluation expenditures 
 
Once the legal right to explore a property has been acquired, costs directly related to 
exploration and evaluation expenditures are recognized and capitalized, in addition to the 
acquisition costs.  These direct expenditures include such costs as materials used, surveying 
costs, drilling costs, and payments made to contractors during the exploration phase.  Costs 
not directly attributable to exploration and evaluation activities, including general 
administrative overhead costs, are expensed as incurred. 
 
When a project is deemed to no longer have commercially viable prospects to the 
Company, exploration and evaluation expenditures in respect of that project are deemed to 
be impaired.  As a result, those exploration and evaluation expenditure costs, in excess of 
estimated recoveries, are written off to the statement of loss and comprehensive loss. 
 
The Company assesses exploration and evaluation assets for impairment when facts and 
circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of an asset may exceed its recoverable 
amount. 
 
Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource 
has been determined, the property is considered to be a mine under development and is 
classified as “mines under construction”.  Exploration and evaluation assets are also tested 
for impairment before the assets are transferred to development properties. 
 
As the Company currently has no operational income, any incidental revenues earned in 
connection with exploration activities are applied as a reduction to capitalized exploration 
costs. 
 

c) Impairment of tangible and intangible assets 
 
Tangible and intangible assets with finite useful lives are subject to impairment tests 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not 
be recoverable.  Where the carrying value of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, 
which is the higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell, the asset is written down 
accordingly. 
 
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the 
impairment test is carried out on the assets’ cash-generating unit, which is the lowest group 
of assets in which the asset belongs for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows 
that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets.   
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

c) Impairment of tangible and intangible assets (continued) 
 
An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss except to the extent it reverses gains 
previously recognized in other comprehensive loss/income.  Where an impairment loss 
subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but to an amount that does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognized for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior periods.  A reversal of an 
impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss. 
 

d) Rehabilitation provision 
 
The Company is subject to various government laws and regulations relating to 
environmental disturbances caused by exploration and evaluation activities.  The Company 
records the present value of the estimated costs of legal and constructive obligations 
required to restore the exploration sites in the period in which the obligation is incurred.  
The nature of the rehabilitation activities includes restoration, reclamation and re-
vegetation of the affected exploration sites. 
 
The rehabilitation provision generally arises when the environmental disturbance is subject 
to government laws and regulations.  When the liability is recognized, the present value of 
the estimated costs is capitalized by increasing the carrying amount of the related mining 
assets.  Over time, the discounted liability is increased for the changes in present value 
based on current market discount rates and liability specific risks. 
 
Additional environment disturbances or changes in rehabilitation costs will be recognized 
as additions to the corresponding assets and rehabilitation liability in the period in which 
they occur.    
 
The Company does not have any significant rehabilitation obligations. 

  
e) Financial instruments 

 
Financial Assets  
 
The Company has adopted new accounting standard IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments, 
effective August 1, 2018.  The new standard sets out requirements for classifying, 
recognizing and measuring financial assets and financial liabilities. This standard replaces 
IAS 39 - Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. 

 
IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. IFRS allows 
for an exemption from restating prior periods in respect of the standard's classification and 
measurement requirements. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

e) Financial instruments (continued) 
 
IFRS 9 establishes three primary measurement categories for financial assets: fair value 
through profit and loss (“FVTPL”), fair value through other comprehensive income 
("FVOCI") and amortized cost. The basis for classification depends on the entity's business 
model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrument. For financial 
liabilities, the new standard retains most of the requirements of IAS 39, except that fair 
value changes due to changes in an entity's own credit risk are recorded in other 
comprehensive income rather than in net earnings. 
 
Upon adoption of IFRS 9, the Company has changed its accounting policy for financial 
instruments as follows: 
 
Classification 
 
The Company determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial 
recognition. Upon initial recognition, a  financial asset is classified as measured at: 
amortized cost, FVTPL, or FVOCI. The classification of financial assets is generally based 
on the business model in which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow 
characteristics. The adoption of IFRS 9 has not had a significant effect on the Company's 
accounting policies related to financial liabilities and derivative financial instruments. A 
financial liability is classified as measured at amortized cost or FVTPL. 
 
A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following conditions 
and is not designated as FVTPL: 

 
 it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual 

cash flows; and 
 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 

of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 
A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and 
is not designated as FVTPL: 

 
 it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 

contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and 
 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 

of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 
An equity investment that is held for trading is measured at FVTPL. For other equity 
instruments that are held for trading, the Company may irrevocably elect to designate them 
as FVOCI. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

e) Financial instruments (continued) 
 

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortized cost or FVOCI as described 
above are measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial 
recognition, the Company may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets 
the requirements to be measured at amortized cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so 
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. 
 
Financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost, unless they are required to be measured 
at FVTPL (such as instruments held for trading or derivatives) or the Company has elected 
to measure them at FVTPL. 
 
The Company completed an assessment of its financial assets and liabilities as at August 
1, 2018. The adoption of IFRS 9 has no quantitative impact on the Company's financial 
instruments as at August 1, 2018. 
 
However, it has an impact on the classification of the Company's financial instruments 
compared to the old standard IAS 39 as follows: 

 
 Original classification New classification 
Asset or Liability IAS 39 IFRS 9 
Cash and cash equivalents FVTPL FVTPL 
Receivables Loans and receivables Amortized cost 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Other financial liabilities Amortized cost 

 
Measurement 
 
Initial measurement 
 
On initial recognition, all financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value 
adjusted for directly attributable transaction costs except for financial assets and liabilities 
classified as FVTPL, in which case the transaction costs are expensed as incurred. 
 
Subsequent measurement 
 
The following accounting policies apply to the subsequent measurement of financial 
instruments: 
 

Financial assets at FVTPL 
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including 
any interest or dividend income, are recognized in profit or loss. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

e) Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Financial assets at amortized cost 
These assets are subsequently measured at amortized costs using the effective interest 
method. The amortized cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign 
exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain 
or loss on derecognition is recognized in profit  or loss. 
 
Equity investments at FVOCI 
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognized as 
income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the 
cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses are recognized in other 
comprehensive income and are never reclassified to profit or loss 

 
Debt investments at FVOCI 
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income is calculated 
using the effective interest rate method, foreign exchange gains and losses and 
impairment are recognized in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognized 
in other comprehensive income. On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in 
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.  
 

Impairment of financial instruments 
 
The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an objective evidence that a 
financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. 
 
For financial assets measured at amortized cost, and debt investments at FVOCI, the 
Company applies the expected credit loss impairment model. On adoption of the expected 
credit loss model there was no material adjustment. 
 

f) Income taxes 
 
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.  Current tax and deferred tax are 
recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or 
items recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income. 
 
Current income tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss 
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any 
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 
 
Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for 
taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized for the following temporary differences: 
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and differences 
relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is 
probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. In addition, deferred tax is not 
recognized for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. 
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to  
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

f) Income taxes (continued) 
 
temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if 
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate 
to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different 
tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their 
tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously. 
 
A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profits will be available against which the asset can be utilized.  Deferred tax assets are 
reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 
that the related tax benefit will be realized. 
 

g) Flow-through shares 
 
The Company will from time to time, issue flow-through common shares to finance a 
significant portion of its exploration program.  Pursuant to the terms of the flow-through 
share agreements, these shares transfer the tax deductibility of qualifying resource 
expenditures to investors.  On issuance, the Company bifurcates the flow-through share 
into i) a flow-through share premium, equal to the estimated premium, if any, investors pay 
for the flow-through feature, which is recognized as a liability; and ii) share capital.   
 
Upon expenses being renounced and incurred, the Company derecognizes the liability and 
the premium is recognized as other income.  
 
Proceeds received from the issuance of flow-through shares are restricted to be used only 
for Canadian resource property exploration expenditures within a two-year period.   

 
The Company may also be subject to a Part XII.6 tax on flow-through proceeds renounced 
under the Look-back Rule, in accordance with Government of Canada flow-through 
regulations.  When applicable, this tax is accrued as a financial expense until paid. 
 

h) Valuation of equity units issued in private placements 
 

The Company has adopted a residual value method with respect to the measurement of 
shares and warrants issued as private placement units. The residual value method first 
allocates value to the most easily measured component based on fair value and then the 
residual value, if any, to the less easily measurable component.  

 
The fair value of the common shares issued in a private placement was determined to be 
the more easily measurable component and were valued at their fair value, as determined 
by the closing quoted bid price on the announcement date. The balance, if any, was 
allocated to the attached warrants. Any fair value attributed to the warrants is recorded as 
a warrant reserve. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

i) Investment tax credit 
 
Investment tax credits are recorded as either a reduction of the cost of applicable assets or 
credited in the statement of loss and comprehensive loss depending on the nature of the 
expenditures which gave rise to the credits.  Claims for tax credits are accrued upon the 
Company attaining reasonable assurance of collections from the Canada Revenue Agency. 
 

j) Earnings (loss) per share 
 
Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the net income or loss attributable 
to the common shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding during the reporting period. Diluted earnings (loss) per share is 
calculated by dividing the net income or loss applicable to common shares by the sum of 
the weighted average number of common shares issued and outstanding and all additional 
common shares that would have been outstanding if potentially dilutive instruments were 
converted. 
 

k) Share-based payments 
 
The Company grants stock options to buy common shares of the Company to directors, 
officers, employees and consultants.  An individual is classified as an employee when the 
individual is an employee for legal or tax purposes, or provides services similar to those 
performed by an employee. 
 
The fair value of stock options is measured on the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model and is recognized over the vesting period.  Consideration paid for the 
shares on the exercise of stock options is credited to share capital.   
 
In situations where equity instruments are issued to non-employees and some or all of the 
goods or services received by the entity as consideration cannot be specifically identified, 
they are measured at the fair value of the share-based payment, using the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model. 
 

l) Accounting standards issued but not yet effective 
 
The Company has reviewed new and revised accounting pronouncements that have been 
issued but are not yet effective.  
 
IFRS 16 – Leases (“IFRS 16”)  
 
New standard to establish principles for recognition, measurement, presentation and 
disclosure of leases with an impact on lessee accounting, effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2019. The adoption of this new standard is not expected 
to have a significant impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements. 
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4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  
  
 The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are denominated in Canadian Dollars and  include 
 the following components: 

 July 31, 
2019

July 31,  
2018 

  
Cash at bank  $          58,047 $          32,527 
Short-term deposits            2,004,500           2,774,500  
 $     2,062,547 $     2,807,027 

5. RECEIVABLES 
  

The Company’s receivables comprise of goods and services tax (“GST”) receivable due from 
Canadian government taxation authorities, accrued interest on short-term deposits, and 
reimbursements from two public companies with common directors for recoverable office 
expenses. 

 
 July 31, 

2019
July 31, 

2018 
  
Related party receivable (Note 12) $ 1,804 $ 3,512 
Accrued interest on short-term deposits  18,025  25,260 
GST recoverable  5,511  6,330 
  
Total receivables $ 25,340 $ 35,102 

 
All amounts are short-term and the net carrying value of receivables is considered a reasonable 
approximation of fair value.  The Company anticipates full recovery of these amounts and 
therefore no impairment has been recorded against receivables.  The Company’s receivables 
are all considered current and are not past due or impaired.  The Company does not possess 
any collateral related to these assets. 
 

6. PREPAIDS 
  

The Company’s prepaids are comprised of fees prepaid to vendors of the Company and include 
the following components: 

 
 July 31, 

2019
July 31, 

2018 
Corporate branding $ 7,500 $ 1,373 
Investor relations *  -  250,000 
Other prepaids  10,272  12,682 
Total prepaids $ 17,772 $ 264,055 

 
*  On December 1, 2017, the Company entered into two consulting agreements 
with two arm's length entities for them to provide digital marketing, digital media, 
corporate advisory and branding and strategic business services to the Company 
over an 18 month period. The Company prepaid the full amount to these two 
entities. This balance relates to services to be provided over the remaining contract 
period.  
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7. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 
 

The Company’s exploration and evaluation assets consist of the following mineral properties: 
 

 
BC War 

Eagle 
Cobalt 

BC Purcell 
Cobalt 

Prospect 
ON Cobalt 
Prospects 

 
 

Yukon 
Quartz 
Claims 

Idaho Star 
Cobalt 

Prospect 

Montana 
Chicken 
Hawk 
Cobalt 

Prospect 

Nevada Clayton 
Valley W. 

Lithium Property 

 
 
 

Total 
Balance, July 31, 2017 $    13,512 $        282,032 $     692,370 $  16,133 $      66,377 $  731,079 $         34,701 $  1,836,204 
Acquisition costs         
 Staking costs 7,283 7,197 60,890 - - - - 75,370 
Deferred exploration expenditures         
 Geological expenses 2,283 1,217 49,123 - - - - 52,623 
 Geological report 1,500 1,500 - - - - - 3,000 
 Geophysical expenses - - 3,300 - - - - 3,300 
 Claim maintenance fees - - - 210 8,921 18,837 2,603 30,571 
 Field supplies and equipment - - 2,581 - - - - 2,581 
 Lab and assay - - 13,482 - - - - 13,482 
 Prospecting - - 3,313 - - - - 3,313 
 Sampling - - 14,040 - - - - 14,040 
 Survey 13,500 13,500 117,304 - - - - 144,304 
 Travel & miscellaneous 1,536 768 16,700 - - - - 19,004 
 Advance for exploration - - 11,413 - - - - 11,413 
 Prior year advance for exploration - - (52,108) - - - - (52,108) 
Write-down of exploration and 
evaluation assets 

(19,999) (306,214) (2,300) - (68,452) (59,035) - (456,000) 

Balance, July 31, 2018 19,615 - 930,108 16,343 6,846 690,881 37,304 1,701,097 
Deferred exploration expenditures         
 Geological expenses 3,000 - 89,756 - - - - 92,756 
 Geological report - - 32,143 - - - - 32,143 
 Claim maintenance fees - - - 210 832 13,425 2,692 17,159 
 Drilling - - 115,147 - - - - 115,147 
 Field supplies and equipment - - 9,547 - - - - 9,547 
 Lab and assay 636 - 25,733 - - - - 26,369 
 Travel & miscellaneous 7,448 - 37,486 - - - - 44,934 
 Prior year advance for exploration - - (11,413) - - - - (11,413) 
Write-down of exploration and 
evaluation assets 

(21,109) - (40,000) - - (704,306) - (765,415) 

Balance, July 31, 2019 $    9,590 $                   - $  1,188,507 $  16,553 $        7,678 $               - $         39,996 $  1,262,324 



Cruz Cobalt Corp. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
July 31, 2019 and 2018 – Page 13 
 

7. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (continued) 
 
Title to Interests in Exploration and Evaluation Assets 

 
Title to exploration and evaluation asset interests involves certain inherent risks due to the 
difficulties of determining the validity of certain claims as well as the potential for problems 
arising from the frequently ambiguous conveyancing history characteristic of many exploration 
and evaluation assets.  The Company has investigated title to all of its exploration and 
evaluation assets and, to the best of its knowledge, title to all of its interests are in good 
standing.  However, this should not be construed as a guarantee of title.  The concessions may 
be subject to prior claims, agreements or transfers, and rights of ownership may be affected by 
undetected defects. 
 
BC War Eagle Cobalt Prospect – Staking 
 
In June 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in British 
Columbia for staking costs of $3,496. 
 
In January 2018, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in British 
Columbia for staking costs of $7,283. 
 
In October 2018, the Company decided to drop certain War Eagle claims and allowed them to 
lapse when they became due. Accordingly, prior acquisition costs of $7,283 and exploration 
costs of $12,716 associated with these lapsed claims were written off as of July 31, 2018. 
 
During the year ended July 31, 2019, the Company decided to further reduce the size of certain 
War Eagle claims. Accordingly, prior acquisition costs of $2,404 and exploration costs of 
$18,705 were written off. 
 
As at July 31, 2019, the Company had spent a total of $8,498 in exploration expenditures on 
this prospect. 
 
BC and ON Cobalt Prospects – Share Purchase Agreement and Staking 
 
On July 22, 2016, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement (the “Cobalt Locaters 
SPA”) with four arm’s length vendors (the “Vendors”) to purchase 100% of the issued and 
outstanding shares of Cobalt Locaters Inc., which holds a 100% interest in two cobalt prospects 
in B.C. (the "Purcell Cobalt Prospect") and a 50% interest in four cobalt prospects in Ontario 
(the "Coleman Cobalt Prospect", the "Bucke Cobalt Prospect", the "Hector Cobalt Prospect", 
and the "Johnson Cobalt Prospect"). The acquisition has been accounted for as an asset 
acquisition. In August 2016, the Company paid $20,000 cash and issued 4,800,000 shares 
(issued at a value of $816,000) to the Vendors pursuant to the Cobalt Locaters SPA. Cobalt 
Locaters Inc. became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The acquisition costs had 
been split evenly between these six cobalt properties. During the year ended July 31, 2019, the 
Company acquired the remaining 50% interest in the above four Ontario cobalt prospects from 
an arm's length vendor at no costs. As of today, the Company holds a 100% interest in the 
above four Ontario cobalt prospects. 
 
In September 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in Ontario 
to increase the holdings in its Johnson Cobalt Prospect, Bucke Cobalt Prospect and Hector 
Cobalt Prospect for staking costs of $19,500. 
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7. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (continued) 
 
BC and ON Cobalt Prospects – Share Purchase Agreement and Staking (continued) 
 
In December 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in Ontario 
to increase the holdings in its Coleman Cobalt Prospect for staking costs of $2,300. Subsequent 
to July 31, 2018, the Company decided to drop these claims. Prior acquisition costs of $2,300 
were written off as of July 31, 2018. 
 
In June 2017, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in Ontario to 
increase the holdings in its Coleman Cobalt Prospect for staking costs of $1,268. 
 
In December 2017, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in Ontario 
referred to as the Lorraine Cobalt Prospect for staking costs of $40,000. Subsequent to July 31, 
2019, the Company decided to drop these claims and will allow them to lapse when they 
become due. Accordingly, prior staking costs of $40,000 were written off as of July 31, 2019. 
 
In January and April 2018, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in 
Ontario to increase the holdings in its Lorraine Cobalt Prospect for staking costs of $20,890. 
 
As at July 31, 2019, the Company had spent a total of $589,515 in exploration expenditures on 
the ON Cobalt Prospects. 
 
Yukon Quartz Claims – Purchase Agreement 

 
During the year ended July 31, 2010, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain quartz 
mineral claims located in the Yukon Territory.   
 
During the years ended July 31, 2013, 2015 and 2016, the Company decided not to continue 
with certain claims and allowed these claims to lapse when they became due. Accordingly, 
prior acquisition costs of $670,862 and exploration costs of $34,838 associated with these 
lapsed claims were written off.  
 
As at July 31, 2019, the Company had spent a total of $1,917 in exploration expenditures on 
the remaining Yukon Quartz claims. 
 
Idaho Star Cobalt Prospect – Staking 
 
In October 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in the Idaho Star Cobalt Prospect in 
Idaho, U.S.A. for staking costs of $39,964. 
 
In August 2018, the Company decided to drop certain Idaho claims and allowed them to lapse 
when they became due. Prior acquisition costs of $36,330 and exploration costs of $32,122 
were written down as of July 31, 2018. 
 
As at July 31, 2019, the Company had spent a total of $4,045 in exploration expenditures on 
this prospect. 

  



Cruz Cobalt Corp. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
July 31, 2019 and 2018 – Page 15 
 

 

7. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (continued) 
 
Nevada Clayton Valley West Lithium Prospect – Purchase Agreement 
 
On September 15, 2015, the Company entered into a purchase agreement with an arm’s length 
vendor (the “Vendor”) to acquire a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in the Clayton 
Valley in Nevada, U.S.A. In consideration, the Company was to issue 1,200,000 common 
shares to the Vendor.  
 
On October 7, 2015, the Company amended the purchase agreement with the Vendor at no 
additional cost or share issuance, to acquire a 100% interest in additional mineral claims. 

  
On October 21, 2015, the Company further amended the purchase agreement and the 
amendment dated October 7, 2015 with the Vender. The new terms are for the Company to 
issue 900,000 common shares to the Vendor. During the year ended July 31, 2016, these shares 
were issued to the Vendor valued at $30,000. 
 
As of July 31, 2019, the Company had incurred a total of $7,996 in claim maintenance fees on 
this prospect. 
 
Montana Chicken Hawk Cobalt Prospect – Agreement and Staking 
 
On February 27, 2017, the Company entered into an agreement with an arm's length vendor 
(the "Montana Vendor") to acquire a 100% interest in the Chicken Hawk Cobalt Prospect 
located in Deer Lodge County, Montana, U.S.A. In consideration, the Company issued 
3,000,000 common shares (issued at a value of $600,000) to the Montana Vendor. 
 
In July 2017, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in Montana to 
increase the holdings in its Chicken Hawk Cobalt Prospect for staking costs of $25,426. 
 
In August 2018, the Company decided to drop certain Montana Chicken Hawk claims and 
allowed them to lapse when they became due. Prior acquisition costs of $24,578 and 
exploration costs of $34,457 were written down as of July 31, 2018. 
 
Subsequent to July 31, 2019, the Company decided to drop the entire Chicken Hawk property. 
Accordingly, prior acquisition costs of $600,848 and exploration costs of $103,458 were 
written off as of July 31, 2019. 
 
BC Purcell Cobalt Prospect – Staking 
 
Under the Cobalt Locaters SPA, the Company indirectly acquired a 100% interest in two cobalt 
prospects in B.C.. 
 
In January 2018, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in British 
Columbia for staking costs of $7,197. 
 
In October 2018, the Company decided to drop the entire property. Prior acquisition costs of 
$285,863 and exploration costs of $20,351 were written off as of July 31, 2018. 
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8. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES 
 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities recognized in the statement of financial position can 
be analyzed as follows: 
  

 July 31, 
2019

July 31, 
2018 

Trade payables $   38,154 $   18,654 
Accrued liabilities 22,600 24,500 
Total accounts payable and accrued liabilities $   60,754 $   43,154 

 
All amounts are short-term.  The carrying value of trade payables and accrued liabilities is 
considered a reasonable approximation of fair value due to the short-term nature of these 
instruments. 
 

9. FLOW-THROUGH SHARE PREMIUM LIABILITY 
  
   

 

Balance at July 31, 2017  $ 48,508
 Liability derecognized due to exploration expenditures renounced to shareholders         (48,508)
Balance at July 31, 2018 and 2019  $ -

 
During the year ended July 31, 2018, the Company renounced and incurred the exploration 
 expenditures. Accordingly, the Company derecognized the flow-through share premium 
liability of $48,508 and recognized it as other income. 
 

10. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 
 
Authorized:  An unlimited number of common shares, without par value 

 
(a) Private placements 

 
Year ended July 31, 2019: 
 
The Company did not close any private placements during the year ended July 31, 2019.  
 
Year ended July 31, 2018: 
 
In August 2017, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement (the "Offering") 
consisting of 2,619,047 flow-through shares at $0.21 per share for gross proceeds of 
$550,000. The Company incurred filing fees of $4,100 and legal fees of $7,170, paid an 
aggregate finders' fees of $38,500, and issued 183,333 broker warrants (the "Broker 
Warrants") in connection with the Offering. Each Broker Warrant is exercisable at $0.21 
per share into one common share until August 11, 2020. The Broker Warrants were valued 
at $37,781, using the Black-Scholes pricing model with the following assumptions: 
dividend yield 0%, expected volatility 270.8%, risk-free interest rate 1.24% and an 
expected life of three years.  
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10. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued) 
 

(a) Private placements (continued) 
 
In December 2017, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement consisting of 
2,000,000 units at $0.225 per share for gross proceeds of $450,000. Each unit consisted of 
one common share and one share purchase warrant which entitles the holder to purchase 
one additional common share of the Company at a price of $0.30 per share until December 
22, 2019. The Company incurred filing fees of $3,000 in connection with the financing. 
 

(b) Share purchase warrants 
 
The following is a summary of changes in share purchase warrants from July 31, 2017 to 
July 31, 2019: 
  Weighted Average
 Number Exercise Price
  
Balance, July 31, 2017  25,477,587 $0.22
Issued  2,183,333 $0.29
Exercised  (9,686,797) $0.16
Expired  (802,275) $1.33
   

Balance, July 31, 2018 and 2019  17,171,848 $0.20
 
At July 31, 2019, the Company had 17,171,848 share purchase warrants outstanding.  Each 
warrant entitles the holder the right to purchase one common share as follows: 
 

   Exercise
Number Price Expiry Date

  3,711,645 $0.15  August 24, 2019 (Note 18) 
  1,081,620 $0.17  August 24, 2019 (Note 18) 
  5,690,250 $0.33  December 18, 2019
  2,000,000 $0.30  December 22, 2019
  183,333 $0.21  August 11, 2020
  4,505,000 $0.05  June 13, 2021
  17,171,848  

 
(c) Share-based payments 

 
The Company has a stock option plan whereby the maximum number of shares reserved 
for issue under the plan shall not exceed 10% of the outstanding common shares of the 
Company, as at the date of grant.  The exercise price of each option granted under the plan 
may not be less than the market price of the Company's stock as calculated on the date of 
grant less the applicable discount, subject to a minimum exercise price of $0.05.  Options 
may be granted for a maximum term of five years and vesting periods are determined by 
the Board of Directors. Pursuant to the regulations of the CSE, stock options may be 
granted outside of the stock option plan.   
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10. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued) 
 

(c) Share-based payments (continued) 
 
The following is a summary of changes in share purchase options from July 31, 2017 to 
July 31, 2019: 
  Weighted Average
 Number Exercise Price 
   
Outstanding and exercisable, July 31, 2017  4,334,125  $0.28 
Granted  6,000,000  $0.20 
Exercised  (4,000,000)  $0.20 
Expired  (4,004,350)  $0.25 
Outstanding and exercisable, July 31, 2018  2,329,775  $0.27 
Expired  (2,329,775)  $0.27 
Outstanding and exercisable, July 31, 2019  - $Nil 

 
At July 31, 2019, there was no share purchase options outstanding and exercisable. 
 
During the year ended July 31, 2019, Nil stock options were exercised. 
 
During the year ended July 31, 2018, 4,000,000 stock options were exercised at a price of 
$0.20 per share for total proceeds of $800,000. The previously recognized share-based 
payment expense relating to these stock options were reclassified from share-based 
payment reserve to share capital in the amount of $242,788. 
 
During the year ended July 31, 2019, the Company did not grant any stock options (year 
ended July 31, 2018, 6,000,000 stock options were granted with an exercise price at $0.20 
per share and an expiry date of November 9, 2018). The weighted average fair value of the 
options issued in the year ended July 31, 2018 was estimated at $0.06 per option at the 
grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: 
 

 Year ended 
July 31, 2019 

Year ended 
July 31, 2018

  
Weighted average expected dividend yield                  N/A                  0.0%
Weighted average expected volatility *                  N/A  81.05%
Weighted average risk-free interest rate                  N/A                 1.53%
Weighted average expected term                  N/A  1 year

 
* Expected volatility has been based on historical volatility of the Company’s  
   publicly traded shares. 
 

Total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognized during the year 
ended July 31, 2019 were $Nil (year ended July 31, 2018: $364,182). 

  



Cruz Cobalt Corp. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
July 31, 2019 and 2018 – Page 19 
 

 

11. LOSS PER SHARE 
 

 The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share was based on the following data:  
 

 Years ended July 31, 
 2019 2018
  
Loss $ (1,456,898) $ (1,988,331)
  
Weighted average number of common shares for the   
purpose of basic and diluted loss per share  78,646,890  72,173,422

 
Basic loss per share is computed by dividing loss by the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding during the period.  Diluted loss per share reflects the potential dilution of 
common share equivalents, such as stock options and share purchase warrants, in the weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding during the period, if dilutive.  All of the stock 
options and share purchase warrants currently issued (see Note 10) were anti-dilutive for the 
years ended July 31, 2019 and 2018. 
 
Basic and diluted loss per share for the year ended July 31, 2019 was $0.02 (year ended July 
31, 2018: $0.03). 
 

12. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
  

 Key management personnel compensation 
 

Key management of the Company are directors and officers of the Company and their 
remuneration includes the following: 
 

 Years ended July 31, 
 2019 2018 
   

Management and directors' fees $ 125,100 $ 125,000 
Professional fees  66,800  60,000 
Share-based payments *  -  9,752 
   

 $ 191,900 $ 194,752 
 

 * Share-based payments are the fair value of options granted to key management personnel 
as at the grant date. 

  
 Related party balances 
 

At July 31, 2019, accounts payable and accrued liabilities include $8,167 (July 31, 2018: 
$7,500) payable to three directors for unpaid office and directors' fees. These amounts are 
unsecured, non-interest bearing and payable on demand. 
 
At July 31, 2019, related party receivables include $1,804 (July 31, 2018: $3,512) due from 
two public companies with common directors for recoverable office expenses. 
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13. SEGMENTAL REPORTING 
 

The Company operates in one business segment, being the acquisition and exploration of 
mineral properties.  The Company’s exploration and evaluation assets are distributed by 
geographic location as follows: 
 

 July 31, 
2019 

July 31,  
2018 

   
                    Canada $ 1,214,650 $ 966,066 
                    U.S.A.  47,674  735,031 
   
                     $ 1,262,324 $ 1,701,097 

  
14. INCOME TAXES 

 
A reconciliation of income taxes at statutory rates with the reported taxes is as follows:  

 

   Years ended July 31, 

   2019 2018

Loss before income taxes $ (1,456,898) $ (1, 988,331)

Expected income tax (recovery) $  (393,000) $  (529,000)
Change in statutory rate and other 43,000 (146,000)
Permanent difference 1,000 98,000
Impact of flow through shares 84,000 58,000
Share issue costs - (14,000)
Adjustment to prior year provision versus statutory tax returns 13,000 307,000
Change in unrecognized deductible temporary differences 252,000  226,000 

Total income tax expense (recovery) $                   - $                  -
 

The significant components of the Company's unrecognized deferred tax assets are as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
No net deferred tax asset has been recognized in respect of the above for the years ended July 
31, 2019 and 2018 because the amount of future taxable profit that will be available to realize 
such assets is not probable. 
 
 
 
 

   2019 2018

Exploration and evaluation assets $     1,450,000  $     1,168,000 
Property and equipment  3,000  3,000 
Share issue costs  20,000  30,000 
Capital assets          -          20,000 
Non-capital losses 2,290,000  2,092,000 

Net unrecognized deferred tax assets  $     3,763,000  $     3,079,000 
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14. INCOME TAXES (continued) 
 
The Company has non-capital losses for Canadian income tax purposes of approximately 
$8,472,000 (2018: $7,879,000) which may be carried forward and applied against taxable 
income in future years. These losses, if not utilized, will expire through to 2039. 
 

15. CAPITAL DISCLOSURE 
 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a 
going concern to pursue the development of its exploration and evaluation assets and to 
maintain a flexible capital structure which optimizes the cost of capital within a framework of 
acceptable risk.  In the management of capital, the Company includes the components of 
shareholders’ equity, which at July 31, 2019 was $3,336,849 (July 31, 2018: $4,793,747). 
 
The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in 
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.  To maintain or adjust 
its capital structure, the Company may issue new shares, issue new debt and acquire or 
dispose of assets.  As at July 31, 2019, the Company has not entered into any debt financing 
with any financial institution. 
 
The Company is dependent on the capital markets as its sole source of operating capital and 
the Company’s capital resources are largely determined by the strength of the junior resource 
markets and by the status of the Company’s projects in relation to these markets, and its ability 
to compete for investor support of its projects.  The Company is not subject to any externally 
imposed capital requirements. There has been no change in the Company’s approach to capital 
management during the year ended July 31, 2019. 

 
16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK 

  
Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of three levels in the fair 
value hierarchy according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values. 
The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are: 

 
Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either  
           directly or indirectly; and 
Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market data. 
 
The fair value of the Company’s receivables, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
approximates their carrying values due to the short-term nature of the financial instruments. 
The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair value using Level 1 inputs. 
 
The Company is exposed to varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks: 
 
Foreign Exchange Risk 
  
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows will fluctuate as a result 
of changes in foreign exchange rates.  As at July 31, 2019, the Company has a minimal 
exposure to the US$ that is subject to fluctuations as a result of exchange rate variations to the 
extent that transactions are made in this currency.  The Company considers this risk to be 
insignificant and therefore does not hedge its foreign exchange risk. 



Cruz Cobalt Corp. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
July 31, 2019 and 2018 – Page 22 
 

 

16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK (continued) 
 

Credit Risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the 
other party by failing to discharge an obligation.  The Company’s cash and cash equivalents, 
and receivables are exposed to credit risk.  The Company reduces its credit risk on cash and 
cash equivalents by placing these instruments with institutions of high credit worthiness. As at 
July 31, 2019, the Company is not exposed to any significant credit risk. 

 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
 Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Company has non-interest bearing 
debt instruments and is therefore not exposed to risk in the event of interest rate fluctuations. 
As at July 31, 2019, the Company is not exposed to any significant interest rate risk. 
 
Liquidity Risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 
associated with financial liabilities.  The Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining 
sufficient cash balances to enable settlement of transactions on the due date.  The Company 
addresses its liquidity through equity financing obtained through the sale of common shares 
and the exercise of warrants and options.  While the Company has been successful in securing 
financings in the past, there is no assurance that it will be able to do so in the future.   
 
Price Risk 
 
The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. Commodity price risk 
is defined as the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic value due to commodity 
price movements and volatilities. The Company closely monitors the commodity prices of 
precious metals and the stock market to determine the appropriate course of action to be taken 
by the Company.  
 
Based on management’s knowledge and experience of the financial markets, management does 
not believe that the Company’s current financial instruments will be affected by foreign 
exchange risk, credit risk, interest rate risk and price risk 
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17. SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE WITH RESPECT TO CASH FLOWS 
 

 Investing and financing activities that do not have a direct impact on cash flows are excluded 
from the statement of cash flows.  The following transactions were excluded from the 
statements of cash flows: 
 
Year ended July 31, 2019: 

 
a) Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities was $11,454 for exploration and 
evaluation assets. 

 
Year ended July 31, 2018: 

 
b) There were no significant non-cash investing and financing activities. 

 
18. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 
 Subsequent to July 31, 2019, the following occurred: 
 
a) 3,711,645 share purchase warrants at an exercise price of $0.15 expired unexercised; and 
 
b) 1,081,620 share purchase warrants at an exercise price of $0.17 expired unexercised. 
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CRUZ BATTERY METALS CORP. (formerly Cruz Cobalt Corp.) 
For the year ended July 31, 2021 

 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis ("MD&A") 

 

Date of Report: November 5, 2021 

 

The following discussion and analysis of the Company's financial condition and results of operations for 

the year ended July 31, 2021 should be read in conjunction with its audited financial statements and related 

notes. The requisite financial data presented for the relevant periods has been prepared in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards 

Board (“IASB”) and interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations 

Committee (“IFRIC”).  

 

All dollar figures included therein and in the following MD&A are quoted in Canadian dollars. Additional 

information relevant to the Company’s activities can be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

 

Disclaimer for Forward-Looking Information 

 

Certain statements in this report are forward-looking statements, which reflect management’s expectations 

regarding the Company's future growth, results of operations, performance, business prospects and 

opportunities such as the intended work programs on its existing property interests, the ability to meet 

financial commitments and the ability to raise funds when required.  Forward-looking statements consist of 

statements that are not purely historical, including any statements regarding beliefs, plans, expectations or 

intentions regarding the future. Such statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that may cause actual 

results, performance or developments to differ materially from those contained in the statements.  No 

assurance can be given that any of the events anticipated by the forward-looking statements will occur or, 

if they do occur, what benefits the Company will obtain from them.  These forward-looking statements 

reflect management’s current views and are based on certain assumptions and speak only as of the date of 

this Management’s Discussion and Analysis.  These assumptions, which include management’s current 

expectations, estimates and assumptions about its current property interests, the global economic 

environment, the market price and demand for mineral commodities and its ability to manage the property 

interests and operating costs, may prove to be incorrect.  A number of risks and uncertainties could cause 

the actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements, 

including: (1) a downturn in general economic conditions, (2) a decreased demand or price for mineral 

commodities, (3) delays in the start of projects with respect to its property interests, (4) inability to locate 

and acquire additional property interests, (5) the uncertainty of government regulation and politics in North 

America regarding mineral exploration and mining, (6) potential negative financial impact from regulatory 

investigations, claims, lawsuits and other legal proceedings and challenges, and (7) other factors beyond its 

control. 

 

There is a significant risk that such forward-looking statements will not prove to be accurate.  Investors are 

cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements.  No forward-looking statement 

is a guarantee of future results.  Except as required by law, the Company disclaims any intention or 

obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements.  Additional information about these and 

other assumptions, risks and uncertainties are set out in the section entitled “Risk Factors” below. 

 

Nature of Business 

 

Cruz Battery Metals Corp. (formerly Cruz Cobalt Corp.; the "Company") is involved in the identification, 

acquisition and exploration of mineral properties that management deems as potentially viable to assist in 

the growth of the Company. At July 31, 2021, the Company had mineral property interests located in 

Canada and in the USA.  

 

http://www.sedar.com/
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Mineral Properties 

 

Ontario Cobalt Prospects 

 

In July 2016, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement (the “Cobalt Locaters SPA”) with four 

arm’s length vendors to purchase all of the issued and outstanding shares of Cobalt Locaters Inc., which 

holds a 100% interest in two cobalt prospects in B.C. and a 50% interest in four cobalt prospects in Ontario 

consisting of the Coleman Cobalt Prospect, the Bucke Cobalt Prospect, the Hector Cobalt Prospect, and the 

Johnson Cobalt Prospect. In March 2019, the Company acquired the remaining 50% interest in the above 

four Ontario cobalt prospects from an arm's length vendor at no costs. As of today, the Company holds a 

100% interest in the above four cobalt prospects in Ontario and two in B.C. 

 

In September 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in: 22 additional claim units for staking costs 

of $2,200 to increase the acreage of the Johnson Cobalt Prospect to approximately 988 acres; 36 claim units 

for staking costs of $3,600 to increase the acreage of Bucke Cobalt Prospect to approximately 1,458 acres; 

and 137 claim units for staking costs of $13,700 to increase the acreage of the Hector Cobalt Prospect to 

approximately 6,146 acres. 

 

In June 2017, the Company acquired a 100% interest in additional mineral claims in Ontario to increase the 

holdings in its Coleman Cobalt Prospect to approximately 1,525 acres for staking costs of $1,268. 

 

In January 2018, the Company acquired a 100% interest in additional mineral claims in Ontario referred to 

as the Lorraine Cobalt Prospect for staking costs of $5,600. 

 

On November 6, 2019, the Company entered into an agreement with RJK Explorations Ltd. (“RJK”), an 

arm’s length party. Pursuant to the agreement, RJK paid $5,000 to the Company in exchange for the 

exclusive right for a period of 30 days from the date of such payment, at RJK’s own risk and expense, to 

enter on the Lorraine claims to conduct mineral sampling activities and geophysical surveys. Accordingly, 

$5,000 were used to offset prior acquisition costs of the Lorraine claims. The agreement had been mutually 

terminated by the Company and RJK on December 21, 2020 with no liability or remaining obligation of 

any of the parties to the other except for the confidentiality obligations. 

 

The Company engaged Apex Geoscience Ltd., based out of Edmonton, Alberta, to assist in the 2021 

drill/work programs and hired Vital Drilling Services of Val Caron, Ontario, to conduct the drill program. 

As disclosed in a news release dated June 24, 2021, the Company announced that it has received a drill 

permit from the Ministry of Energy, Northern Development & Mines (MNDM). As disclosed in a news 

release dated July 20, 2021, the drill program was completed. On September 13, 2021, the Company 

announced that the 2021 drilling targeted the prospective lower contact of Nipissing diabase sills and 

Archean volcanic basement rocks at depth. 

 

Drill holes 21HC01 and 21HC02 drilled from the same collar intersected the base of the Nipissing diabase 

at 248 and 231 metres downhole respectively. Hole 21HC01 cut a broad zone of anomalous silver-copper 

mineralized mafic volcanic rocks returning assays of 0.87 gram per tonne silver and 0.01 per cent copper 

over 32.3 metres from a depth of 279.7 metres, including a higher-grade interval of 1.06 g/t Ag over 19.5 

metres from a depth of 286.5 metres yielding individual assays of up to 3.2 g/t Ag. The silver-copper zone 

within 21HC021 is characterized by the presence of moderate chlorite alteration and silica flooding 

accompanied by fine-grained disseminated chalcopyrite-pyrite mineralization. 

 

In addition to the volcanic hosted silver-copper zone, several cobalt-copper intervals occur within drill holes 

21HC01 and 21HC02 that are comparable with values returned during Cruz's initial 2018 drill campaign 

including: 0.03 per cent cobalt and 0.088 per cent Cu over one metre at a depth of 143 metres; 0.01 per cent 

Co and 0.12 per cent Cu over one metre at 74 metres downhole within 21HC02; and 0.012 per cent Co and 

0.07 per cent copper over one metre at 153.5 metres downhole within 21HC01. 
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The true width of mineralization is estimated to be 80 to 90 per cent of the drilled interval. 

 

Drill hole 21HC03 targeting a north-northwest-striking fault structure that juxtaposes Nipissing diabase and 

Archean basement rocks to the north remained in diabase to an end-of-hole at a depth of 249 metres. 

Textural variation within Nipissing diabase, and variation in the observed mineralization and magnetic 

susceptibility, confirm the presence of a west-dipping, multiphase sill complex. 

 

Management is currently evaluating possible follow-up work programs, however a final decision has not 

been made at this time. 

 

As at July 31, 2021, the Company had spent a total of $778,989 in exploration expenditures on the Ontario 

cobalt prospects. 

 

Subsequent to July 31, 2021, the Company decided to drop certain mineral claims for the Coleman Cobalt 

Prospect and fully wrote off prior acquisition and exploration costs on the Coleman Cobalt Prospect totaling 

$151,065 as of July 31, 2021.  

 

BC War Eagle Cobalt Prospect 

 

In June 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in British Columbia for 

staking costs of $3,496.   

 

During the year ended July 31, 2019, the Company decided to reduce the size of certain War Eagle claims 

from 4,936 acres to 1,542 acres. Accordingly, prior acquisition costs of $2,404 and exploration costs of 

$18,705 were written off. 

 

As at July 31, 2021, the Company had spent a total of $10,998 in exploration expenditures on this prospect. 

 

BC Diamond Projects 

 

On September 1, 2020, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement (the “SPA”) with two arm’s 

length vendors to purchase 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of 1205011 B.C. Ltd. (“1205011”), 

which through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Idaho Cobalt Discoveries Corp., holds a 100% interest in one 

cobalt prospect in Idaho, U.S.A. (the “Idaho Cobalt Belt Project”) and three diamond projects in B.C. (the 

“BC Diamond Projects”). The acquisition has been accounted for as an asset acquisition. In September 

2020, the Company issued 9,000,000 shares (issued at a value of $495,000) to the vendors pursuant to the 

SPA. 1205011 became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The acquisition costs had been split 

evenly between the BC and the Idaho properties.  

 

As of July 31, 2021, the Company had incurred a total of $14,165 in claim maintenance fees on this project. 

 

Management is currently evaluating possible work programs, however a final decision has not been made 

at this time.  

 

Yukon Quartz Claims  

 

During the year ended July 31, 2010, the Company acquired a 100% interest in ninety-five load quartz 

mineral claims covering an area of approximately 4,836 acres, located in the Yukon Territory.  

 

During the years ended July 31, 2013, 2015 and 2016, the Company decided not to continue with certain 

claims and allowed these claims to lapse when they became due. Accordingly, prior acquisition costs of 

$670,862 and exploration costs of $34,838 associated with these lapsed claims were written off. 
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As at July 31, 2021, the Company had spent a total of $2,127 in exploration expenditures on the remaining 

Yukon quartz claims. 

 

Idaho Cobalt Belt Project 

 

On September 1, 2020, under the SPA, the Company indirectly acquired a 100% interest in one cobalt 

prospect in Idaho, U.S.A.  

 

Management is currently evaluating possible work programs, however a final decision has not been made 

at this time.  

 

As of July 31, 2021, the Company had incurred a total of $26,225 in claim maintenance fees on the Idaho 

Cobalt Belt project. 

 

Idaho Star Cobalt Prospect 

 

In October 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in the Idaho Star Cobalt Prospect in Idaho, U.S.A. 

for staking costs of $39,964. This prospect is located approximately 9 miles southwest of Saltese, Montana 

and 19 miles southeast of Wallace, Idaho. This prospect consists of 44 contiguous claims within the Idaho 

Cobalt Belt. 

 

In August 2018, the Company decided to drop certain Idaho claims and allowed them to lapse when they 

became due. Prior acquisition costs of $36,330 and exploration costs of $32,122 were written down as of 

July 31, 2018. 

 

The Company is considering a follow up program. However, a final decision has not been concluded at this 

time.  

 

As at July 31, 2021, the Company had spent a total of $5,842 in exploration expenditures on this prospect. 

 

Nevada Clayton Valley West Lithium Prospect 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2016, the Company entered into an agreement with an arm's-length vendor 

to acquire a 100% interest in six claim blocks in the Clayton Valley in Nevada, USA prospective for lithium.   

 

As of July 31, 2021, the Company had incurred a total of $13,794 in claim maintenance fees on this 

prospect. 

 

Management is currently evaluating possible work programs, however a final decision has not been made 

at this time.  

 

Nevada Solar Lithium Project 

 

On July 16, 2021, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement (the “Solar SPA”) with two arm’s 

length vendors to purchase 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of Cruz Solar Lithium Corp. (“Cruz 

Solar”), which through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Las Vegas Lithium Locators Corp., holds a 100% 

interest in one lithium prospect in Nevada, U.S.A. (the “Nevada Solar Lithium Project”). The acquisition 

has been accounted for as an asset acquisition. In July 2021, the Company issued 7,000,000 shares (issued 

at a value of $630,000) to the vendors pursuant to the Solar SPA. Cruz Solar became a wholly-owned 

subsidiary of the Company. 

 

Subsequent to July 31, 2021, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims (the “Nevada 

Helios Claims”) for staking costs of $83,966 to expand the size of the Nevada Solar Lithium Project to 

5,500 acres; and the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims (the “Nevada Sun 
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Claims”) for staking costs of $7,908 to further expand the size of the Nevada Solar Lithium Project to a 

total of 6,215 acres. 

 

As disclosed in a news release dated October 8, 2021, the Company announced it has encountered multiple 

separate sample results returning values higher than 1,059 parts per million (ppm) lithium (Li), including 

values as high as 1,610 ppm Li.  

 

As disclosed in a news release dated October 15, 2021, the Company announced it has applied for a drill 

permit from the Bureau of Land Management (BLM) which was subsequently approved as announced in a 

news release on October 29, 2021. The Company also announced on October 25, 2021, it has contracted 

Harris Exploration Drilling and Associates Inc. to conduct the drill program which is expected to start 

shortly. 

 

The Company will continue exploration activities on its properties. In March 2020 the World Health 

Organization declared coronavirus COVID-19 a global pandemic. This contagious disease outbreak, which 

has continued to spread, and any related adverse public health developments, has adversely affected 

workforces, economies, and financial markets globally, potentially leading to an economic downturn. It is 

not possible for the Company to predict the duration or magnitude of the adverse results of the outbreak 

and its effects on the Company’s business or ability to raise funds. While the Company has been successful 

in securing financings in the past, there is no assurance that the Company will be able to do so in the future, 

and/or that the Company will be able to raise sufficient funds to meet its work commitments for all of its 

properties. 

 

Overall Performance  

 

The Company is a mineral exploration company engaged in the business of acquisition, exploration and, if 

warranted, development of mineral properties. The Company does not expect to generate any revenues in 

the foreseeable future or until a mineable reserve is defined and economically recoverable.  The Company 

expects to continue to incur expenses as it works to further explore and develop its mineral properties.  

 

The Company has conducted limited exploration on some of its properties, due to, among other things, the 

availability of sufficient funds for the purposes of mineral exploration and development, access to the 

property due to climate conditions, the uncertainties associated with the prices of precious and base metals 

and other minerals, and the global economic climate.  The Company is in the process of exploring its 

mineral properties and has not yet determined whether the properties contain reserves that are economically 

recoverable.  

 

The Company’s future performance is largely tied to the outcome of future exploration and the overall 

financial markets. The recoverability of minerals from the Company’s properties is dependent upon, among 

other things, the discovery of economically recoverable reserves, the ability of the Company to obtain 

necessary financing to continue to explore and develop its properties and upon future profitable production. 

In March 2020 the World Health Organization declared coronavirus COVID-19 a global pandemic. This 

contagious disease outbreak, which has continued to spread, and any related adverse public health 

developments, has adversely affected workforces, economies, and financial markets globally, potentially 

leading to an economic downturn. It is not possible for the Company to predict the duration or magnitude 

of the adverse results of the outbreak and its effects on the Company’s business or ability to raise funds. 

Uncertainty in credit markets, fluctuation in commodity prices and general economic downturns has led to 

increased difficulties in raising and borrowing funds. As a result, the Company may have difficulty raising 

equity financing for the purposes of exploration and development of the Company’s properties, without 

diluting the interests of current shareholders of the Company. See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” and 

“Risk and Uncertainties” for a discussion of risk factors that may impact the Company’s ability to raise 

funds. 
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Information about the Company’s commitments relating to its mineral properties is discussed above under 

“Nature of Business – Mineral Properties”. 

 

The Company did not generate any revenue during the year ended July 31, 2021 and 2020. The Company’s 

net comprehensive loss increased by $172,788 from $714,368 for the year ended July 31, 2020 to $887,156 

for the year ended July 31, 2021, mainly due to an increase in share-based payments and an increase in the 

write-down of exploration and evaluation assets, offset by a decrease in flow-through indemnification 

provision. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents decreased from $1,671,731 as at July 31, 2020 to 

$1,359,131 as at July 31, 2021. The Company had a working capital of $1,093,052 as at July 31, 2021 as 

compared to $1,581,463 as at July 31, 2020. 

 

The Company’s current assets have decreased to $1,387,217 as at July 31, 2021 from $1,786,107 as at July 

31, 2020, due mainly to a decrease in cash and cash equivalents. The Company’s current liabilities have 

increased from $204,644 as at July 31, 2020 to $294,165 as at July 31, 2021 due to an increase in accounts 

payable and accrued liabilities as well as an increase in lease liability. The value ascribed to the Company’s 

exploration and evaluation assets has increased from $1,248,556 as at July 31, 2020 to $2,456,138 as at 

July 31, 2021, due mainly to the acquisition of the BC Diamond Projects, the Idaho Cobalt Belt Project and 

the Nevada Solar Lithium Project, offset by the write-down of ON Coleman Cobalt Prospect, as set 

described above. 

 

Additional information about the risks and uncertainties relating to the Company’s business and financial 

performance is discussed below under “Risks and Uncertainties”. 

 

Summary of Quarterly Results 

 

The following table sets out selected quarterly financial data for the eight most recently completed interim 

quarters: 

 
 

 
2021 

Fourth 

2021 

Third 

2021 

Second 

2021 

First 

2020 

Fourth 

2020 

Third 

2020 

Second 

2020 

First 

 

Revenues 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

Operating 

expenses 

 

$(171,649) 

 

$(136,166) 

 

$(322,014) 

 

$(110,590) 

 

$(122,400) 

 

$(132,838) 

 

$(200,425) 

 

$(100,210) 

 

Loss before other items 

 

$(171,649) 

 

$(136,166) 

 

$(322,014) 

 

$(110,590) 

 

$(122,400) 

 

$(132,838) 

 

$(200,425) 

 

$(100,210) 

Loss per share 

(Basic and diluted) 

 

$(0.002) 

 

$(0.001) 

 

$(0.003) 

 

$(0.001) 

 

$(0.003) 

 

$(0.002) 

 

$(0.003) 

 

$(0.001) 

 

Other items: 

        

Interest income 

 

$1,221 

 

$1,076 

 

$5,185 

 

$5,196 

 

$5,418 

 

$6,178 

 

$12,043 

 

$156 

Interest expense 

 

$(8,350) 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

Flow-through 

indemnification provision 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$(135,000) 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

Part XII.6 tax 

          

$Nil 

          

$Nil 

          

$Nil 

          

$Nil 

          

$(32,000) 

          

$Nil 

          

$Nil 

          

$Nil 

Write-down of mineral 

properties 

 

$(151,065) 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$(15,290) 

 

$Nil 

 

Net comprehensive loss 

 

$(329,843) 

 

$(135,090) 

 

$(316,829) 

 

$(105,394) 

 

$(283,982) 

 

$(126,660) 

 

$(203,672) 

 

$(100,054) 

Basic and diluted loss per 

share  

 

$(0.003) 

 

$(0.001) 

 

$(0.003) 

 

$(0.001) 

 

$(0.001) 

 

$(0.002) 

 

$(0.003) 

 

$(0.001) 

 

Summary of Results During Prior Eight Quarters 
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Net comprehensive loss increased by $103,618 from the first to the second quarter of 2020 mainly due to 

an increase in share-based payments and in management and directors’ fees. Net comprehensive loss 

decreased by $77,012 from the second to the third quarter of 2020 mainly due to a decrease in share-based 

payments. Net comprehensive loss increased by $157,322 from the third to the fourth quarter of 2020 

mainly due to an increase in flow-through indemnification provision. Net comprehensive loss decreased by 

$178,588 from the fourth quarter of 2020 to the first quarter of 2021 mainly due to a decrease in flow-

through indemnification provision. Net comprehensive loss increased by $211,435 from the first to the 

second quarter of 2021 mainly due to an increase in share-based payments and an increase in management 

fees. Net comprehensive loss decreased by $181,739 from the second to the third quarter of 2021 mainly 

due to a decrease in share-based payments. Net comprehensive loss increased by $194,753 from the third 

to the fourth quarter of 2021 mainly due to an increase in the write-down of exploration and evaluation 

assets and an increase in professional fees. 

 

Selected Annual Information 

 

The following table sets out selected audited financial information for the Company, which has been prepared 

in accordance with IFRS: 

 

 Year ended July 31, 
 2021 2020 2019 

 
Total revenues 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 
Loss before discontinued operations and extraordinary items: 

 
Total 

 
$(887,156) 

 
$(714,368) 

 
$(1,456,898) 

 
Per share 

 
$(0.01) 

 
$(0.01) 

 
$(0.02) 

 
Per share fully diluted 

 
$(0.01) 

 
$(0.01) 

 
$(0.02) 

Net comprehensive loss: 

 
Total 

 
$(887,156) 

 
$(714,368) 

 
$(1,456,898) 

 
Per share 

 
$(0.01) 

 
$(0.01) 

 
$(0.02) 

 
Per share fully diluted 

 
$(0.01) 

 
$(0.01) 

 
$(0.02) 

 
Total assets 

 
$4,210,767 

 
$3,034,663 

 
$3,397,603 

 
Total long term debt 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 
Cash dividends 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 

Year ended July 31, 2021 Compared to the Year ended July 31, 2020 

 

The Company did not generate any revenue for the year ended July 31, 2021 and 2020. Net comprehensive 

loss increased by $172,788 from $714,368 for the year ended July 31, 2020 to $887,156 for the year ended 

July 31, 2021 due mainly to an increase in operating expenses and an increase in the write-down of 

exploration and evaluation assets (year ended July 31, 2021: $151,065; year ended July 31, 2020: $15,290), 

offset by a decrease in flow-through indemnification provision (year ended July 31, 2021: $Nil; year ended 

July 31, 2020: $135,000). 
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Operating expenses increased by $184,546 from $555,873 for the year ended July 31, 2020 to $740,419 for 

the year ended July 31, 2021 due mainly to an increase in share-based payments and an increase in 

depreciation expense (year ended July 31, 2021: $47,464; year ended July 31, 2020: $Nil). 

 

Increased share-based payments (year ended July 31, 2021: $167,709; year ended July 31, 2020: $59,832) 

were due to the Company granted 4,000,000 stock options to its directors and consultants at a price of 

$0.075 per share for a one-year term (expiring on January 14, 2022) during the year ended July 31, 2021 as 

compared to 5,000,000 stock options were granted at a price of $0.07 per share for a one-year term (expiring 

on January 20, 2021) during the year ended July 31, 2020. The Company may grant options that are 

available under the approved stock option plan in the next 12 months period. 

 

Year ended July 31, 2020 Compared to the Year ended July 31, 2019 

 

The Company did not generate any revenue for the years ended July 31, 2020 and 2019. Net comprehensive 

loss decreased by $742,530 from $1,456,898 for the year ended July 31, 2019 to $714,368 for the year 

ended July 31, 2020 due mainly to a decrease in the write-down of exploration and evaluation assets (year 

ended July 31, 2020: $15,290; year ended July 31, 2019: $765,415) as well as a decrease in operating 

expenses, offset by an increase in flow-through indemnification provision (year ended July 31, 2020: 

$135,000; year ended July 31, 2019: $Nil). Operating expenses decreased by $168,091 from $723,964 for 

the year ended July 31, 2019 to $555,873 for the year ended July 31, 2020 due mainly to a decrease in 

investor relations expenses offset by an increase in share-based payments. 

 

Decreased investor relations expenses (year ended July 31, 2020: $Nil; year ended July 31, 2019: $250,000) 

were due to the Company engaged two arm's length entities to provide digital marketing, digital media, 

corporate advisory and branding and strategic business services to the Company over an 18 month period 

from December 2017. The service contract expired on May 31, 2019. Management does not have plans to 

enter into new investor relations contract as the Company has streamlined its work and is not looking to 

replace those consultants. 

 

Increased share-based payments (year ended July 31, 2020: $59,832; year ended July 31, 2019: $Nil) were 

due to the Company granted 5,000,000 stock options to its directors and consultants at a price of $0.07 per 

share for a one-year term (expiring on January 20, 2021) during the year ended July 31, 2020 as compared 

to Nil stock options were granted during the year ended July 31, 2019. The Company may grant options 

that are available under the approved stock option plan in the next 12 months period. 

 

See “Nature of Business – Mineral Properties” for a discussion of the Company's mineral properties on a 

property by property basis, including its plans for the mineral properties, the status of its plans, expenditures 

made and the anticipated timing and costs to take its mineral properties to the next stage of the project plan. 

 

See “Overall Performance” for a discussion of the commitments, events, risks and uncertainties that the 

Company believe will materially affect its future performance and “Risks and Uncertainties” for a 

discussion of risk factors affecting the Company. 

 

Discussion of Operations  

 

Use of Proceeds  

 

The table below provides an update as to the status of how the Company has previously announced a 

proposed use of proceeds from prior financings and the actual use of such proceeds. 

 

Financing Previously Disclosed Use of Proceeds Status of Use of 
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$550,000 

Flow-through 

August 2017 

Private Placement 

Flow-through funds - towards existing 

Canadian properties.  
As of the date of this report, all 

flow-through funds have been 

used.  

 

In August 2017, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement (the "Offering") consisting of 

2,619,047 flow-through shares at $0.21 per share for gross proceeds of $550,000. The Company incurred 

filing fees of $4,100 and legal fees of $7,170, paid an aggregate finders' fees of $38,500, and issued 183,333 

broker warrants (the "Broker Warrants") in connection with the Offering. Each Broker Warrant is 

exercisable at $0.21 per share into one common share until August 11, 2020. 

 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 

Liquidity  

 

At July 31, 2021, the Company had $1,359,131 in cash and cash equivalents and a working capital of 

$1,093,052 as compared to $1,671,731 in cash and cash equivalents and a working capital of $1,581,463 at 

July 31, 2020. 

 

The Company’s current assets have decreased to $1,387,217 as at July 31, 2021 from $1,786,107 as at July 

31, 2020, due mainly to a decrease in cash and cash equivalents. The Company’s current liabilities have 

increased from $204,644 as at July 31, 2020 to $294,165 as at July 31, 2021 due to an increase in accounts 

payable and accrued liabilities as well as an increase in lease liability. The value ascribed to the Company’s 

exploration and evaluation assets has increased from $1,248,556 as at July 31, 2020 to $2,456,138 as at 

July 31, 2021, due mainly to the acquisition of the BC Diamond Projects, the Idaho Cobalt Belt Project and 

the Nevada Solar Lithium Project, offset by the write-down of ON Coleman Cobalt Prospect, as set 

described above. 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2021, the following occurred: 

 

 1,550,000 stock options were exercised at $0.07 per share and 400,000 stock options were exercised 

at $0.075 per share for gross proceeds of $138,500; and 

 

 5,219,355 share purchase warrants were exercised at $0.05 per share for gross proceeds of 

$260,968. 

Subsequent to July 31, 2021, the following occurred: 

 

 500,000 share purchase warrants were exercised at $0.05 per share for gross proceeds of $25,000; 

and 

 

 600,000 stock options were exercised at $0.075 per share for gross proceeds of $45,000. 

 

Management believes that the Company’s cash and cash equivalents may not be sufficient to meet the 

current working capital requirements, including the existing commitments relating to the Company's 

mineral properties. The Company expects to raise additional capital as the needs arise. See “Nature of 

Business – Mineral Properties” and “Overall Performance” for a discussion of the Company’s commitments 

relating to its mineral properties. As a mineral exploration company, its expenses are expected to increase 

as the Company explores its mineral properties further. Management does not expect the Company to 

generate sustained revenues from mineral production in the foreseeable future. 

 

The Company’s ability to conduct the planned work programs on its mineral properties, meet ongoing levels 

of corporate overhead and discharge its liabilities as they become due is dependent, in large part, on the 
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ability of management to raise additional funds as necessary. Management anticipates that additional equity 

financings will need to be conducted to raise additional funds which, if successful, will result in dilution in 

the equity interests of the Company’s current shareholders. Obtaining commercial loans, assuming those 

loans would be available, will increase the Company’s liabilities and future cash commitments.  Although 

the Company have secured financings in the past, there is no assurance that the Company will be able to do 

so in the future on terms that is favourable to the Company or at all.  The Company’s ability to raise 

additional funds in the future and its liquidity may be negatively impacted by a number of factors, including 

changes in commodity prices, market volatility and general economic downturns. 

 

There is substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern as the continuation of its business 

is dependent upon obtaining further long-term financing, successful exploration of its mineral property 

interests, the identification of reserves sufficient to warrant development, successful development of its 

property interests and achieving a profitable level of operations.  Due to the uncertainty of its ability to meet 

its current operating and capital expenses, in their notes to its audited financial statements for the year ended 

July 31, 2021, the Company’s independent auditors included an explanatory paragraph regarding their 

substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. 

 

Capital Resources 

 

The Company has the following commitments for capital expenditures with respect to its mineral properties 

as of July 31, 2021.  The expenditures are optional, and the Company may decide not to incur such payments 

in the event the Company does not decide to pursue further exploration with respect to such properties. As 

the BC Ministry continues to respond and adapt to the directions and orders issued in response to COVID-

19, the Chief Gold Commissioner has issued a blanket Time Extension Order for all claims and leases, as 

well as all coal licenses and leases. All the Company’s BC claims have fallen into this Order and therefore 

the Company has until December 31, 2021 to register a statement of exploration and development, or 

register payment instead of exploration and development. In addition, Ministry of Energy, Northern 

Development and Mines (“MNDM”) of Ontario published a bulletin, Exclusions of Time for Claim Holders 

Due to COVID-19, on April 17, 2020. Pursuant to the Bulletin, claim holders with claim anniversary dates 

on or before December 31, 2020 will be given an exclusion order by making a brief request via email. The 

exclusion orders will remove the requirement to carry out assessment work for a period of time of up to 12 

months. In February and May 2021, MNDM published two additional bulletins. Pursuant to the Bulletins, 

claim holders with claim anniversary dates on or before July 31, 2021 and October 31, 2021 will be given 

an exclusion order by making a brief request via email. The exclusion orders will remove the requirement 

to carry out assessment work for a period of time of up to 12 months. The Company has emailed the 

Provincial Recording Office at pro.ndm@ontario.ca to obtain the exclusion order for our qualified claims. 

 BC War Eagle Cobalt Prospects:  

o The Company owns a 100% interest in one mineral claim, which is in good standing until 

December 31, 2021. In order to keep this claim in good standing, the Company is required 

to incur a minimum of $9,362 in exploration expenditures on this claim by December 31, 

2021 or pay cash-in-lieu of $18,724. 

 BC Diamond Projects:  

o The Company owns a 100% interest in four mineral claims, which are in good standing 

until June 12, 2022. In order to keep these claims in good standing, the Company is required 

to incur a minimum of $7,083 in exploration expenditures on these claims by June 12, 2022 

or pay cash-in-lieu of $14,165. 

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/farming-natural-resources-and-industry/mineral-exploration-mining/documents/mineral-titles/13180-20-411_signed_order_march_27_2020.pdf
mailto:pro.ndm@ontario.ca
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 Yukon Quartz Claims:  

o Two Yukon Quartz claims are in good standing until October 3, 2022. In order to renew 

these claims for another year, the Company is required to pay an annual rent of $210 to the 

Government of Yukon by October 3, 2022 for the Yukon Quartz claims, unless the 

Company spends an amount greater than that in exploration beforehand.  

 Ontario Bucke Cobalt Prospects:  

o These mineral claims are in good standing until July 19, 2022 or later. In order to keep 

these claims in good standing, the Company is required to incur a minimum of $14,400 in 

exploration expenditures on these claims by July 19, 2022. 

 Ontario Coleman Cobalt Prospects:  

o 11 claim units are in good standing until July 19, 2022. In order to keep these claims in 

good standing, the Company is required to incur a minimum of $3,000 in exploration 

expenditures on these claims by July 19, 2022. 

o 8 claim units are in good standing until June 26, 2022 or later. In order to keep these claims 

in good standing, the Company is required to incur a minimum of $1,800 in exploration 

expenditures on these claims by June 26, 2022. 

 Ontario Hector Cobalt Prospects:  

o All Hector claims are in good standing until September 26, 2026 or later.  

 Ontario Johnson Cobalt Prospects:  

o 25 mineral claims are in good standing until July 19, 2022 or later. In order to keep these 

claims in good standing, the Company is required to incur a minimum of $6,000 in 

exploration expenditures on these claims by July 19, 2022. 

 Ontario Lorraine Cobalt Prospects:  

o 31 mineral claims are in good standing until December 29, 2021 or later. In order to keep 

these claims in good standing, the Company is required to incur a minimum of $10,600 in 

exploration expenditures on these claims or pay cash-in-lieu by December 29, 2021. 

 Nevada Clayton Valley West Lithium Prospect:  

o These mineral claims are in good standing until September 1, 2022. In order to keep these 

claims in good standing, the Company is required to pay BLM fees of USD$1,980. 

 Nevada Solar Lithium Project: 

o These mineral claims are in good standing until September 1, 2022. In order to keep these 

claims in good standing, the Company is required to pay BLM fees of USD$25,575. 

 Idaho Star Cobalt Prospect:  

o These mineral claims are in good standing until September 1, 2022. In order to keep these 

claims in good standing, the Company is required to pay maintenance fees of USD$660 by 

September 1, 2022. 
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 Idaho Cobalt Belt Project:  

o These mineral claims are in good standing until September 1, 2022. In order to keep these 

claims in good standing, the Company is required to pay maintenance fees of USD$19,470 

by September 1, 2022. 

 

See “Nature of Business – Mineral Properties” for a discussion of the Company’s capital expenditure 

commitments with respect to its mineral properties.  

 

On March 12, 2020, the Company entered into a lease agreement for office premises for a seven-year period 

beginning October 1, 2020 and ending September 30, 2027. The Company is required to pay monthly office 

rent (net of taxes) as follows: pay a total of $65,947 by July 31, 2022; pay a total of $66,781 by July 31, 

2023; pay a total of $67,615 by July 31, 2024; pay a total of $68,449 by July 31, 2025; pay a total of $69,283 

by July 31, 2026; pay a total of $70,117 by July 31, 2027; and pay a total of $11,709 by September 30, 

2027. However, the Company shares its office space with two related public companies and one non-related 

company. The Company invoices these companies for their share of the office rent on a monthly basis.  

 

Operating Activities  

 

During the year ended July 31, 2021 and, 2020, operating activities used cash of $395,414 and $525,546, 

respectively. The use of cash for the year ended July 31, 2021 was mainly attributable to its loss for the 

period of $887,156 offset by share-based payments of $167,709 and the write-down of exploration and 

evaluation assets of $151,065. The use of cash for the year ended July 31, 2020 was mainly attributable to 

its loss for the period of $714,368 offset by share-based payments of $59,832 and increased accounts 

payable and accrued liabilities of $155,344. 

 

Investing Activities  

  

During the year ended July 31, 2021, the Company used cash of $262,277 in investing activities due to 

investments in exploration and evaluation assets in the amount of $221,384 and acquisition of property and 

equipment in the amount of $40,893. During the year ended July 31, 2020, the Company used cash of 

$12,976 in investing activities due to investments in exploration and evaluation assets in the amount of 

$17,976 offset by $5,000 in recovery of exploration and evaluation assets. 

 

Financing Activities 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2021, the Company was provided $345,091 by financing activities, of which 

$399,468 was proceeds from issuance of share capital, offset by $54,377 in repayment of lease liability.  

 

During the year ended July 31, 2020, the Company was provided $147,706 by financing activities, of which 

$149,600 was proceeds from issuance of share capital, offset by share issue costs of $1,894. 

 

Changes in Accounting Policies including Initial Adoption 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2021, the Company has not adopted any new accounting policies. 

 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

 

The Company does not utilize off-balance sheet arrangements. 

 

Related Parties Transactions   

 

During the year ended July 31, 2021, the Company incurred aggregate management fees of $126,600 to 

two directors, James Nelson and Seth Kay. There are no management agreements in place and the Company 
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has no contractual requirement to continue paying management fees. During the year ended July 31, 2021, 

the Company accrued a total of $7,500 in directors’ fees payable to three directors, James Nelson, Seth Kay 

and Gregory Thomson (Mr. Thomson resigned on October 28, 2021). Management fees, directors’ fees and 

share-based payments are intended to compensate such persons for their time and dedication to the 

Company. 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2021, the Company paid $73,800 to an officer in consideration for 

accounting services provided to the Company.  Such payments were made in lieu of management fees to 

its Chief Financial Officer, Cindy Cai.  

 

During the year ended July 31, 2021, the Company incurred share-based payments of $113,203 to three 

directors and one officer, being $25,156 to each of James Nelson and Seth Kay; $20,964 to Gregory 

Thomson; and $41,927 to Cindy Cai. As a mineral exploration issuer, the Company partially relies on the 

issuance of stock options to compensate its directors and officers for their time and dedication to the 

Company. 

 

As at July 31, 2021, amount due to related parties were $10,000 (July 31, 2020: $7,500), which included 

the following: $2,500 each payable to James Nelson, Seth Kay, Gregory Thomson and Cindy Cai for unpaid 

directors’ and CFO fees.  

 

At July 31, 2021, related party receivables include $2,295 (July 31, 2020: $20,608) due from two public 

companies with common directors for recoverable office expenses as below: $1,377 due from Sienna 

Resources Inc. and $918 due from Spearmint Resources Inc. 

 

All transactions with related parties have occurred and are measured at the amount of consideration 

established and agreed to by the related parties. 

 

Fourth Quarter - Unaudited  

 

The Company did not have any revenue during the three months ended July 31, 2021 and 2020. Net 

comprehensive loss increased to $329,843 for the three months ended July 31, 2021 as compared to 

$283,982 for the three months ended July 31, 2020. The increase resulted primarily by an increase in the 

write-down of exploration and evaluation assets (three months ended July 31, 2021: $151,065; three months 

ended July 31, 2020: $Nil) as well as an increase in operating expenses, offset by a decrease in flow-through 

indemnification provision (three months ended July 31, 2021: $Nil; three months ended July 31, 2020: 

$135,000). 

 

Total operating expenses were $171,649 for the three months ended July 31, 2021, as compared to $122,400 

for the three months ended July 31, 2020. The increase resulted primarily from an increase of $22,500 in 

corporate branding expenses and an increase of $17,024 in professional fees.  

 

Corporate branding expenses increased during the three months ended July 31, 2021 to $22,500 (three 

months ended July 31, 2020: $Nil) which included the following: 

 

 $21,000 (three months ended July 31, 2020: $Nil) for online branding; and 

 $1,500 (three months ended July 31, 2020: $Nil) for social media services related to the corporate 

twitter. 

 

The corporate branding expenses were incurred to increase the awareness of the Company and the mining 

industry in general. Management anticipates such expenses may be similar or higher in the next 12-month 

period due to management’s decision regarding overall branding expenses, including a decision to increase 

online branding, or other such future services. 
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Higher professional fees incurred in the three months ended July 31, 2021 were related to property 

acquisitions completed in the period. Management anticipates such expenses may be similar in the next 12-

month period due to management’s decision to acquire or dispose the Company’s mineral properties. 
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Financial Instruments and Other Instruments 

 

Financial instruments  

 

Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of three levels in the fair value hierarchy 

according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values. The three levels of the fair 

value hierarchy are: 

 

Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either             

                directly or indirectly; and 

Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market data. 

 

The fair value of the Company’s receivables and accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximates 

their carrying values due to the short-term nature of the financial instruments. The Company’s cash and 

cash equivalents are measured at fair value using Level 1 inputs. 

 

The Company is exposed to varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks: 

 

Foreign Exchange Risk 

 

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes 

in foreign exchange rates.  As at July 31, 2021, the Company has a minimal exposure to the US$ that is 

subject to fluctuations as a result of exchange rate variations to the extent that transactions are made in this 

currency. The Company considers this risk to be insignificant and therefore does not hedge its foreign 

exchange risk. 

 

Credit Risk 

 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party 

by failing to discharge an obligation.  The Company’s cash and cash equivalents and receivables are 

exposed to credit risk.  The Company reduces its credit risk on cash and cash equivalents by placing these 

instruments with institutions of high credit worthiness.  As at July 31, 2021, the Company is not exposed 

to any significant credit risk. 

 

Interest Rate Risk 

 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in market interest rates. The Company has non-interest bearing debt instruments and is 

therefore not exposed to risk in the event of interest rate fluctuations. As at July 31, 2021, the Company is 

not exposed to any significant interest rate risk. 

 

Liquidity Risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with 

financial liabilities. The Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash balances to enable 

settlement of transactions on the due date.  The Company addresses its liquidity through equity financing 

obtained through the sale of common shares and the exercise of warrants and options. While the Company 

has been successful in securing financings in the past, there is no assurance that it will be able to do so in 

the future.   
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Price Risk 

 

The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. Commodity price risk is defined 

as the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic value due to commodity price movements and 

volatilities. The Company closely monitors the commodity prices of precious metals and the stock market 

to determine the appropriate course of action to be taken by the Company.  

 

Based on management’s knowledge and experience of the financial markets, management does not believe 

that the Company’s current financial instruments will be affected by foreign exchange risk, credit risk, 

interest rate risk and price risk. 

 

Proposed Transactions 

 

Other than as disclosed herein, the Company does not have any proposed transactions as of the date of this 

report. 

 

Additional Disclosure for Venture Issuers without Significant Revenue 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company incurred expenses including the following: 

 

 2021 2020 

   

Operating expenses $740,419 $555,873 

Capitalized exploration costs $233,647 $6,522 

Acquisition of exploration and evaluation assets $1,125,000 $Nil 

Recovery of exploration and evaluation assets $Nil $5,000 

Write-down of exploration and evaluation assets $151,065 $15,290 

 

Please refer to Note 9 Exploration and Evaluation Assets in the consolidated financial statements for the 

year ended July 31, 2021 for a description of the capitalized acquisition and exploration costs presented on 

a property-by-property basis. 

 

Disclosure of Outstanding Share Data 

 

Common Shares 

 

The Company has authorized an unlimited number of common shares without par value. 

 

As at July 31, 2021, the Company had 106,642,052 common shares issued and outstanding. Subsequent to 

July 31, 2021, the Company issued a total of 500,000 common shares for share purchase warrant exercise 

and issued a total of 600,000 common shares for stock option exercise. As at November 5, 2021, the 

Company had 107,742,052 common shares issued and outstanding. 

 

Stock options 

 

As at July 31, 2021, the Company had 3,600,000 stock options outstanding and exercisable which entitles 

the holders thereof the right to purchase one common share for each option held at an exercise price of 

$0.075 per share until January 14, 2022.  

 

Subsequent to July 31, 2021, 600,000 stock options were exercised into common shares and 500,000 stock 

options were forfeited due to resignation of one director, all at a price of $0.075 per share. As at November 

5, 2021, the Company had 2,500,000 stock options outstanding. 
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Warrants 

 

As at July 31, 2021, the Company had 3,006,452 share purchase warrants outstanding.  Each warrant entitles 

the holder the right to purchase one common share as follows: 

 

    Exercise   

Number  Price  Expiry Date 

     

  3,006,452  $0.05   January 17, 2025 

 

Subsequent to July 31, 2021, 500,000 share purchase warrants were exercised into common shares at a 

price of $0.05 per share. As at November 5, 2021, the Company had 2,506,452 share purchase warrants 

outstanding. 

 

Risks and Uncertainties  

 

Because of the unique difficulties and uncertainties inherent in mineral exploration ventures, the Company 

faces a high risk of business failure. 

 

Potential investors should be aware of the difficulties normally encountered by mineral exploration 

companies and the high rate of failure of such enterprises.  The likelihood of success must be considered in 

light of the problems, expenses, difficulties, complications and delays encountered in connection with the 

exploration program that the Company intend to undertake on its properties and any additional properties 

that the Company may acquire.  These potential problems include unanticipated problems relating to 

exploration, and additional costs and expenses that may exceed current estimates.  The expenditures to be 

made by the Company in the exploration of the properties may not result in the discovery of any mineral 

deposits.  Any expenditure that the Company may make in the exploration of any other mineral property 

that the Company may acquire may not result in the discovery of any commercially exploitable mineral 

deposits.  Problems such as unusual or unexpected geological formations and other conditions are involved 

in all mineral exploration and often result in unsuccessful and/or expensive exploration efforts.  If the results 

of the exploration do not reveal viable commercial mineralization, the Company may decide to abandon or 

sell some or all the property interests. 

 

Because of the speculative nature of the exploration of mineral properties, there is no assurance that the 

exploration activities will result in the discovery of any quantities of mineral deposits on the current 

properties or any other additional properties the Company may acquire. 

 

The Company intend to continue exploration on the current properties and the Company may or may not 

acquire additional interests in other mineral properties.  The search for mineral deposits as a business is 

extremely risky.  The Company can provide investors with no assurance that exploration on the current 

properties, or any other property that the Company may acquire, will establish that any commercially 

exploitable quantities of mineral deposits exist.  Additional potential problems may prevent the Company 

from discovering any mineral deposits.  These potential problems include unanticipated problems relating 

to exploration and additional costs and expenses that may exceed current estimates.  If the Company is 

unable to establish the presence of mineral deposits on the properties, the Company's ability to fund future 

exploration activities will be impeded, the Company will not be able to operate profitably, and investors 

may lose all their investment in the Company. 

 

Because of the inherent dangers involved in mineral exploration and exploitation, there is a risk that the 

Company may incur liability or damages as the Company conducts business. 

 

The search for mineral deposits involves numerous hazards.  As a result, the Company may become subject 

to liability for such hazards, including pollution, cave-ins and other hazards against which the Company 

cannot insure or against which the Company may elect not to insure.  At the present time the Company 
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have no coverage to insure against these hazards.  The payment of such liabilities may have a material 

adverse effect on the Company's financial position. 

 

The potential profitability of mineral ventures depends in part upon factors beyond the control of the 

Company and even if the Company discovers and exploits mineral deposits, the Company may never 

become commercially viable and the Company may be forced to cease operations. 

 

The commercial feasibility of an exploration program on a mineral property is dependent upon many factors 

beyond the Company's control, including the existence and size of mineral deposits in the properties the 

Company explore, the proximity and capacity of processing equipment, market fluctuations of prices, taxes, 

royalties, land tenure, allowable production and environmental regulation.  These factors cannot be 

accurately predicted and any one or a combination of these factors may result in the Company not receiving 

any return on invested capital.  These factors may have material and negative effects on financial 

performance and the Company's ability to continue operations. 

 

Exploration and exploitation activities are subject to comprehensive regulation which may cause 

substantial delays or require capital outlays in excess of those anticipated causing an adverse effect on the 

Company. 

 

Exploration and exploitation activities are subject to foreign, federal, provincial, and local laws, regulations 

and policies, including laws regulating the removal of natural resources from the ground and the discharge 

of materials into the environment.  Exploration and exploitation activities are also subject to foreign, 

federal, provincial, and local laws and regulations which seek to maintain health and safety standards by 

regulating the design and use of drilling methods and equipment.  Properties may also be subject to complex 

Aboriginal claims. 

 

Environmental and other legal standards imposed by foreign, federal, provincial, or local authorities may 

be changed, and any such changes may prevent the Company from conducting planned activities or may 

increase costs of doing so, which would have material adverse effects on the Company's business.  

Moreover, compliance with such laws may cause substantial delays or require capital outlays in excess of 

those anticipated, thus causing an adverse effect on the Company, especially, foreign laws and regulations.  

Additionally, the Company may be subject to liability for pollution or other environmental damages that 

the Company may not be able to or elect not to insure against due to prohibitive premium costs and other 

reasons.  Any laws, regulations or policies of any government body or regulatory agency may be changed, 

applied or interpreted in a manner which will alter and negatively affect the Company's ability to carry on 

business. 

 

Because the Company's property interests may not contain any mineral deposits and because the Company 

has never made a profit from operations, the Company's securities are highly speculative, and investors 

may lose all their investment in the Company. 

 

The Company's securities must be considered highly speculative, generally because of the nature of its 

business and the stage of exploration.  The Company currently has exploration stage property interests 

which may not contain mineral deposits.  The Company may or may not acquire additional interests in other 

mineral properties, but the Company does not have plans to acquire rights in any specific mineral properties 

as of the date of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis.  Accordingly, the Company have not 

generated any revenues nor have the Company realized a profit from operations to date and there is little 

likelihood that the Company will generate any revenues or realize any profits in the short term.  Any 

profitability in the future from the Company's business will be dependent upon locating and exploiting 

mineral deposits on current properties or mineral deposits on any additional properties that the Company 

may acquire and subsequent development.  The likelihood that any mineral properties that the Company 

may acquire or have an interest in will contain commercially exploitable mineral deposits is extremely 

remote.  The Company may never discover mineral deposits in respect to current properties or any other 

area, or the Company may do so and still not be commercially successful if the Company is unable to 
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exploit those mineral deposits profitably.  The Company may not be able to operate profitably and may 

have to cease operations, the price of the Company's securities may decline, and investors may lose all their 

investment in the Company. 

 

As the Company face intense competition in the mineral exploration and exploitation industry, the Company 

will have to compete with competitors for financing and for qualified managerial and technical employees. 

 

Competition includes large established mining companies with substantial capabilities and with greater 

financial and technical resources than the Company have.  As a result of this competition, the Company 

may have to compete for financing and be unable to conduct any financing on terms the Company consider 

acceptable.  The Company may also have to compete with the other mining companies for the recruitment 

and retention of qualified managerial and technical employees.  If the Company is unable to successfully 

compete for financing or for qualified employees, the exploration programs may be slowed down or 

suspended, which may cause operations to cease as a company. 

 

The Company have a history of losses and have a deficit, which raises substantial doubt about its ability to 

continue as a going concern. 

 

The Company has not generated any revenues during the year ended July 31, 2021 and 2020. The Company 

will continue to incur operating expenses without revenues if and until the Company engages in commercial 

operations. Accumulated loss as of July 31, 2021 was $18,933,796 since inception. The Company had cash 

and cash equivalents in the amount of $1,359,131 as at July 31, 2021. The Company estimates the average 

monthly operating expenses to be approximately $40,000 each month. This estimate depends on whether 

the Company is active or inactive with the work programs. The Company cannot provide assurances that 

the Company will be able to successfully explore and develop its property interests. These circumstances 

raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern, which was also described in an 

explanatory paragraph to the independent auditors' report on the Company's audited financial statements, 

July 31, 2021. If the Company is unable to continue as a going concern, investors will likely lose all their 

investments in the Company. 

 

The Company's future is dependent upon its ability to obtain financing and if the Company does not obtain 

such financing, the Company may have to cease its exploration activities and investors could lose their 

entire investment. 

 

There is no assurance that the Company will operate profitably or will generate any positive cash flow in 

the future.  The Company will require additional financing in order to proceed with the exploration and, if 

warranted, development of its properties.  The Company will also require additional financing for fees the 

Company must pay to maintain its status in relation to the rights to the properties and to pay the fees and 

expenses necessary to operate as a public company.  The Company will also need more funds if the costs 

of the exploration of its mineral claims are greater than the Company has anticipated.  The Company will 

require additional financing to sustain its business operations if the Company is not successful in earning 

revenues.  The Company will also need further financing if the Company decides to obtain additional 

mineral properties.  The Company currently does not have any arrangements for further financing as the 

Company believes that it is sufficiently funded for the current operations but in future the Company expects 

to raise additional capital as the needs arise.  The Company's future is dependent upon its ability to obtain 

financing.  If the Company does not obtain such financing, its business could fail, and investors could lose 

their entire investment. 

 

The Company's directors and officers are engaged in other business activities and accordingly may not 

devote sufficient time to the Company's business affairs, which may affect its ability to conduct operations 

and generate revenues. 

 

The Company's directors and officers are involved in other business activities.  As a result of their other 

business endeavours, the Company's directors and officers will exercise their fiduciary duties and duty of 
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care but nonetheless may not be able to devote sufficient time to the Company's business affairs, which 

may negatively affect the Company's ability to conduct ongoing operations and its ability to generate 

revenues.  In addition, the management of the Company may be periodically interrupted or delayed as a 

result of the Company's officers’ other business interests. 

 

RISKS RELATING TO THE COMPANY'S COMMON STOCK 

 

A decline in the price of the Company's common stock could affect its ability to raise further working capital 

and adversely impact ability to continue operations. 

 

A prolonged decline in the price of the Company's common stock could result in a reduction in the liquidity 

of its common stock and a reduction in its ability to raise capital. Because a significant portion of operations 

have been and will be financed through the continued sale of equity securities, a decline in the price of the 

common stock could be especially detrimental to liquidity and operations. Such reductions may force the 

Company to reallocate funds from other planned uses and may have a significant negative effect on business 

plans and operations, including the ability to continue current operations. If the Company's stock price 

declines, the Company can offer no assurance that it will be able to raise additional capital or generate funds 

from operations sufficient to meet its obligations. If the Company is unable to raise sufficient capital in the 

future, the Company may not be able to have the resources to continue normal operations or become 

insolvent. 

 

The market price for the Company's common stock may also be affected by its ability to meet or exceed 

expectations of analysts or investors. Any failure to meet these expectations, even if minor, may have a 

material adverse effect on the market price of its common stock and its operations as a result.  

 

Additional Information 

 

The Company files annual and interim reports, information circulars and other information with certain 

Canadian securities regulatory authorities.  The documents filed with the Canadian securities regulatory 

authorities are available at http://www.sedar.com. 



CRUZ COBALT CORP. 
For the year ended July 31, 2020 

 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis ("MD&A") 

 

Date of Report: November 26, 2020 

 

The following discussion and analysis of the Company's financial condition and results of operations for 

the year ended July 31, 2020 should be read in conjunction with its consolidated financial statements and 

related notes. The requisite financial data presented for the relevant periods has been prepared in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting 

Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting 

Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).  

 

All dollar figures included therein and in the following MD&A are quoted in Canadian dollars. Additional 

information relevant to the Company’s activities can be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

 

Disclaimer for Forward-Looking Information 

 

Certain statements in this report are forward-looking statements, which reflect management’s expectations 

regarding the Company's future growth, results of operations, performance, business prospects and 

opportunities such as the intended work programs on its existing property interests, the ability to meet 

financial commitments and the ability to raise funds when required.  Forward-looking statements consist of 

statements that are not purely historical, including any statements regarding beliefs, plans, expectations or 

intentions regarding the future. Such statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that may cause actual 

results, performance or developments to differ materially from those contained in the statements.  No 

assurance can be given that any of the events anticipated by the forward-looking statements will occur or, 

if they do occur, what benefits the Company will obtain from them.  These forward-looking statements 

reflect management’s current views and are based on certain assumptions and speak only as of the date of 

this Management’s Discussion and Analysis.  These assumptions, which include management’s current 

expectations, estimates and assumptions about its current property interests, the global economic 

environment, the market price and demand for mineral commodities and its ability to manage the property 

interests and operating costs, may prove to be incorrect.  A number of risks and uncertainties could cause 

the actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements, 

including: (1) a downturn in general economic conditions, (2) a decreased demand or price for mineral 

commodities, (3) delays in the start of projects with respect to its property interests, (4) inability to locate 

and acquire additional property interests, (5) the uncertainty of government regulation and politics in North 

America regarding mineral exploration and mining, (6) potential negative financial impact from regulatory 

investigations, claims, lawsuits and other legal proceedings and challenges, and (7) other factors beyond its 

control. 

 

There is a significant risk that such forward-looking statements will not prove to be accurate.  Investors are 

cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements.  No forward-looking statement 

is a guarantee of future results.  Except as required by law, the Company disclaims any intention or 

obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements.  Additional information about these and 

other assumptions, risks and uncertainties are set out in the section entitled “Risk Factors” below. 

 

Nature of Business 

 

Cruz Cobalt Corp. (the "Company") is involved in the identification, acquisition and exploration of mineral 

properties that management deems as potentially viable to assist in the growth of the Company.  At July 

31, 2020, the Company had mineral property interests located in Canada and in the USA.  
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Mineral Properties 

 

Ontario Cobalt Prospects 

 

In July 2016, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement (the “Cobalt Locaters SPA”) with four 

arm’s length vendors to purchase all of the issued and outstanding shares of Cobalt Locaters Inc., which 

holds a 100% interest in two cobalt prospects in B.C. and a 50% interest in four cobalt prospects in Ontario 

consisting of the Coleman Cobalt Prospect, the Bucke Cobalt Prospect, the Hector Cobalt Prospect, and the 

Johnson Cobalt Prospect. In March 2019, the Company acquired the remaining 50% interest in the above 

four Ontario cobalt prospects from an arm's length vendor at no costs. As of today, the Company holds a 

100% interest in the above four cobalt prospects in Ontario and two in B.C. 

 

In September 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in: 22 additional claim units for staking costs 

of $2,200 to increase the acreage of the Johnson Cobalt Prospect to approximately 988 acres; 36 claim units 

for staking costs of $3,600 to increase the acreage of Bucke Cobalt Prospect to approximately 1,458 acres; 

and 137 claim units for staking costs of $13,700 to increase the acreage of the Hector Cobalt Prospect to 

approximately 6,146 acres. 

 

In June 2017, the Company acquired a 100% interest in additional mineral claims in Ontario to increase the 

holdings in its Coleman Cobalt Prospect to approximately 1,525 acres for staking costs of $1,268. 

 

In December 2017, the Company acquired a 100% interest in additional mineral claims in Ontario referred 

to as the Lorraine Cobalt Prospect for staking costs of $40,000. In August 2019, the Company decided to 

drop these claims and allowed them to lapse when they became due. Accordingly, prior staking costs of 

$40,000 were written off as of July 31, 2019. 

 

In January and April 2018, the Company acquired a 100% interest in additional mineral claims in Ontario 

referred to as the Lorraine Cobalt Prospect for staking costs of $20,890. During the year ended July 31, 

2020, the Company decided to drop certain claims and allowed them to lapse when they became due. 

Accordingly, prior staking costs of $15,290 were written off. 

 

On November 6, 2019, the Company entered into an agreement with RJK Explorations Ltd. (“RJK”), an 

arm’s length party. Pursuant to the agreement, RJK paid $5,000 to the Company in exchange for the 

exclusive right for a period of 30 days from the date of such payment, at RJK’s own risk and expense, to 

enter on the Lorraine claims to conduct mineral sampling activities and geophysical surveys. Accordingly, 

$5,000 were used to offset prior acquisition costs of the Lorraine claims.  

 

As disclosed in a news release on January 28, 2019, the Company completed an exploration diamond drill 

program at its 4,980-acre Hector Cobalt Property comprising 10 holes totaling 843 metres (m).  

 

The drilling was designed to test combined surface rock and soil geochemical and ground magnetic 

geophysical anomalies at the Hector and Gilles East targets, which were generated during the Company’s 

summer 2018 surface exploration programs that yielded surface rock grab samples up to 2.0% cobalt, in 

addition to anomalous silver and gold values. 

 

A series of four closely spaced shallow drill holes totaling 395 m tested the Hector anomaly; three holes 

totaling 264 m targeted Gilles East 1; and three holes totaling 185 m at the targeting Gilles East 2 were 

completed (Table 1).  
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Table 1: Hector Cobalt Property Fall 2018 Diamond Drill Results 

 

Target Drill Hole From (m) To (m) 
Interval 

(m)* 
Co (ppm) Cu (ppm) Au (ppb) Ag (ppm) 

Hector 

18HC01 5.12 16.00 10.88 66 132 - - 

and 24.00 25.00 1.00 110 - - - 

18HC02 83.45 84.45 1.00 310 60 - - 

and 89.45 91.45 2.00 110 110 - - 

and 94.33 95.02 0.69 130 150 - - 

18HC03 11.80 17.00 5.20 - 127 - - 

and 89.10 89.60 0.50 130 240 - - 

and 93.40 95.50 2.10 90 300 - - 

18HC04 92.00 93.00 1.00 80 410 - - 

Gilles East 1 
18HC06 10.50 15.50 5.00 42 162 - - 

and 50.00 51.00 1.00 50 650 - - 

Gillies East 2 

18HC08 8.00 9.00 1.00 - - 37 1.3 

and 18.00 21.00 3.00 97 57 - - 

18HC09 18.00 23.00 5.00 - 472 - - 

including 18.00 19.00 1.00 - 1420 - - 

and 74.15 74.65 0.50 120 - 21 - 

18HC10 15.00 16.00 1.00 110 - 33 - 

and 18.00 21.00 3.00 - 283 - - 

including 19.00 20.00 1.00 - 560 - - 

* The true width of mineralization is estimated to be 70-80% of the drilled interval 

 

Possible follow up work and drill programs are currently being formulated by management.  
 

As at July 31, 2020, the Company had spent a total of $589,515 in exploration expenditures on the Ontario 

cobalt prospects. 

 

Nevada Clayton Valley West Lithium Prospect 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2016, the Company entered into an agreement with an arm's-length vendor 

to acquire a 100% interest in six claim blocks in the Clayton Valley in Nevada, USA prospective for lithium.   

 

As of July 31, 2020, the Company had incurred a total of $10,905 in claim maintenance fees on this 

prospect. 

 

BC War Eagle Cobalt Prospect 

 

In June 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in British Columbia for 

staking costs of $3,496 and in January 2018, the Company acquired a 100% interest in additional mineral 

claims in British Columbia for staking costs of $7,283 to increase the acreage on the War Eagle Cobalt 

Prospect to 15,219 acres.   

 

In October 2018, the Company decided to drop certain War Eagle claims that comprised approximately 

10,284 acres and allowed them to lapse when they became due. Accordingly, prior acquisition costs of 

$7,283 and exploration costs of $12,716 associated with these lapsed claims were written off as of July 31, 

2018. 
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During the year ended July 31, 2019, the Company decided to further reduce the size of certain War Eagle 

claims from 4,936 acres to 1,542 acres. Accordingly, prior acquisition costs of $2,404 and exploration costs 

of $18,705 were written off. 

 

As at July 31, 2020, the Company had spent a total of $10,998 in exploration expenditures on this prospect. 

 

Yukon Quartz Claims  

 

During the year ended July 31, 2010, the Company acquired a 100% interest in ninety-five load quartz 

mineral claims covering an area of approximately 4,836 acres, located in the Yukon Territory.  

 

During the years ended July 31, 2013, 2015 and 2016, the Company decided not to continue with certain 

claims and allowed these claims to lapse when they became due. Accordingly, prior acquisition costs of 

$670,862 and exploration costs of $34,838 associated with these lapsed claims were written off. 

 

As at July 31, 2020, the Company had spent a total of $2,127 in exploration expenditures on the remaining 

Yukon quartz claims. 

 

Idaho Star Cobalt Prospect 

 

In October 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in the Idaho Star Cobalt Prospect in Idaho, U.S.A. 

for staking costs of $39,964. This prospect is located approximately 9 miles southwest of Saltese, Montana 

and 19 miles southeast of Wallace, Idaho. This prospect consists of 44 contiguous claims within the Idaho 

Cobalt Belt. 

 

In August 2018, the Company decided to drop certain Idaho claims and allowed them to lapse when they 

became due. Prior acquisition costs of $36,330 and exploration costs of $32,122 were written down as of 

July 31, 2018. 

 

The Company is considering a follow up program. However, a final decision has not been concluded at this 

time.  

 

As at July 31, 2020, the Company had spent a total of $4,948 in exploration expenditures on this prospect. 

 

BC Diamond Projects & Idaho Cobalt Belt Project 

 

On September 1, 2020, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement (the “SPA”) with two arm’s 

length vendors (the “Vendors”) to purchase 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of 1205011 B.C. 

Ltd. (“1205011”), which through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Idaho Cobalt Discoveries Corp., holds a 

100% interest in one cobalt prospect in Idaho, U.S.A. (the “Idaho Cobalt Belt Project”) and three diamond 

projects in B.C. (the “BC Diamond Projects”). The acquisition has been accounted for as an asset 

acquisition. In September 2020, the Company issued 9,000,000 shares to the Vendors pursuant to the SPA. 

1205011 became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. 

 

The Company will continue exploration activities on its properties. In March 2020 the World Health 

Organization declared coronavirus COVID-19 a global pandemic. This contagious disease outbreak, which 

has continued to spread, and any related adverse public health developments, has adversely affected 

workforces, economies, and financial markets globally, potentially leading to an economic downturn. It is 

not possible for the Company to predict the duration or magnitude of the adverse results of the outbreak 

and its effects on the Company’s business or ability to raise funds. While the Company has been successful 

in securing financings in the past, there is no assurance that the Company will be able to do so in the future, 

and/or that the Company will be able to raise sufficient funds to meet its work commitments for all of its 

properties. 
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Overall Performance  

 

The Company is a mineral exploration company engaged in the business of acquisition, exploration and, if 

warranted, development of mineral properties. The Company does not expect to generate any revenues in 

the foreseeable future or until a mineable reserve is defined and economically recoverable.  The Company 

expects to continue to incur expenses as it works to further explore and develop its mineral properties.  

 

The Company has conducted limited exploration on some of its properties, due to, among other things, the 

availability of sufficient funds for the purposes of mineral exploration and development, access to the 

property due to climate conditions, the uncertainties associated with the prices of precious and base metals 

and other minerals, and the global economic climate.  The Company is in the process of exploring its 

mineral properties and has not yet determined whether the properties contain reserves that are economically 

recoverable.  

 

The Company’s future performance is largely tied to the outcome of future exploration and the overall 

financial markets. The recoverability of minerals from the Company’s properties is dependent upon, among 

other things, the discovery of economically recoverable reserves, the ability of the Company to obtain 

necessary financing to continue to explore and develop its properties and upon future profitable production. 

In March 2020 the World Health Organization declared coronavirus COVID-19 a global pandemic. This 

contagious disease outbreak, which has continued to spread, and any related adverse public health 

developments, has adversely affected workforces, economies, and financial markets globally, potentially 

leading to an economic downturn. It is not possible for the Company to predict the duration or magnitude 

of the adverse results of the outbreak and its effects on the Company’s business or ability to raise funds. 

Uncertainty in credit markets, fluctuation in commodity prices and general economic downturns has led to 

increased difficulties in raising and borrowing funds. As a result, the Company may have difficulty raising 

equity financing for the purposes of exploration and development of the Company’s properties, without 

diluting the interests of current shareholders of the Company. See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” and 

“Risk and Uncertainties” for a discussion of risk factors that may impact the Company’s ability to raise 

funds. 

 

Information about the Company’s commitments relating to its mineral properties is discussed above under 

“Nature of Business – Mineral Properties”. 

 

The Company did not generate any revenue during the years ended July 31, 2020 and 2019. The Company’s 

net comprehensive loss decreased from $1,456,898 for the year ended July 31, 2019 to $714,368 for the 

year ended July 31, 2020, mainly due to a decrease in operating expenses as well as a decrease in the write-

down of exploration and evaluation assets, offset by an increase in flow-through indemnification provision. 

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents decreased from $2,062,547 as at July 31, 2019 to $1,671,731 as 

at July 31, 2020. The Company had a working capital of $1,581,463 as at July 31, 2020 as compared to 

$2,074,525 as at July 31, 2019. 

 

The Company’s current assets have decreased to $1,786,107 as at July 31, 2020 from $2,135,279 as at July 

31, 2019, due mainly to a decrease in cash and cash equivalents. The Company’s current liabilities have 

increased from $60,754 as at July 31, 2019 to $204,644 as at July 31, 2020 due to an increase in accounts 

payable and accrued liabilities. The value ascribed to the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets has 

decreased from $1,262,324 as at July 31, 2019 to $1,248,556 as at July 31, 2020, due mainly to a write-

down of the Ontario cobalt properties offset by claim maintenance fees incurred to keep the U.S. and Yukon 

claims in good standing as set described above. 

 

Additional information about the risks and uncertainties relating to the Company’s business and financial 

performance is discussed below under “Risks and Uncertainties”. 
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Summary of Quarterly Results 

 

The following table sets out selected quarterly financial data for the eight most recently completed interim 

quarters: 

 
 

 
2020 

Fourth 

2020 

Third 

2020 

Second 

2020 

First 

2019 

Fourth 

2019 

Third 

2019 

Second 

2019 

First 

 

Revenues 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

Operating 

expenses 

 

$(122,400) 

 

$(132,838) 

 

$(200,425) 

 

$(100,210) 

 

$(173,272) 

 

$(185,645) 

 

$(200,646) 

 

$(164,401) 

 

Loss before other items 

 

$(122,400) 

 

$(132,838) 

 

$(200,425) 

 

$(100,210) 

 

$(173,272) 

 

$(185,645) 

 

$(200,646) 

 

$(164,401) 

Loss per share 

(Basic and diluted) 

 

$(0.003) 

 

$(0.002) 

 

$(0.003) 

 

$(0.001) 

 

$(0.002) 

 

$(0.002) 

 

$(0.003) 

 

$(0.002) 

 

Other items: 

        

Interest income 

 

$5,418 

 

$6,178 

 

$12,043 

 

$156 

 

$7,023 

 

$7,799 

 

$8,620 

 

$9,039 

Flow-through 

indemnification provision 

 

$(135,000) 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

Part XII.6 tax 

          

$(32,000) 

          

$Nil 

          

$Nil 

          

$Nil 

          

$Nil 

          

$Nil 

          

$Nil 

          

$Nil 

Write-down of mineral 

properties 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

(15,290) 

 

$Nil 

 

$(765,415) 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

Net comprehensive loss 

 

$(283,982) 

 

$(126,660) 

 

$(203,672) 

 

$(100,054) 

 

$(931,664) 

 

$(177,846) 

 

$(192,026) 

 

$(155,362) 

Basic and diluted loss per 

share  

 

$(0.001) 

 

$(0.002) 

 

$(0.003) 

 

$(0.001) 

 

$(0.012) 

 

$(0.002) 

 

$(0.002) 

 

$(0.002) 

 

Summary of Results During Prior Eight Quarters 

 

Net comprehensive loss increased by $36,664 from the first to the second quarter of 2019 mainly due to an 

increase in management fees and other expenses. Net comprehensive loss decreased by $14,180 from the 

second to the third quarter of 2019 mainly due to a decrease in management fees and professional fees 

offset by an increase in corporate branding expenses. Net comprehensive loss increased by $753,818 from 

the third to the fourth quarter of 2019 mainly due to an increase in the write-down of exploration and 

evaluation assets. Net comprehensive loss decreased by $831,610 from the fourth quarter of 2019 to the 

first quarter of 2020 mainly due to a decrease in the write-down of exploration and evaluation assets. Net 

comprehensive loss increased by $103,618 from the first to the second quarter of 2020 mainly due to an 

increase in share-based payments and in management and directors’ fees. Net comprehensive loss decreased 

by $77,012 from the second to the third quarter of 2020 mainly due to a decrease in share-based payments. 

Net comprehensive loss increased by $157,322 from the third to the fourth quarter of 2020 mainly due to 

an increase in flow-through indemnification provision. 
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Selected Annual Information 

 

The following table sets out selected audited financial information for the Company, which has been prepared 

in accordance with IFRS: 

 

 Year ended July 31, 
 2020 2019 2018 

 
Total revenues 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 
Loss before discontinued operations and extraordinary items: 

 
Total 

 
$(714,368) 

 
$(1,456,898) 

 
$(1,988,331) 

 
Per share 

 
$(0.01) 

 
$(0.02) 

 
$(0.03) 

 
Per share fully diluted 

 
$(0.01) 

 
$(0.02) 

 
$(0.03) 

Net comprehensive loss: 

 
Total 

 
$(714,368) 

 
$(1,456,898) 

 
$(1,988,331) 

 
Per share 

 
$(0.01) 

 
$(0.02) 

 
$(0.03) 

 
Per share fully diluted 

 
$(0.01) 

 
$(0.02) 

 
$(0.03) 

 
Total assets 

 
$3,034,663 

 
$3,397,603 

 
$4,836,901 

 
Total long term debt 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 
Cash dividends 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 

Year ended July 31, 2020 Compared to the Year ended July 31, 2019 

 

The Company did not generate any revenue for the years ended July 31, 2020 and 2019. Net comprehensive 

loss decreased by $742,530 from $1,456,898 for the year ended July 31, 2019 to $714,368 for the year 

ended July 31, 2020 due mainly to a decrease in the write-down of exploration and evaluation assets (year 

ended July 31, 2020: $15,290; year ended July 31, 2019: $765,415) as well as a decrease in operating 

expenses, offset by an increase in flow-through indemnification provision (year ended July 31, 2020: 

$135,000; year ended July 31, 2019: $Nil). Operating expenses decreased by $168,091 from $723,964 for 

the year ended July 31, 2019 to $555,873 for the year ended July 31, 2020 due mainly to a decrease in 

investor relations expenses offset by an increase in share-based payments. 

 

Decreased investor relations expenses (year ended July 31, 2020: $Nil; year ended July 31, 2019: $250,000) 

were due to the Company engaged two arm's length entities to provide digital marketing, digital media, 

corporate advisory and branding and strategic business services to the Company over an 18 month period 

from December 2017. The service contract expired on May 31, 2019. Management does not have plans to 

enter into new investor relations contract as the Company has streamlined its work and is not looking to 

replace those consultants. 

 

Increased share-based payments (year ended July 31, 2020: $59,832; year ended July 31, 2019: $Nil) were 

due to the Company granted 5,000,000 stock options to its directors and consultants at a price of $0.07 per 

share for a one-year term (expiring on January 20, 2021) during the year ended July 31, 2020 as compared 
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to Nil stock options were granted during the year ended July 31, 2019. The Company may grant options 

that are available under the approved stock option plan in the next 12 months period. 

 

Year ended July 31, 2019 Compared to the Year ended July 31, 2018 

 

The Company did not generate any revenue for the years ended July 31, 2019 and 2018. Net comprehensive 

loss decreased by $531,433 from $1,988,331 for the year ended July 31, 2018 to $1,456,898 for the year 

ended July 31, 2019 due mainly to a decrease in operating expenses offset by a decrease in other income 

on settlement of flow-through share premium (year ended July 31, 2019: $Nil; year ended July 31, 2018: 

$45,098) and an increase in the write-down of exploration and evaluation assets (year ended July 31, 2019: 

$765,415; year ended July 31, 2018: $456,000). Operating expenses decreased by $900,134 from 

$1,624,098 for the year ended July 31, 2018 to $723,964 for the year ended July 31, 2019 due mainly to a 

decrease in consulting fees, professional fees, share-based payments, and corporate branding expenses, 

offset by an increase in investor relations expenses. 

 

Consulting fees paid by the Company (year ended July 31, 2019: $88,230; year ended July 31, 2018: 

$129,625) generally include the following three categories: corporate and business advisory; geological and 

related advisory services; secretarial and data entry services.  

 

Total consulting fees during the year ended July 31, 2019 consisted of $84,000 (year ended July 31, 2018: 

$84,000) for business advisory services. Such payments were generally made to third party consultants for 

certain corporate advisory, strategic planning and related advisory services that assisted in project 

evaluation. The Company paid $Nil during the year ended July 31, 2019 (year ended July 31, 2018: 

$45,625) for internal secretarial and data entry services. The Company also paid $4,230 during the year 

ended July 31, 2019 (year ended July 31, 2018: $Nil) for geological advisory services. Consulting fees 

decreased because certain consultants no longer work for the Company and the Company has streamlined 

its work and is not looking to replace those consultants.  

 

Decreased professional fees (year ended July 31, 2018: $100,803; year ended July 31, 2018: $143,795) 

were due to a decrease in legal fees (year ended July 31, 2018: $11,003; year ended July 31, 2018: $58,255). 

Lower legal fees in the 2019 year were due to less services rendered in relation to corporate governance.  

 

Decreased share-based payments (year ended July 31, 2019: $Nil; year ended July 31, 2018: $364,182) 

were due to the Company did not grant any stock options during the year ended July 31, 2019 as compared 

to 6,000,000 stock options were granted to its directors and consultants at a price of $0.20 per share for a 

one-year term (expiring on November 9, 2018) during the year ended July 31, 2018.  

 

During the year ended July 31, 2019, the Company incurred a total of $31,072 (year ended July 31, 2018: 

$500,832) in corporate branding expenses, of which $12,000 (year ended July 31, 2018: $12,000) was for 

social media services related to the corporate twitter, $9,072 (year ended July 31, 2018: $10,207) was for 

the Company's President and one director to attend the 2019 PDAC Convention in Toronto, and $10,000 

(year ended July 31, 2018: $50,854) was for other branding expenses. The corporate branding expenses 

were incurred to increase the awareness of the Company and the cobalt industry in general.  

 

Increased investor relations expenses (year ended July 31, 2019: $250,000; year ended July 31, 2018: 

$200,000) were due to the Company engaged two arm's length entities to provide digital marketing, digital 

media, corporate advisory and branding and strategic business services to the Company over an 18 month 

period from December 2017. The Company prepaid the total amount of $450,000 to these two entities using 

cash on hand and the service contract expired on May 31, 2019. Management does not have plans to enter 

into new investor relations contract as the Company has streamlined its work and is not looking to replace 

those consultants. 
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See “Nature of Business – Mineral Properties” for a discussion of the Company's mineral properties on a 

property by property basis, including its plans for the mineral properties, the status of its plans, expenditures 

made and the anticipated timing and costs to take its mineral properties to the next stage of the project plan. 

 

See “Overall Performance” for a discussion of the commitments, events, risks and uncertainties that the 

Company believe will materially affect its future performance and “Risks and Uncertainties” for a 

discussion of risk factors affecting the Company. 

 

Discussion of Operations  

 

Use of Proceeds  

 

The table below provides an update as to the status of how the Company has previously announced a 

proposed use of proceeds from prior financings and the actual use of such proceeds. 

 

Financing Previously Disclosed Use of Proceeds Status of Use of 
$550,000 

Flow-through 

August 2017 

Private Placement 

Flow-through funds - towards existing 

Canadian properties.  
As of the date of this report, 

approximately $336,000 in flow-

through funds were used; and 

$214,000 in flow-through funds 

has not been used.  
 

In August 2017, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement (the "Offering") consisting of 

2,619,047 flow-through shares at $0.21 per share for gross proceeds of $550,000. The Company incurred 

filing fees of $4,100 and legal fees of $7,170, paid an aggregate finders' fees of $38,500, and issued 183,333 

broker warrants (the "Broker Warrants") in connection with the Offering. Each Broker Warrant is 

exercisable at $0.21 per share into one common share until August 11, 2020. 

 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 

Liquidity  

 

At July 31, 2020, the Company had $1,671,731 in cash and cash equivalents and a working capital of 

$1,581,463 as compared to $2,062,547 in cash and cash equivalents and a working capital of $2,074,525 at 

July 31, 2019. 

 

The Company’s current assets have decreased to $1,786,107 as at July 31, 2020 from $2,135,279 as at July 

31, 2019, due mainly to a decrease in cash and cash equivalents. The Company’s current liabilities have 

increased from $60,754 as at July 31, 2019 to $204,644 as at July 31, 2020 due to an increase in accounts 

payable and accrued liabilities. The value ascribed to the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets has 

decreased from $1,262,324 as at July 31, 2019 to $1,248,556 as at July 31, 2020, due mainly to a write-

down of the Ontario cobalt properties offset by claim maintenance fees incurred to keep the U.S. and Yukon 

claims in good standing as set described above. 

 

Management believes that the Company’s cash and cash equivalents are sufficient to meet the current 

working capital requirements, including the existing commitments relating to the Company's mineral 

properties. But in future, the Company expects to raise additional capital as the needs arise. See “Nature of 

Business – Mineral Properties” and “Overall Performance” for a discussion of the Company’s commitments 

relating to its mineral properties. As a mineral exploration company, its expenses are expected to increase 

as the Company explores its mineral properties further. Management does not expect the Company to 

generate sustained revenues from mineral production in the foreseeable future. 

 

The Company’s ability to conduct the planned work programs on its mineral properties, meet ongoing levels 

of corporate overhead and discharge its liabilities as they become due is dependent, in large part, on the 
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ability of management to raise additional funds as necessary. Management anticipates that additional equity 

financings will need to be conducted to raise additional funds which, if successful, will result in dilution in 

the equity interests of the Company’s current shareholders. Obtaining commercial loans, assuming those 

loans would be available, will increase the Company’s liabilities and future cash commitments.  Although 

the Company have secured financings in the past, there is no assurance that the Company will be able to do 

so in the future on terms that is favourable to the Company or at all.  The Company’s ability to raise 

additional funds in the future and its liquidity may be negatively impacted by a number of factors, including 

changes in commodity prices, market volatility and general economic downturns. 

 

Capital Resources 

 

The Company has the following commitments for capital expenditures with respect to its mineral properties 

as of July 31, 2020.  The expenditures are optional, and the Company may decide not to incur such payments 

in the event the Company does not decide to pursue further exploration with respect to such properties. As 

the BC Ministry continues to respond and adapt to the directions and orders issued in response to COVID-

19, the Chief Gold Commissioner has issued a blanket Time Extension Order for all claims and leases, as 

well as all coal licenses and leases. All the Company’s BC claims have fallen into this Order and therefore 

the Company has until December 31, 2021 to register a statement of exploration and development, or 

register payment instead of exploration and development. In addition, Government of Yukon has granted 

relief from assessment work for mineral claims set to expire between April 23, 2020 and April 22, 2021. 

By providing relief, existing claims that are due to expire between April 23, 2020and April 22, 2021, will 

have one year automatically added to their expiry date and remain in good standing without having to 

perform work or make payment in lieu. All the Company’s Yukon claims have fallen into this relief and 

will remain in good standing until October 3, 2021. Lastly, Ministry of Energy, Northern Development and 

Mines (“MNDM”) of Ontario published a bulletin, Exclusions of Time for Claim Holders Due to COVID-

19, on April 17, 2020. Pursuant to the Bulletin, claim holders with claim anniversary dates on or before 

December 31, 2020 will be given an exclusion order by making a brief request via email. The exclusion 

orders will remove the requirement to carry out assessment work for a period of time of up to 12 months. 

The Company will mark its calendar to email the Provincial Recording Office at pro.ndm@ontario.ca to 

obtain the exclusion order for our qualified claims. 

 BC War Eagle Cobalt Prospects:  

o The Company owns a 100% interest in one mineral claim, which is in good standing until 

December 31, 2021. In order to keep this claim in good standing, the Company is required 

to incur a minimum of $9,362 in exploration expenditures on this claim by December 31, 

2021 or to pay cash-in-lieu of $18,724. 

 BC Larry Diamond Project:  

o The Company owns a 100% interest in four mineral claims, which are in good standing 

until June 12, 2021. In order to keep these claims in good standing, the Company is required 

to incur a minimum of $19,543 in exploration expenditures on these claims by June 12, 

2021 or to pay cash-in-lieu of $39,087. 

 Yukon Quartz Claims:  

o Two Yukon Quartz claims are in good standing until October 3, 2021. In order to renew 

these claims for another year, the Company is required to pay an annual rent of $210 to the 

Government of Yukon by October 3, 2021 for the Yukon Quartz claims, unless the 

Company spends an amount greater than that in exploration beforehand. In addition, the 

Company is also required to pay the claim recording fees of $10 to the Government of 

Yukon by October 3, 2021.  

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/farming-natural-resources-and-industry/mineral-exploration-mining/documents/mineral-titles/13180-20-411_signed_order_march_27_2020.pdf
mailto:pro.ndm@ontario.ca
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 Ontario Bucke Cobalt Prospects:  

o These mineral claims are in good standing until July 19, 2021 or later. In order to keep 

these claims in good standing, the Company is required to incur a minimum of $17,400 in 

exploration expenditures on these claims by July 19, 2021. 

 Ontario Coleman Cobalt Prospects:  

o Four claim units are in good standing until July 19, 2021. In order to keep these claims in 

good standing, the Company is required to incur a minimum of $1,600 in exploration 

expenditures on these claims by July 19, 2021. 

o 31 claim units are in good standing until December 1, 2021. In order to keep these claims 

in good standing, the Company is required to incur a minimum of $6,800 in exploration 

expenditures on these claims by December 1, 2021.  

o 19 claim units are in good standing until June 26, 2021 or later. In order to keep these 

claims in good standing, the Company is required to incur a minimum of $4,000 in 

exploration expenditures on these claims by June 26, 2021. 

 Ontario Hector Cobalt Prospects:  

o Six mineral claims are in good standing until September 26, 2021 or later. In order to keep 

these claims in good standing, the Company is required to incur a minimum of $2,200 in 

exploration expenditures on these claims by September 26, 2021.  

o 159 mineral claims are in good standing until September 26, 2023 or later. In order to keep 

these claims in good standing, the Company is required to incur a minimum of $56,000 in 

exploration expenditures on these claims by September 26, 2023. 

 Ontario Johnson Cobalt Prospects:  

o 28 mineral claims are in good standing until July 19, 2021 or later. In order to keep these 

claims in good standing, the Company is required to incur a minimum of $6,800 in 

exploration expenditures on these claims by July 19, 2021. 

 Ontario Lorraine Cobalt Prospects:  

o 48 mineral claims are in good standing until December 29, 2021 or later. In order to keep 

these claims in good standing, the Company is required to incur a minimum of $16,800 in 

exploration expenditures on these claims or pay cash-in-lieu by December 29, 2021. 

 Nevada Clayton Valley West Lithium Prospect:  

o These mineral claims are in good standing until September 1, 2021. In order to keep these 

claims in good standing, the Company is required to pay BLM fees of USD$1,980 and 

county fees of USD$144 by November 1, 2021. 

 Idaho Star Cobalt Prospect:  

o These mineral claims are in good standing until September 1, 2021. In order to keep these 

claims in good standing, the Company is required to pay maintenance fees of USD$660 by 

September 1, 2021. 
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 Idaho Cobalt Belt Project:  

o These mineral claims are in good standing until September 1, 2021. In order to keep these 

claims in good standing, the Company is required to pay maintenance fees of USD$19,470 

by September 1, 2021. 

 

See “Nature of Business – Mineral Properties” for a discussion of the Company’s capital expenditure 

commitments with respect to its mineral properties.  

 

On March 12, 2020, the Company entered into a lease agreement for office premises for a seven-year period 

beginning October 1, 2020 and ending September 30, 2027. The Company is required to pay monthly office 

rent (net of taxes) of $5,438. However, the Company shares its office space with two related public 

companies and one non-related company. The Company invoices these companies for their share of the 

office rent on a monthly basis.  

 

Operating Activities  

 

During the year ended July 31, 2020 and, 2019, operating activities used cash of $525,456 and $429,292, 

respectively. The use of cash for the year ended July 31, 2020 was mainly attributable to its loss for the 

period of $714,368 offset by share-based payments of $59,832 and increased accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities of $155,344. The use of cash for the year ended July 31, 2019 was mainly attributable to its loss 

for the period of $1,456,898 offset by a decrease in prepaid expenses of $246,283 and the write-down of 

exploration and evaluation assets. 

 

Investing Activities  

  

During the year ended July 31, 2020, the Company used cash of $12,976 in investing activities due to 

investments in exploration and evaluation assets in the amount of $17,976 offset by $5,000 in recovery of 

exploration and evaluation assets. During the year ended July 31, 2019, the Company used cash of $315,188 

in investing activities due to investments in exploration and evaluation assets. 

 

Financing Activities 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2020, the Company was provided $147,706 by financing activities, of which 

$149,600 was proceeds from issuance of share capital, offset by share issue costs of $1,894.  

 

During the year ended July 31, 2019, the Company did not provide or use any cash in financing activities. 

 

Changes in Accounting Policies including Initial Adoption 

 

New accounting standards adopted during the period 
 

IFRS 16 – Leases 

 

New standard to establish principles for recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases 

with an impact on lessee accounting. The Company adopted this new standard on August 1, 2019. The 

adoption of this new standard has no impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements. 

 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

 

The Company does not utilize off-balance sheet arrangements. 
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Related Parties Transactions   

 

During the year ended July 31, 2020, the Company incurred aggregate management and directors’ fees of 

$125,600 to two directors, James Nelson and Seth Kay. There are no management agreements in place and 

the Company has no contractual requirement to continue paying management fees. During the year ended 

July 31, 2020, the Company accrued a total of $7,500 in directors’ fees payable to three directors, James 

Nelson, Seth Kay and Gregory Thomson. Management fees, directors’ fees and share-based payments are 

intended to compensate such persons for their time and dedication to the Company. 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2020, the Company paid $73,300 to an officer in consideration for 

accounting services provided to the Company.  Such payments were made in lieu of management fees to 

its Chief Financial Officer, Cindy Cai.  

 

During the year ended July 31, 2020, the Company incurred share-based payments of $53,848 to three 

directors and one officer, being $11,966 to each of James Nelson and Seth Kay; $5,983 to Gregory 

Thomson; and $23,933 to Cindy Cai. As a mineral exploration issuer, the Company partially relies on the 

issuance of stock options to compensate its directors and officers for their time and dedication to the 

Company. 

 

As at July 31, 2020, amount due to related parties were $7,500 (July 31, 2019: $8,167) for unpaid directors' 

fees, being $2,500 each payable to James Nelson, Seth Kay and Gregory Thomson.  

 

At July 31, 2020, related party receivables include $20,608 (July 31, 2019: $1,804) due from two public 

companies with common directors for recoverable office expenses as below: $934 due from Sienna 

Resources Inc. and 19,674 due from Spearmint Resources Inc. 

 

All transactions with related parties have occurred and are measured at the amount of consideration 

established and agreed to by the related parties. 

 

Fourth Quarter - Unaudited  

 

The Company did not have any revenue during the three months ended July 31, 2020 and 2019. Net 

comprehensive loss decreased to $283,982 for the three months ended July 31, 2020 as compared to 

$931,664 for the three months ended July 31, 2019. The decrease resulted primarily by a decrease in the 

write-down of exploration and evaluation assets (three months ended July 31, 2020: $Nil; three months 

ended July 31, 2019: $765,415) as well as a decrease in operating expenses, offset by an increase in flow-

through indemnification provision (three months ended July 31, 2020: $135,000; three months ended July 

31, 2019: $Nil). 

 

Total operating expenses were $122,400 for the three months ended July 31, 2020, as compared to $173,272 

for the three months ended July 31, 2019. The decrease resulted primarily from a decrease of $25,000 in 

investor relations and a decrease of $17,103 in filing fees. Decreased investor relations were due to 

management does not have plans to enter into new investor relations contract after the old contract expired 

on May 31, 2019 as the Company has streamlined its work and is not looking to replace those consultants. 

Higher filing fees incurred in the three months ended July 31, 2019 were due to a one-time listing fees paid 

to the Canadian Securities Exchange to list the Company’s stocks on the Exchange. 

 

Financial Instruments and Other Instruments 

 

Financial instruments  

 

Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of three levels in the fair value hierarchy 

according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values. The three levels of the fair 

value hierarchy are: 
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Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either             

                directly or indirectly; and 

Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market data. 

 

The fair value of the Company’s receivables and accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximates 

their carrying values due to the short-term nature of the financial instruments. The Company’s cash and 

cash equivalents are measured at fair value using Level 1 inputs. 

 

The Company is exposed to varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks: 

 

Foreign Exchange Risk 

 

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes 

in foreign exchange rates.  As at July 31, 2020, the Company has a minimal exposure to the US$ that is 

subject to fluctuations as a result of exchange rate variations to the extent that transactions are made in this 

currency. The Company considers this risk to be insignificant and therefore does not hedge its foreign 

exchange risk. 

 

Credit Risk 

 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party 

by failing to discharge an obligation.  The Company’s cash and cash equivalents and receivables are 

exposed to credit risk.  The Company reduces its credit risk on cash and cash equivalents by placing these 

instruments with institutions of high credit worthiness.  As at July 31, 2020, the Company is not exposed 

to any significant credit risk. 

 

Interest Rate Risk 

 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in market interest rates. The Company has non-interest bearing debt instruments and is 

therefore not exposed to risk in the event of interest rate fluctuations. As at July 31, 2020, the Company is 

not exposed to any significant interest rate risk. 

 

Liquidity Risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with 

financial liabilities. The Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash balances to enable 

settlement of transactions on the due date.  The Company addresses its liquidity through equity financing 

obtained through the sale of common shares and the exercise of warrants and options. While the Company 

has been successful in securing financings in the past, there is no assurance that it will be able to do so in 

the future.   

 

Price Risk 

 

The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. Commodity price risk is defined 

as the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic value due to commodity price movements and 

volatilities. The Company closely monitors the commodity prices of precious metals and the stock market 

to determine the appropriate course of action to be taken by the Company.  

 

Based on management’s knowledge and experience of the financial markets, management does not believe 

that the Company’s current financial instruments will be affected by foreign exchange risk, credit risk, 

interest rate risk and price risk. 
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Proposed Transactions 

 

Other than as disclosed herein, the Company does not have any proposed transactions as of the date of this 

report. 

 

Additional Disclosure for Venture Issuers without Significant Revenue 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company incurred expenses including the following: 

 

 2020 2019 

   

Operating expenses $555,873 $723,964 

Capitalized exploration costs $6,522 $326,642 

Recovery of exploration and evaluation assets $5,000 $Nil 

Write-down of exploration and evaluation assets $15,290 $765,415 

 

Please refer to Note 7 Exploration and Evaluation Assets in the consolidated financial statements for the 

year ended July 31, 2020 for a description of the capitalized acquisition and exploration costs presented on 

a property-by-property basis. 

 

Disclosure of Outstanding Share Data 

 

Common Shares 

 

The Company has authorized an unlimited number of common shares without par value. 

 

As at July 31, 2020, the Company had 83,472,697 common shares issued and outstanding. Subsequent to 

July 31, 2020, the Company issued 9,000,000 common shares pursuant to a SPA. As at November 26, 2020, 

the Company had 92,472,697 common shares issued and outstanding. 

 

Stock options 

 

As at July 31, 2020 and November 26, 2020, the Company had 5,000,000 stock options outstanding and 

exercisable which entitles the holders thereof the right to purchase one common share for each option held 

at an exercise price of $0.07 per share until January 20, 2021. 

 

Warrants 

 

As at July 31, 2020, the Company had 9,514,140 share purchase warrants outstanding.  Each warrant entitles 

the holder the right to purchase one common share as follows: 

 

    Exercise   

Number  Price  Expiry Date 

     

  183,333  $0.21   August 11, 2020 

  4,505,000  $0.05   June 13, 2021 

  4,825,807  $0.05   January 17, 2025 

  9,514,140      

 

Subsequent to July 31, 2020, 183,333 share purchase warrants expired unexercised. As at November 26, 

2020, the Company had 9,330,807 share purchase warrants outstanding. 
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Risks and Uncertainties  

 

Because of the unique difficulties and uncertainties inherent in mineral exploration ventures, the Company 

face a high risk of business failure. 

 

Potential investors should be aware of the difficulties normally encountered by mineral exploration 

companies and the high rate of failure of such enterprises.  The likelihood of success must be considered in 

light of the problems, expenses, difficulties, complications and delays encountered in connection with the 

exploration program that the Company intend to undertake on its properties and any additional properties 

that the Company may acquire.  These potential problems include unanticipated problems relating to 

exploration, and additional costs and expenses that may exceed current estimates.  The expenditures to be 

made by the Company in the exploration of the properties may not result in the discovery of any mineral 

deposits.  Any expenditure that the Company may make in the exploration of any other mineral property 

that the Company may acquire may not result in the discovery of any commercially exploitable mineral 

deposits.  Problems such as unusual or unexpected geological formations and other conditions are involved 

in all mineral exploration and often result in unsuccessful and/or expensive exploration efforts.  If the results 

of the exploration do not reveal viable commercial mineralization, the Company may decide to abandon or 

sell some or all the property interests. 

 

Because of the speculative nature of the exploration of mineral properties, there is no assurance that the 

exploration activities will result in the discovery of any quantities of mineral deposits on the current 

properties or any other additional properties the Company may acquire. 

 

The Company intend to continue exploration on the current properties and the Company may or may not 

acquire additional interests in other mineral properties.  The search for mineral deposits as a business is 

extremely risky.  The Company can provide investors with no assurance that exploration on the current 

properties, or any other property that the Company may acquire, will establish that any commercially 

exploitable quantities of mineral deposits exist.  Additional potential problems may prevent the Company 

from discovering any mineral deposits.  These potential problems include unanticipated problems relating 

to exploration and additional costs and expenses that may exceed current estimates.  If the Company is 

unable to establish the presence of mineral deposits on the properties, the Company's ability to fund future 

exploration activities will be impeded, the Company will not be able to operate profitably, and investors 

may lose all their investment in the Company. 

 

Because of the inherent dangers involved in mineral exploration and exploitation, there is a risk that the 

Company may incur liability or damages as the Company conducts business. 

 

The search for mineral deposits involves numerous hazards.  As a result, the Company may become subject 

to liability for such hazards, including pollution, cave-ins and other hazards against which the Company 

cannot insure or against which the Company may elect not to insure.  At the present time the Company 

have no coverage to insure against these hazards.  The payment of such liabilities may have a material 

adverse effect on the Company's financial position. 

 

The potential profitability of mineral ventures depends in part upon factors beyond the control of the 

Company and even if the Company discover and exploit mineral deposits, the Company may never become 

commercially viable and the Company may be forced to cease operations. 

 

The commercial feasibility of an exploration program on a mineral property is dependent upon many factors 

beyond the Company's control, including the existence and size of mineral deposits in the properties the 

Company explore, the proximity and capacity of processing equipment, market fluctuations of prices, taxes, 

royalties, land tenure, allowable production and environmental regulation.  These factors cannot be 

accurately predicted and any one or a combination of these factors may result in the Company not receiving 

any return on invested capital.  These factors may have material and negative effects on financial 

performance and the Company's ability to continue operations. 
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Exploration and exploitation activities are subject to comprehensive regulation which may cause 

substantial delays or require capital outlays in excess of those anticipated causing an adverse effect on the 

Company. 

 

Exploration and exploitation activities are subject to foreign, federal, provincial, and local laws, regulations 

and policies, including laws regulating the removal of natural resources from the ground and the discharge 

of materials into the environment.  Exploration and exploitation activities are also subject to foreign, 

federal, provincial, and local laws and regulations which seek to maintain health and safety standards by 

regulating the design and use of drilling methods and equipment.  Properties may also be subject to complex 

Aboriginal claims. 

 

Environmental and other legal standards imposed by foreign, federal, provincial, or local authorities may 

be changed, and any such changes may prevent the Company from conducting planned activities or may 

increase costs of doing so, which would have material adverse effects on the Company's business.  

Moreover, compliance with such laws may cause substantial delays or require capital outlays in excess of 

those anticipated, thus causing an adverse effect on the Company, especially, foreign laws and regulations.  

Additionally, the Company may be subject to liability for pollution or other environmental damages that 

the Company may not be able to or elect not to insure against due to prohibitive premium costs and other 

reasons.  Any laws, regulations or policies of any government body or regulatory agency may be changed, 

applied or interpreted in a manner which will alter and negatively affect the Company's ability to carry on 

business. 

 

Because the Company's property interests may not contain any mineral deposits and because the Company 

have never made a profit from operations, the Company's securities are highly speculative, and investors 

may lose all their investment in the Company. 

 

The Company's securities must be considered highly speculative, generally because of the nature of its 

business and the stage of exploration.  The Company currently has exploration stage property interests 

which may not contain mineral deposits.  The Company may or may not acquire additional interests in other 

mineral properties, but the Company does not have plans to acquire rights in any specific mineral properties 

as of the date of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis.  Accordingly, the Company have not 

generated any revenues nor have the Company realized a profit from operations to date and there is little 

likelihood that the Company will generate any revenues or realize any profits in the short term.  Any 

profitability in the future from the Company's business will be dependent upon locating and exploiting 

mineral deposits on current properties or mineral deposits on any additional properties that the Company 

may acquire and subsequent development.  The likelihood that any mineral properties that the Company 

may acquire or have an interest in will contain commercially exploitable mineral deposits is extremely 

remote.  The Company may never discover mineral deposits in respect to current properties or any other 

area, or the Company may do so and still not be commercially successful if the Company is unable to 

exploit those mineral deposits profitably.  The Company may not be able to operate profitably and may 

have to cease operations, the price of the Company's securities may decline, and investors may lose all their 

investment in the Company. 

 

As the Company face intense competition in the mineral exploration and exploitation industry, the Company 

will have to compete with competitors for financing and for qualified managerial and technical employees. 

 

Competition includes large established mining companies with substantial capabilities and with greater 

financial and technical resources than the Company have.  As a result of this competition, the Company 

may have to compete for financing and be unable to conduct any financing on terms the Company consider 

acceptable.  The Company may also have to compete with the other mining companies for the recruitment 

and retention of qualified managerial and technical employees.  If the Company is unable to successfully 

compete for financing or for qualified employees, the exploration programs may be slowed down or 

suspended, which may cause operations to cease as a company. 
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The Company have a history of losses and have a deficit, which raises substantial doubt about its ability to 

continue as a going concern. 

 

The Company has not generated any revenues during the years ended July 31, 2020 and 2019. The Company 

will continue to incur operating expenses without revenues if and until the Company engages in commercial 

operations. Accumulated loss as of July 31, 2020 was $18,046,640 since inception.  The Company had cash 

and cash equivalents in the amount of $1,671,731 as at July 31, 2020. The Company estimates the average 

monthly operating expenses to be approximately $50,000 each month. This estimate depends on whether 

the Company is active or inactive with the work programs. The Company cannot provide assurances that 

the Company will be able to successfully explore and develop its property interests. These circumstances 

raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern, which was also described in an 

explanatory paragraph to the independent auditors' report on the Company's audited financial statements, 

July 31, 2020. If the Company is unable to continue as a going concern, investors will likely lose all their 

investments in the Company. 

 

The Company's future is dependent upon its ability to obtain financing and if the Company does not obtain 

such financing, the Company may have to cease its exploration activities and investors could lose their 

entire investment. 

 

There is no assurance that the Company will operate profitably or will generate any positive cash flow in 

the future.  The Company will require additional financing in order to proceed with the exploration and, if 

warranted, development of its properties.  The Company will also require additional financing for fees the 

Company must pay to maintain its status in relation to the rights to the properties and to pay the fees and 

expenses necessary to operate as a public company.  The Company will also need more funds if the costs 

of the exploration of its mineral claims are greater than the Company has anticipated.  The Company will 

require additional financing to sustain its business operations if the Company is not successful in earning 

revenues.  The Company will also need further financing if the Company decides to obtain additional 

mineral properties.  The Company currently does not have any arrangements for further financing as the 

Company believes that it is sufficiently funded for the current operations but in future the Company expects 

to raise additional capital as the needs arise.  The Company's future is dependent upon its ability to obtain 

financing.  If the Company does not obtain such financing, its business could fail, and investors could lose 

their entire investment. 

 

The Company's directors and officers are engaged in other business activities and accordingly may not 

devote sufficient time to the Company's business affairs, which may affect its ability to conduct operations 

and generate revenues. 

 

The Company's directors and officers are involved in other business activities.  As a result of their other 

business endeavours, the Company's directors and officers will exercise their fiduciary duties and duty of 

care but nonetheless may not be able to devote sufficient time to the Company's business affairs, which 

may negatively affect the Company's ability to conduct ongoing operations and its ability to generate 

revenues.  In addition, the management of the Company may be periodically interrupted or delayed as a 

result of the Company's officers’ other business interests. 

 

RISKS RELATING TO THE COMPANY'S COMMON STOCK 

 

A decline in the price of the Company's common stock could affect its ability to raise further working capital 

and adversely impact ability to continue operations. 

 

A prolonged decline in the price of the Company's common stock could result in a reduction in the liquidity 

of its common stock and a reduction in its ability to raise capital. Because a significant portion of operations 

have been and will be financed through the continued sale of equity securities, a decline in the price of the 

common stock could be especially detrimental to liquidity and operations. Such reductions may force the 
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Company to reallocate funds from other planned uses and may have a significant negative effect on business 

plans and operations, including the ability to continue current operations. If the Company's stock price 

declines, the Company can offer no assurance that it will be able to raise additional capital or generate funds 

from operations sufficient to meet its obligations. If the Company is unable to raise sufficient capital in the 

future, the Company may not be able to have the resources to continue normal operations or become 

insolvent. 

 

The market price for the Company's common stock may also be affected by its ability to meet or exceed 

expectations of analysts or investors. Any failure to meet these expectations, even if minor, may have a 

material adverse effect on the market price of its common stock and its operations as a result.  

 

Additional Information 

 

The Company files annual and interim reports, information circulars and other information with certain 

Canadian securities regulatory authorities.  The documents filed with the Canadian securities regulatory 

authorities are available at http://www.sedar.com. 



CRUZ COBALT CORP. 
For the year ended July 31, 2019 

 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis ("MD&A") 

 

Date of Report: November 6, 2019 

 

The following discussion and analysis of the Company's financial condition and results of operations for 

the year ended July 31, 2019 should be read in conjunction with its consolidated financial statements and 

related notes. The requisite financial data presented for the relevant periods has been prepared in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting 

Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).  

 

All dollar figures included therein and in the following MD&A are quoted in Canadian dollars. 

Additional information relevant to the Company’s activities can be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

 

Disclaimer for Forward-Looking Information 

 

Certain statements in this report are forward-looking statements, which reflect management’s 

expectations regarding the Company's future growth, results of operations, performance, business 

prospects and opportunities such as the intended work programs on its existing property interests, the 

ability to meet financial commitments and the ability to raise funds when required.  Forward-looking 

statements consist of statements that are not purely historical, including any statements regarding beliefs, 

plans, expectations or intentions regarding the future. Such statements are subject to risks and 

uncertainties that may cause actual results, performance or developments to differ materially from those 

contained in the statements.  No assurance can be given that any of the events anticipated by the forward-

looking statements will occur or, if they do occur, what benefits the Company will obtain from them.  

These forward-looking statements reflect management’s current views and are based on certain 

assumptions and speak only as of the date of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis.  These 

assumptions, which include management’s current expectations, estimates and assumptions about its 

current property interests, the global economic environment, the market price and demand for mineral 

commodities and its ability to manage the property interests and operating costs, may prove to be 

incorrect.  A number of risks and uncertainties could cause the actual results to differ materially from 

those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements, including: (1) a downturn in general 

economic conditions, (2) a decreased demand or price for mineral commodities, (3) delays in the start of 

projects with respect to its property interests, (4) inability to locate and acquire additional property 

interests, (5) the uncertainty of government regulation and politics in North America regarding mineral 

exploration and mining, (6) potential negative financial impact from regulatory investigations, claims, 

lawsuits and other legal proceedings and challenges, and (7) other factors beyond its control. 

 

There is a significant risk that such forward-looking statements will not prove to be accurate.  Investors 

are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements.  No forward-looking 

statement is a guarantee of future results.  Except as required by law, the Company disclaims any 

intention or obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements.  Additional information about 

these and other assumptions, risks and uncertainties are set out in the section entitled “Risk Factors” 

below. 

 

Nature of Business 

 

Cruz Cobalt Corp. (the "Company") is involved in the identification, acquisition and exploration of 

mineral properties that management deems as potentially viable to assist in the growth of the Company.  

At July 31, 2019, the Company had mineral property interests located in Canada and in the USA.  

 

http://www.sedar.com/
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Mineral Properties 

 

Ontario Cobalt Prospects 

 

In July 2016, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement (the “Cobalt Locaters SPA”) with 

four arm’s length vendors to purchase all of the issued and outstanding shares of Cobalt Locaters Inc., 

which holds a 100% interest in two cobalt prospects in B.C. and a 50% interest in four cobalt prospects in 

Ontario consisting of the Coleman Cobalt Prospect, the Bucke Cobalt Prospect, the Hector Cobalt 

Prospect, and the Johnson Cobalt Prospect. In March 2019, the Company acquired the remaining 50% 

interest in the above four Ontario cobalt prospects from an arm's length vendor at no costs. As of today, 

the Company holds a 100% interest in the above four cobalt prospects in Ontario and two in B.C. 

 

In September 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in: 22 additional claim units for staking costs 

of $2,200 to increase the acreage of the Johnson Cobalt Prospect to approximately 900 acres; 36 claim 

units for staking costs of $3,600 to increase the acreage of Bucke Cobalt Prospect to approximately 1,480 

acres; and 137 claim units for staking costs of $13,700 to increase the acreage of the Hector Cobalt 

Prospect to approximately 5,500 acres. 

 

In December 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in 23 additional claim units for staking costs of 

$2,300 to increase the acreage of Coleman Cobalt Prospect to approximately 900 acres. Subsequent to 

July 31, 2018, the Company decided to drop these claim units. Prior acquisition costs of $2,300 were 

written off as of July 31, 2018. 

 

In June 2017, the Company acquired a 100% interest in additional mineral claims in Ontario to increase 

the holdings in its Coleman Cobalt Prospect to approximately 1,580 acres for staking costs of $1,268. 

 

In December 2017, the Company acquired a 100% interest in additional mineral claims in Ontario 

referred to as the Lorraine Cobalt Prospect that comprised approximately 8,935 acres for staking costs of 

$40,000. Subsequent to July 31, 2019, the Company decided to drop these claims and will allow them to 

lapse when they become due. Accordingly, prior staking costs of $40,000 were written off as of July 31, 

2019. 

 

In January 2018, the Company acquired a 100% interest in additional mineral claims in Ontario referred 

to as the Lorraine Cobalt Prospect that comprise approximately 1,621 acres for staking costs of $5,600. 

 

In April 2018, the Company acquired a 100% interest in additional mineral claims in Ontario to increase 

the holdings in its Lorraine Cobalt Prospect consisting of 305 cell units for staking costs of $15,290.  

 

As disclosed in news releases on July 17, 2017, July 25, 2017, and September 7, 2017, the Company has 

received drill permits for the Bucke Cobalt Prospect, the Johnson Cobalt Prospect and the Hector Cobalt 

Prospect, which have each been approved by the Ministry of Northern Development and Mines.  

 

As disclosed in news releases on August 15, 2018, the Company announced a magnetic geophysical 

survey was completed. 203 soils and 31 grab samples have been submitted to ALS in Sudbury. On 

September 18, 2018, the Company announced that a total of 5 rock grab samples returned greater than 

0.1% cobalt and up to 2.02% cobalt (2018BKP040) from the Gillies East anomaly, in addition to 

anomalous silver and gold values (Table 1). Mineralization in outcrop occurs as narrow diabase-hosted 

potassium feldspar-carbonate veins ranging in width from less than 5 and up to 25 cm in width. 
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Table 1: 2018 Hector Cobalt Property Significant Rock Grab Sample Results 

 

Sample ID Prospect Sample Type 
Co 

(%) 
Ag (g/t) Au (g/t) 

2018KBP040 
Gillies East 

Prospect Pit Float 2.02 13.1 - 

2018KBP042 Outcrop 0.61 4.1 - 

2018KBP034 

Gillies West 

 

Outcrop 0.82 - - 

2018KBP033 Outcrop 0.42 - - 

2018KBP037 Prospect Pit Float 0.19 - - 

2018KBP061 Outcrop - - 0.37 

 
Of the 203 soil geochemical samples collected, a total of 22 samples returned greater than 10 parts-per-

million (ppm) cobalt, and up to 98 ppm cobalt. Humus soil geochemical results define several north-

northwest trending cobalt anomalies. A 200 x 200 meter cobalt soil anomaly centred on 3 samples 

returning greater than 20 ppm cobalt (Hector Anomaly) occurs a distance of 300 meters to the northwest 

of the historic Hector Silver Mine Shaft.   

 

The Gillies East cobalt in soil anomaly lies a further 600 metres to the northwest, centred over an area of 

several historic prospect pits that returned cobalt in float and rock outcrop values of 2.02% and 0.61% 

cobalt. Along the western margin of the survey area, the northwest tending Gilles West anomaly returned 

the highest cobalt in soil results of 98 ppm cobalt, in addition to rock outcrop and float sample results of 

0.82%, 0.42% and 0.19% cobalt, and 0.37 grams-per-tonne gold (2018KBP061). 

 

The results of the geophysical survey define a 1.2 km northwest trending arcuate magnetic high anomaly 

interpreted to represent a strongly magnetic phase of a shallowly dipping Nipissing diabase sill that 

underlies much of the Hector Cobalt Property claims. The magnetic anomaly is coincident with the cobalt 

in soil anomalies and the location of numerous historic exploration pits targeting cobalt-silver 

mineralization; including the Historic Hector Silver Mine shaft that lies off the Property along eastern 

boundary. 

 

As disclosed in a news release on January 28, 2019, the Company completed an exploration diamond drill 

program at its 4,980 acre Hector Cobalt Property comprising 10 holes totaling 843 metres (m).  

 

The drilling was designed to test combined surface rock and soil geochemical and ground magnetic 

geophysical anomalies at the Hector and Gilles East targets, which were generated during the Company’s 

summer 2018 surface exploration programs that yielded surface rock grab samples up to 2.0% cobalt, in 

addition to anomalous silver and gold values. 

 

A series of four closely spaced shallow drill holes totaling 395 m tested the Hector anomaly; three holes 

totaling 264 m targeted Gilles East 1; and three holes totaling 185 m at the targeting Gilles East 2 were 

completed (Table 1).  
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Table 1: Hector Cobalt Property Fall 2018 Diamond Drill Results 

 

Target Drill Hole From (m) To (m) 
Interval 

(m)* 
Co (ppm) Cu (ppm) Au (ppb) Ag (ppm) 

Hector 

18HC01 5.12 16.00 10.88 66 132 - - 

and 24.00 25.00 1.00 110 - - - 

18HC02 83.45 84.45 1.00 310 60 - - 

and 89.45 91.45 2.00 110 110 - - 

and 94.33 95.02 0.69 130 150 - - 

18HC03 11.80 17.00 5.20 - 127 - - 

and 89.10 89.60 0.50 130 240 - - 

and 93.40 95.50 2.10 90 300 - - 

18HC04 92.00 93.00 1.00 80 410 - - 

Gilles East 1 
18HC06 10.50 15.50 5.00 42 162 - - 

and 50.00 51.00 1.00 50 650 - - 

Gillies East 2 

18HC08 8.00 9.00 1.00 - - 37 1.3 

and 18.00 21.00 3.00 97 57 - - 

18HC09 18.00 23.00 5.00 - 472 - - 

including 18.00 19.00 1.00 - 1420 - - 

and 74.15 74.65 0.50 120 - 21 - 

18HC10 15.00 16.00 1.00 110 - 33 - 

and 18.00 21.00 3.00 - 283 - - 

including 19.00 20.00 1.00 - 560 - - 

* The true width of mineralization is estimated to be 70-80% of the drilled interval 

 

Possible follow up work and drill programs are currently being formulated by management.  
 

As at July 31, 2019, the Company had spent a total of $589,515 in exploration expenditures on the 

Ontario cobalt prospects. 

 

Nevada Clayton Valley West Lithium Prospect 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2016, the Company entered into an agreement with an arm's-length vendor 

to acquire a 100% interest in six claim blocks in the Clayton Valley in Nevada, USA prospective for 

lithium.  As of July 31, 2019, the Company had incurred a total of $7,996 in claim maintenance fees on 

this prospect. 

 

At this time, there is no plan to do any follow up work in 2019. While the Company has been successful 

in securing financings in the past, there is no assurance that the Company will be able to do so in the 

future, and/or that the Company will be able to raise sufficient funds to meet its work commitments for all 

of its mineral properties.  

 

BC War Eagle Cobalt Prospect 

 

In June 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in certain mineral claims in British Columbia for 

staking costs of $3,496 and in January 2018, the Company acquired a 100% interest in additional mineral 

claims in British Columbia for staking costs of $7,283 to increase the acreage on the War Eagle Cobalt 

Prospect to 15,219 acres.   
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In October 2018, the Company decided to drop certain War Eagle claims that comprised approximately 

10,284 acres and allowed them to lapse when they became due. Accordingly, prior acquisition costs of 

$7,283 and exploration costs of $12,716 associated with these lapsed claims were written off as of July 

31, 2018. 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2019, the Company decided to further reduce the size of certain War Eagle 

claims from 4,936 acres to 1,542 acres. Accordingly, prior acquisition costs of $2,404 and exploration 

costs of $18,705 were written off. 

 

The Company conducted an airborne work program over its War Eagle Cobalt Prospect in January 2018.   

 

At this time, there is no plan to do any follow up work in 2019. While the Company has been successful 

in securing financings in the past, there is no assurance that the Company will be able to do so in the 

future, and/or that the Company will be able to raise sufficient funds to meet its work commitments for all 

of its mineral properties. 

 

As at July 31, 2019, the Company had spent a total of $8,498 in exploration expenditures on this prospect. 

 

Yukon Quartz Claims  

 

During the year ended July 31, 2010, the Company acquired a 100% interest in ninety five load quartz 

mineral claims covering an area of approximately 4,836 acres, located in the Yukon Territory.  

 

During the years ended July 31, 2013, 2015 and 2016, the Company decided not to continue with certain 

claims and allowed these claims to lapse when they became due. Accordingly, prior acquisition costs of 

$670,862 and exploration costs of $34,838 associated with these lapsed claims were written off. 

 

The Company may continue exploration activities if the Company is able to obtain sufficient financing. 

While the Company have been successful in securing financings in the past, there is no assurance that the 

Company will be able to do so in the future, and/or that the Company will be able to raise sufficient funds 

to meet its work commitments for all of its properties. The Company has no plans to work on this 

property in 2020.  

 

As at July 31, 2019, the Company had spent a total of $1,917 in exploration expenditures on the 

remaining Yukon quartz claims. 

 

Idaho Star Cobalt Prospect 

 

In October 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in the Idaho Star Cobalt Prospect in Idaho, 

U.S.A. for staking costs of $39,964. This prospect is located approximately 9 miles southwest of Saltese, 

Montana and 19 miles southeast of Wallace, Idaho. This prospect consists of 44 contiguous claims within 

the Idaho Cobalt Belt. In July 2017, the Company conducted a soil sampling program on its Idaho Star 

Cobalt Prospect.   

 

In August 2018, the Company decided to drop certain Idaho claims and allowed them to lapse when they 

became due. Prior acquisition costs of $36,330 and exploration costs of $32,122 were written down as of 

July 31, 2018. 

 

The Company is considering to conduct a follow up program, however, a final decision has not been 

concluded at this time.  

 

As at July 31, 2019, the Company had spent a total of $4,045 in exploration expenditures on this prospect. 
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Montana Chicken Hawk Cobalt Prospect 

 

In February 2017, the Company entered into an agreement with an arm's length vendor to acquire a 100% 

interest in the Chicken Hawk Cobalt Prospect located in Deer Lodge County, Montana, U.S.A. This 

prospect consisted of 64 contiguous lode claims covering approximately 1,300 acres.  In July 2017, the 

Company acquired a 100% interest in 30 additional mineral claims for staking costs of $25,426. These 

claims were located contiguous to the existing Chicken Hawk Cobalt Prospect in Montana which 

increased the Company's holdings to 1,940 contiguous acres. 

 

In August 2018, the Company decided to drop certain Montana Chicken Hawk claims that comprised 

approximately 601 acres and allowed them to lapse when they became due. Prior acquisition costs of 

$24,578 and exploration costs of $34,457 were written down as of July 31, 2018. 

 

Subsequent to  July 31, 2019, the Company decided to drop the entire Chicken Hawk property. 

Accordingly, prior acquisition costs of $600,848 and exploration costs of $103,458 were written off as of 

July 31, 2019. 

 

BC Purcell Cobalt Prospect 

 

Under the Cobalt Locaters SPA, the Company indirectly acquired a 100% interest in two cobalt prospects 

in B.C.. 

 

In January 2018, the Company acquired a 100% interest in additional mineral claims in British Columbia 

for staking costs of $7,197 to increase the acreage on the Purcell Cobalt Prospect to 11,821 acres.  

 

In October 2018, the Company decided to drop the entire property. Prior acquisition costs of $285,863 

and exploration costs of $20,351 were written off as of July 31, 2018. 

 

Overall Performance  

 

The Company is a mineral exploration company engaged in the business of acquisition, exploration and, 

if warranted, development of mineral properties. The Company does not expect to generate any revenues 

in the foreseeable future or until a mineable reserve is defined and economically recoverable.  The 

Company expects to continue to incur expenses as it works to further explore and develop its mineral 

properties.  

 

The Company has conducted limited exploration on some of its properties, due to, among other things, 

the availability of sufficient funds for the purposes of mineral exploration and development, access to the 

property due to climate conditions, the uncertainties associated with the prices of precious and base 

metals and other minerals, and the global economic climate.  The Company is in the process of exploring 

its mineral properties and has not yet determined whether the properties contain reserves that are 

economically recoverable.  

 

The Company’s future performance is largely tied to the outcome of future exploration and the overall 

financial markets. The recoverability of minerals from the Company’s properties is dependent upon, 

among other things, the discovery of economically recoverable reserves, the ability of the Company to 

obtain necessary financing to continue to explore and develop its properties and upon future profitable 

production. Uncertainty in credit markets, fluctuation in commodity prices and general economic 

downturns has led to increased difficulties in raising and borrowing funds. As a result, the Company may 

have difficulty raising equity financing for the purposes of exploration and development of the 

Company’s properties, without diluting the interests of current shareholders of the Company. See 

“Liquidity and Capital Resources” and “Risk and Uncertainties” for a discussion of risk factors that may 

impact the Company’s ability to raise funds. 
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Information about the Company’s commitments relating to its mineral properties is discussed above under 

“Nature of Business – Mineral Properties”. 

 

The Company did not generate any revenue during the years ended July 31, 2019 and 2018. The 

Company’s net comprehensive loss decreased from $1,988,331 for the year ended July 31, 2018 to 

$1,456,898 for the year ended July 31, 2019, mainly due to a decrease in operating expenses offset by an 

increase in the write-down of exploration and evaluation assets.  The Company’s cash and cash 

equivalents decreased from $2,807,027 as at July 31, 2018 to $2,062,547 as at July 31, 2019. The 

Company had a working capital of $2,074,525 as at July 31, 2019 as compared to $3,063,030 as at July 

31, 2018. 

 

The Company’s current assets have decreased to $2,135,279 as at July 31, 2019 from $3,106,184 as at 

July 31, 2018, due mainly to a decrease in cash and cash equivalents as well as a decrease in prepaid 

expenses. The Company’s current liabilities have increased from $43,154 as at July 31, 2018 to $60,754 

as at July 31, 2019, mainly due to an increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The value 

ascribed to the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets has decreased from $1,701,097 as at July 31, 

2018 to $1,262,324 as at July 31, 2019, due mainly to management's decision to drop the entire Montana 

Chicken Hawk Property and certain mineral claims in Ontario and B.C. offset by the exploration work 

performed on the cobalt prospects in Ontario as set described above. 

 

Additional information about the risks and uncertainties relating to the Company’s business and financial 

performance is discussed below under “Risks and Uncertainties”. 

 

Summary of Quarterly Results 

 

The following table sets out selected quarterly financial data for the eight most recently completed interim 

quarters: 

 
 

 
2019 

Fourth 

2019 

Third 

2019 

Second 

2019 

First 

2018 

Fourth 

2018 

Third 

2018 

Second 

2018 

First 

 

Revenues 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

Operating 

expenses 

 

$(173,272) 

 

$(185,645) 

 

$(200,646) 

 

$(164,401) 

 

$(70,093) 

 

$(315,360) 

 

$(769,515) 

 

$(248,151) 

 

Loss before other items 

 

$(173,272) 

 

$(185,645) 

 

$(200,646) 

 

$(164,401) 

 

$(70,093) 

 

$(315,360) 

 

$(769,515) 

 

$(248,151) 

Loss per share 

(Basic and diluted) 

 

$(0.002) 

 

$(0.002) 

 

$(0.003) 

 

$(0.002) 

 

$(0.001) 

 

$(0.000) 

 

$(0.011) 

 

$(0.004) 

 

Other items: 

        

Interest income 

 

$7,023 

 

$7,799 

 

$8,620 

 

$9,039 

 

$9,240 

 

$8,577 

 

$5,703 

 

$3,079 

Gain on write-off of 

accounts payable 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$16,660 

 

         $Nil 

 

         $Nil 

 

         $Nil 

Other income on 

settlement of flow-

through share premium 

liability 

 

          

$Nil 

 

          

$Nil 

 

          

$Nil 

 

          

$Nil 

 

          

$3,410 

 

          

$4,125 

 

          

$16,827 

 

          

$24,146 

Realized gain on sale of 

marketable securities 
 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

Unrealized gain on 

marketable securities 
 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

Write-down of mineral 

properties 

 

$(765,415) 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$(456,000) 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

$Nil 

 

Net comprehensive loss 

 

$(931,664) 

 

$(177,846) 

 

$(192,026) 

 

$(155,362) 

 

$(496,783) 

 

$(302,658) 

 

$(746,985) 

 

$(220,926) 

Basic and diluted loss 

per share  

 

$(0.012) 

 

$(0.002) 

 

$(0.002) 

 

$(0.002) 

 

$(0.007) 

 

$(0.000) 

 

$(0.011) 

 

$(0.004) 
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Summary of Results During Prior Eight Quarters 

 

Net comprehensive loss increased by $747,038 from the first to the second quarter of 2018 mainly due to 

an increase in consulting fees, travel and corporate branding, and share-based payment expenses. Net 

comprehensive loss decreased by $665,306 from the second to the third quarter of 2018 mainly due to a 

decrease in share-based payments and a decrease in travel and corporate branding expenses. Net 

comprehensive loss increased by $194,125 from the third to the fourth quarter of 2018 mainly due to an 

increase in the write-down of exploration and evaluation assets offset  by a decrease in share-based 

payments and a decrease in corporate branding expenses. Net comprehensive loss decreased by $341,421 

from the fourth quarter of 2018 to the first quarter of 2019 mainly due to a decrease in the write-down of 

exploration and evaluation assets offset by an increase in operating expenses. Net comprehensive loss 

increased by $36,664 from the first to the second quarter of 2019 mainly due to an increase in 

management fees and other expenses. Net comprehensive loss decreased by $14,180 from the second to 

the third quarter of 2019 mainly due to a decrease in management fees and professional fees offset by an 

increase in corporate branding expenses. Net comprehensive loss increased by $753,818 from the third to 

the fourth quarter of 2019 mainly due to an increase in the write-down of exploration and evaluation 

assets. 

 

Selected Annual Information 

 

The following table sets out selected audited financial information for the Company, which has been prepared 

in accordance with IFRS: 

 

 Year ended July 31, 
 2019 2018 2017 

 
Total revenues 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 
Loss before discontinued operations and extraordinary items: 

 
Total 

 
$(1,456,898) 

 
$(1,988,331) 

 
$(1,138,590) 

 
Per share 

 
$(0.02) 

 
$(0.03) 

 
$(0.02) 

 
Per share fully diluted 

 
$(0.02) 

 
$(0.03) 

 
$(0.02) 

Net comprehensive loss: 

 
Total 

 
$(1,456,898) 

 
$(1,988,331) 

 
$(1,138,590) 

 
Per share 

 
$(0.02) 

 
$(0.03) 

 
$(0.02) 

 
Per share fully diluted 

 
$(0.02) 

 
$(0.03) 

 
$(0.02) 

 
Total assets 

 
$3,397,603 

 
$4,836,901 

 
$3,871,932 

 
Total long term debt 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 
Cash dividends 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 
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Year ended July 31, 2019 Compared to the Year ended July 31, 2018 

 

The Company did not generate any revenue for the years ended July 31, 2019 and 2018. Net 

comprehensive loss decreased by $531,433 from $1,988,331 for the year ended July 31, 2018 to 

$1,456,898 for the year ended July 31, 2019 due mainly to a decrease in operating expenses offset by a 

decrease in other income on settlement of flow-through share premium (year ended July 31, 2019: $Nil; 

year ended July 31, 2018: $45,098) and an increase in the write-down of exploration and evaluation assets 

(year ended July 31, 2019: $765,415; year ended July 31, 2018: $456,000). Operating expenses decreased 

by $900,134 from $1,624,098 for the year ended July 31, 2018 to $723,964 for the year ended July 31, 

2019 due mainly to a decrease in consulting fees, professional fees, share-based payments, and corporate 

branding expenses, offset by an increase in investor relations expenses. 

 

Consulting fees paid by the Company (year ended July 31, 2019: $88,230; year ended July 31, 2018: 

$129,625) generally include the following three categories: corporate and business advisory; geological 

and related advisory services; secretarial and data entry services.  

 

Total consulting fees during the year ended July 31, 2019 consisted of $84,000 (year ended July 31, 2018: 

$84,000) for business advisory services. Such payments were generally made to third party consultants 

for certain corporate advisory, strategic planning and related advisory services that assisted in project 

evaluation. The Company paid $Nil during the year ended July 31, 2019 (year ended July 31, 2018: 

$45,625) for internal secretarial and data entry services. The Company also paid $4,230 during the year 

ended July 31, 2019 (year ended July 31, 2018: $Nil) for geological advisory services. Consulting fees 

decreased because certain consultants no longer work for the Company and the Company has streamlined 

its work and is not looking to replace those consultants. Management anticipates that these consulting fees 

may stay at or near this level in the next twelve month period.  

 

Decreased professional fees (year ended July 31, 2018: $100,803; year ended July 31, 2018: $143,795) 

were due to a decrease in legal fees (year ended July 31, 2018: $11,003; year ended July 31, 2018: 

$58,255). Lower legal fees in the 2019 year were due to less services rendered in relation to corporate 

governance. Management anticipates that professional fees may stay at or near this level in the next 

twelve month period. 

 

Decreased share-based payments (year ended July 31, 2019: $Nil; year ended July 31, 2018: $364,182) 

were due to the Company did not grant any stock options during the year ended July 31, 2019 as 

compared to 6,000,000 stock options were granted to its directors and consultants at a price of $0.20 per 

share for a one-year term (expiring on November 9, 2018) during the year ended July 31, 2018. The 

Company may grant options that are available under the stock option plan in the next 12 months period. 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2019, the Company incurred a total of $31,072 (year ended July 31, 2018: 

$500,832) in corporate branding expenses, of which $12,000 (year ended July 31, 2018: $12,000) was for 

social media services related to the corporate twitter, $9,072 (year ended July 31, 2018: $10,207) was for 

the Company's President and one director to attend the 2019 PDAC Convention in Toronto, and $10,000 

(year ended July 31, 2018: $50,854) was for other branding expenses..   

 

The corporate branding expenses were incurred to increase the awareness of the Company and the cobalt 

industry in general. Management anticipates such expenses may stay at or near this level in the next 12 

month period due to management’s decision to decrease overall branding expenses.  

 

Increased investor relations expenses (year ended July 31, 2019: $250,000; year ended July 31, 2018: 

$200,000) were due to the Company engaged two arm's length entities to provide digital marketing, 

digital media, corporate advisory and branding and strategic business services to the Company over an 18 

month period from December 2017. The Company prepaid the total amount of $450,000 to these two 

entities using cash on hand and the service contract expired on May 31, 2019. Management does not have 
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plans to enter into new investor relations contract as the Company has streamlined its work and is not 

looking to replace those consultants. 

 

Year ended July 31, 2018 Compared to the Year ended July 31, 2017 

 

The Company did not generate any revenue for the years ended July 31, 2018 and 2017. Net 

comprehensive loss increased by $849,741 from $1,138,590 for the year ended July 31, 2017 to 

$1,988,331 for the year ended July 31, 2018 due mainly to an increase in operating expenses, an increase 

in the write-down of exploration and evaluation assets of $377,262 (year ended July 31, 2018: $456,000; 

year ended July 31, 2017: $78,738), a decrease in realized gain on sale of exploration and evaluation 

assets of $135,645 (year ended July 31, 2018: $Nil; year ended July 31, 2017: $135,645), and a decrease 

in realized gain on sale of marketable securities of $145,990 (year ended July 31, 2018: $Nil; year ended 

July 31, 2017: $145,990). Operating expenses increased by $253,431 from $1,370,667 for the year ended 

July 31, 2017 to $1,624,098 for the year ended July 31, 2018 due mainly to an increase in investor 

relations expenses, professional fees, and corporate branding expenses, offset by a decrease in consulting 

fees, and transfer agent and filing fees. 

 

Increased investor relations expenses (year ended July 31, 2018: $200,000; year ended July 31, 2017: 

$Nil) were due to the Company engaged two arm's length entities to provide digital marketing, digital 

media, corporate advisory and branding and strategic business services to the Company over an 18 month 

period from December 2017.  

 

Increased professional fees (year ended July 31, 2018: $143,795; year ended July 31, 2017: $87,923) 

were due to an increase in legal fees (year ended July 31, 2018: $58,255; year ended July 31, 2017: 

$27,097) as well as an increase in accounting and audit fees (year ended July 31, 2018: $85,540; year 

ended July 31, 2017: $60,826). Higher legal fees were due to services rendered in relation to corporate 

governance. Higher audit, tax and accounting fees also contribute to the increase due to numerous 

financings, including a flow-through share financing and other matters.  

 

During the year ended July 31, 2018, corporate branding expenses increased to $500,832 (year ended July 

31, 2017: $439,997).  Total corporate branding expenses of $500,832 during the year ended July 31, 2018 

included $12,106 (year ended July 31, 2017: $115,871) in conference expenses and $529,613 (year ended 

July 31, 2017: $324,126) in branding expenses, offset by $40,887 which was a chargeback to Sienna 

Resources Inc., a public company with one common director, for its share of 2017 conference expenses.  

 

Total branding expenses of $529,613 during the year ended July 31, 2018 included the following: 

 

 $150,345 (year ended July 31, 2017: $71,473) for European marketing and news dissemination 

with Aktiencheck.de AG;  

 $43,189 (year ended July 31, 2017: $8,249) for TV ads with Blue Sun Productions Inc.; 

 $24,544 (year ended July 31, 2017: $39,443) for lead generation and news dissemination with 

Dig Media Inc.; 

 $68,335 (year ended July 31, 2017: $Nil) for Google advertising with ExInfluence Media Corp.; 

 $18,363 (year ended July 31, 2017: $Nil) for Google banner advertisement branding;  

 $7,933 (year ended July 31, 2017: $15,867) for news dissemination and awareness with 

Equities.com Inc.;  

 $6,480 (year ended July 31, 2017: $6,480) for news dissemination and awareness with Junior 

Gold Report Inc.; 

 $10,084 (year ended July 31, 2017: $2,750) for news dissemination and awareness with Market 

Smart Communications Inc.; 

 $5,000 (year ended July 31, 2017: $55,000) for news dissemination and awareness with 

Stockhouse Publishing Ltd.; 

 $12,566 (year ended July 31, 2017: $Nil) for news dissemination and awareness with Financial 

Buzz Media Networks; 
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 $12,000 (year ended July 31, 2017: $12,000) for social media services related to the corporate 

twitter;  

 $11,520 (year ended July 31, 2017: $12,858) for magazine advertisement with Benchmark 

Mineral Intelligence Ltd.;  

 $9,420 (year ended July 31, 2017: $Nil) for video version of news release with Investment Pitch 

Media;  

 $8,750 (year ended July 31, 2017: $1,250) for global marketing with Proactive Investors LLC;  

 $13,256 (year ended July 31, 2017: $Nil) for video advertisement on airplanes with INK; 

 $76,974 (year ended July 31, 2017: $Nil) to engage Market IQ Media Group Incorporated to 

design landing page and content development for the Company's website; and  

 $50,854 (year ended July 31, 2017: $32,895) for other branding expenses.  

 

The corporate branding expenses were incurred to increase the awareness of the Company and the cobalt 

industry in general.  

 

Conference expenses decreased to $12,106 (year ended July 31, 2017: $115,871). The Company's 

President, director or consultants attended the following major trade shows or conferences on behalf of 

the Company: 

 

 During the year ended July 31, 2018, the Company's President and one director attended the 2018 

PDAC Convention in Toronto for total expenses of $10,207;  

 During the year ended July 31, 2017, the Company's President and one director attended the 2017 

PDAC Convention in Toronto for total expenses of $16,544 and the MINE Expo International in 

Las Vegas for total expenses of $17,728;  

 During the year ended July 31, 2017, one consultant attended two conferences in Quebec for total 

expenses of $14,157, the New Orleans Louisiana Investment Conference for total expenses of 

$13,701, the Toronto Money Show and Niagara Capital Conference for total expenses of 

$19,709, and the Raise conference at the STAMPEDE Investor Conference in Calgary for total 

expenses of $9,030; and  

 During the year ended July 31, 2017, the Company incurred $16,700 for sponsorship and 

advertising for the Benchmark World Tour.  

 

Management attended these conferences to increase exposure of the Company’s brand and facilitate 

opportunities to expand its shareholder base and potentially discuss business opportunities in the cobalt 

exploration and development industry.  

 

Consulting fees paid by the Company (year ended July 31, 2018: $129,625; year ended July 31, 2017: 

$188,652) generally include the following two categories: corporate and business advisory; secretarial 

and data entry services.  

 

Total consulting fees during the year ended July 31, 2018 consisted of $84,000 (year ended July 31, 2017: 

$111,366) for business advisory services. Such payments were generally made to third party consultants 

for certain corporate advisory, strategic planning and related advisory services that assisted in project 

evaluation. The Company paid $45,625 during the year ended July 31, 2018 (year ended July 31, 2017: 

$77,286) for internal secretarial and data entry services. Consulting fees decreased because seven 

consultants no longer work for the Company and the Company has streamlined its work and is not 

looking to replace those consultants.  

 

Transfer agent and filing fees decreased to $35,495 (year ended July 31, 2017: $85,478). Transfer agent 

and filing fees decreased because the Company incurred $14,016 in DTC filing fees and incurred $33,286 

in transfer agent and filing fees in association with a forward split, both were one-time charge, in the year 

ended July 31, 2017.  
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See “Nature of Business – Mineral Properties” for a discussion of the Company's mineral properties on a 

property by property basis, including its plans for the mineral properties, the status of its plans, 

expenditures made and the anticipated timing and costs to take its mineral properties to the next stage of 

the project plan. 

 

See “Overall Performance” for a discussion of the commitments, events, risks and uncertainties that the 

Company believe will materially affect its future performance and “Risks and Uncertainties” for a 

discussion of risk factors affecting the Company. 

 

Discussion of Operations  

 

Use of Proceeds  

 

The table below provides an update as to the status of how the Company has previously announced a 

proposed use of proceeds from prior financings and the actual use of such proceeds. 

 

Financing Previously Disclosed Use of Proceeds Status of Use of 
$550,000 

Flow-through 

August 2017 

Private Placement 

Flow-through funds - towards existing 

Canadian properties.  
As of the date of this report, 

approximately $336,000 in flow-

through funds were used; and 

$214,000 in flow-through funds 

has not been used.  
 

In August 2017, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement (the "Offering") consisting of 

2,619,047 flow-through shares at $0.21 per share for gross proceeds of $550,000. The Company incurred 

filing fees of $4,100 and legal fees of $7,170, paid an aggregate finders' fees of $38,500, and issued 

183,333 broker warrants (the "Broker Warrants") in connection with the Offering. Each Broker Warrant is 

exercisable at $0.21 per share into one common share until August 11, 2020. 

 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 

Liquidity  

 

At July 31, 2019, the Company had $2,062,547 in cash and cash equivalents and a working capital of 

$2,074,525 as compared to $2,807,027 in cash and cash equivalents and a working capital of $3,063,030 

at July 31, 2018. 

 

The Company’s current assets have decreased to $2,135,279 as at July 31, 2019 from $3,106,184 as at 

July 31, 2018, due mainly to a decrease in cash and cash equivalents as well as a decrease in prepaid 

expenses. The Company’s current liabilities have increased from $43,154 as at July 31, 2018 to $60,754 

as at July 31, 2019, mainly due to an increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The value 

ascribed to the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets has decreased from $1,701,097 as at July 31, 

2018 to $1,262,324 as at July 31, 2019, due mainly to management's decision to drop the entire Montana 

Chicken Hawk Property and certain mineral claims in Ontario and B.C. offset by the exploration work 

performed on the cobalt prospects in Ontario as set described above. 

 

Management believes that the Company’s cash and cash equivalents are sufficient to meet the current 

working capital requirements, including the existing commitments relating to the Company's mineral 

properties. But in future, the Company expects to raise additional capital as the needs arise. See “Nature 

of Business – Mineral Properties” and “Overall Performance” for a discussion of the Company’s 

commitments relating to its mineral properties. As a mineral exploration company, its expenses are 

expected to increase as the Company explores its mineral properties further. Management does not expect 

the Company to generate sustained revenues from mineral production in the foreseeable future. 
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The Company’s ability to conduct the planned work programs on its mineral properties, meet ongoing 

levels of corporate overhead and discharge its liabilities as they become due is dependent, in large part, on 

the ability of management to raise additional funds as necessary. Management anticipates that additional 

equity financings will need to be conducted to raise additional funds which, if successful, will result in 

dilution in the equity interests of the Company’s current shareholders. Obtaining commercial loans, 

assuming those loans would be available, will increase the Company’s liabilities and future cash 

commitments.  Although the Company have secured financings in the past, there is no assurance that the 

Company will be able to do so in the future on terms that is favourable to the Company or at all.  The 

Company’s ability to raise additional funds in the future and its liquidity may be negatively impacted by a 

number of factors, including changes in commodity prices, market volatility and general economic 

downturns. 

 

Capital Resources  

 

The Company has the following commitments for capital expenditures with respect to its mineral 

properties as of July 31, 2019.  The expenditures are optional and the Company may decide not to incur 

such payments in the event the Company does not decide to pursue further exploration with respect to 

such properties. 

 BC War Eagle Cobalt Prospects:  

o The Company owns a 100% interest in one mineral claim, which is in good standing until 

October 14, 2020. In order to keep this claim in good standing, the Company is required 

to incur a minimum of $9,362 in exploration expenditures on this claim by October 14, 

2020 or to pay cash-in-lieu of $18,724. 

 Yukon Quartz Claims:  

o Two Yukon Quartz claims are in good standing until October 3, 2020. In order to renew 

these claims for another year, the Company is required to pay an annual rent of $210 to 

the Government of Yukon by October 3, 2020 for the Yukon Quartz claims, unless the 

Company spends an amount greater than that in exploration beforehand. In addition, the 

Company is also required to pay the claim recording fees of $10 to the Government of 

Yukon by October 3, 2020.  

 Ontario Bucke Cobalt Prospects:  

o These mineral claims are in good standing until July 19, 2021 or later. In order to keep 

these claims in good standing, the Company is required to incur a minimum of $12,800 in 

exploration expenditures on these claims by July 19, 2021. 

 Ontario Coleman Cobalt Prospects:  

o Four claim units are in good standing until July 19, 2020. In order to keep these claims in 

good standing, the Company is required to incur a minimum of $1,600 in exploration 

expenditures on these claims by July 19, 2020. 

o 28 claim units are in good standing until December 1, 2020. In order to keep these claims 

in good standing, the Company is required to incur a minimum of $6,000 in exploration 

expenditures on these claims by December 1, 2020. 

o 15 claim units are in good standing until June 26, 2021 or later. In order to keep these 

claims in good standing, the Company is required to incur a minimum of $3,000 in 

exploration expenditures on these claims by June 26, 2021. 
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 Ontario Hector Cobalt Prospects:  

o These mineral claims are in good standing until July 19, 2020 or later. In order to keep 

these claims in good standing, the Company is required to incur a minimum of $40,200 in 

exploration expenditures on these claims by July 19, 2020. 

 Ontario Johnson Cobalt Prospects:  

o These mineral claims are in good standing until July 19, 2021 or later. In order to keep 

these claims in good standing, the Company is required to incur a minimum of $6,000 in 

exploration expenditures on these claims by July 19, 2021. 

 Ontario Lorraine Cobalt Prospects:  

o Certain mineral claims are in good standing until January 10, 2020 or later. In order to 

keep these claims in good standing, the Company is required to incur a minimum of 

$12,000 in exploration expenditures on these claims by January 10, 2020. 

o Certain mineral claims are in good standing until April 10, 2020. In order to keep these 

claims in good standing, the Company is required to incur a minimum of $121,200 in 

exploration expenditures on these claims by April 10, 2020. 

 Nevada Clayton Valley West Lithium Prospect:  

o These mineral claims are in good standing until September 1, 2020. In order to keep these 

claims in good standing, the Company is required to pay BLM fees of USD$1,980 and 

county fees of USD$144 by November 1, 2020. 

 Idaho Star Cobalt Prospect:  

o These mineral claims are in good standing until September 1, 2020. In order to keep these 

claims in good standing, the Company is required to pay maintenance fees of USD$660 

by September 1, 2020. 

 

See “Nature of Business – Mineral Properties” for a discussion of the Company’s capital expenditure 

commitments with respect to its mineral properties.  

 

During the year ended July 31, 2017, the Company entered into a lease agreement for office premises for 

a three-year period beginning August 1, 2017 and ending July 31, 2020. The Company is required to pay 

office rent (net of taxes) as follows: pay a total of $86,414 by July 31, 2020. However, the Company 

shares its office space with two related public companies and one non-related company. The Company 

invoices these companies for their share of the office rent on a monthly basis.  

 

Operating Activities 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2019 and, 2018, operating activities used cash of $429,292 and 

$2,038,037, respectively. The use of cash for the year ended July 31, 2019 was mainly attributable to its 

loss for the period of $1,456,898 offset by a decrease in prepaid expenses of $246,283 and the write-down 

of exploration and evaluation assets. The use of cash for the year ended July 31, 2018 was mainly 

attributable to its loss for the period of $1,988,331, to increased prepaid expenses of $209,590 and 

decreased accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $585,360, offset by share-based payments of 

$364,182 and the write-down of the exploration and evaluation assets of $456,000. 
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Investing Activities  

  

During the year ended July 31, 2019, the Company used cash of $315,188 in investing activities due to 

investments in exploration and evaluation assets. During the year ended July 31, 2018, the Company used 

cash of $384,745 in investing activities due to investments in exploration and evaluation assets. 

 

Financing Activities 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2019, the Company did not provide or use any cash.  

 

During the year ended July 31, 2018, the Company was provided $3,303,498 by financing activities, of 

which $3,356,268 was proceeds from issuance of share capital, offset by share issue costs of $52,770.   

 

Changes in Accounting Policies including Initial Adoption 

 

New accounting standards adopted during the period 
 

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”)  

 

The Company has adopted new accounting standard IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments, effective August 1, 

2018.  The new standard sets out requirements for classifying, recognizing and measuring financial assets 

and financial liabilities. This standard replaces IAS 39 - Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement. 

 

IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. IFRS allows for an 

exemption from restating prior periods in respect of the standard's classification and measurement 

requirements. 

 

IFRS 9 establishes three primary measurement categories for financial assets: fair value through profit 

and loss (“FVTPL”), fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI") and amortized cost. The 

basis for classification depends on the entity's business model and the contractual cash flow 

characteristics of the instrument. For financial liabilities, the new standard retains most of the 

requirements of IAS 39, except that fair value changes due to changes in an entity's own credit risk are 

recorded in other comprehensive income rather than in net earnings. 

 

Upon adoption of IFRS 9, the Company has changed its accounting policy for financial instruments as 

follows: 

 

Classification 

 

The Company determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial recognition. Upon initial 

recognition, a  financial asset is classified as measured at: amortized cost, FVTPL, or FVOCI. The 

classification of financial assets is generally based on the business model in which a financial asset is 

managed and its contractual cash flow characteristics. The adoption of IFRS 9 has not had a significant 

effect on the Company's accounting policies related to financial liabilities and derivative financial 

instruments. A financial liability is classified as measured at amortized cost or FVTPL. 

 

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not 

designated as FVTPL: 

 

 it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; 

and 

 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 

and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
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A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not 

designated as FVTPL: 

 

 it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash 

flows and selling financial assets; and 

 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 

and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 

An equity investment that is held for trading is measured at FVTPL. For other equity instruments that are 

held for trading, the Company may irrevocably elect to designate them as FVOCI. This election is made 

on an investment-by-investment basis.  

 

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortized cost or FVOCI as described above are 

measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the Company 

may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at 

amortized cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 

mismatch that would otherwise arise. 

 

Financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost, unless they are required to be measured at FVTPL 

(such as instruments held for trading or derivatives) or the Company has elected to measure them at 

FVTPL. 

 

The Company completed an assessment of its financial assets and liabilities as at July 31, 2019. The 

adoption of IFRS 9 has no quantitative impact on the Company's financial instruments as at July 31, 2019. 

 

However, it has an impact on the classification of the Company's financial instruments compared to the 

old standard IAS 39 as follows: 

 

 Original classification New classification 

Asset or Liability IAS 39 IFRS 9 

Cash and cash equivalents FVTPL FVTPL 

Receivables Loans and receivables Amortized cost 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Other financial liabilities Amortized cost 

 

Measurement 

 

Initial measurement 

 

On initial recognition, all financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value adjusted for 

directly attributable transaction costs except for financial assets and liabilities classified as FVTPL, in 

which case the transaction costs are expensed as incurred. 

 

Subsequent measurement 

 

The following accounting policies apply to the subsequent measurement of financial instruments: 

 

Financial assets at FVTPL 
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any interest or 

dividend income, are recognized in profit or loss. 
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Financial assets at amortized cost 
These assets are subsequently measured at amortized costs using the effective interest method. The 

amortized cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses 

and impairment are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognized in 

profit  or loss. 

 

Equity investments at FVOCI 
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognized as income in profit or 

loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net 

gains and losses are recognized in OCI and are never reclassified to profit or loss 

 

Debt investments at FVOCI 

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income is calculated using the effective 

interest rate method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognized in profit or 

loss. Other net gains and losses are recognized in OCI. On derecognition, gains and losses 

accumulated in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss.  

 

Impairment of financial instruments 

 

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an objective evidence that a financial asset 

or a group of financial assets is impaired. 

 

For financial assets measured at amortized cost, and debt investments at FVOCI, the Company applies the 

expected credit loss impairment model. On adoption of the expected credit loss model there was no 

material adjustment. 

 

Accounting standards issued but not yet effective 

 

The Company has reviewed new and revised accounting pronouncements that have been issued but are 

not yet effective. 

 

IFRS 16 – Leases (“IFRS 16”)  

 

New standard to establish principles for recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases 

with an impact on lessee accounting, effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. 

The adoption of this new standard is not expected to have a significant impact on the Company's 

consolidated financial statements. 

 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

 

The Company does not utilize off-balance sheet arrangements. 

 

Related Parties Transactions   

 

During the year ended July 31, 2019, the Company incurred aggregate management fees of $117,600 to 

two directors, James Nelson and Seth Kay. There are no management agreements in place and the 

Company has no contractual requirement to continue paying management fees. During the year ended 

July 31, 2019, the Company accrued a total of $7,500 in directors’ fees payable to three directors, James 

Nelson, Seth Kay and Gregory Thomson. Management fees, directors’ fees and share-based payments are 

intended to compensate such persons for their time and dedication to the Company. 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2019, the Company paid $66,800 to an officer in consideration for 

accounting services provided to the Company.  Such payments were made in lieu of management fees to 

its Chief Financial Officer, Cindy Cai.  
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As at July 31, 2019, amounts due to related parties were $8,167 (July 31, 2018: $7,500), which included 

$667 due to Gregory Thomson for unpaid office expenses; and $7,500 owing to three directors for unpaid 

directors' fees, being $2,500 each payable to James Nelson, Seth Kay and Gregory Thomson.  

 

At July 31, 2019, related party receivables include $1,804 (July 31, 2018: $3,512) due from two public 

companies with common directors for recoverable office expenses as below: $1,353 due from Spearmint 

Resources Inc. and $451 due from Sienna Resources Inc.  

 

All transactions with related parties have occurred and are measured at the amount of consideration 

established and agreed to by the related parties. 

 

Fourth Quarter - Unaudited  

 

The Company did not have any revenue during the three months ended July 31, 2019 and 2018. Total 

operating expenses were $173,272 for the three months ended July 31, 2019, as compared to $291,072 for 

the three months ended July 31, 2018. The decrease resulted primarily from a decrease of $33,512 in 

corporate branding expenses, a decrease of $50,000 in investor relations, and  a decrease of $39,974 in 

professional fees. Decreased corporate branding expenses were due to management’s decision to decrease 

overall branding expenses. Decreased investor relations were due to management does not have plans to 

enter into new investor relations contract after the old contract expired on May 31, 2019 as the Company 

has streamlined its work and is not looking to replace those consultants. Decreased professional fees were 

due to lower legal fees resulting from less services rendered in relation to corporate governance in the 

2019 year. 

 

Net comprehensive loss increased to $931,664 for the three months ended July 31, 2019 as compared to 

$717,762 for the three months ended July 31, 2018. The increase resulted primarily by an increase in the 

write-down of exploration and evaluation assets offset by a decrease in operating expenses. 

 

Financial Instruments and Other Instruments 

 

Financial instruments  

 

Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of three levels in the fair value 

hierarchy according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values. The three 

levels of the fair value hierarchy are: 

 

Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either             

                directly or indirectly; and 

Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market data. 

 

The fair value of the Company’s receivables and accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximates 

their carrying values due to the short-term nature of the financial instruments. The Company’s cash and 

cash equivalents are measured at fair value using Level 1 inputs. 

 

The Company is exposed to varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks: 

 

Foreign Exchange Risk 

 

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of 

changes in foreign exchange rates.  As at July 31, 2019, the Company has a minimal exposure to the US$ 

that is subject to fluctuations as a result of exchange rate variations to the extent that transactions are 
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made in this currency.  The Company considers this risk to be insignificant and therefore does not hedge 

its foreign exchange risk. 

 

Credit Risk 

 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party 

by failing to discharge an obligation.  The Company’s cash and cash equivalents and receivables are 

exposed to credit risk.  The Company reduces its credit risk on cash and cash equivalents by placing these 

instruments with institutions of high credit worthiness.  As at July 31, 2019, the Company is not exposed 

to any significant credit risk. 

 

Interest Rate Risk 

 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in market interest rates. The Company has non-interest bearing debt instruments and 

is therefore not exposed to risk in the event of interest rate fluctuations. As at July 31, 2019, the Company 

is not exposed to any significant interest rate risk. 

 

Liquidity Risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with 

financial liabilities. The Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash balances to 

enable settlement of transactions on the due date.  The Company addresses its liquidity through equity 

financing obtained through the sale of common shares and the exercise of warrants and options. While the 

Company has been successful in securing financings in the past, there is no assurance that it will be able 

to do so in the future.   

 

Price Risk 

 

The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. Commodity price risk is defined 

as the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic value due to commodity price movements and 

volatilities. The Company closely monitors the commodity prices of precious metals and the stock market 

to determine the appropriate course of action to be taken by the Company.  

 

Based on management’s knowledge and experience of the financial markets, management does not 

believe that the Company’s current financial instruments will be affected by foreign exchange risk, credit 

risk, interest rate risk and price risk.  

 

Proposed Transactions 

 

Other than as disclosed herein, the Company does not have any proposed transactions as of the date of 

this report. 

 

Additional Disclosure for Venture Issuers without Significant Revenue 

 

During the year ended July 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company incurred expenses including the following: 

 

 2019 2018 

   

Operating expenses $723,964 $1,624,098 

Capitalized acquisition costs $Nil $75,370 

Capitalized exploration costs $326,642 $245,523 

Write-down of exploration and evaluation assets $765,415 $456,000 
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Please refer to Note 7 Exploration and Evaluation Assets in the consolidated financial statements for the 

year ended July 31, 2019 for a description of the capitalized acquisition and exploration costs presented 

on a property-by-property basis. 

 

Disclosure of Outstanding Share Data 

 

Common Shares 

 

The Company has authorized an unlimited number of common shares without par value. 

 

As at July 31, 2019 and November 6, 2019, the Company had 78,646,890 common shares issued and 

outstanding.   

 

Stock options 

 

As at July 31, 2019 and November 6, 2019, there are no stock options outstanding. 

 

Warrants 

 

As at July 31, 2019, the Company had 17,171,848 share purchase warrants outstanding.  Each warrant 

entitles the holder the right to purchase one common share as follows: 

 

    Exercise   

Number  Price  Expiry Date 

     

  3,711,645  $0.15   August 24, 2019 

  1,081,620  $0.17   August 24, 2019 

  5,690,250  $0.33   December 18, 2019 

  2,000,000  $0.30   December 22, 2019 

  183,333  $0.21   August 11, 2020 

  4,505,000  $0.05   June 13, 2021 

  17,171,848      

 

Subsequent to July 31, 2019, the following occurred: 

 

a) 3,711,645 share purchase warrants at an exercise price of $0.15 expired unexercised; and 

 

b) 1,081,620 share purchase warrants at an exercise price of $0.17 expired unexercised. 

 

As of November 6, 2019, the Company had 12,378,583 share purchase warrants outstanding. 

 

Risks and Uncertainties  

 

Because of the unique difficulties and uncertainties inherent in mineral exploration ventures, the 

Company face a high risk of business failure. 

 

Potential investors should be aware of the difficulties normally encountered by mineral exploration 

companies and the high rate of failure of such enterprises.  The likelihood of success must be considered 

in light of the problems, expenses, difficulties, complications and delays encountered in connection with 

the exploration program that the Company intend to undertake on its properties and any additional 

properties that the Company may acquire.  These potential problems include unanticipated problems 

relating to exploration, and additional costs and expenses that may exceed current estimates.  The 

expenditures to be made by the Company in the exploration of the properties may not result in the 
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discovery of any mineral deposits.  Any expenditure that the Company may make in the exploration of 

any other mineral property that the Company may acquire may not result in the discovery of any 

commercially exploitable mineral deposits.  Problems such as unusual or unexpected geological 

formations and other conditions are involved in all mineral exploration and often result in unsuccessful 

and/or expensive exploration efforts.  If the results of the exploration do not reveal viable commercial 

mineralization, the Company may decide to abandon or sell some or all of the property interests. 

 

Because of the speculative nature of the exploration of mineral properties, there is no assurance that the 

exploration activities will result in the discovery of any quantities of mineral deposits on the current 

properties or any other additional properties the Company may acquire. 

 

The Company intend to continue exploration on the current properties and the Company may or may not 

acquire additional interests in other mineral properties.  The search for mineral deposits as a business is 

extremely risky.  The Company can provide investors with no assurance that exploration on the current 

properties, or any other property that the Company may acquire, will establish that any commercially 

exploitable quantities of mineral deposits exist.  Additional potential problems may prevent the Company 

from discovering any mineral deposits.  These potential problems include unanticipated problems relating 

to exploration and additional costs and expenses that may exceed current estimates.  If the Company is 

unable to establish the presence of mineral deposits on the properties, the Company's ability to fund future 

exploration activities will be impeded, the Company will not be able to operate profitably and investors 

may lose all of their investment in the Company. 

 

Because of the inherent dangers involved in mineral exploration and exploitation, there is a risk that the 

Company may incur liability or damages as the Company conducts business. 

 

The search for mineral deposits involves numerous hazards.  As a result, the Company may become 

subject to liability for such hazards, including pollution, cave-ins and other hazards against which the 

Company cannot insure or against which the Company may elect not to insure.  At the present time the 

Company have no coverage to insure against these hazards.  The payment of such liabilities may have a 

material adverse effect on the Company's financial position. 

 

The potential profitability of mineral ventures depends in part upon factors beyond the control of the 

Company and even if the Company discover and exploit mineral deposits, the Company may never 

become commercially viable and the Company may be forced to cease operations. 

 

The commercial feasibility of an exploration program on a mineral property is dependent upon many 

factors beyond the Company's control, including the existence and size of mineral deposits in the 

properties the Company explore, the proximity and capacity of processing equipment, market fluctuations 

of prices, taxes, royalties, land tenure, allowable production and environmental regulation.  These factors 

cannot be accurately predicted and any one or a combination of these factors may result in the Company 

not receiving any return on invested capital.  These factors may have material and negative effects on 

financial performance and the Company's ability to continue operations. 

 

Exploration and exploitation activities are subject to comprehensive regulation which may cause 

substantial delays or require capital outlays in excess of those anticipated causing an adverse effect on 

the Company. 

 

Exploration and exploitation activities are subject to foreign, federal, provincial, and local laws, 

regulations and policies, including laws regulating the removal of natural resources from the ground and 

the discharge of materials into the environment.  Exploration and exploitation activities are also subject to 

foreign, federal, provincial, and local laws and regulations which seek to maintain health and safety 

standards by regulating the design and use of drilling methods and equipment.  Properties may also be 

subject to complex Aboriginal claims. 
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Environmental and other legal standards imposed by foreign, federal, provincial, or local authorities may 

be changed and any such changes may prevent the Company from conducting planned activities or may 

increase costs of doing so, which would have material adverse effects on the Company's business.  

Moreover, compliance with such laws may cause substantial delays or require capital outlays in excess of 

those anticipated, thus causing an adverse effect on the Company, especially, foreign laws and 

regulations.  Additionally, the Company may be subject to liability for pollution or other environmental 

damages that the Company may not be able to or elect not to insure against due to prohibitive premium 

costs and other reasons.  Any laws, regulations or policies of any government body or regulatory agency 

may be changed, applied or interpreted in a manner which will alter and negatively affect the Company's 

ability to carry on business. 

 

Because the Company's property interests may not contain any mineral deposits and because the 

Company have never made a profit from operations, the Company's securities are highly speculative and 

investors may lose all of their investment in the Company. 

 

The Company's securities must be considered highly speculative, generally because of the nature of its 

business and the stage of exploration.  The Company currently has exploration stage property interests 

which may not contain mineral deposits.  The Company may or may not acquire additional interests in 

other mineral properties but the Company does not have plans to acquire rights in any specific mineral 

properties as of the date of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis.  Accordingly, the Company have 

not generated any revenues nor have the Company realized a profit from operations to date and there is 

little likelihood that the Company will generate any revenues or realize any profits in the short term.  Any 

profitability in the future from the Company's business will be dependent upon locating and exploiting 

mineral deposits on current properties or mineral deposits on any additional properties that the Company 

may acquire and subsequent development.  The likelihood that any mineral properties that the Company 

may acquire or have an interest in will contain commercially exploitable mineral deposits is extremely 

remote.  The Company may never discover mineral deposits in respect to current properties or any other 

area, or the Company may do so and still not be commercially successful if the Company is unable to 

exploit those mineral deposits profitably.  The Company may not be able to operate profitably and may 

have to cease operations, the price of the Company's securities may decline and investors may lose all of 

their investment in the Company. 

 

As the Company face intense competition in the mineral exploration and exploitation industry, the 

Company will have to compete with competitors for financing and for qualified managerial and technical 

employees. 

 

Competition includes large established mining companies with substantial capabilities and with greater 

financial and technical resources than the Company have.  As a result of this competition, the Company 

may have to compete for financing and be unable to conduct any financing on terms the Company 

consider acceptable.  The Company may also have to compete with the other mining companies for the 

recruitment and retention of qualified managerial and technical employees.  If the Company is unable to 

successfully compete for financing or for qualified employees, the exploration programs may be slowed 

down or suspended, which may cause operations to cease as a company. 

 

The Company have a history of losses and have a deficit, which raises substantial doubt about its ability 

to continue as a going concern. 

 

The Company has not generated any revenues during the years ended July 31, 2019 and 2018. The 

Company will continue to incur operating expenses without revenues if and until the Company engages in 

commercial operations. Accumulated loss as of July 31, 2019 was $17,332,272 since inception.  The 

Company had cash and cash equivalents in the amount of $2,062,547 as at July 31, 2019. The Company 

estimates the average monthly operating expenses to be approximately $50,000 each month. This estimate 

depends on whether the Company is active or inactive with the work programs. The Company cannot 

provide assurances that the Company will be able to successfully explore and develop its property 
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interests. These circumstances raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern, 

which was also described in an explanatory paragraph to the independent auditors' report on the 

Company's audited financial statements, July 31, 2019. If the Company is unable to continue as a going 

concern, investors will likely lose all of their investments in the Company. 

 

The Company's future is dependent upon its ability to obtain financing and if the Company does not 

obtain such financing, the Company may have to cease its exploration activities and investors could lose 

their entire investment. 

 

There is no assurance that the Company will operate profitably or will generate any positive cash flow in 

the future.  The Company will require additional financing in order to proceed with the exploration and, if 

warranted, development of its properties.  The Company will also require additional financing for fees the 

Company must pay to maintain its status in relation to the rights to the properties and to pay the fees and 

expenses necessary to operate as a public company.  The Company will also need more funds if the costs 

of the exploration of its mineral claims are greater than the Company has anticipated.  The Company will 

require additional financing to sustain its business operations if the Company is not successful in earning 

revenues.  The Company will also need further financing if the Company decides to obtain additional 

mineral properties.  The Company currently does not have any arrangements for further financing as the 

Company believes that it is sufficiently funded for the current operations but in future the Company 

expects to raise additional capital as the needs arise.  The Company's future is dependent upon its ability 

to obtain financing.  If the Company does not obtain such financing, its business could fail and investors 

could lose their entire investment. 

 

The Company's directors and officers are engaged in other business activities and accordingly may not 

devote sufficient time to the Company's business affairs, which may affect its ability to conduct operations 

and generate revenues. 

 

The Company's directors and officers are involved in other business activities.  As a result of their other 

business endeavours, the Company's directors and officers will exercise their fiduciary duties and duty of 

care but nonetheless may not be able to devote sufficient time to the Company's business affairs, which 

may negatively affect the Company's ability to conduct ongoing operations and its ability to generate 

revenues.  In addition, the management of the Company may be periodically interrupted or delayed as a 

result of the Company's officers’ other business interests. 

 

RISKS RELATING TO THE COMPANY'S COMMON STOCK 

 

A decline in the price of the Company's common stock could affect its ability to raise further working 

capital and adversely impact ability to continue operations. 

 

A prolonged decline in the price of the Company's common stock could result in a reduction in the 

liquidity of its common stock and a reduction in its ability to raise capital. Because a significant portion of 

operations have been and will be financed through the continued sale of equity securities, a decline in the 

price of the common stock could be especially detrimental to liquidity and operations. Such reductions 

may force the Company to reallocate funds from other planned uses and may have a significant negative 

effect on business plans and operations, including the ability to continue current operations. If the 

Company's stock price declines, the Company can offer no assurance that it will be able to raise 

additional capital or generate funds from operations sufficient to meet its obligations. If the Company is 

unable to raise sufficient capital in the future, the Company may not be able to have the resources to 

continue normal operations or become insolvent. 

 

The market price for the Company's common stock may also be affected by its ability to meet or exceed 

expectations of analysts or investors. Any failure to meet these expectations, even if minor, may have a 

material adverse effect on the market price of its common stock and its operations as a result.  

 



Cruz Cobalt Corp.    

For the year ended July 31, 2019 – Page 24 

 
Additional Information 

 

The Company files annual and interim reports, information circulars and other information with certain 

Canadian securities regulatory authorities.  The documents filed with the Canadian securities regulatory 

authorities are available at http://www.sedar.com. 


